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4 // MESSAGE FROM THE CHAIRMAN

Message from
the Chairman
2011 - an even more arduous year

The financial crisis that has hit the real economy, showed

no mercy in the year being reviewed. On the contrary, it

focused on Southern Europe: particularly the Greek case,

which filled the front pages of the media last year, continued

to rage in the streets of Athens. It has also kept the EU

governments and monetary institutions, like the ECB and

the IMF, occupied. The misgivings about the moral gamble of

a rescue might involve, if private holders of Greek bonds

had not been sheared, prolonged the negotiations to the

point of generating considerable distrust in the public

debts of all Southern Europe. In addition to Portugal,

which had already been rescued, Spain and Italy also came

under attack: two great countries that could not be saved

by Eurozone solidarity, unless we imagine, as it has been

argued, being able to replace their respective State bonds

with Eurobonds, variously named and configured. Since it

involves the transfers of charges from countries in financial

trouble, with other debts that are better proportioned to

the size of the economy, this solution has remained no

more than a conjectural option.

Spain and Italy have had to find within themselves the

strength to respond to these growing difficulties by resorting

to the markets. Not only have there been profound

manoeuvres to partially adjustment the public accounts (in

Italy last summer two packages of measures promoted by

Minister Tremonti were launched), but there were also

changes in the government. Spain broke up its Parliament

and called for political elections, won by the People's Party

(formerly the opposition) under the leadership of Rajoy. In

Italy the Center-Right parliamentary majority resisted until

the spread between the ten-year BTP and the corresponding 

Bund had reached 570 points and the yield on two-year

bonds shot up to 7.66%. European pressure for a change

of leadership intensified and the Berlusconi government,

which was losing the consensus of its majority, presented

its resignation. The Monti Government took over and

deployed conviction and decree-laws, promptly approved

by Parliament; rigorous fiscal measures to consolidate

public accounts and reforms ‒ so often postponed, such as

the reform of pensions. The markets reacted positively to

the determination of the Monti Government and in the

first few months of 2012 the "Italy risk" was reassessed

as being relatively lower than that of Spain. Obviously the

situation remains tricky due to the high public debt ‒ a
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large portion of which must be renewed this year ‒ and the commitment to Europe to balance the budget by 2013.

The financial crisis in Southern Europe has actually closed the market of loans in dollars and made all the banks reluctant to lend

money to their sister companies. Since there is no circulation of liquidity, the lifeblood of banks, the ECB provided as needed and

the treasury surpluses of the individual banks are flowing into the ECB. After Mario Draghi became the director the ECB, not

only was the interest rate reduced but, what is more important, an exceptional three-year refinancing operation was implemented,

followed by a second one in March of 2012. A total of nearly one billion Euro was injected into the economy. These exceptional

operations averted a collapse of the Eurozone banking system and will have consequences on the future of the common

currency.

The misfortunes of the Italian public debt and higher interest rates due in the second half of 2011 just about completely closed

the bond market, in particular to an issuer like Dexia Crediop whose rating has more than once been revised downward by

the agencies. It was decided to relinquish the services of one of these agencies because, in our opinion, their evaluation

of this bank had no foundation. Obviously, these assessments are not extraneous to the evaluations expressed by the

agencies regarding the parent company Dexia and its ability to sustain Crediop through the difficult economic times we

are still facing. In fact, the Dexia Group has had to resort again to the guarantee of Belgium, France and Luxemburg for

90 billion Euro, authorized provisionally by the European Commission for only half the amount. Moreover, while the reorgani-

zation of the Group in France has followed a predictable course, albeit somewhat slowly, the disposal of holdings is marking

time, if we exclude the sale of Dexia Banque Belgique ‒ which has became Belfius ‒ to the Kingdom of Belgium.

Dexia Crediop seems to be destined to carry out an activity within the Group, though to a very small degree, to protect its

franchise.

Mario Sarcinelli
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Message from
the Chief Executive
Officer
In 2011 the global financial crisis developed at a worrying

pace within the Eurozone. The turbulence which had

initially affected Greece, and subsequently Ireland and

Portugal, spread to Spain and Italy, the latter characterised

by a high public debt and weak growth prospects over the

medium term. 

For the Italian banks, the creditworthiness of which was

regarded as equivalent to that of the state, financing terms

abruptly deteriorated. The spread between yields on ten

year Italian bonds and equivalent German bonds reached

peak levels unprecedented since the introduction of the

single currency, which was reflected by a drastic deterioration

in financing terms. 

Recently, the various budgetary measures adopted by the

government have found favour and permitted a significant

reduction in the spread on sovereign bond yields.

Within this context, the Dexia Group, which had already

been weakened since the onset of the financial crisis, was

forced to implement a restructuring plan based on the sale

of operations and businesses as well as the securing of

guarantees from the Belgian, French and Luxembourg

governments. This plan is currently being considered by

the European Commission. The Italian subsidiary Dexia Crediop

should be able to continue operations in accordance with its

capacity to attract financing and market conditions.

In 2011, Dexia Crediop continued to pursue its own objectives,

registering continuity with the action carried out over the

last three years.

In particular, the Bank was able to pursue its commercial

strategy of diversifying the services offered to clients.

The volume of long-term loans disbursed by the banks was

contained due to initiatives to reduce investment costs by

local and territorial bodies. On the other hand, other

operations registered more than satisfying results: in particular,

the reverse factoring and cash management activity relating

to public financing as well as advisory and structuring work

relating to project finance activity.   

The Bank also continued its cost containment policy as well

as the actions intended to improve its liquidity position:

the process of deleveraging which started in 2009 continued

through the sale of non-core assets, along with significant

restructuring of existing operations. 
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Dexia Crediop also committed itself to implementing the funding plan: over the course of the year, long-term funds were

raised by bond issues, some of which were listed on the MOT, and by bank loans. With regard to short-term liquidity,

in addition to the traditional sources, i.e. the interbank market and monetary policy transactions of the Central Bank,

the Bank pursued its policy of diversifying short-term funding through operations with customers.

During the financial year which has just concluded the short-term income results have been significantly penalised by the

effect on valuation resulting from the increase in the spread on Italian sovereign debt yields which occurred in 2011, as well

as – to a lesser extent – the deleveraging process mentioned above which was implemented by the Bank in order to improve

its liquidity position.

Pending the European Commission’s decision on the restructuring plan for Dexia Group, the challenges for Dexia Crediop

remain unchanged:

- to maintain long-term financial lending activity on a selective basis, thereby also preserving its commercial franchise; 

- to provide our clients with a complete range of products and services;

- to pursue the consolidation of a balance sheet in equilibrium.

We have to measure up to these challenges with confidence and, in line with the markets’ return to financial stability, start

redesigning the future of Crediop.

Jean LE NAOUR
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Report on operations
Profile of the Dexia Crediop Group      

About Us 
Dexia Crediop is a bank specialised in public and project

finance with over 90 years of tradition and consolidated

experience.

The Company was founded in 1919 as a Credit Consortium

for Public Works. It stands alongside the Public Administration

to help develop large and small development projects in our

country. A tradition of reliability that has also guaranteed

savings to millions of families, funding the safest investment

of all: the commitment of the general public to ensure the

growth of Italy.

Over time, the Bank has refined its approach with a view to

providing its customers with effective support, in synergy

with its shareholders which include not only the parent

company Dexia Crédit Local, but also some of Italy's largest

cooperative banks: Banca Popolare di Milano, Banco Popolare,

Em. Ro. Popolare S.p.A. (Banca Popolare dell’Emilia Romagna).

Dexia Crediop is the partner of choice for local authorities,

large public administrations and key public service institutions

for funding works and infrastructure projects, issuing national

and international bonds, structured finance transactions,

project financing, debt management operations and

the optimisation of supplier debt, advice and assistance

connected to privatisation and restructuring processes

and cash management.

Dexia Crediop combines its financing skills with the most

advanced services and consultancy especially designed for

the needs of public bodies, first and foremost local public

administrations, but also mountain communities, hospitals,

local national health units, ex-municipal services, reclamation

consortia, harbour authorities, universities.

The Company is specialised in satisfying the demand for bank

services in respect of balance sheet limits and legal and

institutional restrictions, typical of public institutions. For

Dexia Crediop, respect for compliance is one of its strong

marketing points.

With regard to finance, to guarantee quality and added value

of the products and services provided, Dexia Crediop operates

on the financial markets within the sphere of several business

lines: Sales and Structuring, Long Term Funding, Debt and

Capital Markets and Cash and Liquidity Management.

Dexia Crediop offers its clientèle a range of products and

services, especially in the sector of public works, large

infrastructure and sustainable development; this results in

socially responsible action based on social, environmental and

ethical criteria.



2011 // DEXIA CREDIOP S.P.A. // 9

Group structure and shareholders  
Group structure  

At 31 December 2011, the Dexia Crediop Group included

not only the parent company Dexia Crediop S.p.A., but also

the following subsidiaries: 

* Dexia Crediop Ireland has equity of €100 million, represented by 100 million
shares with a nominal value of €1 each, including:
- 99,999,999 shares held by Dexia Crediop S.p.A.;

- 1 share held by Dexia Investments Ireland, in its capacity as Trustee for Dexia
Crediop S.p.A.

DCC – Dexia Crediop per la Cartolarizzazione S.r.l.   

This company, owned entirely by Dexia Crediop, has been

operational since 2004. Its exclusive purpose is the setting

up of securitisation transactions pursuant to Italian Law

no. 130/1999. The company is registered on the list of

securitisation vehicle companies held by the Bank of Italy.

The company has carried out three bond-issue operations –

in 2004, 2005 and 2008 – through the securitisation of

portfolios composed exclusively of debt instruments issued by

Italian public authorities. 

Dexia Crediop Ireland

This company, with head office in Dublin, was established as

an unlimited company on 12 October 2007 for the purpose

of centralising the management of the Group’s investment

portfolios. It has been operative since the fourth quarter of

2007. In 2010, the share capital was reduced, reimbursing

the shareholder Dexia Crediop at par value, thereby going

from € 700 million to € 100 million, according to the reduced

level of loans in place at the end of 2010.  

Crediop per le Obbligazioni Bancarie Garantite S.r.l.

The company, whose equity is €10,000 is held 90% by Dexia

Crediop, was acquired in 2010. Its registered office are in Rome

and it is registered with the list of financial intermediaries in

accordance with art. 106 of the Consolidated Law on Banking.

It belongs to the Dexia Crediop banking group.

The company’s purpose is exclusively the issue of covered

bonds in accordance with art. 7-bis of Italian Law no. 130 of

30 April 1999 and subsequent implementation provisions.

As of the date on which these financial statements were

prepared, the company had not carried out any transactions.     

Shareholders of Dexia Crediop

There have been no changes in the shareholder body since

31 December 2010. 

The Dexia Crediop share capital is fully underwritten and paid

up and amounts to € 450,210,000 consisting of

174,500,000 ordinary shares, each with a nominal value of

€ 2.58. On the date this report was approved, they were held

as follows:

Dexia Crédit Loca l: 122,150,000 ordinary shares,

representing 70% of the equity, totalling € 315,147,000;

Banca Popolare di Milano S.c.a.r.l.: 17,450,000 ordinary

shares, representing 10% of the equity, totalling € 45,021,000;

Banco Popolare società cooperativa: 17,450,000 ordinary

shares, representing 10% of the equity, totalling € 45,021,000;

Em. Ro. Popolare S.p.A.: 17,450,000 ordinary shares,

representing 10% of the equity, totalling € 45,021,000;

Dexia Crediop does not own any of its own shares or shares

in the parent company, nor has it owned any such shares

during the year.

Company name
Head-

quarters
Investment
relationship

% of votes
held

Investor
company

Stake
%

Companies
consolidated
line-by-line

DCC – Dexia
Crediop per la
Cartolarizzazione S.r.l.

Rome
Dexia

Crediop 
100% 100%

Dexia Crediop
Ireland*

Dublin
Dexia

Crediop 
100% 100%

Crediop per le
Obbligazioni Bancarie
Garantite S.r.l.

Rome
Dexia

Crediop 
90% 90%
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Rating 
The rating on the medium/long-term debt assigned to Dexia

Crediop by the Agencies  Fitchratings and Standard & Poor's

respectively come to A and BB-.

On 09 February 2012, Standard & Poor’s altered the rating of

Dexia Crediop as follows:

Long-term counterparty rating: to BB- from the previous

BB+;

Short-term counterparty rating: confirmed at level B.

Fitchratings maintains the rating in "Credit Watch - Negative",

whilst Standard & Poor's expresses a "Negative Outlook".

Fitchratings – med-long term A

Fitchratings – short term      F1

Fitchratings - individual C/D

Fitchratings – support 1

Standard & Poor’s -  med-long term BB-

Standard & Poor’s -  short term B

Profile of the Dexia
Group
Dexia is a European banking group which in 2011 operated

mainly in Belgium, Luxembourg, France and Turkey in the

retail banking and commercial banking segments, in providing

the public segment with loans and services and in managing

investor services and activities.

Dexia SA, the Group's holding company , is incorporated under

the laws of Belgium and has its shares listed on the Brusselsand

Paris Euronext and the Luxembourg stock exchange.

Committed since December 2008 to a restructuring plan

validated by the European Commission, the Group has

significantly reduced its risk profile and re-centred its

commercial franchises on its historic markets and duties.

Dexia has also organised its asset portfolio, mainly committing

to retail banking services and making the most of retail

banking growth opportunities in Turkey.

In the public finance sector, the Group has chosen to remain

a selective, reliable, recognised specialist with a diversified

product range.

This plan was realised in line with the objectives established

until mid-2011.

Following the worsening of the sovereign debt crisis within

the Eurozone and, more generally, the macroeconomic

context becoming more severe, summer 2011 saw Dexia

having to cope with new pressure on its liquidity.

In this context, since October 2011, the Group has implemented

significant structural changes, entailing:

The start-up of a programme by which to guarantee its

loans by the States of Belgium, France and Luxembourg;

The sale of Dexia Banque Belgique to the State of the

Belgium, formalised on 20 October 2011;

1 On 11 November 2011 Dexia Crediop formally renounced the rating of Moody’s
Investors Service.
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An agreement with Caisse des Depots, Banque Postale

and the State of France in the loans segment of the

French territorial entities;

The offer for sale of some operative subsidiaries of the Group,

including Dexia Banque Internationale a Luxembourg,

DenizBank, Dexia Asset Management and RBC Dexia

Investor Services.

All these measures, in addition to the liquidity guarantee, are

part of a new restructuring plan that the States have

committed to present to the European Commission within

the end of March 2012.

The implementation of these new measures will have a

significant impact on the Group's future profile.

2012 will be marked by the realisation of the sales plan,

which, in turn, will depend on the approval of the Group

restructuring by the European Commission.

After the sales proposed, the activity of the new Dexia Group

will concentrate on services to the local public sector, through

its international branches, in addition to the management of

a run-off assets portfolio.
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Company information 

Honorary Chairman

Antonio Pedone

Company officers

Board of Directors2

Mario Sarcinelli Chairman

Alain Clot3 Deputy Chairman

Jean Le Naour Chief Executive Officer

Benoit Debroise Director

Alberto Gasparri Director

François Laugier Director

Luigi Odorici4 Director

Marcello Priori Director

Board of Auditors

Ezio Maria Simonelli Chairman

Vincenzo Ciruzzi Auditor

Pierre Paul Destefanis Auditor

Other company organs

Steering Committee

Jean Le Naour  (Chief Executive Officer)

Jean Bourrelly

Stefano Catalano

Thomas Duvacher5

Fabrizio Pagani5

The Financial Reporting Manager (the executive

in charge company’s accounting documents) 

Jean Bourrelly

2 Board of Directors appointed for the three-year term 2009-2011 by the General Meeting on 24 April 2009.
3 Alain Clot, appointed as from 4 February 2011 in lieu of Pascal Poupelle, Deputy Chairman standing down with effect from 31 December 2010.
4 Luigi Odorici stood down as from 23 January 2012.
5 Members of the Steering Committee since 05 August 2011. Riccardo Massa, Deputy General Manager, left the company on 1 July 2011.
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Steering Committee, from left to right: Jean Le Naour, Fabrizio Pagani, Thomas Duvacher, Stefano Catalano, Mario Sarcinelli e Jean Bourrelly.
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Structure6

Public & Wholesale Banking
Jean LE NAOUR
(ad interim)

Global Markets
Thomas DUVACHER
(Deputy)

Global Finance
Fabrizio PAGANI
(Deputy)

General and Legal Secretariat
Edoardo BARATELLA

Internal Audit
Giuseppe NUSINER

Compliance
Claudio COLA

Chief Executive Officer
Jean LE NAOUR

Human Resources
Daniela POZZALI

Institutional and Internal
Communication
Daniela CONDÒ

Operative communication
Marta BASSOTTI

Finance
Stefano CATALANO
(Director)

Sales & Structuring
Claudia PIERONI

Long Term Funding
Daniele ALBARIN
(Deputy)

Debt Capital Markets
Stefano CATALANO
(ad interim)

Cash & Liquidity Management
Marcello SATULLI

Covered Bond Management
Daniele ALBARIN
(ad interim)

Administration
Jean BOURRELLY
(Director)

Accounting
and Management Control
Viviana ASCANI

Back Office
Pietro CONTENTI

ICT & Facility Services
Pasquale TEDESCO

Risk Management
Stefano VICARI

6 As at 21/02/2012.
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The Dexia Crediop Banking Group      

Dexia Crediop S.p.A. 

Via Venti Settembre, 30 - (00187) Rome

Tel. + 39 06 4771.1   Fax + 39 06 4771.5952

Web: www.dexia-crediop.it

E-mail: mailto:internet@dexia.com

Certified e-mail: dexia-crediop@pec.dexia-crediop.it

Equity €450,210,000 fully paid up

Rome Register of Companies n. 04945821009

Register of banks n. 5288

Parent company of the Dexia Crediop Banking Group

Listed on the Register of Banking Groups

Member of the Interbank Deposit Protection Fund and the

National Guarantee Fund

Company subject to management and coordination by Dexia

Crédit Local

Branches:

Turin - Via S. Francesco d’Assisi, 22

Milan - Largo Richini, 6

Bologna - Galleria Ugo Bassi, 1

Naples - Centro Direzionale, Isola E/5  

DCC – Dexia Crediop per la Cartolarizzazione S.r.l. 

Rome - Via Venti Settembre, 30  

Dexia Crediop Ireland 

Dublin - 6 George’s Dock, IFSC, Dublin 1 (Ireland)

Crediop per le Obbligazioni Bancarie Garantite S.r.l. 

Rome - Via Eleonora Duse, 53 

Auditing Firm for Dexia Crediop S.p.A.

Mazars S.p.A.

Other Dexia Group companies in Italy  

RBC Dexia Investor Services Bank S.A. - Milan Branch

Milan - Via Vittor Pisani, 26  

Dexia Asset Management Luxembourg S.A. - Milan

branch 

Milan - Corso Italia, 1  
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Internal risk management and control
system, pursuant to art. 123-bis, clause 2,
letter b) of the Consolidated Finance Act

In compliance with the financial reporting rules of art. 123-

bis, clause 2, letter b) of the Consolidated Finance Act, the

main features of the internal risk management and control

system (hereinafter, the “system”) implemented by the Dexia

Crediop Group (hereinafter, the “Group”) are illustrated

below.

According to corporate law and the rulings of bank surveillance,

the Group has established a corporate governance model,

consisting of an internal risk management and control

system able to continuously protect against the typical risks

of such a company. This system involves the Company

boards, the Financial Reporting Manager, the independent

auditing firm and the internal audit departments.

With regard to financial reporting in particular, the audits

carried out by the Financial Reporting Manager and the

administrative-accounting system introduced by the latter are

examined below. 

Both the Corporate Governance Model and the administra-

tive-accounting governance system introduced by the Financial

Reporting Manager are fully operational and contribute to

ensuring the reliability, accuracy and timeliness of the financial

reporting.

More specifically, the system introduced by the Financial

Reporting Manager is based on the analysis framework

contemplated by the Committee of Sponsoring Organisations

(CoSO) report, since this represents an internationally accepted

standard of reference for internal auditing and financial

reporting. The system can be divided into the following four

components:

Scoping: the definition of the companies and of the admi-

nistrative-accounting processes that are relevant for financial

reporting;

Company Level Control: supervision of the macro-system

of internal controls at company level, including the rules

which govern IT processes;

Risk & Control Analysis and Test of Effectiveness (ToE):

verification of the adequacy of the processes for the

effective execution of the controls which mitigate the risks

linked to accounting and financial reporting, and the

definition and monitoring of risk mitigation measures;

Evaluation: assessment of the adequacy and effectiveness

of the administrative-accounting processes.
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A brief description of the administrative-accounting governance system adopted is given below:

Board of Directors
- Appoints the Financial Reporting

Manager (art. 26 of the articles of
association);

- Issues the certifications pursuant to
art. 154-bis of the Consolidated
Finance Act (Managing Director).

General and Legal Secretary
- Provides support with the analysis of

regulatory evolution and its impact on
the model;

- Identifies “sensitive” documents in
accordance with paragraph 2, art.
154-bis of the Consolidated Finance
Act.

Operational Risks & Security
- Provides support in the definition

of the scope of audit of process
suitability;

- Supplies Corporate Regulations and
results of RCSA activities and on the
matrix of application segregation;

- Supports the implementation of any
corrective action of an organisational
nature.

Process Owners
- Implement the procedures and carry

out audits;
- Collaborate with the design of new

operating procedures and/or the
amendment of existing ones;

- Back Office sends evidence of key
audits performed;

- Compliance sends the plan of its
activities, reports of compliance audits
performed and the reports presented
to the Board of Auditors.

Other organisations (Board of Au-
ditors, Management committee,
Audit Compliance and accounting
committee, Auditing firm)
- Exchange of information on risks, the

audit system, reliability of administra-
tive-accounting process, results
emerged and action taken.

Internal audit
- Exchanges information and data in

relation to its activities (e.g. audit
plans and results);

- Highlights the critical areas identified
during activities, providing opinions
on the suitability and any improvements
necessary;

- Provides information for the assessment
and governance of any critical factors
in addition to indications useful for
defining the scope of the administrative-
accounting processes;

- Provides a summary of the monitoring
of mitigation interventions implemented
by the process owners.

Basel II
- Exchange of information and data in

relation to its activities (e.g. plan of
activities and outcome of audits);

- Highlights the critical areas identified
during activities, providing opinions
on the effective application of the
audits verified and any improvements
necessary.

ICT & Facility Service
- Checks correct operation of IT systems,

guaranteeing that measures are taken
to safeguard the security and logical
integrity of data and information.

Operating activities

Information flows

Financial Reporting Manager (DP)
- Issues the certifications pursuant to

art. 154-bis of the Consolidated
Finance Act;

- Defines the governance model pursuant
to art. 154-bis of the Consolidated
Finance Act and is responsible for its
implementation and monitoring.

Accounting and Management Control
- Supports the Financial Reporting

Manager in implementing and moni-
toring the administrative-accounting
governance model;

- Analyses regulatory aspects and
identifies the need for the governance
model to evolve;

- Assists the Financial Reporting Manager
in defining the scope of the company
and relevant processes, in analysing
internal audits on a company level; in
verifying the suitability and effective-
ness of processes;

- Supports the identification of any
corrective action required, monitoring
its effective implementation;

- Assesses the suitability and effectiveness
of processes;

- Coordinates the exchange of information
from and to the Financial Reporting
Manager.

Reports Approves
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The Accounting and Management Audit department7 gives

practical assistance to the Financial Reporting Manager in the

execution of the implementation and maintenance of the

financial-administrative governance system.

The Internal Audit department guarantees the independence of

internal auditing, pursuant to an annual programme approved

by the Board of Directors, always after hearing the opinion of the

Audit, Compliance and Accounting Committee.  The tasks of the

Central Inspectorate include, among other things, collaboration

with the Financial Reporting Manager in monitoring any

corrective action proposed by the latter. 

The Operational Risk & Security department analyses the results

of the Risk and Control Self Assessment (RCSA). The RCSA

provides for the application of a methodology defined by the

parent company Dexia Crédit Local and meets the guidelines

established by the Bank of Italy (see BI circ. 263 of 27 December

2006, 2nd update of 20 March 2008, "New Provisions on

Prudential Supervision for Banks"). The department must also be

a reference point for the assessment of the Permanent Control

activities. 

The General and Legal Office collaborates with the Financial

Reporting Manager on the analysis of changes in legislation that

can have an impact on the management of the system, and in

identifying relevant company accounting documents, deeds

and communications referred to by law or disclosed to the

market pursuant to clause 2 of art. 154-bis of the Consolidated

Finance Act.

The Process Owners are represented by the managers of the

company structures/departments concerned by the processes

falling within the scope of the activity. The Process Owners

interact with the Financial Reporting Manager in verifying the

adequacy of the effectiveness tests, and in identifying and

implementing any corrective action.

The ICT & Facility Services department, among other things,

checks on the correct functioning of the IT system, to guarantee

that measures are taken to safeguard the physical and logical

security and integrity of the data and information. The department

collaborates with the Financial Reporting Manager in the

assessment of the adequacy and effectiveness of the administra-

tive-accounting processes, for all aspects concerning the

technological infrastructure which support the internal control

processes.

The Compliance Department is involved in the internal controls

system at second level, as a risk owner and not for compliance.

The Department carries out its own activity independently

(pursuant to the supervisory regulations) on the basis of an

annual programme approved by the Board of Directors, always

after hearing the opinion of the Audit, Compliance and

Accounting Committee.

The main information flows destined to the Financial Reporting

Manager forecast the following:

the General and Legal Office: extract of the convocation notice

of Board of Directors meetings, with relative agenda, and the

minutes and resolutions regarding the issues of interest to the

Reporting Manager; as soon as available, any communications,

observations and reports of the Supervisory Authorities (Bank of

Italy, CONSOB, etc.) or other authorities presented to the

attention of the Managing Director, held by the General and

Legal office; and indication of “sensitive" documents as defined

by clause 2 of art. 154-bis of the Consolidated Finance Act;

the Internal Audit: the annual Audit Plan; every quarter, the

reports presented to the Board of Auditors and the summary of

the monitoring relative to mitigating action carried out by the

Process Owners; the reports on the various inspections as soon

as available;

Compliance: the annual compliance plan; the reports presented

to the Board of Auditors every quarter; the reports of the results,

as soon as available;

Operational Risk & Security: the annual Activity Plan; the reports

of the quarterly verifications.

7 Since 2012, support has been provided to the Financial Reporting Manager by the
Risk Management structure.



2011 // DEXIA CREDIOP S.P.A. // 19

Every six months the Financial Reporting Manager sends a

summary report on the findings of the verifications carried out to

the Steering Committee, the Audit Committee, Compliance and

Accounting, the Internal Audit department, the Compliance

Department and the Operational Risk & Security department.

The Financial Reporting Manager also reports to the company

Boards, and in particular to:

to the Board of Auditors, on the Budget for his/her own activity,

and on the annual plan for verification of the administrative-ac-

counting processes, and, by means of the six-monthly summary

report, on the findings of the verifications that he/she carries out;

the Board of Auditors, by means of the six-monthly summary

report, on the findings of verifications that he/she carries out.   

In addition, the Financial Reporting Manager meets and exchanges

information with the external Auditing Firm on their respective

activities, especially regarding any aspects of the internal controls

which require particular attention.

In 2011, all auditing and assessments performed confirmed

the basic suitability and effective application of the admini-

strative/accounting procedures of Dexia Crediop.

The economic and financial situation    
On a global level, during the second half of 2011, the economic cycle

recorded a slowing down which was mainly due to a tendency of

"emerging" countries that have suffered some restrictive orders

adopted in the first half of the year, the growth of which, moreover,

remains at high percentage levels. Outside the Eurozone, in the

main advanced countries, monetary policies have instead remained

very much expansive: the economies of the United States of

America, Japan and the United Kingdom all showed signs of

recovery during the second half of the year. The downgrade

suffered by the United States of America rating has not affected the

appeal of Treasury Bonds amongst investors.       

In 2011, the Eurozone saw sovereign debt tension, in particular

during the second half of the year, take on systemic relevance, with

significant repercussions on the trends of government securities,

also putting crisis management capacity and mechanisms to the

test on a European Community level. The ratings of States and

Banks have generally worsened, in a great many cases to a significant

degree. The outlook for the Eurozone has weakened and growth

forecasts for the area in 2012 have deteriorated rapidly, finally going

up in smoke. The consequent aversion to risk of investors has

privileged German government securities in the area. During the

period, the difficulties in achieving wholesale deposits by Eurozone

banks have increased: Eurosystem re-financing operations have

therefore reached very high averages (630 billion during the

maintenance period that ended on 13 December). In the same

period, the reluctance to use the inter-banking market has also

taken the funds deposited by banks on the Eurosystem deposit

facility to approximately € 250 billion (as compared with the 170

of the previous period). In this context, during the second half of

2011, the ECB lowered the official reference rate twice, thereby

taking it to the level pre- the two raises made in April and July 2011.

In December 2011, the ECB also decided on two new operations

in support of the liquidity of the banking system, including

refinancing in the longer-term (36 months). In the first of these

operations, net of the amounts maturing the Eurosystem thereby

injected liquid funds for approximately € 210 billion. The ECB has

also provided support, in coordination with the Federal Reserve and

the other main central banks, to the possibility of financing in

currency by area banks. At the end of 2011, two subsequent

meetings of the Heads of State and Government of the area

adopted various decisions aimed, amongst others, at improving

European governance, at clarifying the role played by private

investors in solving the Greek crisis and at strengthening financial

stabilisation instruments (EFSF and ESM). 

In Italy, the outlook has suffered not only the slowing of the global

cycle and worsening of the sovereign debt crisis, but also the effects

- also in terms of expectations on available income - of the three

corrective public finance manoeuvres approved during the last six

months of the year. In 2011 and in particular during the second half

of the year, in fact, the return difference between ten-year Italian

and German securities reached the highest values ever recorded

since the introduction of the single currency, reflecting in a drastic

worsening of refinancing conditions. The cumulative effect of the

corrective manoeuvres on the public deficit is estimated as 3

percentage points of the GDP in 2012 and 4.7 percentage points

on average over the two years 2013-2014, for a general total over the

three years of approximately € 206 billion. In the last month, and

again at the start of 2012, the BTP-Bund spread reduced significantly,

whilst still remaining far higher than the levels of summer 2011. 
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In current estimates, therefore, in Italy growth remains very low in

2011 (+0.4%) and exclusively by virtue of the results achieved during

the first half, whilst the two latter quarters respectively recorded -

0.2% and -0.7%, also technically sanctioning the recession. 

Export trends would appear positive, whilst more specifically, for

the younger age range, the employment market records particu-

larly high levels of unemployment. 

Under the scope of public finance, 2011 saw a reduction in the net

debt during the first three quarters as compared with 2010, of 0.3

percentage points of the GDP, whilst the debt/GDP ratio continued

to increase, but at a slower rate than the Eurozone average.

The increased Italian public debt is almost entirely due to the

central administration sector.  

Prospectively, in 2012, the Italian economy appears destined

to record a negative growth rate, estimated at between -1.2%

and -1.5% of the GDP. As for the other advanced countries,

the recent evolutions of the economic framework include elements

of contradiction that leave high levels of uncertainty with regards

to the various possible outlooks. 

The market of reference    
At the end of November 2011, according to the latest data

available8, Italian Regions, Provinces and Municipalities had a total

public debt of approximately € 99.7 billion, a value substantially in

line with that recorded during the years from 2007 to 2010. 

This relatively prolonged stability in the overall debt of Local

Governments (Regions, Provinces and Municipalities) is a recent

phenomenon of Italian finance, and it is unlike the experience of

the European countries in which decentralisation processes,

similar to those in Italy, have taken place.

The debt of Italian local governments is destined only for

investment, on the basis of a close functional relationship

reinforced since 2001 by provisions of a constitutional nature

which were, however, pre-existent. 

In economic terms, therefore, the stabilisation of the debt of local

administrations recorded in the last few years is due to the decline

of investments: the reduction of spending on capital account is, in

fact, in a great many cases the main financial strategy that can be

undertaken, in a social, economic and regulatory context in which

most of current spending is, for various reasons, non-elastic. It

therefore follows that the total spending of the local Italian

administrations for gross fixed investments has gone from

approximately 30 billion per year in 2005 to approximately 23

billion in 2010. In 2011, it is likely that it has further decreased, as

can be seen from the trend of tenders for public works, which,

during the first 9 months of the year, dropped by 10.3% in

number and 12.6% in value9.

In terms of interest in making public investments, the phenomenon

would appear to be able to help compromise the country's

development prospects if one takes into account the fact that local

administrations have always been responsible for 70% of public

investments in Italy.       

Prospectively, with regards to the debt of the Italian territorial

entities, we need to remember that whilst the internal stability

agreement, in the version in force with minor changes from 2007

to 2011, had not set objectives for the entities focussed on

reducing or limiting the debt (merely encouraging them to limit

new debt within the limit of that repaid during the same financial

year), the situation altered following Italian Law no. 183/2011

(2012 stability law). The regulation establishes two types of actions,

aimed at reducing the debt of the territorial entities: 

a direct constraint in force from 2013, consisting of the

introduction for the first time of the establishing objectives aimed

at annually reducing the debt for regions, provinces and

municipalities, the debt of which exceeds a certain pro capital

threshold; the threshold beyond which the obligation to reduce

the debt is incurred, the objectives to be achieved and the

methods by which to achieve them will be established by

Decree to be issued by the Ministry for the Economy and Finance;

a restriction of indirect restraints, in force from 2012, consisting

of the ratio of interest and the first 3 headings on the balance

sheet (for municipalities and provinces) and the instalment

inclusive of capital and interest and bound revenues (for regions).

For municipalities and provinces, the new ratio is established as 8,

6 and 4 percent respectively in 2012, 2013 and 2014, in lieu of the

previous ratio of 10% for 2012 and 8% for 2013 and 2014. 

The introduction of these restrictions would appear to be able to

further restrict recourse of territorial entities to new debt, helping

8 Suppl. to the Statistical journal of the Bank of Italy no. 10 of 15 February 2012 Finanza pubblica, fabbisogno e debito, Tab. 7.
9 ANCE, national observatory on the construction industry, December 2011.  
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depress spending on investments. 

In this scenario, with a substantially static demand on the part of

local administrations for long-term funding, Dexia Crediop business -

like that of all the other banks operating in the sector - suffered in

2011 as for 2010 because of the persistence, on the bond market,

of conditions mainly incompatible with the maximum rates that

local governments can apply as imposed by ministerial decree,

despite the fact that they have, to a certain extent, followed

the rising trend recorded by government security yields since

summer 2011.

As explained in greater detail elsewhere in this Report, debt

management activities also suffered unfavourable conditions,

though for other reasons. 

However, for many years now Dexia Crediop has set itself the aim

of overcoming the traditional role of specialised lender and to

extend the level of customer diversification and services offered

(whilst remaining within the scope of public relevance that is

coherent with the core business).  

More specifically, in fact, 2011 was again favourable both to the

Bank’s business in the infrastructure sector, carried out with

the recourse to project financing and to the expansion of business

linked to the optimisation of trade payables of entities or

companies in the public sector.

In actual fact, if the investments made by the public administrations

in infrastructures have already appeared to be declining for some

years now, and in the medium-term no reversal is envisaged of this

trend, investments in infrastructures by other entities (State Railways,

Public participation companies, motorway network concession

holders, other private managers of works of public interest) instead

have shown results in recent years that have in some cases been

positive and, prospectively, the forecasts would appear to be generally

positive, with the exception of the telecommunications sector. 

With regards to late payments of the public administration, the

tendency in recent years has been to further increase payment

terms, in the main sectors of health spending and public works.

The banking system has played an important role for some time in

assuring liquidity to the business system against these delays:

according to ANCE10, in 50% of cases, the businesses supplying the

public administrations use the advance of invoices in the bank or

other forms of transfer without recourse of the credit as a strategy

by which to cope with payment extensions in the public sector.    

Profits and balance sheet
results
To provide a better understanding of the results of the period,

abbreviated versions of the balance sheet and income statement

have been prepared, using the models given in the Bank of

Italy Memorandum 262/2005 and making the necessary

reclassifications as described below: 

Balance sheet schedule

the item “Cash and cash equivalents" has been included under

other assets;

the item “Hedging derivatives" has been included under other

assets/liabilities;

the item “Fair value adjustment of financial assets in hedged

portfolios” has been included among other assets;

tangible and intangible assets have been aggregated into a

single item;

the provisions for severance indemnities and risks and charges

have been aggregated into a single item;

the item “Fair value adjustment of financial liabilities in hedged

portfolios” has been included among other liabilities;

the profit and valuation reserves have been aggregated into a

single item.

Income statement schedule

the item “Net hedging gains (losses)" has been included under

net interest, in relation to the close correlation between hedging

derivatives and the instruments covered;

“net trading gains (losses)" and “Gains (losses) on disposal or

repurchase” has been aggregated into a single item;

net adjustments on tangible and intangible assets have been

aggregated into a single item. 

10 See above.



22 // REPORT ON OPERATIONS

Reclassified balance sheet
euro

Reclassified Balance Sheet Assets 31/12/2011 31/12/2010 Change

Financial assets for trading 20. Financial assets held for trading 5,435,554,149 3,917,424,147 39%

Financial assets available for sale 40. Financial assets available for sale 603,107,077 656,414,056 -8%

Financial assets held to maturity 50. Financial assets held to maturity 338,415,512 365,712,465 -7%

Due from banks 60. Due from banks 12,358,959,477 8,455,038,637 46%

Due from customers 70. Due from customers 29,378,011,587 29,026,208,547 1%

Equity investments 100. Equity investments 100,024,000 150,024,000 -33%

Tangible and intangible assets
47,252,382 47,385,882 0%

110. Property plant and equipment 43,847,312 44,157,063 -1%

120. Intangible assets 3,405,070 3,228,819 5%

Tax assets 130.  Tax assets 69,439,031 56,493,928 23%

Other asset items

725,436,036 1,034,511,085 -30%

10. Cash and cash equivalents 2,710 2,985 0%

80. Hedging derivatives 599,431,226 927,940,051 -35%

90. Fair value adjustment of financial assets in
hedged portfolios (+/-) 23,074,755 14,812,697 56%

150. Other assets 102,927,345 91,755,352 12%

Total assets 49,056,199,251 43,709,212,747 12%

euro

Reclassified Balance Sheet Liabilities and shareholders' equity 31/12/2011 31/12/2010 Change

Due to banks 10. Due to banks 23,467,350,959 18,386,605,186 28%

Due to customers 20. Due to customers 5,569,503,727 5,654,372,785 -2%

Securities in issue 30. Securities in issue 9,917,715,579 12,415,935,237 -20%

Financial liabilities for trading 40. Financial liabilities for trading 5,512,819,382 3,939,636,162 40%

Tax liabilities 80. Tax liabilities 0 190,525 -100%

Other liability items

3,508,489,332 2,161,993,613 62%

60. Hedging derivatives 3,475,357,734 2,120,999,139 64%

70. Fair value adjustment of financial liabilities
in hedged portfolios (+/-) 0 65,299 -100%

100. Other liabilities 33,131,598 40,929,175 -19%

Provisions 
15,992,159 18,622,251 -14%

110. Provision for severance indemnities 2,358,930 3,043,891 -23%

120. Provisions for risks and charges 13,633,229 15,578,360 -12%

Reserves
647,119,698 679,530,569 -5%

130. Valuation reserves (20,696,156) 13,831,134 -250%

160. Reserves 667,815,854 665,699,435 0%

Share capital 180. Share capital 450,210,000 450,210,000 0%

Profit (Loss) for the period 220. Profit (Loss) for the period (+/-) (33,001,585) 2,116,419 -1659%

Total liabilities and shareholders' equity 49,056,199,251 43,709,212,747 12%
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Reclassified income statement
euro

Reclassified income statement Income statement 31/12/11 31/12/10 Change

Net interest income

75,400,727 105,359,322 -28%

10. Interest and similar income 1,064,601,041 1,065,753,033 0%

20. Interest and similar expenses (989,430,708) (960,256,389) 3%

90. Net hedging gains (losses) 230,394 (137,322) -268%

Net fee and commission income

9,956,986 6,356,437 57%

40. Fee and commission income 14,892,820 9,677,557 54%

50. Fee and commission expense (4,935,834) (3,321,120) 49%

Dividend 70. Dividend and similar income 4,986,020 4,462,459 12%

Net trading gains (losses)

(74,000,253) (50,001,895) 48%

80. Net trading gains (losses) (57,931,043) 359,701 -16205%

100. Gains (losses) on disposal or repurchase (16,069,210) (50,361,596) -68%

Net interest and other banking income 16,343,480 66,176,323 -75%

Net adjustments for impairment  130. Net adjustments for impairment   (3,099,166) 1,504,799 -306%

Net income from financial activities 13,244,314 67,681,122 -80%

Administrative expenses 150. Administrative expenses (38,194,725) (38,085,283) 0%

Net provisions 160. Net provisions for risks and charges (3,154,552) (7,603,000) -59%

Amortization on assets 

(2,471,027) (2,097,209) 18%

170. Net adjustments on property plant and
equipment

(1,043,363) (990,328) 5%

180. Net adjustments on intangible assets (1,427,664) (1,106,881) 29%

Other operating expenses/income 190. Other operating expenses/income 219,022 661,154 -67%

Operating costs (43,601,282) (47,124,338) -7%

Gains (losses) on disposal of investments 240. Gains (losses) on disposal of investments -   -   0%

Profit (loss) from continuing operations
before tax

(30,356,968) 20,556,784 -248%

Income tax 260. Income tax for the period on continuing
operations

(2,644,617) (18,440,365) -86%

Profit (Loss) for the period (33,001,585) 2,116,419 -1659%
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Profits and balance sheet results

Changes to key income statement items 

The 2011 income statement for Dexia Crediop SpA presents

net interest income, inclusive of hedging gains, of € 75.4

million. This represents a decrease of 28% on the previous

year and is linked above all to the changes in market rates.

Net commission amounts to € 10 million, up 57% (+ € 3.6

million) on 2010 thanks to the Project Finance business.

Dividends amount to € 5.0 million, (up + € 0.5 million as

compared with 2010).

Total trading income amounts to - € 74 million, as compared

with the - € 50 million of last year. 

In determining the net result from trading in 2011, the

valuation effect due to the increased state debt spread during

the second half of 2011 had a significant influence, with a

gross impact of - € 71.1 million.

The overall 2011 result from trading is also affected by the

sale of debt securities for about € 0.25 billion to companies

of the Dexia group and the early repayment of assets held

with the parent company Dexia Crédit Local for € 0.4 billion.

These sales and early repayments resulted in losses of -29

million, whilst repurchases of own securities generated

profits of +13 million, with an overall result of losses (profits)

on sales and repurchases totalling -16 million as compared

with approximately -50 million in 2010.

Net interest and other banking income amounted to € 16.3

million, a decrease of 75% on 2010 (- € 66.2 million).  

The total net impairment adjustments were - € 3.1 million,

in relation to net write-backs on loans of +1.5 million the

previous year.

Net profits on financial activities amounted to € 13.2 million,

down 80% on 2010.

Administrative expenses totalled € 38.2 million, basically in

line with 2010. Amortisation and depreciation, amounting

to € 2.5 million are up on last year (+18%). 

Allocations made to the provisions for risks and charges

amount to - € 3.2 million (- € 7.6 million in 2010) and mainly

refer to allocations made for legal costs by virtue of

administrative and legal proceedings in place relating to

derivatives stipulated with local entities.

The result of continuing operations before tax was - € 30.4

million compared to + € 20.6 million in 2010.

Tax is negative for - € 2.6 million and mainly refers to IRAP

and deferred taxation. Tax suffers the increases of the tax

base, mainly deriving from the partial non-deductibility of

interest expense.

The net result for the period was therefore - € 33 million,

while in the preceding period it had been + € 2.1 million. 
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Changes to the main balance sheet items 

Total balance sheet assets amounted to € 49.1 billion at the

end of 2011, an increase of 12% on the previous year.

In particular, there was an increase in the financial assets held

for trading, which amounted to € 5.4 billion (compared to

€ 3.9 billion at the end of 2010). This increase was due to

the value of derivatives held for trading purposes. The amount

is balanced out by a similar change in the item "financial

liabilities held for trading". These derivatives are valued at

their fair value, and are considered financial assets if their fair

value is positive, and as financial liabilities if their fair value is

negative. 

The financial assets available for sale amounted to € 0.6

billion at the end of 2011, down € 0.05 billion in the previous

year.

Financial assets held to maturity totalled € 0.3 billion (a

decrease of 7% compared to the previous year). During the

year there were no disposals or acquisitions, so the decrease

can be attributed to reimbursements during the year.

Receivables due from banks amounted to € 12.4 billion, an

increase of 3.9 billion compared to the end of the previous

year. The main changes are due to the increase in deposits

held with other credit institutes, which are mainly balanced by

a similar increase in bank payables.

Customer receivables total € 29.4 billion, which is mainly in

line with the figure recorded for the previous financial year.

Tax credit amounted to € 69.4 million (€ 56.5 million at the

end of 2010) and mainly referred to the net credit for prepaid

taxes and credit relative to the surplus advance payments (for

Corporate Income Tax and Regional Business Tax and for tax

withheld at source on interests, premiums and other income

from deposits and current accounts) compared to the balance

actually due.

The other items of the assets total € 0.7 billion as compared

with the 1 billion of the end of 2010. The change is mainly

due to the change in fair value of hedge derivatives.

Key items among the liabilities include the item “Due to

banks”, totalling € 23.5 billion (18.4 billion in 2010), “Due to

customers”, totalling € 5.6 billion (5.7 billion in 2010) and

securities in issue, totalling 9.9 billion (12.4 billion in 2010).

The change in this latter item is due to period repayments,

which is only partially offset by the new flows.

The other items of the liabilities total € 3.5 billion as compared

with the 2.2 billion of the end of 2010. The change is mainly

due to the change in fair value of hedge derivatives.

Reserves amounted to € 0.6 billion at the end of 2011 (-5%

compared to 2010). The decrease is due to the negative

change of valuation reserves (-35 million), which is partially

offset by the allocation of the previous period profits to the

reserves.

At the end of 2011, share capital amounted to € 0.5 billion.

There were no changes compared to the previous year.
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Performance Indicators    
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Loan structures
A breakdown of loans by counterparty shows that most
were made to governments and public bodies (59%).

These figures include all the various loan formats in
existence at 31 December 2011.

Structure of funds  
At the end of 2011 securities in issue and amounts due to
banks respectively amounted to 25% and 61% of the
total provisions.

The figures include all the various funding formats in
existence at 31 December 2011.

Loans disbursed during the year 
In terms of disbursement flows, the activities for 2011
amounted to approximately € 0.6 billion.

The figures include all the various forms of loans disbursed
during 2011. 

Loans
At the end of 2011, amounts due from customers and
banks totalled 69% and 29% of total loans, respectively.

These figures include all the various loan formats in
existence at 31 December 2011. 

Figures stated in millions of euros Figures stated in millions of euros 
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Return on Asset (RoA)
RoA for 2011 comes to -0.067% and mainly suffers the net period result. 

The Return on Assets figure is calculated as the ratio between net result for the financial year and the total balance sheet assets.
This indicator expresses the profitability of total invested equity.

Earning per Share (EpS)   
EpS for 2011 was - € 0.19 per share, and suffered from
the net result.  

The EpS figure is the ratio between net result for the
financial year and the number of shares in the share
capital.

Net non-performing loans 
The effect of non-performing loans was close to zero. The
decrease on 2010 is due to an increase in loans against a
stability of net non-performing positions.

The effect of non-performing loans is calculated as the ratio
between net non-performing loans and overall net loans.
This indicator expresses the risk level of the loans portfolio. 

Return on Equity (RoE) 
2011 RoE comes to -3.0% and suffers the net period
result. 

Return on Equity is calculated as the ratio between net
result for the year and net equity at year-end.
This indicator expresses the profitability of own equity.

Cost to Income
The 2011 Cost to Income ratio is 249%, up on 2010 due
to the reduced net interest and other banking income. 

Cost to income is the ratio between operating costs
(administrative expenses and depreciation) and net interest
and other banking income. This indicator is a measure of
productivity expressed as a percentage of profit absorbed
by operating costs.
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Report on Operations
Funding activities and the offer of financial
services

Business in the public financing sector  

In 2011 too, as already mentioned elsewhere in the report,

the market context in the segment of loans to territorial

entities has not been favourable, due to the simultaneous

limitation to spending on investments by the public

administration and the continued refinancing conditions not

suited to the rate limits applicable to local entities, established

in an administrative way according to the legal mechanisms

that have now become obsolete by virtue of the volatility

achieved by the public debt spread. 

These factors have caused the banks operating in the sector

to significantly reduce volumes of loans disbursed to the

territorial entities, public entities and public owned businesses

and have, as far as Dexia Crediop is concerned, affected the

achievement of profitability objectives established for activity

in the broader sector of public finance.

Conversely, in the activities - including advisory activities -

linked with the project finance, in the short-term debt

restructuring operations of the public administrations towards

suppliers and in cash management, a favourable trend to

business has been recorded, as confirmation of the effectiveness

of the customer and product diversification path pursued

since 2008.

The commercial strategy currently pursued by Dexia Crediop

consists of making a broader, more complete range available

to its customers, which includes not only medium and

long-term financing but also short-term financing and debt

management, cash management and advisory services, etc..

Activities are therefore carried out with a logic entailing the

diversification of services and selectivity in granting long-term loans.

Dexia Crediop's position in the market of public financing to

local governments and their companies, which traditionally

features a low risk profile, is in any case solid. Almost 17%

of Italian local government debt is actually owned by the

Bank. 

The expansion in the credit spread in every sector subsequent

to the financial crisis also affected Dexia Crediop's business

sector, and contributed to sustaining income from new

operations.

Long-term loans

In 2011, the medium/long-term market for loans to public

finance customers was also affected by the even stricter

public finance rules for compliance with the Stability Agreement

and the worsening of the financial market crisis.

More specifically, as concerns the segment of local entities,

these difficult market conditions have resulted in an

unsuitability of maximum rate levels, which legislation

establishes for the taking on of loans with the banking

system, making it extremely difficult for operators to grant

loans in reference to which, therefore, Cassa Depositi e

Prestiti has played a key role.

Debt  Management 

In 2011, no favourable market conditions were recorded for

debt management activities: the volume of these operations

is therefore limited to exceptional operations transforming

the characteristics of customer liabilities without affecting

the debt profile. More specifically, during the year, loans were

transformed into securities for more than € 2 billion.

The use of derivative instruments by Italian local governments

continues to be suspended by a national government

provision of July 2008, until the issue of new regulations on

this issue. 
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Credit Structuring  

In 2011, despite the difficulties generated by the worsening

of the financial crisis in the Eurozone that has led to an

increase in the credit spread and a decrease in liquidity, Dexia

Crediop has participated to a greater degree than the

previous financial year in short-term restructuring operations

of the debt exposure of public entities and/or their businesses

towards suppliers.

The operations mainly concerned the restructuring of trade

receivables due from suppliers of health services and products

to the local hospitals, in addition to other restructuring

operations of trade receivables due from the utilities suppliers

of services to public entities, own shareholders, also realised

through the assumption of debt.

Cash Management  

In 2011, cash management was further developed in order

to meet the demands for customer use of liquidity.  

The year results were marked by a consolidation of the

customer base and a preference for short-term cash

management instruments and plain vanilla products.

Business in the utilities sector 

With regards to business relating to the concession of

medium/long-term loans to utilities customers11, during the

financial year this was affected by the objective difficulties

connected with the worsening of the sovereign debts of the

Eurozone, the simultaneous reduction of market liquidity and

the extension of the spread. Beyond this specific product,

however, the bank's business with this type of customer is

generally satisfactory in the various fields of intervention.  

In particular, Dexia Crediop has continued to carry out

operations under the scope of cash management, hedging

services and the mobilisation of receivables due from utilities

with regards to the public shareholders. Additionally, the

bank also intervened in some significant operations as

advisor. 

Business in the project finance sector

2011 showed an alternating trend in the project finance

sector. On the one hand, a significant flow of initiatives

continued in the renewable energy (photovoltaic and wind)

sector and in the infrastructures sector with the formalisation

on the market of long-awaited operations. On the other

hand, these initiatives have suffered a hardening of financial

conditions applied by the banking system and a decrease in

available liquid funds.

In this situation, Dexia Crediop focused on the financial

organisation of a limited number of operations, selected

firstly on the basis of risk profile quality.

The overall results were highly satisfactory, especially in terms

of income, thanks to a multi-product strategy pursuant to

which Dexia Crediop acted not only as lender but also as the

provider of services concerning the whole of the product life

cycle (advisory, arranging, financing, hedging and agency

services). 

During the year, three new operations were organised as

Mandated Lead Arranger. One of these operations was also

rewarded as the best European deal of the year in the

motorway sector by the Project Finance Magazine. Last year

was also marked by the attribution of important financial

advisory mandates and the assumption of new agency

appointments in addition to the development of cash

management activities.

11  The term "utilities" is mainly used to refer to private satellites, or rather businesses in corporate form with majority public shareholders, mainly in charge of supplying
services of primary public utility (e.g. electricity, water services, gas supply for domestic use and waste collection and disposal).
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Raising funds on the markets

Funding activities 

In 2011, 16 medium-long term fund raising operations

(including sales on 6 bonds issued in 2010) were carried out,

for a total nominal capital of € 1,425 million and an average

duration of just under 3 years.

The funds were raised by bond issues, some of which listed

on the MOT, and by bank loans. During the year, a loan was

also taken out from the European Investment Bank.

In December, Dexia Crediop issued debt securities at 3

months with the aim of a 3-year renewal, backed by State

guarantee in accordance with Italian Law Decree no. 201

of 06 December 2011 for € 1,050 million. The issued of

State-backed debt securities has enabled an increase to the

Bank's counterbalancing capacity, consequently reducing

pressure to access the markets. 

Dexia Crediop has also updated the prospectus for its internal

emissions, as approved by Consob and established by Italian

Law no. 262/2005. Dexia Crediop was the first Italian issuer

to provide itself with this document, consequently increasing

transparency with regards to the public of its emissions.

With regard to short-term liquidity, in addition to the traditional

forms of funding, i.e. the interbank market and monetary

policy transactions of the Central Bank, the Bank pursued its

policy to diversify short-term deposit sources through operations

with customers.

Business on the financial and monetary markets 

According to the current organisational structure, business is

broken down into:

SALES AND STRUCTURING, i.e. the sale of financial products

on the Italian stock market. In particular, the activity focuses

on the sale of bonds issued by Dexia Group companies, or

originated by the Dexia Group for third party issuers included

within the range of the Bank's typical customers.

CASH AND LIQUIDITY MANAGEMENT, i.e. the management

of short-term liquidity and the interest rate risk, generated

in particular by Euribor indexation of the banking book items.

The interest risk is also managed through the use of short-term

interest-rate derivatives (Forward Rate Agreements and

EONIA swaps).

LONG TERM FUNDING, i.e. obtaining medium-long term

funding on stock markets through securitised and other,

secured or unsecured liabilities. 

DEBT CAPITAL MARKET, i.e. the origination of debt capital

market transactions for bank customers.

Administration, control and support

Risk Management 

2011 confirmed that the Bank’s operations are generally

characterised by a very limited credit risk, which is partly due

to its focus on a client base made up predominantly of local

and district public bodies. 

This is also contributed to by the increased use of cash

collateral contracts on derivatives, which also produces a

considerable reduction in credit risk. With regard to the

practical management of these contracts, we note that this

now lies with the Collateral Management Competence

Centre of the Dexia Group, which allows the Bank to exploit
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the expertise matured at the Dexia Group level. 

However, even if not directly due to credit risk, we must

mention that the news regularly published on the national

mass media, in relation to the stages of the administrative

and legal proceedings in relation to transactions in derivative

instruments involving counterparties in the public sector,

have, in terms of legal and reputational risk, partly increased

the potential overall exposure to risk. More specifically,

concrete dispute or pre-dispute situations have already been

initiated with regards to some local or territorial bodies,

which, in the last few weeks, have entailed the posting of

allocations to the provision for risks and charges in view of

potential legal costs. Please refer to part B of the explanatory

notes for a description of these positions.

In terms of operational risk, in line with that already established

for the Dexia Group as a whole and in compliance with the

provisions of the Bank of Italy, the use of the new Group

software (OSCAR) has been definitively consolidated in

signalling events of operational risk. As usual, the regular

Risk Control Self Assessment (RCSA) has also been carried

out.

With reference to "security" aspects, the Business Continuity

Plan has been reviewed in full, following technological

upgrades concerning disaster recovery and the replacement

of the identity management software has been defined with

a more suitable instrument, integrated with the scheduling of

IT works that will make it easier to monitor access to the

various business application, saving on management time.

The Permanent Control activities, launched in 2006 in re-

sponse to requirements of French banking laws (decree 31/05

of 2005 and document 97/02 of the CRBF - Comité de la

Réglementation Bancaire et Financière) were entirely reviewed

and further developed further, with the introduction of

further points of control.

Finally, work has continued on Quality Control (of loans),

relating to the traceability of the information-gathering

process and the inclusion of this data in the internal rating

calculation software (CLEO/ATLAS) usable for the regional,

provincial and municipal authorities and related parties (local

hospitals and hospital authorities).

With regards to the management of liquidity risk, carried out

on a consolidated level throughout the Dexia Crediop Group,

activity carried out during the financial year gradually moved

from the unsecured channel, which has gradually proven to

be less accessible, to the secured channel, with a decisive

increase in the mobilisation of financial assets with the

European Central Bank and with market counterparties. 

The deleveraging process continued during the financial year,

albeit somewhat less intensely than in the recent past, allowing

for a further reduction in the bank's structural need for liquidity.

Please also note the significant increase of counterbalancing

capacity, obtained through recourse to financial asset

optimisation policies.

The activity enabled the management of tension on the

liquidity position caused by short-term events, such as, in

particular, the increase of cash-collateral deposits on derivative

transactions, in turn linked to the marked decrease of the

interest rates and the reduction in the value of the liquidity

reserves due to the worsening of the credit rating of Italian

issuers.

With regards to market and liquidity risk control, in addition

to the usual risk and performance indicator measurement

and the verification of compliance with the related operating

limits, please note the prosecution of IT projects aimed at

automating the processes underlying the reporting relating to

the liquidity risk. 
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For further details on risks and related hedging policies,

qualitative and quantitative information is given in part E of

the Notes to the Accounts.

Compliance

In 2011, in line with the provisions of the organisational

regulations issued by the Bank of Italy on money laundering,

a specific anti money laundering department has been

established within the compliance structure.

Consequently, a chart of duties has been prepared devoted

to the money laundering department, which considers the

new and more relevant duties assigned in terms of "know

your customer" and, more generally, of due diligence on

customers.

Project activities particularly concerned assistance in defining

processes by which to adjust to the requirements set out in

the Consob document on the distribution of non-liquid

financial products. Activities concerned the operations of

Finance management with the direct involvement of

management in preparing design choices and identifying

responsibilities under the scope of business units. 

Control activities specifically concerned regular second level

audits on money laundering matters and the consolidation of

control activities through the Mifid monitoring report on the

Dexia Group.

Again under the scope of controls, we note the assistance

provided to the Supervisory Body, as established by Italian

Legislative Decree no. 231/2001 on the administrative liability

of entities.

The Compliance structure, together with the Internal Audit

structure, as control department, has, in fact, carried out

specific checks on the basis of a plan of action defined by

the Supervisory Body. 

Administration

In 2011, the Accounting and Management Control structure

was committed not only with the standard activities, overseeing

the preparation of the financial statements,  tax compliance,

the annual and multi-year planning and management control,

but also in a continuous upgrade of the process of production

of the reports to the banking supervision Authority. Additionally,

all activities envisaged by the accounting audit model

implemented by the Financial Reporting Manager were

carried out.

This year too, under the supervision of the Risk Management

department, all activities linked to the Basel II regulations

concerning the capital adequacy assessment system (prudential

control process - ICAAP) were carried out. In particular, the

so-called ICAAP Report was sent to the Bank of Italy in April

2011. The report will be updated in April 2012 on the basis

of the financial statement figures at 31 December 2011. 

Risk Management has been particularly committed to refining

liquidity risk management processes, an activity that has also

involved the administrative structures.

In 2011, the work on the various project activities for the

Back Office structure continued, mainly focussed on the

different management systems; more specifically, work was

carried out on the platforms able to ensure correct management

of guarantee pooling and the support to collateral management.

The structure has also assured the participation in various

projects of the post trading and settlement system. 

In the ICT sector, both the technological infrastructures have

been renewed for the supply of ICT services, in particular for

those relating to Disaster Recovery and Operative Continuity

and the mainframe provider, obtaining significantly improved

service levels. A review of the internal organisation of the ICT

has enabled a clearer distribution of roles and competences

and has been followed by several important initiatives, aimed

at improving the governance of ICT processes, in particular in

terms of Security and Demand Management, with the aim of
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obtaining positive effects on the limitation of risks and control

of production as from 2012.

The Building & Facility department continued to modernise

the main infrastructures aimed at ensuring the security and

continuity of services.

Equity investments 

Equity investments in subsidiary companies 

In 2011, the subsidiary Crediop Overseas Bank Limited

(COBL), with registered office in the Cayman Islands, was

placed in voluntary liquidation, upon the transfer of all

financial liabilities to the sole shareholder Dexia Crediop and,

on 28 December 2011, cancelled from the Cayman Islands

registry of businesses and banking groups.  

For other companies, please refer to the information given in

the paragraph entitled "Group structure and shareholders".

Other significant equity investments

ISTITUTO PER IL CREDITO SPORTIVO (ICS)

The Istituto per il Credito Sportivo (ICS) was set up under

Italian Law n. 1295 of 24 December 1957 and is a public

sector bank in accordance with art. 151 of Italian Legislative

Decree n. 385/1993. Technically, it is a "public law entity with

autonomous management". 

Dexia Crediop’s interest in this bank at the end of the year

stood at 21.622%. The investment is not considered as one

providing significant influence, since the Bank does not have

an equivalent number of votes on the Board of Directors,

which also performs the functions of the General Meeting.

Drawing on the 2010 profits of € 16.1 million, ICS paid a

dividend of € 10.9 million in 2011, of which Dexia Crediop

had a share of € 2.4 million.

In 2011, the following significant events should be signalled:

by Decree of the President of the Council of Ministers, adopted

on 17 June 2011, the ICS was placed in receivership, with

the consequent appointment of an Extraordinary Commissioner

for the duration of three months, an appointment that was

then extended until end 2011 with a view to adapting the

articles of association to meet the provisions of Art 6,

paragraph 5 of Italian Law Decree no. 78 of 2010, which

establishes that no more than five members shall form part

of the administrative bodies of public entities. 

With Italian Presidential Decree published on 14 December

2011 in the Official Journal, a Regulation was issued to

reorganise the institute, containing the provision of a Board

of Directors numbering five members.

By Decree of the Ministry for the Economy and Finance of

28 December 2011, issued on the proposal of the Bank

of Italy in accordance with Art. 70, paragraph 1 of the

Consolidated Law on Banking, the Institute was subjected to

an extraordinary administration procedure, which was still

underway as of the date on which this document was

prepared. 

Transactions with other companies of the Group

Transactions with subsidiaries, posted on the financial

statement at the end of the period, represented total assets

of € 344 million and total liabilities of € 161 million. The

related information is contained in Part H of the Notes. 

Transactions with the parent company DCL, which directs

and coordinates the Bank pursuant to article 2497 of the

Italian Civil Code, posted on the financial statement at the

end of the year, represented total assets of € 5,133 million,

total liabilities of € 5,801 million, and total guarantees and

commitments of € 258 million. The information concerning

transactions with related parties can be found in Part H of

the Notes. 

The key data from the last balance sheet of the parent

company DCL are contained in Part L of the Notes, as required

by article 2497-bis of the Italian Civil Code.

Transactions with companies of the Dexia Group, posted on

the financial statement at the end of the period, represented

total assets of € 581 million and total liabilities of € 4,982
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million. The related information is contained in Part H of the

Notes.

Human Resources  

At 31 December 2011, the Bank employed a workforce of

199 people (9 fewer than at 31 December 2010).

Human Resource management for 2011, in support of the

organisational and workforce adaptation process that was

begun in 2009, was mainly characterised by the realisation of

different HR development and management initiatives, the

continued pursuit of company social dialogue and the careful

overseeing of numerous administrative duties, including new

introductions.

In particular, we point out that the three-year training

programme (2009-2011) has been completed, aimed at

extending and updating the transversal skills of internal

resources and strengthening the capacity to manage change

in particularly dynamic contexts. Additionally, company job

descriptions have been entirely reviewed, to update them

and bring them into line with the bank's new organisational

structure.

2011 also saw the conclusion of the first stage of use of

inter-professional funds for continuous training, with the

activation of the training management and reporting process

implemented following agreements reached with trade

unions for the recourse to ordinary provisions pursuant to

Italian Ministerial Decree no. 158 of 28. 4. 2000 (Solidarity

Fund). We should also point out the conclusion of the first

edition of a development path lasting eighteen months devoted

to the junior resources with growth potential which has

defined and developed specific individual growth plans. 

In terms of industrial relations, in 2011 the most important

negotiations include the signing of the agreement renewing

health coverage for operative staff and pensions and the

understandings in relation to the method by which the

telephone call registration system of the Markets Room is

used. 

In 2011, the careful management of the remuneration and

incentive policy monitoring and definition process also

continued, given the centrality of the matter in view of the

current evolution of the reference legislative framework and

the necessary coordination with the reward policies of the

Dexia Group.

Additionally, the management activities of all administrative

aspects connected with the access to the Solidarity Fund for

credit staff continued, in particular following the numerous

legislative amendments that have been applied to social

security matters.

Communications

Dexia Crediop organised many events in 2011 on the

communications front.

The "Banks and the PA" forum of the ABI focussed on the

matter of relations between banks and the public administration

and saw the participation of Dexia Crediop, gave rise to the

start-up of a series of events - during the year - that have

been of interest on various different institutional levels. The

Bank adhered to the 17th edition of the AIAF ASSIOM FOREX

congress organised in Verona in February, during which the

Governor of the Bank of Italy gave his first institutional

speech of the year.

March and April were marked by the organisation of

institutional meetings: the congress on "The operative

impacts of the decisions of the ADR systems of the banking

and financial sector" with the Financial Banking Conciliator

and on "Open Government in Europe", organised in

collaboration with Tor Vergata University of Rome.

In June and July, Dexia Crediop organised the 7th Compliance

Meeting, realised in collaboration with the AICOM Association

on "Transparency: formal or real customer protection?" and

the presentation of the "Conjectural Note", an opportunity
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to spread awareness of the overall framework of the evolution

of finance of the Italian territorial entities.

In October, the Bank organised the twelfth meeting on Local

Authority Financing. Dexia Crediop also participated at the

28th edition of ANCI - National Meeting of Italian Municipalities,

held in Brindisi. 

In 2011, Bank communication came to an end with the

organisation of the conference on “Economic and financial

prospects for 2012", the technical seminar of Federcasa and

the meeting of the Management Board of Assiom Forex.

Through the Centro Alberto Beneduce, during the Financial

Meeting, the fourth “Mauro Cicchinè” prize was awarded,

for postgraduate dissertations or other new studies on

economic issues.

In 2011 too, the commitment of Dexia Crediop continued

for sustainable development and the company's corporate

liability. The commitment to the environment has resulted in,

amongst other aspects, the collaboration with the Group for

Sustainable Relations of Dexia.

The development of investments and specific projects aimed

at the production of renewable energy has also been

encouraged along with the management of relations with

various different stakeholders: in particular, the participation

in the Forum for Sustainable Finance and in the Coordination

of the Italian local Agendas 21.

Business outlook
Significant post-balance sheet events  
In February 2012, the bank obtained the reimbursement of

outstanding securities with the parent company Dexia Crédit

Local for an amount of approximately € 1.75 billion, with

residual maturity of approximately 1 year and an expense for

early repayment of approximately 30 million. At the same

time, the bank subscribed a new security issued by the parent

company, with a maturity of 1 year, guaranteed by the

States of France, Belgium and Luxembourg. The operation

enables the improvement of the bank's liquidity profile, as

the security is eligible to  the central bank financing.

During the first months of the 2012 some funding transactions

have been carried out that have improved the liquidity position

on a 3 years term. In particular the bank took part for an

amount of around 6 billion to the Longer Term Refinancing

Operation of the European Central Bank, with a 3 years

maturity. In the same period the bank issued bonds guaranteed

by the Italian State, used as a collateral in the above mentioned

transactions launched by the European Central Bank.

Future operational prospects   
In order to assess the operational prospects of Dexia Crediop,

we must refer to the situation of the Dexia Group, to the

transformation plan concerning it and the latest significant

changes that have affected its structure.

More specifically, the implementation of the restructuring

plan according to the objectives defined in 2010 with the

European Commission and illustrated in the previous financial

statements were pursued until May 2011; in this context, the

sale of Dexia Crediop and of other entities of the group is

one of the objectives to be realised by 31 October 2012.

Following the deterioration of the market conditions and

their repercussions on the group, in October 2011, the group
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has adopted structural measures having major changes on

its structure. 

The structural changes announced in October 2011 have

partly already been realised or are currently being realised

(see the paragraph on the profile of the Dexia Group), whilst,

at present, States are committed to presenting the European

Commission with a new restructuring plan by March 2012.

This Group strategy redefinition process will also concern the

prospects of Dexia Crediop.

The consolidated financial statements of the Dexia Group

have been prepared in accordance with the principle of the

company as a going concern, which is influenced by a number

of factors, including:

approval by the European Commission of the above-spe-

cified new comprehensive restructuring plan, in particular

obtaining a guarantee from the States of Belgium, France

and Luxembourg on the funding provided by Dexia SA and

by its subsidiary Dexia Crédit Local, for an amount of € 90

billion; these guarantees have currently been released on a

temporary basis for a total of € 45 billion, with maturity on

31 May 2012;

financial remuneration of the guarantee that would enable

the generation of a positive result or the strengthening of

the Group's equity; 

the support of the States with regards to the Group's

liquidity position on the basis of the guarantees granted

for the correct implementation of the significant restructuring

measures announced in October 2011.

For lack of further corrective measures, the non-realisation

of one or more of the criteria specified may endanger the

going concern of Dexia SA and create financial tension in

terms of Group liquidity and the solvency position. These

hypotheses depend on some exogenous factors that are

beyond the control of Dexia. Their realisation therefore

remains uncertain and will, amongst other factors, depend

on the decision of the European Commission on the new

transformation plan to be presented.

In view of that explained, the prospects of the Dexia Crediop

Group as a going concern, confirmed as of today, may suffer

the same exogenous factors described for the Dexia Group

and, in particular, the latter's capacity to provide support, if

needed, in terms of funding for the other Group entities.

However, with reference to the dynamic liquidity position of

Dexia Crediop, the situation looks to be sustainable throughout

2012 as, thanks to the implementation of the funding plan

(moreover for a reduced amount) and the managerial

operations already developed or planned, the bank will be

able to cover its twelve-month needs. If necessary, the bank

may use the support of the Dexia Group to cope with any

temporary imbalances seen during the reference time frame. 

With reference to the foreseeable outlook of the Public

Finance market, please note that in 2012 too, the activity of

territorial entities in making investments and the consequent

recourse to debt look set to reduce given the new provisions

of the 2012 "Stability Law", which, in force as from 2012,

have further reduced the maximum ratio of debt financial

expense and incomings on the financial statements for

regions, provinces and municipalities. In addition to this, the

same law also establishes that, as from 2013, and for the

first time, individual objectives will be established with

regards to the reduction of debt for those territorial entities

that exceed certain per capita debt thresholds to be identified

by Decree of the Ministry for the Economy and Finance. In

the medium-term, therefore, spending on investments by

territorial entities will be further penalised.

Prospects for the infrastructural sector developed through

project financing are positive. In actual fact, if investments in

infrastructures made by public administrations have been

decreasing for several years and in the medium-term, no



2011 // DEXIA CREDIOP S.P.A. // 37

reversal of trend is envisaged, investments in infrastructures

made by other entities in the form of project financing show

evenly positive forecasts, with the exception of the telecom-

munications sector. 

In line with this reference context, Dexia Crediop maintains

long-term financing activities within the limits of its funding

capacity. Additionally, the bank successfully continues to

pursue an extension process of its customer type towards

service management companies or those managing activities

of public interest, such as utilities, infrastructures, public

transport networks, sustainable energy and health. Thus, also

with a view to ensuring diversification, the commercial

strategy continues to rely on the availability for its customers

of a more extensive, fuller range of offers, including advisory,

arranging, hedging and agency and cash management

services.

Finally, it is forecast that the context will continue to be

favourable to the development of short-term loans and the

corresponding short-term funding with customers; the interest

of suppliers of the public administration in forms of banking

intervention aimed at injecting liquid funds into the production

system looks set to remain unchanged in the future.     

Again under the scope of the Public Finance sector, in 2010

the bank became party to some administrative and legal

proceedings in relation to derivative products stipulated with

local and territorial entities that are still underway. Also in

view of the developments as of today in these proceedings,

it has not been deemed necessary to adjust the value, but

merely to make allocations to the provisions for risks and

charges for legal costs. Additionally, it was not considered

that the proceedings underway should significantly affect the

management outlook, given the substantial correctness and

transparency applied by the bank in drawing up the contracts

in question.

Furthermore, as decided in 2011 activities in derivatives will

only be carried out for professional and eligible clientèle12,

with, in any case, the exclusion of local and territorial entities. 

Thus it is also envisaged that a notice of liquidation of

registration taxes received by the bank in December 2011 will

not affect the management prospects, with respect to which,

as more extensively explained in the explanatory notes, under

the section on provisions for risks and contingencies, no

allocation has been considered necessary and the suspension

has been obtained by the administration of its effects. 

On the funding side, in line with its strategic line aimed at

corroborating the independent funding level, internal bond

issues will continue both through domestic and international

programmes and through “Serie Dexia Crediop” targeting

private or institutional investors. Medium and long-term

deposits will be carried out, as usual, also in the form of loans

with banking counterparties, including the European Central

Bank.  With regard to short-term deposits, in addition to the

traditional forms of funding, i.e. the interbank market and

monetary policy transactions of the Central Bank, the Bank

intends to exploit its commercial franchise to collect liquid

funds held by the reference clientèle.

The issue of State-backed debt securities, in accordance with

Art. 8 of Italian Law Decree no. 201 of 06/12/2011 aimed at

increasing the bank's counterbalancing capacity enables an

optimisation of the access to the Central Bank, leaving the

managerial objectives in terms of funding, unchanged. 

In terms of administrative management, Dexia Crediop

continues along the path of reducing costs and rationalising

resources.

By virtue of the agreement for voluntary redundancy signed

in 2009, by virtue of which an overall reduction in the

workforce at end 2011 of 27 units was recorded, in 2012,

staff will reduce by a further 4 units. 

12 As to this end classified by Mifid regulations.
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The deleveraging process implemented during the last three

years, aimed at restoring the balance of assets and liabilities

on the balance sheet, has reduced trade receivables and

penalised the short-term income results, whilst at the same

time improving the liquidity position. 

Over the next few financial years, the Dexia Crediop strategy

will depend on the plan for the transformation of the Dexia

Group set to be released, which, as this document is prepared,

is currently being defined. The guidelines for the plan to be

presented to the European Commission and which must in

any case first obtain the agreement of the States, entails

maintaining the operations of Dexia Crediop with a selective

disbursement of credit until such time as the financial

market conditions will enable a return to normal funding

access levels by the banking system. This will enable the bank

to preserve the commercial franchise and the maintenance of

the chance for a subsequent sale and further valuation in the

hands of other shareholders.

Proposed allocation
of net profit
Dear Shareholders,

The proposed allocation of net profits set out below is

presented for your approval pursuant to Art. 25 of the

Bank's Articles of Association.

After the shareholders’ approval of the financial statement,

and considering the proposal not to distribute the dividend

in view of the commitment undertaken by the Dexia Group

with the European Commission and in line with the Bank of

Italy’s recommendation to reinforce the Bank's asset structure,

net equity will amount to € 1,064.3 million, and will consist

of share capital of € 450.2 million, a legal reserve of € 76.5

million, other reserves of € 558,3 million (excluding the

valuation reserves) and valuation reserves of -€ 20.7 million.

As of 31 December 2011, regulatory capital amounts to

€ 1,419 million. At the end of December 2011, the total

capital ratio (regulatory capital to assets weighted according

to risk level) was 20.9 percent, while the Tier 1 ratio (Tier 1

capital to assets weighted according to risk level) was 14.9

percent.

Euro

Verified net result for 2011 -33,001,585

- share of 5% to be allocated to reserve pursuant to
art. 2430 Italian civil code

0

Residual result 2011 -33,001,585

Profit carried forward from 2010 591,306,775

Profit available to the meeting 558,305,190

of which:

- to be distributed to shareholders pursuant to art.
25(4) of the Articles of Association

0

- to be carried forward 558,305,190
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Report by the Board of Auditors
THE BOARD OF AUDITORS’ REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AT 31ST DECEMBER 2011 PURSUANT TO ARTICLE 2429 OF THE CIVIL CODE

To the General Meeting of Dexia Crediop S.p.A.

Dear Shareholders,

We have examined the draft financial statements of the company Dexia Crediop s.p.a. at 31st December 2011, which show

a loss for the period of Euro 33,001,585, drawn up by the Directors pursuant to law and which the latter have transmitted

to this Board of Auditors, subsequent to the terms of law, together with the schedules, the explanatory annexes and

the Report on Operations.

Activity carried out by the Board of Auditors

We remind the shareholders that the task of auditing was conferred, pursuant to Article 13-quater of Legislative Decree

no. 39 of 2010, on the auditing firm Mazars S.p.A., and we inform you that in the periodic meetings with the appointed

auditing firm no important data or information emerged which we would have had to include in this report.

Moreover, pursuant to Article 17 of Legislative Decree no. 39 of 2010, we acknowledge receipt from Mazars & Guerard

S.p.A. of the annual confirmation that it meets with the prerequisites of independence. It is further acknowledged that

in addition to legal auditing services totalling 117 thousand Euros, other auditing services totalling 83 thousand Euros

were provided. No further services were provided by the auditing company or by companies forming part of its network

of origin during 2011.

Pursuant to Article 2429 of the Civil Code, this Board of Auditors declares that during the financial year 2011 it has performed

the following activities:

• it has checked legitimacy pursuant to Article 2403(1) of the civil code, finding correct observation of law, the Articles

of Association, and the principles of correct administration; 

• it has verified the adequacy of the organisational, administrative and accounting framework adopted by the company,

its actual functioning as well as its reliability in representing the state of management, highlighting in particular that, in

line with the organisational provisions adopted by the Bank of Italy, in 2011 a dedicated anti-money laundering office was

established within the Compliance department; 

• it has attended the periodic assemblies and participated in the meetings prescribed by Article 2405 of the Civil Code,

and can state that they were conducted according to the provisions of the Articles of Association, law and regulations

which govern their functioning, and we can reasonably ensure that that actions resolved conformed with law and the

Articles of Association and were apparently not imprudent, risky, in potential conflict of interests or such as to compromise

the intact nature of the company's equity;

• it has verified that the company’s books have been kept and updated regularly, pursuant to Article 2421.



40 // REPORT ON OPERATIONS

We also inform you that during the period no complaints have been presented by shareholders for facts that do not comply with

Article 2408 of the Civil Code.

With regard to the findings contained in the Bank of Italy inspection report of 30 November 2011, it is noted that the company

took action in December 2011 to send its considerations to the Oversight Body along with the relative measures which it intends

to implement in response to the findings and observations made.

The Board will ensure that the implementation of the matters indicated in that communication will be monitored.

Comments on the financial statements and proposals

With regard to the financial statements at 31st December 2011, the analytic control on the content of the same not being

placed within our scope of competence, we have supervised the general approach to the same and conformity to law

as regards preparation and structure, and we point out that the financial statements for the year 2011 also present, for

comparative purposes, the data of the previous period drawn up in accordance with the same IAS standards and schedules

adopted for 2010.

The Board of Auditors acknowledges that the economic result from 2011 has been influenced by the outcome of trading

activity which was affected:

• significantly, by the valuation effect due to the increase in the spread on sovereign debt yields which occurred during

the second half of 2011, with a gross impact of -71.1 million Euros;

• by the impact of transactions to sell debt stocks for around 0.25 billion to companies from the Dexia Group and the

advance redemption of assets with the parent company Dexia Credit Local for 0.4 billion, as reported by the Directors

in the Report on Management.

It is reported that on 1 December 2011, the Revenue Agency served a notice of liquidation on the company of registration

tax of around 108 million Euros, plus penalties and interest, for an overall total of around 250 million Euros, the effects of

which were however suspended in January 2012 following the presentation of an application for internal review; the

Directors who filed the appeal against that notice did not consider it necessary to make any provisions for such amounts, in

the light of the opinions received and the suspension obtained, which would appear to confirm albeit indirectly that

the company’s operations were correct and legitimate. 

It is recalled that in 2010, the company became party to certain administrative and legal proceedings in relation to derivative

products stipulated with local and territorial entities which are still underway. With regard to these proceedings, which are

described in detail in the Notes to the Statements, the Directors considered, also in the light of the opinions received, that

it was not necessary to carry out value adjustments but rather only to make allowances in the fund for risks and liabilities

for legal costs.

As was already pointed out in our previous reports, with regard to the guarantee information served on the company on

3 February 2010, in its capacity as a suspect of the administrative offence provided for under Articles 5(1) (a), 21 and 24(1)

and (2) of Legislative Decree no. 231 of 2001, in relation to Articles 640(2)(i) and 61(7) of the Criminal Code, with reference

to the inquiries relating to transactions concluded with Puglia Region, some of which were also concluded by Dexia Crediop, it
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is reported that the seizure ordered by the Judge in Charge of Preliminary Investigations in Bari, highlighted in our previous

report, was revoked by order of 18/2/2012 which ordered that the amounts seized the previous year be returned to Dexia

Crediop.

To the best of our knowledge, we state, pursuant to Article 2429(2) of the Civil Code, that in drawing up the financial

statements the Directors have not made any derogations from the principles pursuant to Article 2423 of the Civil Code.

Part H of the Notes to the Accounts contains details on transactions carried out with related parties.

Dear Shareholders,

Given the above and taking into account the interviews with the auditing firm, which has informed us that its report which

is about to be issued contains no negative observations or requirements for information, we express our favourable opinion

on the approval of these financial statements as they are presented.

30 March 2012

THE BOARD OF AUDITORS

Ezio Maria Simonelli Chairman

Vincenzo  Ciruzzi Standing auditor

Pierre Paul Destefanis Standing auditor
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Independent Auditors’ Report
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(Translation from the original Italian document) 

Auditors’ Report in accordance with articles 14 and 16 of Legislative Decree n°39/2010 

To the Shareholders of 

Dexia Crediop S.p.A. 

 

1. We have audited the separate financial statements of Dexia Crediop S.p.A. as of and for the year ended Decem-

ber 31, 2011, comprising the balance sheet, the income statement, the statement of comprehensive income, the 

statement of changes in equity, the cash flow statement and the related explanatory notes. The directors of Dexia 

Crediop S.p.A. are responsible for the preparation of these financial statements in compliance with the Interna-

tional Financial Reporting Standards endorsed by the European Union and with the regulations implementing 

art. 9 of Legislative Decree n° 38/2005. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements 

based on our audit. 

2. We conducted our audit in accordance with the auditing standards and procedures recommended by CONSOB 

(the Italian Stock Exchange Commission). In accordance with such standards and procedures, we planned and 

performed our audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material 

misstatement and are, as a whole, reliable. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the 

amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles 

used and significant estimates made by the directors. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for 

our opinion. 

For the opinion on the prior year separate financial statements, whose financial data have been presented 

for comparative purposes, reference should be made to our auditors’ report issued on April 4, 2011. 

3. In our opinion the separate financial statements of Dexia Crediop S.p.A. as of and for the year ended December 

31, 2011 comply with International Financial Reporting Standards endorsed by the European Union and with 

the regulations implementing art. 9 of Legislative Decree n° 38/2005. Therefore they are clearly stated and give 

a true and fair view of the financial position, the results of operations, the changes in equity and the cash flows 

of Dexia Crediop S.p.A. for the year then ended. 

4. As required by law, the company has included in the explanatory notes the essential financial data from the 

latest financial statements of the company who exercises direction and coordination over it. Our opinion on 

the separate financial statements of Dexia Crediop S.p.A. does not refer to these data. 

5. The directors of Dexia Crediop S.p.A. are responsible for the preparation of the report on operations in accor-

dance with the applicable laws and regulations. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the consistency of 

the report on operations and the information required by comma 2, letter b) of art. 123-bis of Legislative Decree 

n° 58/98 disclosed in the specific section of the same report, with the financial statements, as required by law.  

For this purpose, we have performed the procedures required under auditing standard n. 001 issued by CNDEC 

(the Italian Accounting Profession).  
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In our opinion, the report on operations and the information required by comma 2, letter b) of art. 123-bis of 

Legislative Decree n° 58/98 disclosed in the specific section of the same report are consistent with the separate 

financial statements of Dexia Crediop S.p.A. as of and for the year ended December 31, 2011. 

 

Milan, March 30, 2012 

 

 Mazars S.p.A. 

 (Signed on the original by) 

Vincenzo Miceli 

 Partner 
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Certification of the annual financial statements
pursuant to art. 154-bis of Lgs. Decree 58/98 and
art. 81-ter of Consob Regulation n. 11971 of 14th May
1999 and successive amendments and additions
1. The undersigned Jean Le Naour, as Managing Director, and Jean Bourrelly, as the Manager responsible for preparing the

financial statements of Dexia Crediop S.p.A., hereby testify, also taking into account the provisions of art. 154-bis, clauses

3 and 4, of legislative decree no. 58 of 24th February 1998, to:

• the adequacy in respect of the features of the company, and

• the effective application

of the administrative and accounting procedures on which the financial statements for the 2011 period are based,

2. it is also declared that:

2.1 the financial statements:

a) have been drawn up according to the international accounting standards applicable and recognised in the European Union

pursuant to the regulation (EC) no. 1606/2002 of the European Parliament and Council of 19th July 2002;

b) correspond to the balances in the accounting records;

c) give a true and correct representation of the issuer's equity and economic and financial situation.

2.2 The report on business operations includes a reliable analysis of the management trend and result, as well as the issuer’s

situation, together with a description of the main risks and uncertainties to which it is exposed.

Date: 20 March 2012

Jean Le Naour Jean Bourrelly 
Chief Executive Officer The Financial Reporting Manager
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Balance Sheet 

Euro

Assets 31/12/2011 31/12/2010

10. Cash and cash equivalents 2,710 2,985 

20. Financial assets held for trading 5,435,554,149 3,917,424,147 

40. Financial assets available for sale 603,107,077 656,414,056 

50. Financial assets held to maturity 338,415,512 365,712,465 

60. Due from banks 12,358,959,477 8,455,038,637 

70. Due from customers 29,378,011,587 29,026,208,547 

80. Hedging derivatives 599,431,226 927,940,051 

90 Fair value change of financial assets in hedged portfolios (+/-) 23,074,755 14,812,697 

100. Equity investments 100,024,000 150,024,000 

110. Property plant and equipment 43,847,312 44,157,063 

120. Intangible assets 3,405,070 3,228,819 

of which:

- goodwill 0 0 

130. Tax assets 69,439,031 56,493,928 

a) current 10,642,320 5,932,042 

b) advance 58,796,711 50,561,886 

150. Other assets 102,927,345 91,755,352 

Total assets 49,056,199,251 43,709,212,747 

Euro

Liabilities and shareholders' equity 31/12/2011 31/12/2010

10. Due to banks 23,467,350,959 18,386,605,186 

20. Due to customers 5,569,503,727 5,654,372,785 

30. Securities issued 9,917,715,579 12,415,935,237 

40. Financial liabilities held for trading 5,512,819,382 3,939,636,162 

60. Hedging derivatives 3,475,357,734 2,120,999,139 

70. Fair value change of financial liabilities in hedged portfolios (+/-) 0 65,299 

80. Tax liabilities 0 190,525 

a) current 0 190,525 

100. Other liabilities 33,131,598 40,929,175 

110. Employee termination indemnities 2,358,930 3,043,891 

120. Provisions for risks and charges 13,633,229 15,578,360 

a) post employment benefits 565,602 1,232,841 

b) other provisions 13,067,627 14,345,519 

130. Valuation reserves (20,696,156) 13,831,134 

160. Reserves 667,815,854 665,699,435 

180. Share capital 450,210,000 450,210,000 

200. Net income (loss) (33,001,585) 2,116,419 

Total liabilities and shareholders' equity 49,056,199,251 43,709,212,747 
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Income Statement

Euro

Items 31/12/2011 31/12/2010

10. Interest and similar income 1,064,601,041 1,065,753,033 

20. Interest and similar expenses (989,430,708) (960,256,389)

30. Net interest income 75,170,333 105,496,644 

40. Fee and Commission income 14,892,820 9,677,557 

50. Fee and Commission expenses (4,935,834) (3,321,120)

60. Net fee and commission income 9,956,986 6,356,437 

70. Dividend and similar income 4,986,020 4,462,459 

80. Net trading gains (losses) (57,931,043) 359,701 

90. Fair Value adjustment in hedge accounting 230,394 (137,322)

100. Gains (losses) on disposal or repurchase of: (16,069,210) (50,361,596)

a) loans (28,926,460) (52,220,137)

b) financial assets available for sale (57,333) 1,095,173 

d) financial liabilities 12,914,583 763,368 

120. Net interest and other banking income 16,343,480 66,176,323 

130. Net adjustments for impairment of: (3,099,166) 1,504,799 

a) loans (3,099,166) 1,504,799 

140. Net income from financial activities 13,244,314 67,681,122 

150. Administrative expenses: (38,194,725) (38,085,283)

a) personnel expenses (25,160,506) (25,598,607)

b) other administrative expenses (13,034,219) (12,486,676)

160. Net provisions for risks and charges (3,154,552) (7,603,000)

170. Net adjustments on property plant and equipment (1,043,363) (990,328)

180. Net adjustments on intangible assets (1,427,664) (1,106,881)

190. Other operating expenses/income 219,022 661,154 

200. Operating expenses (43,601,282) (47,124,338)

250. Profit (loss) from continuing operations before tax (30,356,968) 20,556,784 

260. Taxes on income from continuing operations (2,644,617) (18,440,365)

270. Profit (Loss) from continuing operations after tax (33,001,585) 2,116,419 

290. Net income (loss) (33,001,585) 2,116,419 
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Euro

Items 31/12/2011 31/12/2010

10. Net income (loss) (33,001,585) 2,116,419 

Other income components net of tax

20. Financial assets available for sale (43,520,178) (12,499,572)

30. Property plant and equipment

40. Intangible assets

50. Hedges of foreign investments

60. Cash flow hedging 8,992,888 (23,943,416)

70. Exchange rate differences

80. Non-current assets held for sale

90. Actuarial gains (losses) on defined benefits schemes

100. Share of valuation reserves related to equity investments

110. Total other income components net of tax (34,527,290) (36,442,988)

120. Comprehensive income (items 10 + 110) (67,528,875) (34,326,569)
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Euro
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Share capital: 450,210,000 450,210,000 450,210,000 

a) ordinary shares 450,210,000 450,210,000 450,210,000 

b) other shares

Share premiums

Reserves: 665,699,435 665,699,435 2,116,419 667,815,854 

a) of profits 665,699,435 665,699,435 2,116,419 667,815,854 

b) others

Valuation reserves 13,831,134 13,831,134 (34,527,290) (20,696,156)

Equity instruments

Treasury shares

Profit (Loss) for the period 2,116,419 2,116,419 (2,116,419) (33,001,585) (33,001,585)

Shareholders' equity 1,131,856,988 1,131,856,988 0 (67,528,875) 1,064,328,113 
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Euro

Indirect method

A. OPERATING ACTIVITIES Amount
31/12/2011

Amount
31/12/2010

1. Cash Flow from operations 36,068,426 28,529,815 

- net income (+/-) (33,001,585) 2,116,419 

- gains/losses on financial assets held for trading and
on assets/liabilities designated at fair value through profit and loss (-/+) 57,931,043 (359,701)

- capital gains/losses on hedging assets (+/-) (230,394) 137,322 

- net adjustments for impairment (+/-) 3,099,166 (1,504,799)

- net adjustments of tangible and intangible fixed assets (+/-) 2,471,027 2,097,209 

- net provisions for risks and charges and other costs/revenues (+/-) 3,154,552 7,603,000 

- taxes and duties to be settled (+) 2,644,617 18,440,365 

- net adjustments of disposal groups classified as held for sale, net of tax effect (-/+)

- other adjustments (+/-)

2. Cash flow from / used in financial assets (5,412,906,115) 4,616,745,154 

- financial assets held for trading (1,576,061,045) (276,921,102)

- financial assets designated at fair value

- financial assets available for sale 53,306,979 (584,586,558)

- due from banks: on demand (169,964,898) (91,359,361)

- due from banks: other receivables (3,733,955,941) 3,414,132,809 

- due from customers (354,902,205) 1,356,976,714 

- other assets 368,670,995 798,502,652 

3.Cash flow from / used in financial liabilities 5,374,188,919 (5,249,256,664)

- due to banks: repayable on demand 0 (53,358,914)

- due to banks: other deposits 5,080,745,773 (694,133,772)

- due to customers (84,869,058) (820,998,101)

- securities issued (2,498,219,658) (4,105,722,995)

- financial liabilities held for trading 1,573,183,220 296,817,771 

- financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit and loss

- other liabilities 1,303,348,642 128,139,347 

Net cash flow from (used in) operating activities (2,648,770) (603,981,695)

B. INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES

1. Cash flow from 4,986,020 606,238,761 

- sales of equity investments 1 601,776,302 

- dividend collected from equity investments 4,986,020 4,462,459 

- sales of financial assets held to maturity

- sales of property plant and equipment 

- sales of intangible assets 

- sales of company divisions

2. Cash flow used in (2,337,525) (2,257,047)

- purchases of equity investments (9,000)

- purchases of financial assets held to maturity

- purchases of property plant and equipment (733,610) (591,345)

- purchases of intangible assets (1,603,915) (1,656,702)

- purchases of company divisions

Net liquidity generated/absorbed by investment activities 2,648,495 603,981,714 

C. FUNDING ACTIVITIES 0 0 

- issues/purchases of treasury shares

- issues/purchases of equity instruments

- distribution of dividend and other uses

Net liquidity generated/absorbed by funding activities 0 0 

NET LIQUIDITY GENERATED/ABSORBED IN THE PERIOD (275) 19 



Reconciliation
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Euro

Balance sheet items Amount
31/12/2011

Amount
31/12/10

Cash and cash equivalents at start of period 2,985 2,966 

Total net liquidity generated/absorbed in period (275) 19 

Cash and cash equivalents: effect of variations in exchange rates 0 0 

Cash and liquid assets at end of period 2,710 2,985 



Notes to the Financial Statements
Part A - Accounting policies 

Part B – Comments on the balance sheet 

Part C – Comments on the income statement 

Part D - Comprehensive income 

Part E – Comments on risks and associated hedging policies

Part F – Comments on the capital 

Part H – Transactions with related parties 

Part L – Information on sectors

Balance sheet data of parent company Dexia Credit Local 
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Part A - Accounting policies
A.1 General Part 

– Section 1 - Declaration of conformity to International 

Accounting Standards  

– Section 2 - General accounting principles 

– Section 3 - Events after the balance sheet date 

– Section 4 - Other aspects 

A.2 The main aggregates of the financial statements 

1 - Financial assets held for trading 

2 - Financial assets available for sale 

3 - Financial assets held to maturity 

4 - Loans 

6 - Hedging transactions 

7 - Equity investments 

8 - Property plant and equipment 

9 - Intangible assets 

11 - Current and deferred taxes 

12 - Provisions for risks and charges 

13 - Debt instruments and securities in issue 

14 - Financial liabilities held for trading 

16 - Currency transactions 

17 - Other information 

A.3 Information on fair value 

A.3.1 - Transfers between portfolios 

A.3.2 - Fair Value Hierarchy 

A.3.3 - Information on the so-called "day one 

profit/loss" 

Part B - Comments on the balance sheet 
ASSETS 

– Section  1 - Cash and cash equivalents 

– Section  2 - Financial assets held for trading 

– Section  4 - Financial assets available for sale 

– Section  5 - Financial assets held to maturity 

– Section  6 - Due from banks 

– Section  7 - Due from customers 

– Section  8 - Hedging derivatives 

– Section  9 - Fair value adjustment of financial assets

in hedged portfolios 

– Section 10 - Equity investments 

– Section 11 - Property plant and equipment 

– Section 12 - Intangible assets 

– Section 13 - Tax credits and liabilities 

– Section 15 - Other assets 

LIABILITIES 

– Section  1 - Due to banks 

– Section  2 - Due to customers 

– Section  3 - Securities in issue 

– Section  4 - Financial liabilities for trading 

– Section  6 - Hedging derivatives 

– Section  7 - Fair value adjustment of financial liabilities

in hedged portfolios 

– Section  8 - Tax liabilities 

– Section 10 - Other liabilities 

– Section 11 - Provision for severance indemnities 

– Section 12 - Provisions for risks and charges 

– Section 14 - Corporate capital 

Other information 

1 - Guarantees given and commitments 

2 - Assets lodged as surety for own liabilities

and commitments 

4 - Management and broking for customer accounts: 

5 - Provisions for losses on realization 

6 - Fair value 
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Part C - Comments on the income statement 
– Section  1 - Interest 

– Section  2 - Commissions 

– Section  3 - Dividend and similar income: 

– Section  4 - Trading gains (losses) 

– Section  5 - Hedging gains (losses) 

– Section  6 - Disposal/repurchase gains (losses) 

– Section  8 - Net adjustments for impairment 

– Section  9 - Administrative expenses 

– Section 10 - Net provisions for risks and charges 

– Section 11 - Net adjustments on property plant

and equipment 

– Section 12 - Net adjustments on intangible assets 

– Section 13 - Other operating expenses and income 

– Section 18 - Tax on profit from continuing operations 

Part D - Comprehensive income 
Analytic statement of comprehensive income  

Part E - Comments on risks and associated
hedging policies 
Section 1 – Credit risk 

Qualitative information 

1 General aspects 

2 Credit risk management policies 

2.1 Organisational aspects 

2.2 Management, measuring and audit systems 

2.3 Credit risk mitigation techniques 

2.4 Impaired financial assets 

Quantitative information 

A. Credit quality 

A.1 Impaired and performing loan exposure:

amounts, write-downs, trends, economic

and geographical distribution 

A.2 Classification of exposure according to external

and internal ratings 

A.3 Breakdown of secured loans according to type

of guarantee 

B. Distribution and concentration of loan exposure 

B.1 Distribution of on and off-balance sheet

customer loan exposure according to sector

(book value) 

B.2 Distribution of on and off-balance sheet

customer loan exposure according to area

(book value) 

B.3 Distribution of on and off-balance sheet bank

loan exposure according to area (book value) 

B.4 Major exposure 

C. Securitisation and asset disposal transactions 

C.1 Securitisation transactions 

Qualitative information 

Quantitative information 

C.1.1 Exposure to securitisation transactions

according to quality of underlying assets 

C.1.3 Exposure to main "third party"

securitisation transactions according

to type of securitised assets and type

of exposure 

C.1.4 Exposure to securitisation transactions

distributed by portfolio and type 

C.1.6 Interests in special purpose vehicles 

C.1.7 Servicer activities – collection of

securitised loans and redemption of

securities issued by the vehicle company 

C.2 Disposal transactions 

C.2.1. Financial assets sold but not

derecognized 

C.2.2. Financial liabilities for assets sold

but not derecognized 

Section 2 – Market risks 

2.1 Interest rate risk and price risk - regulatory trading book

Qualitative information 

A. General aspects 

B. Management and measurement of interest

rate risk and price risk 

Quantitative information 
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1. Regulatory banking book: distribution according

to residual duration (re-pricing date) of cash assets

and liabilities and financial derivatives 

3. Regulatory trading book - internal models and

other sensitivity analysis methods 

2.2 Interest rate risk and price risk - banking book 

Qualitative information 

A. General aspects, management and

measurement of interest rate risk and price risk 

B. Fair value hedging activities 

C. Cash flow hedging 

Quantitative information 

1. Banking book: distribution according to residual

duration (re-pricing date) of financial assets and  

financial liabilities 

2. Banking book:  internal models and other

methods for analysing sensitivity 

2.3 Exchange rate risk 

Qualitative information 

A. General aspects, management and

measurement of exchange rate risk 

B. Exchange rate risk hedging activities 

Quantitative information 

1. Distribution according to currency of the assets,

liabilities and derivatives 

2.4 Derivative instruments 

A. Financial derivatives 

B. Credit derivatives 

C. Credit and financial derivatives

Section 3 – Liquidity risk 

Qualitative information 

A. General aspects, management and

measurement of liquidity risk 

Quantitative information 

1. Distribution by maturity according to residual

contractual term of financial assets and liabilities 

Section 4 – Operating risks 

Qualitative information 

A. General aspects, management and measuring

of operational risk 

Quantitative information 

Part F - Comments on the capital
Section 1 – Corporate capital 

A. Qualitative information 

B. Quantitative information 

Section 2 – Capital and minimum capital ratios 

2.1 - Regulatory Capital 

A. Qualitative information 

B. Quantitative information 

2.2 - Capital adequacy 

A. Qualitative information 

B. Quantitative information 

Part H - Transactions with related parties 
1 Information on key management personnel's

remuneration 

2  Information on transactions with related parties 

Part L - Information on sectors 

Balance sheet data of parent company
Dexia Credit Local 



Part A - Accounting policies
A. 1 - General information

Section 1 - Declaration of conformity to international accounting standards
The Financial Statements of the Dexia Crediop Company for the year ending 31st December 2011 were prepared in accordance

with the International Financial Reporting Standards and the International Accounting Standards (hereafter “IFRS”, “IAS”,

or international accounting standards) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and adopted by the

European Commission according to procedures referred to in article 6 of Regulation (EC) no. 1606/2002 of the European

Parliament and Council dated 16 July 2002, which were approved on that date. 

The Financial Statements were also prepared in accordance with the Bank of Italy’s instructions contained in Circular n. 262 of

22nd December 2005 and in the later update of 18 November 2009.

The accounting principles and criteria for evaluation adopted in drawing up the financial statements for the year ending

31st December 2011 are given below. 

Section 2 - General accounting principles
The company’s financial statements were drawn up in true and fair fashion and consist of the balance sheet, the income

statement, the statement of total income, the statement of changes in shareholders’ equity, the statement of changes in

the financial position and the notes to the statements. The financial statements are also accompanied by the Directors’ Report

on Operations. The statements were drawn up in units of one euro.

The schedules of the balance sheet, income statement and statement of total income consist of items identified with numbers

and sub-items identified with letters together with additional information (the various “of which” references relative to the

items and sub-items). The items, sub-items and associated additional information make up the financial statement accounts. Each

account in the balance sheet, income statement and statement of total income also shows the amount relating to the previous

period. The balance sheet, income statement and statement of total income do not include any accounts with zero amounts in

both the year of reference and the previous financial year.

The notes to the statements were drawn up in thousands of euro. Any items and tables which do not have any amounts are not

mentioned in the notes to the statements.

The financial statements were drawn up according to the going concern principle and the accruals concept.

Section 3 - Events after the balance sheet date
There were no events after the balance sheet date which entail a need to amend the results of the financial statements

as at 31st December 2011.
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Section 4 - Other aspects
On the closing date of these financial statements there were no apparent reasons to doubt the estimates which could lead to

material amendments in the book values of the assets and liabilities. In addition, there were no changes made to the accounting

estimates which have had effects in the current financial period.

The information related to the maintenance of the going concern assumption are also discussed in the report, paragraph

managerial perspectives.

A. 2 - The main aggregates of the financial statements

1 - Financial assets held for trading 
Financial assets held for trading (item 20) include:

financial assets, which, irrespective of their technical form, are held with a view to generating profits in the short term;

derivative contracts not designated as hedging instruments. 

As regards financial assets, both debt and equity instruments are first recognised on the settlement date, while derivatives

are entered on the trade date. 

Financial assets held for trading are initially recognized at fair value, which generally corresponds to the settlement price. When

the settlement price is different from fair value, the financial asset is recognised at fair value and the difference compared to

the settlement price is booked to the income statement. 

Subsequent measurement is carried out on the basis of changes in the fair value and the result is booked to the income statement. 

Differentials in derivative contracts classified in the trading portfolio and the results of the fair value measurement are included

in “Net trading gains (losses)”. 

The fair value of financial assets and liabilities is calculated on the basis of official prices existing on the date of the financial

statements, if the financial instruments are quoted in active markets. Otherwise, fair value is calculated using prices supplied

by external traders or through the application of commonly adopted measurement models which take into account all the

risk factors linked to the instruments and which are based on data available on the market, such as: measurement of listed

instruments with similar characteristics, calculation of discounted cash flows, option price calculation models, and values

recorded in recent comparable transactions.

Financial assets for trading are derecognised only on expiry of the contractual rights relating to the cash flows or when the

financial assets are sold with the transfer to third parties of all the risks and benefits associated with them. However, if a

significant proportion of the risks and benefits of the sold financial assets are maintained, they continue to be recognised,

even if ownership of such assets has effectively been transferred. 

If substantial transfer of the risks and benefits cannot be ascertained, the financial assets are derecognised when no type of

control is maintained over the same. Otherwise, when such control is retained, even partially, these assets are maintained on

the balance sheet to the extent to which the said control is retained, calculated according to exposure to changes in the

value of the sold assets and variations in the cash flows of the same. 
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These financial assets are derecognised on the date they are disposed of (settlement date). 

Derivatives are considered financial assets if their fair value is positive and liabilities if their fair value is negative. The Group

does not compensate the current positive and negative values from transactions in existence with the same counterparty.

2 - Financial assets available for sale  
The item “Financial assets available for sale” includes all financial assets other than derivatives, that are not classified as loans

and receivables, investments held to maturity or financial assets held for trading. The item also includes debt securities and

equity securities (including the equity investment in the Istituto per il Credito Sportivo) which cannot be classified as subsidiaries,

associated companies or joint subsidiaries and which do not, therefore, fall within the scope of application of IAS 28.  

For financial assets, debt and equity securities are first recognised on the settlement date, while loans are recognised on the date

they are disbursed.

Financial assets available for sale are recorded in the balance sheet at fair value, which is normally the same as the purchase price,

including any charges or revenue directly ensuing from the instrument. When the settlement price paid is different from fair value,

the financial asset is recognised at fair value and the difference compared to the settlement price is booked to the income statement.

Subsequent measurement is carried out on the basis of changes in the fair value and variations are booked to a specific reserve

in shareholders’ equity, net of any tax effects. Any accumulated or unrealised profits or losses on securities available for sale are

recognised in the income statement when the asset is disposed of.

Financial assets available for sale are examined in order to verify whether there is any objective evidence of a fall in value (IAS

39 paragraph. 59). If such evidence exists, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the book value of the asset,

net of any redemptions and amortizations,  and the present value of the estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original

effective interest rate, or using specific valuation methods where shares are concerned. If the reasons for the writedowns no

longer exist, reversals are performed which are booked to the income statement if they refer to debt securities or loans, and to

shareholders’ equity if they refer to equity securities.  

As regards determination of the fair value of financial assets available for sale and the criteria used for derecognising them, the

reader is referred to the information provided above for financial assets held for trading.

3 - Financial assets held to maturity  
The item “Financial assets held to maturity” includes financial assets other than derivatives, which have fixed or calculable

contractual payments and fixed maturity dates and which can be and are intended to be held to maturity except for those which:

a) the Bank designates, at the time of initial recognition, at the fair value booked to the income statement;

b) the Bank designates as available for sale;

c) meet the definition of loans and receivables.

If, following a change of plan or capacity, it is no longer appropriate to keep an investment classified as held to maturity, it

is reclassified among assets available for sale.

Financial assets held to maturity are first recognised on the settlement date. On initial recognition, financial assets classified in
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this category are designated at fair value, on the trade date (IAS 39, paragraph 44 and AG 56) including any charges and

income directly attributable to the instrument. When the settlement price is different from fair value, the financial asset is

recognised at fair value and the difference compared to the settlement price is booked to the income statement. Financial

assets included in this category as a result of reclassification from ‘Assets available for sale’, are recognised at amortised cost,

which is initially taken as being equal to the fair value of the asset on the date of reclassification. 

After initial recognition, financial assets held to maturity are carried at amortised cost and are subjected to tests aimed at

identifying the existence of any objective evidence of reduced value (IAS 39 paragraph 59). The amortised cost of an asset is the

same as the value the asset was measured at on the date of initial recognition net of any capital reimbursements. This is increased

or reduced by the overall amortisation, achieved by using the effective interest method, of any difference between the initial value

and the value on maturity and minus any reduction (made directly or through the use of a provision) following impairment loss

or impossibility of recovery.

Gains and losses relating to assets held to maturity are booked to the income statement at the moment in which the assets

are derecognised or have suffered an impairment loss, as well as through the process of financial amortisation of the difference

between the book value and the redemption value on maturity.

Impairment losses are measured as the difference between the book value of the asset and the present value of estimated

future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate. When the reasons for an impairment loss no longer

exist, a reversal is booked to the income statement which cannot, however, exceed the amortized cost which the instrument

would have had without the previous loss. 

As regards the criteria used for derecognising financial assets held to maturity, the reader is referred to the information provided

above for financial assets held for trading.

4 - Loans   
The item “Loans and receivables” includes non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments, which are not

quoted in an active market, and which are not designated as “Financial assets available for sale” on the date of initial recognition. 

Normally they include loans to banks and customers, including debt securities with characteristics similar to receivables, previously

classified under the item “Bonds and other debt securities”. 

Receivables are first entered on the date they are issued or, in the case of debt securities, on the settlement date. Receivables

are initially recognised at their fair value, equal to the amount paid out, or to the subscription price, including any costs/income

directly attributable to the single receivable and that was determinable on the original date of the transaction. Even if they have

the above features, costs which are reimbursed by the borrower or which can be considered normal internal administrative costs

are excluded. 

Receivables are subsequently measured at their amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method which, by using financial

logic, enables the economic effect of costs/revenues to be distributed over the expected remaining life of the loan.

The book value of the loan portfolio is periodically subject to checks for the existence of any losses in value (IAS 39 paragraph

59) which could lead to a reduction in their presumable sale value. For a classification of impaired debts in the various risk

categories (non-performing loans, problem loans, restructured and past due loans), reference is made to the regulations issued

on the subject by the Bank of Italy together with the internal provisions which establish rules for classification and transfers
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within the scope of the various expected risk categories. 

Determination of the write-down on the receivables, to be posted on the income statement net of the provisions previously

allocated, is equal to the difference between the book value at valuation date (amortised cost) and the present value of the

forecast future cash flows, calculated applying the effective original interest rate. The estimate of future cash flows takes account

of expected recovery times, the presumable realization value of any existing guarantees and costs considered necessary for

recovery of the loan exposure. 

Receivables classified as bad debts and substandard loans, with obvious lasting impairment in value, are analytically evaluated. 

Loans which do not show any objective evidence of impairment or for which no impairment is forecast are assessed collectively,

by grouping them together in homogeneous categories with similar characteristics in terms of credit risk, such as the technical form

of the loan, the economic sector the counterparties belong to, their geographical location and the type of existing guarantees.

The original value of the loans is reinstated in subsequent financial periods to the extent to which the reasons for the writedown

are no longer evident; the writeback is booked to the income statement and may not in any case exceed the amortised cost that

the loan would have had in the absence of previous writedowns.

Financial guarantees given which are not represented by derivatives are assessed taking into account the provisions of IAS 39

which stipulate, on the one hand, recognition of the fee received, pursuant to IAS 18, and on the other, measurement of the

risks and charges connected with the guarantees by applying the principles provided for in IAS 37.  

Sale and repurchase transactions are also included in the item “loans and receivables”.

Securities received within the context of a Repo transaction which contractually provides for their subsequent sale, and securities

that are assigned within a transaction which contractually foresees their subsequent repurchase are not recognised or derecognised

respectively. Consequently, when a security is purchased with an agreement for its resale, the amount paid is recognised as a

loan to (or amount due from) customers or banks; if a security is sold with an agreement for its repurchase the liability is recognised

among loans from (amounts due to) banks or customers. 

Revenues from loans, consisting of coupons maturing on the securities themselves and of the difference between the spot price

and the repurchase price, are recognised as interest in the Income Statement of the relative period.

During 2004, 2005 and 2008, three securitisation transactions were performed on securities for Italian local authorities through

the 100% subsidiary company, “DCC-Dexia Crediop per la Cartolarizzazione S.r.l.” (hereinafter “DCC”). In support of these

operations Dexia Crediop has issued an unconditional guarantee to the holder of the ABS senior (another company of the Dexia

Group). Owing to this guarantee, and therefore to the obligation to re-purchase the securities and reimburse all the ABSs against

any form of credit or fiscal event, we are of the opinion that, even if the legal ownership of the securities is transferred, control over

the cash flows of the securities is in fact still retained, as well as the substantiality of the risks and benefits (continuing involvement). 

In 2009 and 2010, new securitisation operations were originated for loans, through the vehicle company Tevere Finance S.p.A.,

the capital of which is held by a Dutch foundation. By the total repurchase on the part of Dexia Crediop S.p.A. of the ABS

securities issued by the vehicle, both senior and junior classes, at the same time as the sale of the assets, continuing involvement

is maintained. 

Since the conditions do not exist for the derecognition of the assets sold, in compliance with the provisions of IAS 39, the prior

situation has been restored on the financial statement, with the re-posting of the separate capital of DCC and Tevere Finance in

the accounts of Dexia Crediop. 
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4.1 - Due from banks

The item “Receivables from banks” includes receivables from Banks which present fixed and determinable payments not listed

on active markets and the securities with features similar to the receivables, previously classified under “Bonds and other debt

securities”.

4.2 - Due from customers

The item “Due from customers” includes loans to customers which foresee fixed and determinable payments not quoted in active

markets and securities with characteristics similar to loans, previously classified under the item “Bonds and other debt securities”.

6 - Hedging   
Hedging instruments are used to neutralize potential losses which may be recognised in a particular element and attributable to

one or more types of risk (interest rate risk, exchange rate risk, price risk, credit risk, etc.). The types of hedging transactions used

are the following:

Fair value hedges, performed with the aim of hedging the exposure to variations in the fair value of assets/liabilities

recognised in the balance sheet;

Cash flow hedges, performed with the aim of hedging the exposure to variations in cash flows of assets/liabilities recognised

in the balance sheet or relating to highly probable future transactions. 

A financial instrument is designated as a hedge if there is formal documentation on the relationship between the hedged item

and the hedging instrument, which includes the risk management objectives, the strategy for carrying out the hedge and the

methods used to test the effectiveness of the hedge itself.

Dexia Crediop S.p.A. conducts an assessment at the start and periodically, using forecasting and retrospective tests, to see whether

or not the hedge is highly effective in offsetting the changes in the fair value or the cash flows of the hedged instrument. The

tests on effectiveness are considered as passed if the ratio between the changes in the fair value hedging instruments and those

of the hedged items fall within the range of 80-125%.

The hedging relationship ceases if: (i) the hedging operation through the derivative ceases or is no longer highly effective; (ii) the

derivative expires, is sold, annulled or exercised; (iii) the hedged item is sold, expires or is redeemed; (iv) it is no longer highly

probable that the future hedged operation will be performed.

The “Hedging derivatives” items among the assets (item 80) and liabilities (item 60) on the balance sheet include the positive

and negative value of derivatives which are part of effective hedging operations. In the case of generic hedging the changes in

the fair value of the element hedged are posted in the appropriate items of the assets and liabilities of the balance sheet pursuant

to IAS 39, paragraph 89A.

Like all derivatives, hedging derivatives are initially recognised in the balance sheet on the trade date and are subsequently measured

at fair value.

In the case of fair value hedging, any changes in the value of the hedging instruments and the hedged instruments (as regards

the part attributable to the hedged risk and when the hedge is effective) are booked to the income statement. The differences

between the changes in value represent partial ineffectiveness of the hedge and determine the net impact on the income
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statement, entered under item 90. If the hedge ceases to exist for reasons other than realization of the hedged item, the variations

in value of the latter, which were recognised in the balance sheet for as long as the effective hedge was maintained, are booked to

the income statement. When the hedge refers to interest-bearing financial instruments, this is done using the amortized cost

principle, or in other cases with a single amount.

As regards cash flow hedges, the gain or loss portion on a hedging instrument that is considered effective is initially recognised in

shareholders’ equity (cash flow hedging reserve). If during the period any portion of gain or loss associated with the hedging

instrument exceeds the fair value variation of expected flows in absolute value terms, it is immediately recognised in the income

statement (overhedging); if the excess value is on the hedged instrument (underhedging), the entire change in fair value

recognised for the derivative is booked to shareholders’ equity. When the cash flows being hedged become manifest and are

recognised in the income statement, the relevant gain or loss on the hedging instrument is transferred from shareholders’ equity

to the corresponding item in the income statement. If the cash flow hedge for a future transaction is no longer considered

effective or the hedging relationship has ceased, the total gain or loss on the hedging instrument which had been booked to

shareholders’ equity stays booked to the specific equity reserve until the transaction takes place (or until it appears unlikely that

the transaction will actually take place). When the transaction is actually completed, this amount is recognised in the income

statement under item 80 “Net trading gains (losses)”.

7 - Equity investments    
The item “Equity investments” includes equity investments in subsidiaries, associated companies and companies subject to joint

control.

Subsidiaries are companies in which the parent has the power to determine administrative, financial and management choices

and in which it normally has more than half the voting rights. 

Associated companies are deemed to be those in which the Parent Company holds at least 20% of the voting rights and

companies whose administrative, financial and management choices are deemed to be subject to significant influence owing to

the effects of actually existing legal links. 

Companies subject to joint control are deemed to be those where contractual agreements exist, which require the consent of

the Company and of other investors with whom the control is shared, in order for administrative, financial and management

choices to be made.

Equity investments in subsidiaries, associated companies and companies under joint control, are booked to the balance sheet

on the settlement date and are carried at cost, adjusted when impairment losses are ascertained.

Impairment losses on equity investments are recognised on the Income Statement. If the reasons for the write-down no longer

exist, the reversals are booked to the income statement only up to reinstatement of the original book value.

The associated dividend is recognised when the right to receive it arises.

Minority interests, or at least those not subject to significant influence, are included under the item “Financial assets available

for sale”.

Equity investments are cancelled from the financial statement when the contractual rights on cash flows deriving from such

assets cease, or when the equity is sold with substantial transfer of all risks and benefits linked to the same.
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7.1 - Dividend  

Dividend is recognised when the right to receive it arises, which corresponds to the financial period in which the sum is received

(IAS 18 paragraph 29).

8 - Property, plant and equipment    
The item “Property, plant and equipment” includes assets held to be used for more than one financial period in the production

and provision of services or for administrative purposes (so-called “instrumental assets”), together with real estate properties held

for collecting rent and/or for the appreciation of the capital invested (so-called “non-instrumental assets”).

When the international accounting standards were first adopted, the part attributable to plots of land associated with

“sky-to-ground” properties, was separated out since they were not subject to depreciation, as land has an indefinite useful

life. Similarly the historical cost of works of art not subject to depreciation was reinstated, because their useful life is deemed

impossible to estimate and their value is not likely to fall with the passing of time. 

In line with paragraph 7 of IAS 16, Property, plant and equipment assets are recognised in the balance sheet only when it is

reasonably possible to determine the cost of the asset and it is probable that the associated future economic benefits will

accrue to the company. Therefore, it is important to establish the time when the risks and benefits attached to an asset are

effectively transferred to the company, irrespective of when ownership is formally conveyed.

Property, plant and equipment assets are initially entered at cost, which includes not only the purchase price but also any

associated charges directly ensuing from the purchase and costs involved in starting up the asset. The expenses incurred, sub-

sequent to purchase, increase the book value of an asset or are recognised as separate assets only when they lead to an

increase in future economic benefits due to the use of the asset; other expenses incurred subsequent to purchase are booked to

the income statement in the period in which they are incurred. 

In periods subsequent to that of initial recognition, assets are recognised in the accounts on the basis of the amortisable

historical cost method. The relevant amortisation is carried out on the basis of the possible residual useful life of the assets.

The useful life of Property, plant and equipment assets subject to depreciation is periodically re-assessed.

A Property, plant and equipment asset is eliminated from the balance sheet when it is sold or scrapped and when no future

economic benefits are expected from its use.

9 - Intangible assets      
The item “Intangible assets” includes assets that can be identified and are without physical consistency, which originate from

legal or contractual rights and which are held to be used over a number of years. In the main, they are represented by application

software.

Intangible assets are recognised at cost, net of overall depreciation and permanent impairment losses, only if the future economic

benefits ascribable to the asset are likely and if the cost of the asset itself can be measured reliably. Otherwise, the cost of the

assets is booked to the Income Statement in the year in which it was incurred.

Intangible assets recognised in the balance sheet are amortised on the basis of their residual useful life according to a straight-line
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method. The period and method of amortisation are re-assessed at the end of each financial period.

An intangible asset is eliminated from the balance sheet when it is disposed of or when no future economic benefits are expected.

11 - Current and deferred taxes       
Current income taxes are calculated on the basis of the tax result for the year. These taxes are entered as tax liabilities if they exceed

the amounts already paid in advance during the year, and as tax assets if the amounts paid in advance exceed the taxes for the

period.

Current taxes are booked as a revenue or as a charge and are included in profits or losses for the year except for taxes that refer

to items that are accredited or debited directly to shareholders’ equity, in  which case they are booked directly to shareholders’

equity.

Deferred taxes are calculated by applying the so-called balance sheet liability method, bearing in mind the fiscal effect connected

with the temporary differences between the book value of assets and liabilities and their fiscal value, which lead to taxable or

deductible amounts in future periods.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated by applying current tax rates to taxable temporary differences for which it is

likely that taxes will effectively be sustained, and to deductible temporary differences for which there is a reasonable certainty

of recovery. Deferred tax assets and liabilities relating to the same kind of tax which fall due in the same period are offset against

each other.

If deferred tax assets and liabilities refer to items booked to the income statement, the contra-item is the associated income tax.

When deferred tax assets and liabilities refer to transactions directly involving shareholders’ equity, with no direct influence on

the income statement (such as adjustments relating to first adoption of IAS/IFRS, and measurements of financial instruments

available for sale or of cash flow hedging derivatives), they are booked as contra-entries to shareholders’ equity, and entered in

the specific reserves if appropriate. 

Assets and liabilities booked for deferred tax assets and liabilities are systematically assessed to take into account both any

amendments in legal provisions or changes in rates and any different subjective situations of the Group companies.

12 - Provisions for risks and charges        
Provisions for risks and charges include allocations for liabilities with amounts or due dates that are uncertain and that relate to

present obligations resulting from a past event for which the expenditure of financial resources is likely in order to fulfil the said

obligation, if the relevant amount can be reliably estimated. 

If the time factor is significant, the provisions, which are recognised in contra-items in the income statement, are discounted at

current market rates. 

The item includes provisions for early retirement incentives, applying the rules of the national contracts for bank workers and of

specific company agreements.

12.1 - Provisions for retirement funds and similar benefits 

Staff pension funds include the various forms of complementary retirement schemes with defined benefits, established to

implement company agreements and recognised in the accounts in compliance with the provisions of IAS 19 "Employee benefits". 
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Liabilities relating to such plans and the associated social security costs of current employee service are determined by independent

actuaries on the basis of actuarial and financial hypotheses defined by the Dexia Group.

The actuarial gains or losses, considered cumulatively, are booked to the income statement on the basis of the so-called “corridor”

method. The part of actuarial gains or losses not recognised at the end of the previous period, which exceeds whichever is greater

between 10% of the current value of the benefits generated by the plan, and 10% of the fair value of the assets serving the plan,

is booked to the income statement on the basis of the average residual duration of the Fund’s benefits. 

The regular contributions charged to the Company are booked to the income statement and determined on the basis of employee

service.

12.2 - Other provisions   

This item includes provisions made against legal and implicit obligations existing at the close of the period, including provisions

for employee early retirement schemes and other social security and health charges, and provisions for the creation of the

reserve required for paying employees their long-service bonuses according to the terms of company regulations.

These liabilities are determined, in the same way as pension funds, on the basis of an assessment conducted by an independent

actuary using the methods laid down in IAS 19. 

The actuarial gains and losses are therefore recognized in the balance sheet with a contra-item in the income statement.

The provisions are reviewed at each balance sheet date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. 

13 - Payables and securities in issue       
The items “Due to banks”, “Due to customers”, and “Securities in issue” include various forms of provisioning from banks

and customers, reverse repurchase agreements and provisioning through bonds and other funding instruments in issue (net

of any portions repurchased items). 

Initial recognition of such financial liabilities is made when the sums collected are received or when the securities are issued,

on the basis of the fair value of the liabilities, which is normally equal to the amount received or the issue price, with an increase

for any additional costs/revenues directly connected to the single funding or bond issue operation and not reimbursed by the

lender. Internal administrative costs are excluded. 

After initial recognition, debts and the securities in issue, with the exception of on-demand and short-term entries booked

at the price received, are valued at their amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. 

Financial liabilities are derecognised when they have expired or are extinguished. They are also derecognised in the case of

repurchase of  previously issued securities. The difference between the book value of a liability and the amount paid for purchase

is booked to the Income Statement. 

Replacement on the market of own securities after buyback is considered a new issue with recognition at the new placement

price, with no effect on the Income Statement.
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14 - Financial liabilities for trading         
The item includes the negative value of trading derivatives.

All financial liabilities for trading are initially booked on the trade date and are designated at fair value and the result of the

valuation is entered on the income statement in item "Net trading gains (losses)".

16 - Currency transactions        
Transactions in foreign currencies are first entered in the accounting currency, applying the exchange rate in effect at the moment

of the transaction.

At the end of every financial year or interim period, foreign currency items are measured as follows:

cash items are converted at the exchange rate in effect on the balance sheet date;

non-cash items are carried at their historical cost converted at the exchange rate in effect on the date of the transaction;

non-cash items designated at fair value are converted at the exchange rate in effect on the balance sheet date.

Exchange rate differences resulting from the settlement of cash elements or from the conversion of non-cash elements at rates

other than those of the initial conversion or the conversion rate of the previous financial statements, are booked to the Income

Statement of the financial period in which they arise.

When a gain or loss relating to a non-monetary item is recognised in shareholders’ equity, the exchange rate difference associated

with this item is also booked to shareholders’ equity. On the contrary, if a gain or loss is booked to the income statement,

the associated exchange rate difference is also booked to the income statement.

17 - Other information  

17.1 - Accruals and deferrals  

Accrued income and deferred expenses include portions of revenues/expenses relating to several financial periods in part already

matured during the current financial period (and in the previous ones) but not yet received/paid. Deferred income and expenses

include portions of revenues/expenses already received/paid in the reporting period (or in previous ones) but relating to the current

financial period or subsequent ones. 

These amounts are recognised in the balance sheet, adjusting the assets and liabilities they refer to.

17.2 - Recognition of revenues and costs  

Revenues from the sale of goods or the provision of services are recognised in the balance sheet at the fair value of the

consideration received on the basis of the accruals concept. In the majority of cases the consideration consists of cash or

similar means and the amount of the revenues is the sum of cash or similar means received or due.

Costs are booked to the income statement in the periods when the associated revenues are recognised.
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17.3 - Valuation reserves  

This item includes valuation reserves relating to financial assets available for sale and cash flow hedges, net of the associated

current or deferred taxation.

17.4 - Provision for employee severance indemnities  

The liability relative to severance indemnity is posted on the financial statement on the basis of the actuarial value, calculated by

an independent actuary according to expected future developments of the work relationship (numeric development of the

workforce and salary modifications) and other financial and actuarial hypotheses.

Future severance indemnity cash flows are discounted at the date of reference and any actuarial gain or loss is posted on

the income statement using the so-called “corridor method”.
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A.3 - Information on fair value

A.3.1 Transfers between portfolios
A.3.1.1 Reclassified financial assets: book value, fair value and effects on comprehensive income

The income items refer to interests as well as capital gains and losses realised on securities previously reclassified.

A.3.1.4 Effective interest rate and cash flows expected from the reclassified assets

With reference to the information pursuant to IFRS 7 § 12 A, letter f, we note that these securities do not meet the impairment

requirements and all future cash flow is therefore forecast for recovery.

A.3.2 Fair Value Hierarchy
A.3.2.1 Accounting portfolios: distribution by fair value levels

The financial assets/liabilities measured at fair value are classified on the basis of a hierarchy of level that reflects the observance of

the data used to determine it. In short:

a) Level 1: listings noted on an active market in accordance with the definition of IAS 39;

b) Level 2: prices of non-active markets or using valuation techniques based on observable market data;

c) Level 3: valuation techniques based on data not observable on the market.
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thousands of euro

Type of financial
instrument

Portfolio
of origin

Allocation
portfolio

Book value
at

31.12.2011

Fair value
at

31.12.2011

Income items for lack
of transfer (pre-tax)

Income items recorded
during the year (pre-tax)

Evaluative Others Evaluative Others

Debt securities AFS L&R 10,570,286 9,847,622 (824,128) 313,716 (69,333) 313,716 

thousands of euro

31/12/2011 31/12/2010

Financial assets/liabilities designated at fair value L 1 L 2 L 3 L 1 L 2 L 3

1.     Financial assets held for trading 5,275,371 160,183 3,795,343 122,081

2.     Financial assets designated at fair value

3.     Financial assets available for sale 466,409 136,698 497,848 158,566

4.    Hedging derivatives 471,812 127,619 628,574 299,366

Total 466,409 5,747,183 424,500 497,848 4,423,917 580,013

1.     Financial liabilities held for trading 5,369,244 143,575 3,823,478 116,158

2.     Financial liabilities designated at fair value

3.    Hedging derivatives 3,451,201 24,156 2,064,097 56,902

Total 8,820,445 167,731 5,887,575 173,060

Key:

L 1 = Level 1

L 2 = Level 2

L 3 = Level 3



Financial assets held for sale include firstly bonds issued by Sovereign Entities and listed on active markets ("level 1") and have

been valued at market listings on the last business day of the period of reference. Compared to 2010, there are no changes in

the valuation technique or in the hierarchical classification of the fair value.

Residual financial assets held for sale are represented by capital securities (“Level 3”). In section 4, the criteria adopted for the

determination of the fair value and the estimate of impacts are analysed. 

The assets and liabilities held for trading are only derivative instruments.  With regard to all these instruments as a whole – therefore

also including the hedge derivatives shown in the table above – over 90% of the fair value has been estimated according to

techniques based on observable market data (“Level 2”). 

The remaining instruments include some structured derivatives for which certain market parameters (e.g. vega, volatility, correlations)

were no longer directly observable on the market or which were no longer judged representative for the purpose of estimating fair

value, hence mark-to-model parameters were used.  

Consistent with what is specified by the Bank of Italy, the fair value of derivatives should integrate the various components that due

to counterparty risk. From an accounting standpoint, the credit risk component of expected (Expected Loss) is represented by

the so-called Credit Value Adjustment.

To estimate the impact of the use of alternative valuation techniques on the fair value of the entire compartment of “level 3” derivatives,

the valuations given by the counterparts of the derivatives were considered. With regard to all financial assets and liabilities held for tra-

ding, since these are derivatives in matched banking transactions, there would be no impact (2,7 million euro in absolute value, positive on

the assets and negative on the liabilities). However, the estimated impact on hedge derivatives – all “fair value hedges” and almost all re-

lative to medium and long term deposits – amounts to minus 0.2 million euro on the assets and plus 0,9 million euro on the liabilities. 

A.3.2.2 Annual change of financial assets designated at fair value (Level 3)
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thousands of euro

FINANCIAL ASSETS

held for trading
designed 

at fair value
available 
for sale

hedging

1. Opening balances 122,081 158,566 299,366 
2.       Increases 63,474 76 56,921 
2.1.    Purchases

2.2.    Profits booked to:

2.2.1. Income statement 51,498 22,673 

- of which capital gains 51 22,673 

2.2.2. Shareholders' equity X X 76 

2.3.    Transfers from other levels 691 34,248 

2.4.    Other increases 11,285 

3.       Decreases 25,372 21,944 228,668 
3.1.    Sales

3.2.    Redemptions

3.3.    Losses booked to:

3.3.1. Income statement 13,358 180,911 

- of which capital losses 8,709 365 

3.3.2. Shareholders' equity X X 21,944

3.4.    Transfers to other levels 12,014 47,757 

3.5.    Other decreases

4.       Closing balances 160,183 136,698 127,619 



A.3.2.3 Annual change of financial liabilities designated at fair value (Level 3)

A.3.3 Information on the so-called "day one profit/loss"

During the period the Company recorded the so-called “Day One Profit” (DOP) in the Income Statement, i.e. the difference, if

any exists at the time of initial recognition, between the fair value on that date of financial instruments in the trading portfolio

and the amount determined using valuation models whose variables include only market observable data. 

The DOP stated in item “80 – Net trading gains (losses” of the income statement of 2011 amounts to € 1.24 million and refers

exclusively to transactions in derivative trading instruments. In compliance with the provisions of IAS 39, this figure was calculated

with reference to the amount paid/collected for these instruments, as these are broking transactions.

It is also specified that as of 31 December 2011, no DOP shares are present to be noted on the income statement of future years.

70 // NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

thousands of euro

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

held for trading
designed 

at fair value
hedging

1.       Opening balances 116,158 56,902 

2.       Increases 51,539 6,852 

2.1.    Issues

2.2.    Losses booked to:

2.2.1. Income statement 51,360 

- of which capital losses 51,360 

2.2.2.  Shareholders' equity X X

2.3.     Transfers from other levels 179 6,852 

2.4.     Other increases

3.        Decreases 24,122 39,598 

3.1.     Redemptions

3.2.     Repurchases

3.3.     Profits booked to:

3.3.1.  Income statement 12,279 38,961 

- of which capital gains 7,654 33,574 

3.3.2.  Shareholders' equity X X

3.4.     Transfers to other levels 11,843 637 

3.5.     Other decreases

4.        Closing balances 143,575 24,157 



Part B - Comments on the Balance Sheet
Assets

Section 1 - Cash and cash equivalents - Item 10
1.1 Cash and cash equivalents: breakdown

Section 2 - Financial assets held for trading - Item 20
2.1 Financial assets held for trading: breakdown by type

thousands of euro

Total
31/12/2011

Total
31/12/2010

a) Cash 3 3

b) Unrestricted deposits at Central Banks

Total 3 3 
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thousands of euro

Items/Amounts
Total 

31/12/2011 
Total 

31/12/2010 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

A. Cash assets

1. Debt securities

1.1 Structured securities

1.2 Other debt securities

2. Equity securities

3. Mutual fund shares

4. Loans

4.1 Repurchase agreements

4.2 Others

Total A 0 0 0 0 0 0

B. Derivative instruments

1. Financial derivatives: 5,275,371 96,281 3,795,343 80,367 

1.1 for trading 5,275,371 96,281 3,795,343 80,367 

1.2 associated with the fair value option

1.3 others

2. Credit derivatives: 63,902 41,714 

2.1 for trading 63,902 41,714 

2.2 associated with the fair value option

2.3 others

Total B 0 5,275,371 160,183 0 3,795,343 122,081 

Total (A+B) 0 5,275,371 160,183 0 3,795,343 122,081 



2.2 Financial assets held for trading: breakdown by debtors/issuers
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thousands of euro

Items/Amounts
Total

31/12/2011 
Total

31/12/2010 

A. Cash assets

1. Debt securities

a) Governments and Central banks

b) Other public bodies

c) Banks

d) Other issuers

2. Equity securities

a) Banks

b) Other issuers:

- insurance companies

- financial companies

- non-financial companies

- others

3. Mutual fund shares

4. Loans

a) Governments and Central banks

b) Other public bodies

c) Banks

d) Others

Total A

B. Derivative instruments 5,435,554 3,917,424 

a) Banks

- fair value 3,791,244 2,526,202 

b) Customers

- fair value 1,644,310 1,391,222 

Total B 5,435,554 3,917,424 

Total (A+B) 5,435,554 3,917,424 



Section 4 - Financial assets available for sale - Item 40
4.1 Financial assets available for sale: breakdown by type

Details relating to equity securities and mutual fund shares are shown below:

As regards the Istituto per il Credito Sportivo (ICS), Dexia Crediop S.p.A. holds 2,065,864 shares, with a par value of 1 euro each,

out of a total of 9,554,452 shares, representing a stake of 21.622%. Since the interest held by Dexia Crediop S.p.A. does not

express a corresponding level of voting rights nor can it be classified as of significant influence, the interest has been classified

among financial assets available for sale (AFS).

The amount in the Dimensione Network Fund is booked at the symbolic value of 1 euro.

In compliance with the Dexia Group policy and the elements underlying the valuation, the fair value of the interests above is

determined on the basis of “inputs not based on observable market data (level 3)”.

The following is a summary of the measurement methods used:

- Istituto per il Credito Sportivo: mixed capital method;

- Dimensione Network Fund (Mutual fund shares): equity method;

- Mid-Capital Mezzanine Fund (Mutual fund shares): equity method.

thousands of euro

Items/Amounts
Total 31/12/2011 Total 31/12/2010 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

1. Debt securities 466,409 497,848 

1.1 Structured securities

1.2 Other debt securities 466,409 497,848 

2. Equity securities 134,443 156,311 

2.1 Designated at fair value 134,443 156,311 

2.2 Carried at cost

3. Mutual fund shares 2,255 2,255 

4. Loans

Total 466,409 136,698 497,848 158,566 

thousands of euro

Equity securities and mutual fund shares
Financial Statements at

31/12/2010
AFS reserve at 31/12/2010

net of tax

Istituto per il Credito Sportivo 134,442 102,160 

Idroenergia S.c.r.l. 1 0

Equity securities 134,443 102,160 

Dimensione Network Fund (Mutual fund shares) 270 180 

Mid Capital Mezzanine Fund (Mutual fund shares) 1,985 (30)

Mutual fund shares 2,255 150 

Total 136,698 102,310 
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In relation to the measurement method used for by Istituto per il Credito Sportivo, the application of the pure equity

method would increase the value, gross of tax, by approximately € 29.9 million because of the increase in interest rate

and the alternative investment income decrease ability of the company. As concerns the two Mutual fund shares, the

measurements are based on equity data supplied by the companies.

4.2 Financial assets available for sale: breakdown by debtors/issuers

4.3 Financial assets available for sale with specific hedges

thousands of euro

Items/Amounts
Total

31/12/2011 
Total

31/12/2010 

1. Debt securities 466,409 497,848 

a) Governments and Central banks 466,409 497,848

b) Other public bodies

c) Banks

d) Other issuers

2. Equity securities 134,443 156,311 

a) Banks 134,442 156,310 

b) Other issuers: 1 1 

- insurance companies

- financial companies

- non-financial companies 1 1 

- others

3. Mutual fund shares 2,255 2,255 

4. Loans

a) Governments and Central banks

b) Other public bodies

c) Banks

d) Other issuers

Total 603,107 656,414 

thousands of euro

Items/Amounts Total
31/12/2011 

Total
31/12/2010 

1. Financial assets with specific fair value hedges: 466,409 497,848 

a) interest-rate risk 466,409 497,848 

b) price risk

c) exchange rate risk

d) credit risk

e) multiple risks

2. Financial assets with specific cash flow hedges:

a) interest-rate risk

b) exchange-rate risk

c) other risks

Total 466,409 497,848 
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4.4 Financial assets available for sale: annual change

Section 5 - Financial assets held to maturity - Item 50
5.1 Financial assets held to maturity: breakdown by type

thousands of euro

Debt
securities

Equity
securities

UCITS
units

Loans Total

A. Opening balances 497,848 156,311 2,255 656,414 

B. Increases 9,718 0 76 9,794 

B1. Purchases

B2. Increases in FV 9,718 76 9,794 

B3. Writebacks

- booked to the income statement X 

- booked to shareholders' equity

B4. Transfers from other portfolios

B5. Other changes

C. Decreases 41,156 21,868 76 63,100 

C1. Sales

C2. Redemptions

C3. Decreases in FV 38,358 21,868 76 60,302 

C4. Writedowns for impairment

- booked to the income statement

- booked to shareholders' equity

C5. Transfers to other portfolios

C6. Other changes 2,798 2,798

D. Closing balances 466,409 134,443 2,255 603,107 

thousands of euro

Total 31/12/2011 Total 31/12/2010 

BV FV BV FV 

LEVEL 1 LEVEL 2 LEVEL 3 LEVEL 1 LEVEL 2 LEVEL 3

1. Debt securities 338,416 0 380,218 365,712 130,514 266,570 

- structured

- others 338,416 380,218 365,712 130,514 266,570 

2. Loans

Key:
FV = fair value
BV = book value
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5.2 Financial assets held to maturity: debtors/issuers

5.4 Financial assets held to maturity: annual change

thousands of euro

Type of transaction/Amounts
Total

31/12/2011 
Total

31/12/2010 

1. Debt securities 338,416 365,712 

a) Governments and Central banks

b) Other public bodies 338,416 365,712 

c) Banks

d) Other issuers

2. Loans

a) Governments and Central banks

b) Other public bodies

c) Banks

d) Other issuers

Total 338,416 365,712 

thousands of euro

Debt securities Loans Total

A. Opening balances 365,712 365,712 

B. Increases 3,520 3,520

B1. Purchases

B2. Writebacks

B3. Transfers from other portfolios

B4. Other changes 3,520 3,520 

C. Decreases 30,816 30,816 

C1. Sales

C2. Redemptions 30,733 30,733 

C3. Writedowns

C4. Transfers to other portfolios

C5. Other changes 83 83 

D. Closing balances 338,416 338,416 
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Section 6 - Due from banks - Item 60
6.1 Due from banks: breakdown by type

The change in receivables from banks noted as compared with last year (+3.9 billion euro) is mainly due to the increase of the

deposits held with other credit institutes.

6.2 Due from banks with specific hedges

thousands of euro

Type of transaction/Amounts
Total

31/12/2011 
Total

31/12/2010 

A. Due from Central Banks 193,519 18,138

1. Restricted deposits

2. Compulsory reserve 193,519 18,138

3. Repurchase agreements 

4. Others

B. Due from banks 12,165,440 8,436,901 

1. Current accounts and demand deposits 2,231,154 231,159 

2. Restricted deposits 5,611,981 3,460,641 

3. Other loans: 1,414,513 1,740,270 

3.1 Repurchase agreements 1,125,513 1,000,000 

3.2 Financial lease

3.3 Others 289,000 740,270 

4. Debt securities 2,907,792 3,004,831 

4.1 Structured securities

4.2 Other debt securities 2,907,792 3,004,831 

Total (book value) 12,358,959 8,455,039 

Total (fair value) 12,302,971 8,317,774 

thousands of euro

Type of transaction/Amounts Total
31/12/2011 

Total
31/12/2010 

1. Loans with specific fair value hedges: 197,438 187,879 

a) interest-rate risk 197,438 187,879

b) exchange-rate risk

c) credit risk

d) multiple risks

2. Loans with specific cash flow hedges:

a) interest rate

b) exchange rate

c) other risks

Total 197,438 187,879 
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Section 7 - Due from customers - Item 70
7.1 Due from customers: breakdown by type

7.2 Due from customers: breakdown by debtors/issuers

thousands of euro

Type of transaction/Amounts
Total 

31/12/2011 
Total 

31/12/2010 

Performing Impaired Performing Impaired

1. Current accounts

2. Reverse repurchase agreements 655,908 99,297 

3. Loans 12,161,461 786 15,047,733 3,799 

4. Credit cards, personal loans, salary-backed loans

5. Financial lease

6. Factoring

7. Other transactions 446,354 507,979 

8. Debt securities 16,113,503 13,367,401 

8.1 Structured securities

8.2 Other debt securities 16,113,503 13,367,401 

Total (book value) 29,377,226 786 29,022,410 3,799 

Total (fair value) 27,304,228 786 28,096,183 3,799 

thousands of euro

Type of transaction/Amounts
Total

31/12/2011 
Total

31/12/2010 

Performing Impaired Performing Impaired

1. Debt securities: 16,113,503 0 13,367,401 0

a) Governments 4,396,159 1,608,476 

b) Other public bodies 9,210,256 9,194,312 

c) Other issuers 2,507,088 2,564,613 

- non-financial companies 1,147,657 1,108,425 

- financial companies 1,359,431 1,456,188 

- insurance companies

- others

2. Loans to: 13,263,723 786 15,655,009 3.799 

a) Governments 3,261,899 6,177,665 

b) Other public bodies 7,598,481 147 7,503,242 147 

c) Others 2,403,343 639 1,974,102 3,652 

- non-financial companies 1,671,733 1,483,422 3,013 

- financial companies 729,934 639 490,030 639 

- insurance companies

- others 1,676 650 

Total 29,377,226 786 29,022,410 3,799 

78 // NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



7.3 Due from customers: microhedged assets

Section 8 - Hedging derivatives - Item 80
8.1 Hedging derivatives: breakdown by type of hedging and by level

thousands of euro

Type of transaction/Amounts Total
31/12/2011 

Total
31/12/2010 

1. Loans with specific fair value hedges: 16,792,395 15,521,011 

a) interest-rate risk 16,221,798 14,908,514

b) exchange-rate risk

c) credit risk

d) multiple risks 570,597 612,497 

2. Loans with specific cash flow hedges: 2,877,729 3,017,843 

a) interest-rate risk 2,877,729 3,017,843 

b) exchange-rate risk

c) other risks

Total 19,670,124 18,538,854 

thousands of euro

FV
31/12/2011 

NV
31/12/2011

FV
31/12/2010

NV
31/12/2010

L1 L2 L3 L1 L2 L3 

A) Financial derivatives 471,812 127,619 8,683,244 628,574 299,366 16,206,437 

1) Fair Value 430,485 127,619 7,819,967 598,179 299,366 14,825,048 

2) Cash flow hedges 41,327 863,277 30,395 1,381,389 

3) Foreign investments

B) Credit derivatives

1) Fair Value

2) Cash flow hedges

Total 471,812 127,619 8,683,244 628,574 299,366 16,206,437 

Key:
NV = nominal value
L 1 = Level 1
L 2 = Level 2
L 3 = Level 3
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8.2 Hedging derivatives: breakdown by portfolios hedged and type of hedging

thousands of euro

Transaction/Type of hedging

Fair value Cash flow hedges

Foreign
investmentsSpecific

Generic Specific Genericinterest
rate risk

exchange
rate risk

credit risk price risk
multiple

risks

1. Financial assets available for sale X X X 

2. Loans 626 X 23,523 X 41,327 X X 

3. Financial assets held to maturity X X X X X 

4. Portfolio X X X X X 15,434 X X 

5. Other transactions X X 

Total assets 626 0 0 0 23,523 15,434 41,327 0 0

1. Financial liabilities 449,289 0 X 69,232 X X X 

2. Portfolio X X X X X X X 

Total liabilities 449,289 0 0 0 69,232 0 0 0 0

1. Expected transactions X X X X X X X X 

2. Portfolio of financial assets and liabilities X X X X X X 
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Section 9 - Fair value adjustment of financial assets in hedged portfolios - Item 90
9.1 Fair value adjustments of hedged assets: breakdown by portfolios hedged

9.2 Assets of the banking group with macro hedging of interest rate risk
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thousands of euro

Fair value adjustments of hedged assets/Securities
Total

31/12/2011
Total

31/12/2010

1. Increases 31,468 19,670 

1.1 of specific portfolios: 31,468 19,670 

a) loans 31,468 19,670 

b) financial assets available for sale

1.2 total

2. Decreases 8,393 4,857 

2.1 of specific portfolios: 8,393 4,857 

a) loans 8,393 4,857 

b) financial assets available for sale

2.2 total

Total 23,075 14,813 

thousands of euro

Hedged assets 31/12/2011 31/12/2010

1.  Loans 7,017,087 7,834,380 

2.  Assets available for sale 

3.  Portfolio

Total 7,017,087 7,834,380



Section 10 - Equity investments - Item 100
10.1 Equity investments in subsidiaries, jointly controlled companies or companies subject to significant

influence: information on the interests held 

(1) Unlimited liability company constituted under Irish law, with registered offices in 6 George's Dock, Dublin 1 and share capital of Euro 100 million
represented by 100 million shares, each with a nominal value of 1 euro.
- 99,999,999 shares are held by Dexia Crediop S.p.A.;
- 1 share is held by Dexia Investments Ireland, in its capacity as Trustee for Dexia Crediop S.p.A.  

10.2 Equity investments in subsidiaries, jointly controlled companies or companies subject to significant
influence: accounting information

As of 31 December 2011, the investee company Dexia Crediop Ireland (DCI) recorded shareholders' equity of € 32.8 million. 

This equity incorporated the negative effect of the fair value of an Italian State security (BTP) by means of the AFS reserve.

Considering that DCI has the capacity to keep the security in the portfolio until final maturity, it is not considered necessary

to impair the investment in order to bring the book value into line with the shareholders' equity of the Irish company.
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thousands of euro

Name 
Total
assets

Total
revenue

Profit
(Loss)

Sharehol-
ders'

equity
Book value Fair value

A. Full subsidiaries 381,389 20,444 3,908 32,857 100,024

1 DCC – Dexia Crediop per la Cartolarizzazione S.r.l. 276 112 0 15 15

2 Dexia Crediop Ireland 381,103 20,332 3,908 32,832 100,000

3 Crediop per le Obbligazioni Bancarie Garantite S.r.l. 10 0 0 10 9

B. Jointly controlled companies

C. Companies subject to significant influence

Total 381,389 20,444 3,908 32,847 100,024

Name Head-quarters % of equity held % of votes held

A. Full subsidiaries

1 DCC – Dexia Crediop per la Cartolarizzazione S.r.l. Rome 100

2 Dexia Crediop Ireland (1) Dublin 100

3 Crediop per le Obbligazioni Bancarie Garantite S.r.l.(2) Rome 90

B. Jointly controlled companies

C. Companies subject to significant influence



10.3 Equity investments: annual change

During 2011, the subsidiary Crediop Overseas Bank Limited (COBL), headquartered in the Cayman Islands, was placed in voluntary

liquidation and, on December 28, 2011, deleted from the register of companies in the Cayman Islands and the banking group. 
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thousands of euro

Total
31/12/2011 

Total
31/12/2010 

A. Opening balances 150,024 750,015 

B. Increases 0 9

B.1 Purchases 9 

B.2 Writebacks

B.3 Revaluations

B.4 Other changes

C. Decreases 50,000 600,000 

C.1 Sales

C.2 Writedowns

C.4 Other changes 50,000 600,000 

D. Closing balances 100,024 150,024 

E. Total revaluations

F. Total adjustments



Section 11 - Property, plant and equipment - Item 110
11.1 Property plant and equipment: breakdown of assets carried at cost

Additional information

The depreciation method used for tangible assets, which is deemed to reflect the ways in which the associated future economic

benefits will be used, is the straight-line method. This method involves the depreciation of a constant charge throughout

the useful life of the asset if its residual value does not change. During the period there have been no changes to the expected

uses of the future economic benefits, that would require changes to the depreciation method.

The useful life of assets is calculated on the basis of their expected usefulness. Since land and works of art have an unlimited

useful life, they are not subject to depreciation.
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thousands of euro

Assets/Amounts
Total

31/12/2011 
Total

31/12/2010

A. Assets for business purposes

1.1 company owned 43,847 44,157 

a) land 28,844 28,844 

b) buildings 12,505 12,545 

c) furniture 1,907 1,986 

d) electronic systems 370 450 

e) others 221 332 

1.2 acquired on financial lease

a) land

b) buildings

c) furniture

d) electronic systems

e) others

Total A 43,847 44,157 

B. Assets held as investments

2.1 company owned

a) land

b) buildings

2.2 acquired on financial lease

a) land

b) buildings

Total B

Total (A+B) 43,847 44,157 



11.3 Property plant and equipment for business purposes: annual change
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thousands of euro

Land Buildings Furniture
Electronic
systems

Others Total 

A. Gross opening balances 28,844 21,821 3,404 644 1,507 56,220 

A.1 Net total adjustments 0   9,276 1,418 194 1,175 12,063 

A.2 Net opening balances 28,844 12,545 1,986 450 332 44,157 

B. Increases: 0 623 22 54 34 733 

B.1 Purchases 0 623 22 54 34 733 

B.2 Expenses for capitalised improvements

B.3 Writebacks

B.4 Increases in fair value booked to

a) shareholders' equity

b) income statement

B.5 Positive exchange-rate differences

B.6 Reclassification from buildings held as investments

B.7 Other changes

C. Decreases: 0 663 101 134 145 1,043 

C.1 Sales

C.2 Depreciation 0 663 101 134 145 1,043 

C.3 Impairment losses booked to:

a) shareholders' equity

b) income statement

C.4 Decreases in fair value booked to

a) shareholders' equity

b) income statement

C.5 Negative exchange-rate differences

C.6 Reclassification to:

a) property plant and equipment held as investments

b) assets held for sale

C.7 Other changes

D. Net closing balances 28,844 12,505 1,907 370 221 43,847 

D.1 Net total adjustments 0 9,939 1,519 328 1,320 13,106 

D.2 Gross closing balances 28,844 22,444 3,426 698 1,541 56,953 

E. Measurement at cost



Section 12 - Intangible assets - Item 120
12.1 Intangible assets: breakdown by type of asset

Intangible assets consist of software purchased from third parties in the process of amortization. The amortisation is carried out

on the basis of the possible residual useful life.
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thousands of euro

Assets/Amounts
Total 

31/12/2011 
Total

31/12/2010 

Defined duration Indefinite duration Defined duration Indefinite duration

A.1 Goodwill X X

A.2 Other intangible assets 3,405 3,229 

A.2.1 Assets carried at cost: 3,405 3,229 

a) Intangible assets generated internally

b) Other assets 3,405 3,229 

A.2.2 Assets designated at fair value:

a) Intangible assets generated internally

b) Other assets 

Total 3,405 3,229 



12.2 Intangible assets: annual change
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thousands of euro

Goodwill
Other intangible assets:

generated internally
Other intangible assets:

others Total 
DEF INDEF DEF INDEF

A. Opening balances 27,822 27,822 

A.1 Net total adjustments 24,593 24,593 

A.2 Net opening balances 3,229 3,229 

B. Increases 1,604 1,604 

B.1 Purchases 1,604 1,604 

B.2 Increases in internal intangible assets X 

B.3 Writebacks X 

B.4 Increases in fair value: 

- to shareholders' equity X 

- to income statement X 

B.5 Positive exchange-rate differences

B.6 Other changes

C. Decreases 1,428 1,428 

C.1 Sales

C.2 Writedowns 1,428 1,428 

- Amortization X 1,428 1,428 

- Devaluations:

+ shareholders' equity X 

+ income statement

C.3 Decreases in fair value: 

- to shareholders' equity X 

- to income statement X 

C.4 Reclassification to non-current assets held for sale

C.5 Negative exchange-rate differences

C.6 Other changes

D. Net closing balances 3,405 3,405 

D.1 Total net adjustments 26,021 26,021 

E. Gross closing balances 29,426 29,426 

F. Measurement at cost

Key:
DEF: of defined duration
INDEF: of indefinite duration



Section 13 - Tax credits and liabilities - Item 130 of the assets and Item 80 of the liabilities
13.1 Deferred tax assets: breakdown

13.2 Deferred tax liabilities: breakdown

Deferred tax assets and liabilities in the Balance Sheet are shown as compensated, in accordance with paragraph 74 of IAS 12.
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Costs deductible in other periods 4,946 

Public relations 1,496 

Provisions for risks and charges 4,178 

Net changes in cash flow hedging derivatives 11,851 

AFS securities devaluations 58,722 

Total 81,193 

Property plant and equipment - elimination of depreciation on FTA 3,217 

AFS securities revaluation 19,179 

Total 22,396 



13.3 Change in deferred tax assets (with matching entry in income statement)

Advance taxes are recognised according to the likelihood that sufficient taxable amounts will be generated in the future.

The rates used to value advance taxes for IRES and IRAP purposes are 27.50% and 5.57% respectively.

The increase of 0.75 percentage points in the IRAP, the DL No. 98/2011, as converted into law, has resulted in an increase in advance

tax assets amounted to € 192,000. 

Deferred tax assets recognized during the year amounted to € 2,095,000 and are attributable to the recognition of a loss in tax

reportable succesivi tax years, and provisions are not immediately deductible.

Advance taxes cancelled during the year amount to € 2,787,000 and are attributable to the uses of provisions not deducted in

prior years and the recovery of costs deductible over several years. 
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thousands of euro

Total
31/12/2011 

Total
31/12/2010 

1.  Initial balance 11,120 10,748 

2.  Increases 2,287 2,566 

2.1 Deferred tax assets arising in the year 2,095 2,566

a) relating to prior years

b) due to changes in accounting policies

c) writebacks

d) other 2,095 2,566 

2.2 New taxes or increases in tax rates 192 0

2.3 Other increases

3. Decreases 2,787 2,194 

3.1 Deferred tax assets cancelled in the year 2,787 2,194 

a) reversals 2,787 2,194 

b) written down as now considered unrecoverable

c) change in accounting policies

d) other

3.2 Reduction in tax rates

3.3 Other decreases

4. Final balance 10,620 11,120 



13.4 Changes in deferred tax liabilities (with matching entry in income statement)

Deferred taxes are booked for temporary differences between the book value of an asset or liability and its fiscal value.

This recognition has been carried out in accordance with current fiscal legislation.

The rates used to value deferred taxes for IRES and IRAP purposes are 27.50% and 5.57% respectively.

The increase of IRAP of 0.75 percentage points, the DL No. 98/2011, as converted into law, has resulted in an increase in

deferred taxes amounted to € 73,000. 
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thousands of euro

Total
31/12/2011 

Total
31/12/2010 

1. Initial balance 3,144 3,144 

2. Increases 73 0

2.1 Deferred tax liabilities arising in the year

a) relating to prior years

b) due to changes in accounting policies

c) other

2.2 New taxes or increases in tax rates 73 0

2.3 Other increases

3. Decreases

3.1 Deferred tax liabilities cancelled in the year

a) reversals

b) due to changes in accounting policies

c) other

3.2 Reduction in tax rates

3.3 Other decreases

4. Final balance 3,217 3,144 



13.5 Changes in deferred tax assets (with matching entry to equity)

The increase of 0.75 percentage points in the IRAP, the DL No. 98/2011, as converted into law, has resulted in an increase in

deferred tax assets amounted to 1,453 thousand euros. 

Deferred tax assets arising during the year amounted to € 10,754,000 and is attributable to impairment of AFS securities.

Prepaid taxes canceled during the year amounted to € 4,262,000 and is attributable to the revaluation of derivatives to hedge

cash flows.
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thousands of euro

Total
31/12/2011 

Total
31/12/2010 

1. Initial balance 62,628 45,473 

2. Increases 12,207 17,155

2.1 Deferred tax assets arising in the year 10,754 17,155

a) relating to prior years

b) due to changes in accounting policies

c) other 10,754 17,155

2.2 New taxes or increases in tax rates 1,453 0

2.3 Other increases

3. Decreases 4,262 0 

3.1 Deferred tax assets cancelled in the year 4,262 0

a) reversals 4,262 0

b) written down as now considered unrecoverable

c) change in accounting policies

d) other

3.2 Reduction in tax rates

3.3 Other decreases

4. Final balance 70,573 62,628 



13.6 Change in deferred tax liabilities (with matching entry to equity)

The increase of 0.75 percentage points in the IRAP, the DL No. 98/2011, as converted into law, has resulted in an increase

in deferred taxes amounted to € 465,000. 

Deferred taxes canceled during the year amounted to € 1,328,000 and are due to impairments of AFS securities.

13.7 Other information

13.7.1 Assets in the form of current taxes: breakdown

The current tax assets relate primarily to the excess of the advance tax paid (IRES, IRAP and withholding tax on interest, premiums

and other fruits of the deposits and current accounts) with respect to the debt accrued.

Section 15 - Other assets - Item 150
15.1  Other assets: breakdown

The item also includes the credit position of a defined-benefits fund of € 4,395,000 (€ 3,117,000 at 31.12.10). For the related

information please see Section 12 of Liabilities, "Provisions for risks and charges".
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thousands of euro

Total
31/12/2011 

Total
31/12/2010 

1. Initial balance 20,042 20,719 

2. Increases 465 0

2.1 Deferred tax liabilities arising in the year

a) relating to prior years

b) due to changes in accounting policies

c) other

2.2 New taxes or increases in tax rates 465 0

2.3 Other increase

3. Decreases 1,328 677 

3.1 Deferred tax liabilities cancelled in the year 1,328 677 

a) reversals 1,328 677 

b) due to changes in accounting policies

c) other

3.2 Reduction in tax rates

3.3 Other decreases

4. Final balance 19,179 20,042 

thousands of euro

Description
Total

31/12/2011
Total

31/12/2010

1. Adjustments to exchange rate derivatives 41,768 40,510

2. Sundry accrued expenses and deferred charges 36,445 32,664 

3. Other assets 24,714 18,581

Total 102,927 91,755 



Liabilities

Section 1 - Due to banks - Item 10
1.1 Due to banks: breakdown by type

1.2 Details of item 10 "Amounts due to banks": subordinated debts

On 31.12.11 subordinated debts stood at € 400,072,444 (€ 400,055,889 in 2010).

The subordinate loan has the following characteristics:

- technical form: loan;

- nominal amount: € 400 million;

- duration: 10 years;

- maturity: June 2017

- reimbursement: bullet;

- interest rate: euribor 3 months increased by 22 bp pa.

1.4 Due to banks with specific hedges
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thousands of euro

Type of transaction/Amounts
Total

31/12/2011 
Total

31/12/2010 

1. Due to central banks 12,206,151 7,001,556

2. Due to banks 11,261,200 11,385,049 

2.1 Current accounts and demand deposits

2.2 Restricted deposits 720,320 223,306 

2.3 Loans 10,540,880 11,161,743 

2.3.1 Repurchase agreements 5,543,527 4,957,314 

2.3.2 Others 4,997,353 6,204,429 

2.4 Due for commitments to repurchase own equity instruments

2.5 Other debts

Totale 23,467,351 18,386,605 

Fair value 23,040,091 18,272,671 

thousands of euro

Total
31/12/2011 

Total
31/12/2010 

1. Payables with specific fair value hedges: 158,501 693,510 

a) interest-rate risk 158,501 377,041 

b) foreign exchange risk

c) various risks 316,469 

2. Payables with specific cash flow hedges: 7,976,360 7,596,405 

a) interest-rate risk 7,976,360 7,596,405 

b) foreign exchange risk

c) other risks



Section 2 - Amounts due to customers - Item 20
2.1 Due to customers: breakdown by type

Section 3 - Securities in issue - Item 30
3.1 Securities in issue: breakdown by type

3.3 Details of item 30 "Securities issued": securities with specific hedges
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thousands of euro

Type of transaction/Amounts
Total

31/12/2011 
Total

31/12/2010

1. Current accounts and demand deposits 305,387 496,939 

2. Restricted deposits

3. Loans 5,264,117 5,157,434 

3.1 Repurchase agreements 998 1,246 

3.2 Others 5,263,119 5,156,188 

4. Amounts due for commitments to repurchase own equity instruments

5. Other payables

Total  5,569,504 5,654,373 

Fair value 5,151,714 5,187,804 

thousands of euro

Type of securities/Amounts

Total
31/12/2011 

Total
31/12/2010 

Book
value

Fair value Book
value

Fair value 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

A. Securities

1. Bonds 9,917,130 1,724,611 7,723,412 12,415,349 269,954 11,934,236 

1.1 structured

1.2 others 9,917,130 1,724,611 7,723,412 12,415,349 269,954 11,934,236 

2. Other securities 586 586 586 586 

2.1 structured

2.2 others 586 586 586 586 

Total 9,917,716 1,724,611 0 7,723,998 12,415,935 0 269,954 11,934,822 

thousands of euro

Total
31/12/2011 

Total
31/12/2010 

1. Securities with specific fair value hedges: 8,009,776 11,809,976 

a) interest-rate risk 5,247,850 5,527,512 

b) exchange-rate risk

c) multiple risks 2,761,926 6,282,464 

2. Securities with specific cash flow hedges: 0 50,124 

a) interest-rate risk 50,124 

b) exchange-rate risk

c) other risks



Section 4 - Financial liabilities for trading - Item 40
4.1 Financial liabilities for trading: breakdown by type
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thousands of euro

Type of transaction/Amounts

Total
31/12/2011 

Total
31/12/2010 

NV 
FV 

FV * NV 
FV 

FV * 
L 1 L 2 L 3 L 1 L 2 L 3 

A. Cash liabilities

1. Due to banks

2. Due to customers

3. Debt securities 

3.1 Bonds

3.1.1 Structured X X 

3.1.2 Other bonds X X 

3.2 Other securities

3.2.1 Structured X X 

3.2.2 Others X X 

Total A

B. Derivative instruments

1. Financial derivatives 5,369,244 82,395 3,823,478 78,192

1.1 Trading X 5,369,244 82,395 X X 3,823,478 78,192 X 

1.2 Associated with the fair value option X X X X 

1.3 Others X X X X 

2. Credit derivatives 61,180 37,966 

2.1 Trading X 61,180 X X 37,966 X 

2.2 Associated with the fair value option X X X X 

2.3 Others X X X X 

Total B X 5,369,244 143,575 X X 3,823,478 116,158 X

Total (A+B) X 5,369,244 143,575 X X 3,823,478 116,158 X

Key
FV = fair value
FV* = fair value calculated excluding the value changes due to variation in issuer's creditworthiness since the date of issue
NV = nominal or notional value
L 1 = Level 1
L 2 = Level 2
L 3 = Level 3



Section 6 - Hedging derivatives - Item 60
6.1 Hedging derivatives: breakdown by type of hedging and by hierarchical levels

6.2 Hedging derivatives: breakdown by portfolios hedged and type of hedging
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thousands of euro

Fair value
31/12/2011 NV

31/12/2011 

Fair value
31/12/2010 NV

31/12/2010
L 1 L 2 L 3 L 1 L 2 L 3

A. Financial derivatives 3,451,201 24,156 40,449,337 2,064,097 56,902 30,072,505

1) Fair value 3,380,419 24,156 31,780,986 2,002,119 56,902 22,198,365

2) Cash flow hedges 70,782 8,668,351 61,978 7,874,140

3) Foreign investments

B) Credit derivatives

1) Fair value 

2) Cash flow hedges

Total 3,451,201 24,156 40,449,337 2,064,097 56,902 30,072,505

Key
NV = notional value
L 1 = Level 1
L 2 = Level 2
L 3 = Level 3

thousands of euro

Transaction/Type of hedging

Fair Value Cash flow hedges

Foreign
investment

Specific

Generic Specific Genericinterest
rate risk

exchange
rate risk

credit
risk

price
risk

multiple
risks

1. Financial assets available for sale 56,644 X X X 

2. Loans 3,164,603 X 98,605 X 5,314 X X 

3. Financial assets held to maturity X X X X X 

4. Portfolio 45,964 X 

5. Other transactions X X X X X X X X 

Total assets 3,221,247 98,605 45,964 5,314 

1. Financial liabilities 14,025 X 24,735 X 65,468 X X 

2. Portfolio X 

Total liabilities 14,025 24,735 65,468 

1. Expected transactions X X X X X X X X 

2. Portfolio of financial assets and liabilities X X X X X X X 



Section 7 - Fair value adjustment of financial liabilities in hedged portfolios - Item 70
7.1 Fair value adjustments of hedged financial liabilities

7.2 Financial liabilities of the banking group with macro hedging of interest rate risk: breakdown

Section 8 - Tax liabilities - Item 80
See section 13 of assets.

Section 10 - Other liabilities - Item 100
10.1 Other liabilities: breakdown
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thousands of euro

Fair value adjustments of hedged assets/Securities
Total

31/12/2011
Total

31/12/2010

1. Positive adjustment of financial liabilities

2. Negative adjustment of financial liabilities 0 65

Total 0 65 

thousands of euro

Type of transaction/Amounts
Total

31/12/2011
Total

31/12/2010

1) Securities issued by us 0 526,684

2) Payables

Total 0 526,684 

thousands of euro

Description
Total

31/12/2011
Total

31/12/2010

1. Relations with suppliers and professionals 8,963 7,893 

2. Sundry accrued expenses and deferred income 1,517 1,583

3. Other liabilities 22,652 31,453 

Total 33,132 40,929 



Section 11 - Provision for severance indemnities - Item 110
11.1 Provision for severance indemnities: annual change

Section 12 - Provisions for risks and charges - Item 120
12.1 Provisions for risks and charges: breakdown 

The fund for legal disputes includes allocations made for legal costs expected to be incurred following administrative and legal

proceedings to which Dexia Crediop is party and in relation to transactions concluded with local entities. For these proceedings,

it has not, on the other hand, been deemed necessary to adjust the value. A description follows of the state of the individual

proceedings.

On 03 February 2010, in relation to investigations into operations with the Region Apulia, some of which also carried out by Dexia

Crediop, the latter was notified of guarantee information insofar as investigated for the administrative crime pursuant to Arts. 5,

paragraph 1, letter a), 21, 24, paragraphs 1 and 2 of Italian Legislative Decree no. 231/01, in relation to Arts. 110, subsection

81, 640, paragraph 1 and 61, subsection 7. By Order dated 18 February 2012 the Preliminary Investigation Court of Bari revoked

the attachment order applied to Dexia Crediop on 03 February 2010 for the amount of approximately € 8.6 million and arranged

for the return of this amount to Dexia Crediop.
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thousands of euro

Total
31/12/2011

Total
31/12/2010

A. Opening balances 3,044 3,914

B. Increases 115 149 

B.1 Provision for the year 115 149 

B.2 Other changes

C. Decreases 800 1,019 

C.1 Indemnities paid 800 1,019 

C.2 Other changes

D. Closing balances 2,359 3,044 

Total 2,359 3,044 

thousands of euro

Items/Amounts
Total

31/12/2011
Total

31/12/2010

1 Provisions for retirement benefits 566 1,233

2. Provisions for risks and charges 13,067 14,345 

2.1 legal disputes 8,465 7,228 

2.2 personnel expenses 4,563 7,036 

2.3 others 39 81 

Total 13,633 15,578 



On 29 June 2009, the Province of Pisa dissolved, through a self-protection procedure, its deliberations regarding an Interest Rate

Swap signed on 4 July 2007 with Dexia Crediop in regards to variable interest rate bonds partially underwritten by Dexia Crediop.

As a consequence, the Province of Pisa has interrupted its payments to Dexia Crediop owed through the signed Interest Rate

Swap. At present, the Province of Pisa has not proceeded with the payment of approximately € 3.5 million. Hence, Dexia Crediop

has begun legal action in England, aimed at obtaining fulfilment of the obligations of the Province of Pisa. Dexia Crediop has

also begun legal action in Italy, now pending before the Council of State, aimed at obtaining the annulment of the above-cited

self-protection procedure.

On 21 December 2010, Dexia Crediop was served a preventative seizure decree of furniture and equipment, property and

receivables up to the value of the amount of approximately € 635,000, under the scope of an investigation concerning derivative

financial instruments stipulated in 2004 by Dexia Crediop with the Regional Authorities of Tuscany, in which it is hypothesised

that Dexia Crediop had committed an unlawful administrative act pursuant to arts. 5, paragraph 1, letter a) and 24, paragraph

2 of Italian Legislative Decree no. 231/01 in relation to arts. 110, subsection 81, 640 paragraph 2, no. 1 and 61, subsection 7.

As of today, the seizure decree has not yet been enforced, as Dexia Crediop has deposited security for the same amount in lieu

of the seizure.

On 31 December 2010, the Municipality of Prato dissolved, through a self-protection procedure, its deliberation regarding an

Interest Rate Swap signed on 29 June 2006 with Dexia Crediop in regards to two variable interest rate bonds underwritten by

Dexia Crediop. By virtue of this, the Municipality has not, as of today, proceeded with the payment of approximately € 2.7 million.

Dexia Crediop has begun legal action in England aimed at obtaining compliance by the Municipality with its obligations and has

also begun legal action in Italy before the Regional Administrative Court of Tuscany, which concluded in the favour of Dexia Crediop

with the sentence dated 24 November 2011.

On 23 December 2010, the Regional Authorities of Lazio served Dexia Crediop with a writ of summons before the Civil Court

of Rome. The deed concerned transactions in derivatives concluded with the Regional Authorities of Lazio. In addition to

Dexia Crediop, a further 11 banks are involved. The Regional Authorities of Lazio demand that Dexia Crediop pay compensation

for damages it alleges having suffered, for an amount of approximately € 8.5 million. The next hearing will be held on 12

December 2012.

On 28 April 2011, the Municipality of Florence dissolved, through a self-protection procedure, its deliberations to approve two

operations in derivatives completed on 26 June 2006 with Dexia Crediop. By virtue of this, the Municipality has not, as of today,

proceeded with the payment of approximately € 5.7 million. Dexia Crediop has taken legal action in England aimed at ascer-

taining the validity and effectiveness of these contracts, in addition to taking legal action in Italy, bringing a case before the

Regional Administrative Court of Tuscany.

On 23 January 2012, the Region of Piedmont dissolved, through a self-protection procedure, its deliberations to approve

an amortising swap operation completed on 16 November 2006. Dexia Crediop has begun legal proceedings in England aimed

at ascertaining the validity of the contract.
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On 14 April 2011, the Municipality of Messina served Dexia Crediop with a writ of summons before the Civil Court of Messina.

The act concerns two operations in derivatives completed on 28 June 2007. The Municipality of Messina asks that the nullity of

the contracts be ascertained with regards to Dexia Crediop or alternatively that they be declared as cancelled, in addition to the

sentencing of compensation for damages. The next hearing will be held on 15 May 2012. Additionally, on 18 October 2011,

the Municipality of Florence dissolved, through a self-protection procedure, its deliberations to approve these operations in

derivatives. Therefore, Dexia Crediop has begun legal action with the Regional Administrative Court of Sicily, aimed at obtaining

the annulment of the above-cited self-protection procedure.

Additionally, other funds include tax expense for 1.1 million, allocated during the first half of 2011 in relation to a general

inspection by the Tax Authority in relation to tax period 2008.  

Finally, please note that on 1 December 2011, the Tax Authority served a notice of liquidation for registration tax for approximately

€ 108 million, in addition to sanctions and interest for a total of approximately € 250 million. Against presentation of a

self-protection request and suspension of the effects of the notice of liquidation, in January the Administration filed suspension

of the effects of the notice of liquidation. The Company also appealed against this and considered there being no reason to make

any allocation in this respect, also given the achievement of the suspension and valid arguments able to confirm the correctness

and legitimacy of the Company's work.

12.2 Provisions for risks and charges: annual change

B.1 The item "Provision for the year" relative to other funds benefit from a positive review of actuarial assumptions relating

to the Solidarity Fund (see also sez. 12.4). The above item also contains the positive effect on C / E (+ € 0,719 million), resulting

from early termination of an employee benefit funds that made up the initial esidtenze to 01/01/2011.

C.3 The item "Other decreases" represents the portion of the provisions recognized in the income statement in the year 2011,

relating to defined benefit plans in Sez. 15 reclassified (other assets). That entry contains the effect positive C / E (+ 0.362

million €), arising from early termination of a defined benefit funds that made up the opening balance to 01/01/2011.
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thousands of euro

Pension fund Other provisions Total

A. Opening balances 1,233 14,345 15,578 

B. Increases 1,646 4,595 6,241 

B.1 Provision for the year 1,646 4,595 6,241 

B.2 Changes due to the passing of time

B.3 Changes due to variations in the discount rate

B.4 Other changes

C. Decreases 2,313 5,873 8,186 

C.1 Use during the period 1,311 5,873 7,184 

C.2 Changes due to variations in the discount rate

C.3 Other changes 1,002 1,002 

D. Closing balances 566 13,067 13,633 



12.3 Company defined-benefit pension funds

1. Description of the funds

The sub-item "Pension funds and similar benefits" includes provisions recognized on the basis of IAS 19 "Employee benefits"

against various forms of complementary retirement schemes with defined benefits. These commitments are based on calculations

carried out by independent Actuaries using the projected units credit method. In particular, the provisions are the same as the

current value of the defined-benefit obligations net of the fair value of the fund's assets and having taken into consideration the

actuarial profits and losses not recognised in the balance sheet by applying the so-called "corridor option". This "corridor

option" stipulates that the actuarial profits/losses, taken in accumulation, which might come about due to the effect of

adjustments caused by the re-formulation of the previous actuarial assumptions, are only recognized for the part that exceeds

10% of the higher amount between the fair value of the assets and the fair value of the obligation and on the basis of the

average residual duration of the benefits of the Fund and starting from the following period. 
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You can see below the information relating to the variations in the funds during the financial period, the reconcilement between

the current value of the funds, the current value of the assets serving the schemes and the assets and liabilities entered in the

balance sheet, together with the main actuarial assumptions.
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thousands of euro

2011 2010
A Variations in the defined-benefit obligations
1. Fair value of obligations at the start of the year 44,382 43,291 
2. Retirement benefit costs relating to current employment 599 645 
3. Interest expenses 1,762 1,983 
4. Contributions from those taking part in the scheme 160 179 
5. Benefits paid out (3,736) (1,768)
6. Actuarial losses (profits) 23 52 
7. Fair value of obligations at the end of the year 43,190 44,382 
B. Variations in assets of the schemes
1. Fair value of assets at the start of the year 42,645 40,985 
2. Yield of the assets 1,265 1,235 
3. Employer contributions 2,332 1,526 
4. Contributions from those taking part in the scheme 160 179 
5. Benefits paid out (2,840) (1,768)
6. Actuarial losses (profits) on the assets (1,660) 488 
7. Fair value of assets at the end of the year 41,902 42,645 
C. Reconcilement of the obligations and assets of the schemes
Fair value of bonds on the financed schemes 43,120 43,079 
Assets fair value 41,903 42,645 
Actuarial deficit (surplus) on the financed schemes 1,217 434 
Actuarial deficit (surplus) on the non-financed schemes 70 1,302 
Actuarial losses (profits) not recognized in the balance sheet (5,115) (3,621)
Liabilities (assets) recognized in the balance sheet (3,828) (1,884)
Summary of amounts recognized in the balance sheet
1. Balance sheet assets 4,394 3,117 
2. Balance sheet liabilities 566 1,233 
3. Balance of liabilities (assets) recognized in the balance sheet (3,828) (1,884)
D. Cost components
Retirement benefit costs relating to current employment 599 645
Interest expenses 1,762 1,983
Yield of the assets (1,265) 1,235
Actuarial losses (profits) recorded in the balance sheet 189 228
Total costs recorded in the balance sheet 1,285 1,621

E. Main actuarial assumptions 31/12/2011 31/12/2010

minimum maximum minimum maximum
Discount rate 3.0% 4.7% 3.0% 5.0%
Expected rate of yield of the assets 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.3%
Expected rate of salary increases 2.5% 3.5% 0.0% 3.5%
Inflation rate 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 2.5%

F. Reconciliation of book values 31/12/2011 31/12/2010

Opening balances of assets recognised in the balance sheet 3,117 3,158
Opening balances of liabilities recognised in the balance sheet 1,232 1,179
F1. Opening balances of Liabilities (Assets) (1,884) (1,979)
F2. Cost booked to the income statement 1,285 1,621
F3. Uses for expenses (3,228) (1,526)
Closing balances of Assets recognised in the balance sheet (4,394) (3,117)
Closing balances of Liabilities recognised in the balance sheet 566 1,232
F4. Closing balances of Liabilities (Assets) (3,828) (1,884)



12.4 Provisions for risks and charges – other provisions

The "other provisions" amounting to € 13,067,000 consist of:

- personnel expenses: The fund includes € 4,563,000 for charges relating to voluntary redundancy incentives, seniority prizes

to employees, life insurance benefits and the expense specifically allocated to a Solidarity Provision, payment of which is

directly linked to the Company 2009-2011 Restructuring Plan. This defined benefit fund also falls under the scope of application

of international standard IAS 19;

- provisions for legal expenses amounting to € 7,383,000; 

- provisions for taxation amounted to € 1,082,000;

- other provision amounting to € 39,000.
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You can see below the information relating to the variations in the Solidarity Fund during the financial period, the reconcilement

between the relevant current value and the liabilities entered in the balance sheet, together with the main actuarial assumptions.
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thousands of euro

2011 2010

A Variations in the defined-benefit obligations

1. Fair value of obligations at the start of the year 5,761 6,491 

2. Provision 6 0

3. Interest expenses 161 199 

4. Contributions from those taking part in the scheme

5. Benefits paid out (1,465) (1,049)

6. Actuarial losses (profits) (715) 120 

7. Fair value of obligations at the end of the year 3,748 5,761 

B. Variations in assets of the schemes

1. Fair value of assets at the start of the year

2. Yield of the assets

3. Employer contributions 1,465 1,049 

4. Contributions from those taking part in the scheme

5. Benefits paid out (1,465) (1,049)

6. Actuarial losses (profits) on the assets

7. Fair value of assets at the end of the year

C. Reconcilement of the obligations and assets of the schemes

Fair value of bonds on the financed schemes 3,748 5,761 

Assets fair value

Actuarial deficit (surplus) on the financed schemes 3,748 5,761 

Actuarial deficit (surplus) on the non-financed schemes

Actuarial losses (profits) not recognized in the balance sheet

Liabilities (assets) recognized in the balance sheet 3,748 5,761 

Summary of amounts recognized in the balance sheet

1. Balance sheet assets

2. Balance sheet liabilities 3,748 5,761 

3. Balance of liabilities (assets) recognized in the balance sheet 3,748 5,761 

D. Cost components

Retirement benefit costs relating to past employment 7 

Interest expenses 161 199 

Yield of the assets

Actuarial losses (profits) recorded in the balance sheet (715) 120 

Total costs recorded in the balance sheet (547) 319 

E. Main actuarial assumptions 31/12/2011 31/12/2010

minimum maximum minimum maximum

Discount rate 3.0% 3.3% 3.3% 3.5%

Expected rate of yield of the assets N/A N/A N/A N/A

Expected rate of salary increases N/A N/A N/A N/A

Inflation rate 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 2.5%

F. Reconciliation of book values 31/12/2011 31/12/2010

Opening balances of assets recognised in the balance sheet

Opening balances of liabilities recognised in the balance sheet 5,761 6,491

F1. Opening balances of Liabilities (Assets) 5,761 6,491

F2. Cost booked to the income statement (547) 319

F3. Uses for expenses (1,465) (1,049)

Closing balances of Assets recognised in the balance sheet

Closing balances of Liabilities recognised in the balance sheet 3,748 5,761

F4. Closing balances of Liabilities (Assets) 3,748 5,761 



Section 14 - Corporate capital - Items 130, 150, 160, 170, 180, 190 and 200  
14.1 "Share capital" and "Treasury shares": breakdown

The share capital is fully subscribed and paid up and amounts to € 450,210,000 consisting of 174,500,000 ordinary shares with

a nominal unit value of € 2.58. The company does not own any of its own shares.

14.2  Equity - Number of shares: annual change
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Items/Types Ordinary Others

A. Shares existing at start of period 174,500,000 

- fully paid up 174,500,000 

- not fully paid up

A.1 Treasury shares (-)

A.2. Shares in circulation: opening balance 174,500,000 

B. Increases

B.1 New issues

- against payment:

- company merger operations

- bond conversion

- exercise of warrants

- others

- free of charge:

- for employees

- for directors

- others

B.2 Sale of treasury shares

B.3 Other changes

C. Decreases

C.1 Cancelled

C.2 Purchase of treasury shares

C.3 Corporate sale transactions

C.4 Other changes

D. Shares in circulation: closing balance 174,500,000 

D.1 Treasury shares (+)

D.2. Shares existing at end of period 174,500,000 

- fully paid up 174,500,000 

- not fully paid up



14.4 Profit reserves: other information

Pursuant to article 2430 of the Italian Civil Code, the legal reserve is formed of at least one-twentieth of the net annual profits

until the reserve reaches one fifth of the share capital.

Other information
1. Guarantees given and commitments  
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thousands of euro

Legal reserve Other reserves

A. Opening balances 76,403 589,296

B. Increases 106 2,011 

Allocation of 2009 net income 106 2,011 

C. Decreases

D. Closing balances 76,509 591,307 

thousands of euro

Transactions
Amount

31/12/2011 
Amount

31/12/2010 

1)  Financial guarantees 423,665 1,525,098 

a) Banks 293,073 1,257,967 

b) Customers 130,592 267,131

2)  Commercial guarantees

a) Banks

b) Customers

3)  Irrevocable commitments to grant finance 613,028 1,731,133 

a) Banks 0 9,350 

i) certain to be called on 0 9,350 

ii) not certain to be called on

b) Customers 613,028 1,721,783 

i) certain to be called on 613,028 1,721,783 

ii) not certain to be called on

4) Commitments underlying credit derivatives: sales of protection 802,627 802,627 

5) Assets pledged in guarantee of third-party obligations

6) Other commitments

Total 1,839,320 4,058,858 



2. Assets lodged as surety for own liabilities and commitments

4. Management and broking for customer accounts
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thousands of euro

Portfolios
Amount

31/12/2011 
Amount

31/12/2010 

1. Financial assets held for trading

2. Financial assets designated at fair value

3. Financial assets available for sale 22,595 27,349 

4. Financial assets held to maturity 253,597 263,874 

5. Due from banks 2,757,395 1,001,592 

6. Due from customers 11,722,544 7,577,412 

7. Property plant and equipment

thousands of euro

Type of services Amount

1. Execution of orders on behalf of the clientele

a) Purchases

1. settled

2. not settled

b) Sales

1. settled

2. not settled

2. Portfolio management

a) individual

b) collective

3. Custody and administration of securities 28,987,539 

a) third-party securities on deposit: as custodian bank (excluding portfolio management schemes)

1. securities issued by consolidated companies

2. other securities

b) other third party securities on deposit (excluding portfolio management schemes): other 11,051,838 

1. securities issued by consolidated companies

2. other securities 11,051,838 

c) third-party securities deposited with third parties 5,684,572 

d) portfolio securities deposited with third parties 17,935,701 

4. Other transactions



5. Changes in portfolio adjustments

Information is given below on the reconcilement of the variations which occurred during the period on the portfolio adjustments

recorded for every class of financial asset. 

6. Fair value

Please refer to “A.3 Information on fair value” for the analysis of the criteria used to determine the fair value of the financial

assets and liabilities recorded on the financial statements.
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thousands of euro

Portfolio adjustments

Total Financial assets avai-
lable for sale

Financial assets held
to maturity

Due from banks Due from customers

A. Opening balances 260 34,734 34,994 

B. Increases 0 735 735 

B.1 Writedowns 735 735 

C. Decreases 4 0 4 

C.1 Writebacks 4 4 

D. Closing balances 256 35,469 35,725



Part C - Comments on the Income Statement
Section 1 - Interest - Items 10 and 20
1.1 Interest and similar income: breakdown

1.3 Interest and similar income: other information

1.4 Interest and similar expenses: breakdown
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thousands of euro

Items/Technical types Debt securities Loans
Other

transactions
Total

31/12/2011
Total

31/12/2010

1 Financial assets held for trading

2 Financial assets available for sale 17,827 17,827 17,804 

3 Financial assets held to maturity 18,344 18,344 20,346 

4 Due from banks 41,869 85,201 127,070 80,280 

5 Due from customers 416,662 484,698 901,360 947,323 

6 Financial assets designated at fair
value

7 Hedging derivatives 

8 Other assets 

Total 494,702 569,899 1,064,601 1,065,753 

thousands of euro

Items 31/12/2011

1.3.1 Interest income on financial assets in foreign currencies 27,233

thousands of euro

Items/Technical types Payables Securities
Other

transactions
Total

31/12/2011
Total

31/12/2010

1. Amounts due to central banks (108,225) (108,225) (66,828)

2. Due to banks (238,201) (238,201) (208,521)

3. Due to customers (81,776) (81,776) (59,638)

4. Securities in issue (381,924) (381,924) (380,671)

5. Financial liabilities held for trading

6. Financial liabilities designated at fair value

7. Other liabilities and provisions (521) (521) (1,142)

8. Hedging derivatives (178,784) (178,784) (243,456)

Total (428,202) (381,924) (179,305) (989,431) (960,256)



1.5 Interest and similar expenses: differentials on hedging transactions

1.6 Interest and similar expenses: other information

Section 2 - Fees and commissions - Items 40 and 50
2.1 Fee and commission income: breakdown
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thousands of euro

Items/Amounts 31/12/2011 31/12/2010

A. Positive differentials on hedging transactions: 439,439 389,808

B. Negative differentials on on hedging transactions: 618,223 633,264

C. Balance (A-B) (178,784) (243,456)

thousands of euro

Items 31/12/2011

1.6.1 Interest paid on liabilities in foreign currency (27,154)

thousands of euro

Type of services/Amounts
Total

31/12/2011
Total

31/12/2010

a) guarantees given 1,112 962 

b) credit derivatives 

c) management, broking and consulting services: 4,544 3,771 

1. financial instrument trading

2. foreign exchange trading

3. portfolio management

3.1. individual

3.2 collective

4. custody and administration of securities 3,986 3,410 

5. depositary bank

6. placing of securities

7. collection of the data receipt and transmission activities

8. advisory services 558 361 

8.1 in relation to investments

8.2 in relation to financial structure 558 361 

9. distribution of third-party services

9.1. portfolio management

9.1.1. individual

9.1.2. collective

9.2. insurance products

9.3. other products

d) collection and payment services

e) servicing of securitisation transactions

f) services for factoring transactions

g) management of rate- and tax-collection agencies

h) multilateral trading facilities management

i) keeping and management of current accounts

j) other services 9,237 4,945 

Total 14,893 9,678 



2.3 Fee and commission expenses: breakdown

Section 3 - Dividend and similar income - Item 70
3.1 Dividend and similar income: breakdown
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thousands of euro

Services/Amounts
Total

31/12/2011
Total

31/12/2010

a) guarantees received (3,245) (1,663)

b) credit derivatives 

c) management and brokerage services: (670) (1,027)

1. financial instrument trading

2. foreign exchange trading

3. portfolio management

3.1 own

3.2 for third parties

4. custody and administration of securities (670) (1,027)

5. placing of financial instruments

6. external marketing of financial instruments, products and services

d) collection and payment services (313) (315)

e) other services (708) (316)

Total (4,936) (3,321)

thousands of euro

Items/Income

Total
31/12/2011

Total
31/12/2010

dividend
income from
Mutual Fund

shares
dividend

income from
Mutual Fund

shares

A. Financial assets held for trading 

B. Financial assets available for sale 2,359 2,540 

C. Financial assets designated at fair value

D. Equity investments 2,627 1,922 

Total 4,986 0 4,462 0 



Section 4 - Net trading gains (losses) - Item 80
4.1 Net trading gains (losses): breakdown

Section 5 - Net hedging gains (losses) - Item 90
5.1 Net hedging gains (losses): breakdown
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thousands of euro

Transactions/Income components
Capital
gains
(A)

Trading
profits

(B)

Capital
losses

(C)

Trading
losses

(D)

Net income
(losses) [(A+B) -

(C+D)]

1. Financial assets for trading

1.1 Debt securities

1.2 Equity securities

1.3 Mutual fund shares

1.4 Loans

1.5 Others

2. Financial liabilities for trading

2.1 Debt securities

2.2 Payables

2.3 Others

3. Other financial assets and liabilities: foreign exchange
differences X X X X (71)

4. Derivative instruments 2,049,086 1,184,447 2,120,375 1,170,878 (57,860)

4.1 Financial derivatives:   2,026,898 1,184,447 2,097,161 1,170,878 (56,834)

- on debt securities and interest rates 2,019,510 1,179,978 2,089,773 1,166,411 (56,696)

- on equity securities and stock indices 7,388 4,469 7,388 4,467 2

- on currencies and gold X X X X (140)

- others

4.2 Credit derivatives 22,188 23,214 (1,026)

Total 2,049,086 1,184,447 2,120,375 1,170,878 (57,931)

thousands of euro

Income components/Amounts
Total

31/12/2011
Total

31/12/2010

A. Income relating to:

A.1 Fair value hedging derivatives

A.2 Hedged financial assets (fair value) 954,246 401,417 

A.3 Hedged financial liabilities (fair value) 9,851

A.4 Cash flow hedging derivatives

A.5 Assets and liabilities in foreign currencies

Total hedging income (A) 964,097 401,417

B. Expenses relating to:

B.1 Fair value hedging derivatives 963,867 398,756

B.2 Hedged financial assets (fair value) 

B.3 Hedged financial liabilities (fair value) 2,798

B.4 Cash flow hedging derivatives 

B.5 Assets and liabilities in foreign currencies

Total hedging expenses (B) 963,867 401,554 

C. Gains less losses on hedging (A – B) 230 (137)



Section 6 - Gains (losses) from sale/repurchase - Item 100
6.1 Gains (Losses) from sale/repurchase: breakdown

Financial assets

The negative net result of € 29 million mainly arises from the following transactions:

- due from banks: eoperations from early repayment of mortgages with the parent Dexia Credit Local Sa for a total nominal value

of 400 million euros and the payment of compensation;

- due from customers: transactions for the sale of debt securities made   during the year with companies in the Dexia Group for

a nominal value of € 250 million.

Financial liabilities

During the year 2011 it was decided to repurchase the securities issued for a total nominal value of 369 million euros. The

difference between the repurchase price and the carrying value of these liabilities in the financial statements and the result

of the cancellation of any hedging transactions amounted to 12.9 million recognized in the income statement for the same

period.
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thousands of euro

Items/Income components

Total
31/12/2011

Total
31/12/2010

Gains Losses
Net

result
Gains Losses

Net
result

Financial assets

1. Due from banks 6 8,370 (8,364) 3,093 17,911 (14,818)

2. Due from customers 314 20,876 (20,562) 491 37,893 (37,402)

3. Financial assets available for sale 6 63 (57) 1,095 0 1,095 

3.1 Debt securities 6 6 342 342 

3.2 Equity securities 63 (63) 753 753

3.3 Mutual fund shares

3.4 Loans

4. Financial assets held to maturity

Total assets 326 29,309 (28,983) 4,679 55,804 (51,125)

Financial liabilities

1. Due to banks

2. Due to customers

3. Securities in issue 12,914 12,914 763 763

Total liabilities 12,914 0 12,914 763 0 763 



Section 8 - Net adjustments for impairment - Item 130
8.1 Net adjustments for impairment: breakdown

8.4 Net adjustments for impairment of other assets: breakdown
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thousands of euro

Transactions/
Income components

Writedowns     Writebacks  
Total  

31/12/2011
Total    

31/12/2010Specific
Of portfolio

Specific Of portfolio

Writeoffs Others A B A B

A. Due from banks 0 0 0 4 4 64 

- Loans 4 4 (45)

- Debt securities 0 109 

B. Due from customers 0 (463) (931) 196 (1,198) 1,441 

- Loans (463) 196 (267) 482 

- Debt securities (931) (931) 959 

C. Total 0 (463) (931) 200 (1,194) 1,505 

Key:
A = from interest
B = other writebacks

thousands of euro

Transactions/
Income components

Writedowns       Writedowns       
Total 

31/12/2011
Total   

31/12/2010Specific
Of portfolio

Specific Of portfolio

Writeoffs Others A B A B

A. Guarantees issued (1.905) (1.905) 0 

B. Credit derivatives

C. Commitments to disburse
funds

D. Other operations

E. Total (1.905) (1.905) 0

Key:
A = from interest
B = other writebacks



Section 9 - Administrative expenses - Item 150
9.1 Personnel expenses: breakdown

9.2 Average number of employees by category
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thousands of euro

Type of expense/Amount
Total

31/12/2011
Total

31/12/2010

1) Employees (23,487) (23,882)

a) wages and salaries (14,479) (14,914)

b) social security contributions (4,141) (4,110)

c) retirement indemnities (922) (974)

d) other pension costs

e) provisions for severance indemnities (115) (149)

f) provision for retirement benefits and similar benefits: (1,285) (1,621)

– defined contribution

– defined benefits (1,285) (1,621)

g) payments to complementary external pension funds: (394) (408)

– defined contribution

– defined benefits (394) (408)

h) costs pursuant to payment agreements based on own equity instruments

i) other employee benefits (2,151) (1,706)

2) Other personnel working

3) Directors and statutory auditors (1,187) (1,035)

4) Retired personnel

5) Recovery of expenses for employees seconded to other companies

6) Recovery of expenses for others' employees seconded to the company (487) (682)

Total (25,161) (25,599)

Employees:

a) managers 30

b) middle managers 111

- of which: of 3rd and 4th level 64

c) remaining employees 63

Other personnel



9.3 Company defined-benefit pension funds: total costs

9.4 Other employee benefits

The costs for provisions in the year amounted to € 498,000. 

This cost also includes the expense specifically allocated to the Solidarity Provisions (€ 161,000), for which we would refer you

to the information supplied in Section 12 "Provisions for risks and charges".

9.5 Other administrative expenses: breakdown
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thousands of euro

31/12/2011 31/12/2010

a) Retirement benefit costs (599) (645)

b) Interest expenses (1,762) (1,983)

c) Yield of the assets 1,265 1,235 

d) Actuarial losses (gains) recognized in the balance sheet (189) (228)

Total (1,285) (1,621)

thousands of euro

Type of expense/Amount 31/12/2011 31/12/2010

Maintenance costs on furniture and equipment (3) (11)

Property rent payments (420) (421)

Telephone expenses (241) (233)

Postage and telegraph expenses (36) (38)

Costs for maintenance and updating of software (1,219) (872)

Security (164) (188)

Car leasing instalments (173) (220)

Energy, heating and water expenses (252) (255)

Maintenance costs on company-owned buildings (523) (475)

IT Services (4,353) (4,331)

Stationery and printing (51) (47)

Costs for cleaning premises (247) (240)

Professional fees (3,091) (2,795)

Advertising and public relations (382) (638)

Books, periodicals and information services (88) (79)

Expenses for issuing securities 0 (27)

Insurance premiums (65) (67)

Membership fees (594) (625)

Study grants (56) (12)

Cultural and social contributions (60) (68)

Other expenses (613) (437)

Total (12,631) (12,079)

Indirect taxes

– Local property taxes (298) (298)

– Flat-rate tax, Decree 601/73

– Other (105) (110)

Total (403) (408)

Total of other administrative expenses (13,034) (12,487)



Section 10 - Net provisions for risks and charges - Item 160
10.1 Net provisions for risks and charges: breakdown

Section 11 - Net adjustments on property plant and equipment - Item 170
11.1 Net adjustments on property plant and equipment: breakdown

Section 12 - Net adjustments on intangible assets - Item 180
12.1 Net adjustments on intangible assets: breakdown
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thousands of euro

Items/Income components
Total 

31/12/2011 
Total

31/12/2010 

Provisions Utilisation Net result Provisions Utilisation Net result

A. Risks

Total Risks

B. Charges

1. Personnel (513) 1,440 927 (503) (503)

2. Others (4,082) (4,082) (7,100) (7,100)

Total Charges (4,595) 1,440 (3,155) (7,603) (7,603)

Total Risks and Charges (4,595) 1,440 (3,155) (7,603) (7,603)

thousands of euro

Assets/Income component Amortization
(a)

Impairment
losses

(b)

Writebacks
(c)

Net result
(a + b - c)

A. Property plant and equipment

A.1 Company owned (1,043) (1,043)

- for functional use (1,043) (1,043)

- for investment 

A.2 Acquired on financial lease

- for functional use 

- for investment 

Total (1,043) (1,043)

thousands of euro

Assets/Income component Amortization
(a)

Impairment
losses

(b)

Writebacks
(c)

Net result
(a + b - c)

A. Intangible assets

A.1 Company owned (1,428) (1,428)

- Generated within the company

- Other (1,428) (1,428)

A.2 Acquired on financial lease

Total (1,428) (1,428)



Section 13 - Other operating expenses and revenues - Item 190
13.1 Other operating expenses: breakdown

13.2 Other operating revenues: breakdown
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thousands of euro

Items/Amounts 31/12/2011

Interbank charges 0 

Other expenses (11)

Total (11)

thousands of euro

Items/Amounts 31/12/2011

Rents collected 22

Interbank revenues 0

Refund of expenses 71

Other income 137

Total 230



Section 18 - Income tax for the period on continuing operations - Item 260 
18.1 Income tax for the period on continuing operations: breakdown

Current taxes are collected under the tax rules.

The change in advance taxes, of  € 573,000, is attributable to the positive balance between the increases and decreases for the

period, as indicated in tables 13.3 and 13.4.

18.2 Reconciliation between theoretical tax burden and tax burden according to financial statements
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thousands of euro

Component/Amounts
Total

31/12/2011
Total

31/12/2010

1. Current taxes (-) (2,072) (18,812)

2. Changes in current taxes compared to previous periods (+/-)

3. Decreases in current taxes for the period (+)

4. Changes in deferred tax assets (+/-) (573) 372 

5. Changes in deferred tax liabilities (+/-)

6. Taxes for the period (-) (-1+/-2+3+/-4+/-5) (2,645) (18,440)

thousands of euro

31/12/2011

Taxable income/variations/taxes (+/-) Taxable amount Tax

Pre-tax profit - Rate (33.07%) (30,357) 10,039 

Increases in taxes (Rate 27.50%) 52,172 (14,347)

Decreases in taxes (Rate 27.50%) (18,314) 5,036 

Greater taxable amount for IRAP (Regional Business Tax) (Rate 5.57%) 30,253 (1,685)

Increases in taxes (Rate 5.57%) 42,996 (2,395)

Decreases in taxes (Rate 5.57%) (12,687) 707 

Taxes for the period (2,645)



Part D - Comprehensive income
Detailed statement of comprehensive income
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thousands of euro

Items Gross amount Income
tax

Net amount

10. Net Income (Loss) for the period (30,357) (2,645) (33,002)

Other comprehensive income

20. Financial assets available for sale: (56,225) 12,705 (43,520)

a) changes in fair value (60,226) 13,495 (46,731)

b) reversal to income statement (597) 197 (400)

-  impairment losses

-  profit/losses from disposals (597) 197 (400)

c) other changes 4,598 (987) 3,611 

30 Property plant and equipment

40. Intangible assets

50. Hedge of foreign investments:

a) changes in fair value

b) reversal to income statement

c) other changes

60. Cash flow hedging: 12,890 (3,897) 8,993 

a) changes in fair value 12,890 (3,897) 8,993 

b) reversal to income statement

c) other changes

70. Exchange rate differences: 

a) changes in fair value

b) reversal to income statement

c) other changes

80. Non-current assets held for sale:

a) changes in fair value

b) reversal to income statement

c) other changes

90. Actuarial gains (losses) on defined benefits plans

100. Share of valuation reserves related to equity investments:

a) changes in fair value

b) reversal to income statement

-  impairment losses

-  profits/losses from disposals

c) other changes

110. Total other income components (43,335) 8,808 (34,527)

120 Comprehensive income (10 + 110) (73,692) 6,163 (67,529)



Part E - Comments on risks and associated
hedging policies
The information which must be given pursuant to Memorandum n. 263 “New provisions on prudential surveillance for banks”

issued by the Bank of Italy on 27th December 2006 (Title IV, Chapter I “Information for the public”) is given at the website of

Dexia Crediop S.p.A. 

(www.dexia.com). 

Section 1 - Credit risk  
Qualitative information

1. General aspects  

The area of operations concentrates on financing investments in the public sector and large infrastructure schemes.

2. Credit risk management policies  

2.1 Organisational aspects 

The credit risk is the risk of loss linked to the counterparts’ incapacity to honour their financial obligations. The factors which

influence the level of this risk are: 

the counterparty’s creditworthiness, measured by an internal rating (determined on the basis of suitable models);

the customer segment concerned (public sector, corporate sector, project finance, banking and financial sector, etc.);

the economic, legal and financial context in which the counterpart operates;

the type of operation carried out; 

the duration of the operations; 

any guarantees (tangible, personal, financial) which back the operation. 

Almost all the existing exposure regards customers of the public sector, with a low risk level and also subject to particular controls

linked to their public nature. Credit risks (and operative, market and liquidity risks) are monitored by the Risk Management structure,

divided up into three "line" functions - Credit Risk, Operational Risk & Security, Market Risk and Balance Sheet Management -

and a "staff" department - Risk Support - that ensure the control of the respective risk categories and the computerisation of

the new strategic processes in relation to the applications pertaining to Risk Management. 

Risk Management has no hierarchical relationship with the Bank’s operating units. The department therefore operates absolutely

independently from the Front Office structures. 

Specific Coordination Groups/Committees form an integral part of the internal auditing systems, helping to ensure that the

system works correctly. 
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The Credit Committee’s task is to examine loan proposals of any technical type. The Committee takes decisions relating to risks and

financial conditions on the basis of proposals made by the competent operational Department and an opinion regarding the level

of risk provided by the Risk Management Department. 

The Default Watchlist Coordination Committee examines situations falling within the criteria of defaults as established by the

Supervisory Authorities and by Dexia Group policies. 

2.2 Management, measuring and auditing systems 

As regards the methods of management, measuring and auditing, certain guidelines have been fixed at Group level. 

The Group has developed systems of internal annotation (SNI) for the various counterpart types, including: Corporate, Project

Finance, the Local Public Sector (SPL - Settore Pubblico Locale) of western Europe, "Public Satellites”, “Private Satellites”,

Sovereign Banks.

The internal rating system (IRS) defined on the basis of the most advanced methods (Advanced IRBA) involves: 

the adoption of internal procedures which allow for the calculations by and historical documentation of the IRSs; 

the progressive development of an information system (FERMAT) aimed at consolidating - in a common standardised form -

the information relating to all counterparties (Client Database) and all exposure (Exposure Database) of the Group; 

the adoption of a system for measuring the Bank’s entire risks on the basis of an approach based on its own economic resources. 

2.3 Credit risk mitigation techniques 

As concerns operations in derivatives, the ISDA Master Agreement is complete with the Credit Support Annex (CSA) for much

of the banking counterparties: this securitisation agreement minimises the credit risk through the regular (daily, weekly or monthly)

exchange of margins as a guarantee of the net value of the bilateral exposure. 

The forms of real guarantees used are essentially pledges (mainly on securities) and much less frequently mortgages on properties.

The management of these guarantees is the task of the administrative and legal offices.

The counterparties offering personal guarantees are banks, in the vast majority of cases, and sometimes public local or territorial

authorities. The credit risk of these counterparties is assessed on the basis of the external and internal ratings attributed to them. 

The purchase of credit derivatives is not normally used as a mitigation technique, although it is permissible. 

Since financing activities are mainly aimed at the domestic public sector, the majority of guarantees backing loans consist of the

issue of payment notes issued by local entities or the debt service provided by the Italian State. 

2.4 Impaired financial assets 

The Group has issued specific rules governing the treatment of non-performing loans and actions to be taken in order to

manage such loans so as to ensure that the procedures aimed at a positive outcome are implemented correctly. 
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These rules define the general guidelines within which the individual organisational units treat this subject within the scope

of their own responsibilities. 

The various conditions of each non-performing loan have been classified within the scope of an internal watchlist consisting

of four categories with an ascending scale of seriousness: 

monitored loans;

pre-problem loans; 

problem loans; 

non performing loans. 

The Default Watchlist Coordinating Committee is responsible for examining the non-performing positions and proposes: 

their classification in one of the four categories;

the adoption of specific writedowns on the loans; 

the adoption of statistical or flat-rate adjustments which reflect the Expected Loss. 

Transactions which previously included in the default/watchlist categories are re-classified as “performing” when the counterparty

emerges from a situation of economic/financial difficulty and returns to making all payments regularly as before.

Quantitative information
A. Credit quality
A.1 Impaired and performing loan exposure: amounts, write-downs, trends, economic and geographical

distribution

A.1.1 Distribution of loan exposure by portfolio and credit quality (book values)
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thousands of euro

Portfolio/quality
Non-

performing
loans

Problem
loans

Restructured
loans

Past due
loans 

Other assets Total

1. Financial assets held for trading 5,435,554 5,435,554

2. Financial assets available for sale 466,409 466,409

3. Financial assets held to maturity 338,416 338,416

4. Due from banks 12,358,959 12,358,959

5. Due from customers 786 29,377,226 29,378,012

6. Financial assets designated at fair value

7. Non-current assets held for sale

8. Hedging derivatives 599,431 599,431

Total 31/12/2011 786 0 48,575,995 48,576,781

Total 31/12/2010 786 3.013 43,186,373 43,190,172



A.1.2 Distribution of loan exposure according to portfolio and creditworthiness (gross and net values)

A.1.3 Cash and off balance sheet loan exposure to banks: gross and net amounts 
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thousands of euro

Portfolio/quality

Impaired assets Performing
Total
(net

exposure)
Gross

exposure

Specific
write-
downs

Net
exposure

Gross
exposure

Portfolio
write-
downs

Net
exposure

1. Financial assets held for trading X X 5,435,554 5,435,554 

2. Financial assets available for sale 466,409 466,409 466,409 

3. Financial assets held to maturity 338,416 338,416 338,416 

4. Due from banks 12,359,215 256 12,358,959 12,358,959 

5. Due from customers 7,570 6,784 786 29,412,695 35,469 29,377,226 29,378,012 

6. Financial assets designated at fair value X X 

7. Non-current assets held for sale

8. Hedging derivatives X X 599,431 599,431 

Total 31/12/2011 7,570 6,784 786 42,576,735 35,725 48,575,995 48,576,781

Total 31/12/2010 10,120 6,321 3,799 38,376,003 34,994 43,186,373 43,190,172

thousands of euro

Type of exposure/Amounts Gross exposure
Specific adju-

stments
Portfolio

adjustments
Net exposure

A. CASH EXPOSURE

a) Non-performing loans X 

b) Problem loans X 

c) Restructured loans X 

d) Past due loans X 

e) Other assets 12,359,215 X 256 12,358,959 

Total A 12,359,215 256 12,358,959 

B. OFF-BALANCE-SHEET EXPOSURE

a) Impaired X 

b) Others 1,147,673 X 1,147,673 

Total B 1,147,673 1,147,673 

Total A+B 13,506,888 0 256 13,506,632 



A.1.6 Cash and off-balance-sheet loan exposure to customers: gross and net amounts 

A.1.7 Cash loan exposure to customers: trend of gross impaired positions

2011 // DEXIA CREDIOP S.P.A. // 125

thousands of euro

Type of exposure/Amounts Gross exposure
Specific

adjustments
Portfolio

adjustments
Net exposure

A. CASH EXPOSURE

a) Non-performing loans 7,570 6,784 X 786 

b) Problem loans X 

c) Restructured loans X 

d) Past due loans X 

f) Other assets 30,217,520 X 35,469 30,182,051 

Total A 30,225,090 6,784 35,469 30,182,837 

B. OFF-BALANCE-SHEET EXPOSURE

a) Impaired X 

b) Others 2,384,232 X 2,384,232 

Total B 2,384,232 2,384,232 

thousands of euro

Reasons/Categories
Non-performing

loans
Problem loans

Restructured
loans

Past due loans 

A. Gross initial exposure 6,607 3,513 

- of which: loans sold but not derecognized

B. Increases 963 0

B.1 transfers from performing loan exposure

B.2 transfers of impaired loans from other categories 963

B.3 other increases

C. Decreases 0 3,513 

C.1 transfers to performing loan exposure 2,560 

C.2 writeoffs

C.3 collections

C.4 disposals

C.5 transfers of impaired loans to other categories 953 

C.6 other decreases

D. Gross closing exposure 7,570 0

- of which: loans sold but not derecognized



A.1.8 Cash loan exposure to customers: trend of total adjustments

A.2 Classification of exposure according to external and internal ratings
A.2.1 Distribution of cash and off-balance-sheet loan exposure according to external ratings

The exposure considered is that of the financial statements included in the tables above A.1.3 and A.1.6. The external rating

classes adopted to complete the table are those used by Standard&Poor's, Moody's and Fitch. Given that several external ratings

are assigned, the criteria adopted in making the choice is that established by the Bank of Italy, namely where there are two

ratings, the worst is used, where there are three ratings the two best are identified, and, if these differ, the worse of the two

is chosen. In order to breakdown according to ratings classes, a summary table has been used to convert the classification

envisaged by the various different ratings companies to the credit standing classes.
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thousands of euro

Reasons/Categories
Non-performing

loans
Problem loans

Restructured
loans

Past due loans 

A. Total initial adjustments 5,821 500

- of which: loans sold but not derecognized

B. Increases 963 0

B.1 writedowns 463

B.2 transfers of impaired loans from other categories 500

B.3 other increases

C. Decreases 500 

C.1 writebacks from valuations

C.2 writebacks from collections

C.3 writeoffs

C.4 transfers of impaired loans to other categories 500 

C.5 other decreases

D. Total final adjustments 6,784 0

- of which: loans sold but not derecognized

thousands of euro

Exposure
External rating classes Without

rating
Total

class 1 class 2 class 3 class 4 class 5 class 6 

A. Cash exposure 2,172,455 31,908,626 3,350,715 158,600 0 139 4,951,261 42,541,796 

B. Derivatives 639,051 1,395,219 164,502 0 0 0 296,440 2,495,212 

B.1 Financial derivatives 639,051 1,355,783 140,036 296,440 2,431,310 

B.2 Credit derivatives 39,436 24,466 63,902 

C. Guarantees given 301,544 122,121 423,665 

D. Commitments to
disburse funds 394,245 30,192 188,591 613,028 

Total 2,811,506 33,999,634 3,545,409 158,600 0 139 5,558,413 46,073,701 



A.2.2  Distribution of cash and off-balance-sheet exposure according to internal ratings

A.3 Distribution of secured loans according to type of guarantee
A.3.2 Secured loan exposure to customers
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thousands of euro
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Total
(1)+(2)

Loan derivatives Unsecured loans

Pr
o

p
er

ti
es

Se
cu

ri
ti

es

O
th

er
 c

o
lla

te
ra

l g
u

ar
an

te
e

C
LN

 

Other
derivatives

G
o

ve
rn

m
en

ts
 a

n
d

 C
en

tr
al

 B
an

ks

O
th

er
 p

u
b

lic
 b

o
d

ie
s

B
an

ks

O
th

er
 s

u
b

je
ct

s

G
o

ve
rn

m
en

ts
 a

n
d

 C
en

tr
al

 B
an

ks

O
th

er
 p

u
b

lic
 b

o
d

ie
s

B
an

ks

O
th

er
 s

u
b

je
ct

s

1 Secured cash loan exposure: 2,708,454 3,551 873 64,673 186,453 1,507,127 251,742 168,933 2,183,354

1.1 fully secured 1,915,345 59 64,271 186,455 1,507,127 1,742 155,691 1,915,345

- of which impaired

1.2 partially secured 793,109 3,551 814 402 13,242 268,009

- of which impaired

2. Secured off-balance sheet
loan exposure: 58,424 21,737 14,982 36,719

2.1 fully secured 11,472 1,581 9,892 11,473

- of which impaired

2.2 partially secured 46,770 20,156 5,090 25,246

- of which impaired

thousands of euro

Exposure
Internal rating classes Without

rating
Total

AAA / AA- A+ / A- BBB+/BBB- BB+/BB- D1 / D2 

A. Cash exposure 7,857,894 22,109,271 11,036,712 1,216,925 18,120 302,874 42,541,796 

B. Derivatives 141,456 1,832,173 469,748 51,835 0 0 2,495,212 

B.1 Financial derivatives 139,145 1,795,048 445,282 51,835 2,431,310 

B.2 Credit derivatives 2,311 37,125 24,466 63,902 

C. Guarantees given 301,388 60,012 62,265 423,665 

D. Commitments to disburse funds 130,264 301,738 124,604 56,422 613,028 

Total 8,129,614 24,544,570 11,691,076 1,387,447 18,120 302,874 46,073,701 



B. Distribution and concentration of loan exposure
B.1 Distribution of on and off-balance sheet customer loan exposure according to sector (book value)
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thousands of euro

Exposure/
Counterparties

Governments Other public bodies Financial companies Insurance
companies

Non-financial
companies Other subjects
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A. Cash exposure

A.1 Non-performing
loans X 147 71 X 639 5,750 X X 963 X X 

A.2 Problem loans X X X X X X 

A.3 Restructured loans X X X X X X 

A.4 Past due loans X X X X X X 

A.5 Other exposure 8,124,468 X 17,147,152 X 29,780 2,089,364 X 1,114 X 2,819,391 X 4,574 1,676 X 1 

Total A 8,124,468 0 0 17,147,299 71 29,780 2,090,003 5,750 1,114 0 0 0 2,819,391 963 4,574 1,676 0 1 

B. "Off-balance
sheet" loans

B.1 Non-performing
loans X X X X X X 

B.2 Problem loans X X X X X X 

B.3 Other impaired
assets X X X X X X 

B.4 Other exposure 1,225,236 X 568,564 X 214,906 X X 375,526 X X 

Total B 1,225,236 0 0 568,564 0 0 214,906 0 0 0 0 0 375,526 0 0 0 0 0

Total (A+B)
31/12/2011 9,349,704 0 0 17,715,863 71 29,780 2,304,909 5,750 1,114 0 0 0 3,194,917 963 4,574 1,676 0 1

Total (A+B)
31/12/2010 10,360,613 0 197 17,750,971 71 27,872 2,144,924 5,750 1,908 0 0 0 3,064,142 500 4,755 649 0 2



B.2 Distribution of on and off-balance sheet customer loan exposure according to area (book value)

Breakdown according to geographic area of relations with customers residing in Italy
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thousands of euro

Exposure/
Geographical area

Italy Other European
countries America Asia Rest of the world

Net
exp.

Total
adjustments

Net
exp.

Total
adjustments

Net
exp.

Total
adjustments

Net
exp.

Total
adjustments

Net
exp.

Total
adjustments

A. Cash exposure

A.1 Non-performing loans 147 1,034 639 5,750 

A.2 Problem loans

A.3 Restructured loans

A.4 Past due loans

A.5 Other exposure 29,622,957 35,293 559,094 176 

Total A 29,623,104 36,327 559,733 5,926 0 0 0 0 0 0

B. "Off-balance sheet"
loans

B.1 Non-performing loans

B.2 Problem loans

B.3 Other impaired assets

B.4 Other exposure 2,236,261 146,089 1,882 

Total B 2,236,261 0 146,089 0 1,882 0 0 0 0 0

Total (A+B) 31/12/2011 31,859,365 36,327 705,822 5,926 1,882 0 0 0 0 0

Total (A+B) 31/12/2010 32,954,341 35,141 329,791 5,881 4,469 0 32,698 33 0 0

thousands of euro

Exposure/
Geographical area

North West Italy North East Italy Central Italy Italy - South and Island

Net
exp.

Total
adjustments

Net
exp.

Total
adjustments

Net
exp.

Total
adjustments

Net
exp.

Total
adjustments

A. Cash exposure

A.1 Non-performing loans 8 139 1,034 

A.2 Problem loans

A.3 Restructured loans

A.4 Past due loans

A.5 Other exposure 7,002,944 13,419 2,903,815 5,027 15,308,694 9,404 4,407,503 7,444 

Total  7,002,944 13,419 2,903,815 5,027 15,308,702 9,404 4,407,642 8,478 

B. "Off-balance sheet" loans

B.1 Non-performing loans

B.2 Problem loans

B.3 Other impaired assets

B.4 Other exposure 418,678 125,619 1,573,098 118,866 

Total 418,678 0 125,619 0 1,573,098 0 118,866 0

Total (A+B) 31/12/2011 7,421,622 13,419 3,029,434 5,027 16,881,800 9,404 4,526,508 8,478 



B.3 Distribution of on and off-balance sheet bank loan exposure according to area (book value)

Breakdown according to geographic area of relations with banks residing in Italy
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thousands of euro

Exposure/
Geographical area

Italy Other European
countries

America Asia Rest of the world

Net exp.
Total

adjustments
Net exp.

Total
adjustments

Net exp.
Total

adjustments
Net exp.

Total
adju-

stments
Net exp.

Total
adjustments

A. Cash exposure

A.1 Non-performing loans

A.2 Problem loans

A.3 Restructured loans

A.4 Past due loans

A.5 Other exposure 1,843,161 226 10,378,611 30 121,679 15,508 

Total A 1,843,161 226 10,378,611 30 121,679 0 15,508 0 0 0

B. "Off-balance sheet"
loans

B.1 Non-performing loans

B.2 Problem loans

B.3 Other impaired assets

B.4 Other exposure 406,741 740,932 

Total B 406,741 0 740,932 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total (A+B) 31/12/2011 2,249,902 226 11,119,543 30 121,679 0 15,508 0 0 0

Total (A+B) 31/12/2010 2,469,414 204 7,147,321 56 781,028 0 16,701 0 0 0

Exposure/
Geographical area

North West Italy North East Italy Central Italy Italy - South and Island

Net exp.
Total

adjustments
Net exp.

Total
adjustments

Net exp.
Total

adjustments
Net exp.

Total
adjustments

A. Cash exposure

A.1 Non-performing loans

A.2 Problem loans

A.3 Restructured loans

A.4 Past due loans

A.5 Other exposure 391,121 901 1,451,139 226 

Total 391,121 0 901 0 1,451,139 226 0 0

B. "Off-balance sheet" loans

B.1 Non-performing loans

B.2 Problem loans

B.3 Other impaired assets

B.4 Other exposure 37,282 17,420 352,039 

Total 37,282 0 17,420 0 352,039 0 0 0

Total (A+B) 31/12/2011 428,403 0 18,321 0 1,803,178 226 0 0

thousands of euro



B.4 Significant risks

The information in relation to Major Risks is provided considering the changes made to prudential regulations on risk

concentration.

C. SECURITISATION AND ASSET DISPOSAL
C.1 Securitisation transactions

Qualitative information
The Bank organised three securitisation operations pursuant to Italian Law no. 130/1999, which were concluded in 2004, 2005

and 2008. In organising these securitisation transactions, the bank sought assistance from the leading specialised rating

Agencies: Moody’s, Standard&Poor’s and FitchRatings.

The transactions were carried out via the special purpose vehicle DCC - Dexia Crediop per la Cartolarizzazione S.r.l. (“DCC”),

whose share capital is held entirely by Dexia Crediop S.p.A., which issued ABSs representing a portfolio of securities issued by

Local and District Authorities in Italy. The securitisation transactions are aimed at the medium-to-long term refinancing of

public-sector bonds held in the Parent Bank’s portfolio. 

The three securitisation transactions, of a traditional type, have the same financial structure and involve hedging against the

interest rate risks inherent in the separate assets and in the ABSs issued, by agreeing interest rate swaps with Dexia Crediop S.p.A..

The class A ABS securities (senior) issued by the vehicle company have the benefit of an unconditioned first-demand guarantee

granted by Dexia Crediop S.p.A.; pursuant to this guarantee and the consequent obligation to buy back the securities and repay

the entire ABS in the case of any credit or fiscal event, the assets sold have not been cancelled from the Bank’s financial statement,

in accordance with the indications of IAS 39, and the securities in question are posted on the Italian Parent Bank’s financial

statement as well as the corresponding liabilities for the ABSs issued by the vehicle company.

In order to minimise management and operational risks, the services of the corporate servicer, paying agent and account bank

were provided by entities outside the Group.

The information on the securitisation operations in which the Bank underwrote the deed for the issue of all the ABS securities

are given in Section 3 “Liquidity risk”.
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a) Exposure 41,076,934 thousands of euro

b) Weighted 4,962,045 thousands of euro

c) Number 33 



As regards the role of investor, the portfolio as at 31st December 2011 consists entirely of senior securities deriving mainly from

the securitisation of loans to entities belonging to the Public Administration or from funds deriving from their real estate assets.

Quantitative information
C.1.1 Breakdown of exposure from securitisation transactions according to quality of underlying assets

C.1.3 Exposure from main "third party" securitisation transactions according to type of securitised asset and type

of exposure
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thousands of euro

Quality of
underlying

assets/Exposure

Cash exposure Guarantees given Credit lines

Senior Mezzanine Junior Senior Mezzanine Junior Senior Mezzanine Junior

Gross
exp.

Net
exp.

Gross
exp.

Net
exp.

Gross
exp.

Net
exp.

Gross
exp.

Net
exp.

Gross
exp.

Net
exp.

Gross
exp.

Net
exp.

Gross
exp.

Net
exp.

Gross
exp.

Net
exp.

Gross
exp.

Net
exp.

A. With own
underlying
assets:

a) Impaired

b) Others

B. With
underlying
assets of third
parties: 1,266,837 1,266,837 

a) Impaired

b) Others 1,266,837 1,266,837 

thousands of euro

Type of
underlying

assets/Exposure

Cash exposure Guarantees given Credit lines

Senior Mezzanine Junior Senior Mezzanine Junior Senior Mezzanine Junior

Book
value

Impair-
ment/Wri-
tebacks

Book
value

Impair-
ment/
Write-
backs

Book
value

Impair-
ment/
Write-
backs

Net
exp.

Impair-
ment/
Write-
backs

Net
exp.

Impair-
ment/
Write-
backs

Net
exp.

Impair-
ment/
Write-
backs

Net
exp.

Impair-
ment/
Write-
backs

Net
exp.

Impair-
ment/
Write-
backs

Net
exp.

Impair-
ment/
Write-
backs

A.1  

-  Non-residential
mortgage loans 91,923 

A.2  

- Altro 1,174,914 

A.3 

-  Leasing 

A.4 

- Other assets

A.5 

- Other non-performing
loans



C.1.4 Breakdown of exposure to securitisation transactions distributed by portfolio and type

C.1.6 Stakes in special purpose vehicles

C.1.7 Servicer activities - collection of securitised loans and redemption of securities issued by the vehicle company
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thousands of euro

Exposure/Portfolio
Financial assets
held for trading

Financial
assets 

fair value
option

Financial
assets

available
for sale

Financial
assets held
to maturity

Loans
Total at

31/12/2011
Total at

31/12/2010

1. On-balance sheet exposures

- "Senior" 1,266,837 1,266,837 1,373,994 

- "Mezzanine"

- "Junior"

2. Off-balance sheet loans

- "Senior"

- "Mezzanine"

- "Junior"

Name Registered office % Stake

DCC-Dexia Crediop per la cartolarizzazione S.r.l. Rome 100

thousands of euro

Vehicle company

Securitised assets
(end of period)

Receivables collected
during the period

% of securities redeemed (at the end of the period)

senior mezzanine junior 

impaired performing impaired performing impaired
assets

performing
assets

impaired
assets

performing
assets

impaired
assets

performing
assets

DCC - Dexia Crediop
per la cartolarizzazione
S.r.l. 3,916,520 254,836 3%



C.2 Disposal transactions

C.2.1 Financial assets sold but not derecognized

C.2.2. Financial liabilities for assets sold not derecognized
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thousands of euro

Technical types/
Portfolio

Financial
assets

held for
trading

Financial assets
designated at

fair value
through profit

and loss

Financial
assets

available
for sale

Financial
assets
held to

maturity

Due from
customers

Due from
customers

Total

A B C A B C A B C A B C A B C A B C 31/12/2011 31/12/2010

A. Cash assets

1. Debt securities 2,757,395 7,031,255 9,788,650 9,007,745 

2. Equity securities X X X X X X X X X 

3. Mutual fund shares X X X X X X X X X 

4. Loans

B. Derivatives X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X 

Total at 31/12/2011 2,757,395 7,031,255 9,788,650 

of which impaired

Total at 31/12/2010 1,001,592 8,006,153 9,007,745 

of which impaired

Key:
A = financial assets sold and fully recognized (book value) 
B = financial assets sold and partially recognized (book value)
C = financial assets sold and partially recognized (full value)

thousands of euro

Liabilities/Assets portfolio
Financial

assets held
for trading

Financial assets
designated at

fair value
through profit

and loss

Financial
assets

available
for sale

Financial
assets held
to maturity

Due from
banks

Due from
customers

Total

1. Due to customers 3,547,379 3,547,379 

a) fully recognized 3,547,379 3,547,379 

b) partially recognized

2. Due to banks 3,192,383 2,351,144 5,543,527

a) fully recognized 3,192,383 2,351,144 5,543,527 

b) partially recognized

Total at 31/12/2011 3,192,383 5,898,523 9,090,906

Total at 31/12/2010 1,461,657 7,188,430 8,650,087



Section 2 - Market risks  

1.2 - Interest rate and price risks - Regulatory trading book  

INTEREST RATE RISK
Qualitative information

A. General aspects  

The portfolio consists exclusively on derivative products. 

Short-term derivatives, mainly forward rate agreements and overnight indexed swaps, are used by the Cash & Liquidity

Management (CLM) Business Line (BL) to hedge the interest rate risk linked to the Euribor parameter and generated by the

bank’s core business. 

Medium and long-term derivatives are almost all balanced intermediation (mainly interest rate swaps). The underlying operations

regard the management of the medium/long term debt, represented by mortgages or securities, of the public clientele, and the

sale of derivative products to financial and Corporate customers. In both cases, the risk is precisely covered by derivatives of the

opposite sign traded on the market. Operations in derivatives are also carried out to counter-balance the changes in the Credit

Value Adjustment (CVA) due to the interest rate trend.

B. Management and measurement methods of interest rate risk and price risk  

The activities for measuring and controlling the interest rate risk, as well as market risks in general, are the responsibility of the

Market Risk and Balance Sheet Management sector of the Risks Management department. 

According to the market risk management policy followed by the Dexia Group, the risk profiles are divided according to Business

Line. This is also the case when banking and trading items are included in the same BL.

If the single BL can generate an interest rate risk which is more than marginal, operating limits on one or more risk indicators

are imposed and the use is monitored daily. Periodic scenario analyses are also carried out periodically to measure the impact on

the value of the portfolios monitored, by a series of non-parallel instantaneous shocks in the market interest rates.

The interest rate risk indicators measured are the following: 

Shift sensitivity of fair value; 

Value at Risk (VaR). 

The shift sensitivity of fair value quantifies the variation in the portfolio value consequent to parallel and instantaneous

increases of the market rates curve. 
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The VaR is defined as the maximum potential loss caused by possible adverse movement in market rates, with reference

to a confidence level of 99% and a holding period of 10 working days. 

The internal model is not used to calculate the equity requirements for market risks. 

PRICE RISK
The portfolio is not exposed to price risk. 

Quantitative information
1. Regulatory banking book: distribution according to residual duration (re-pricing date) of financial assets and

cash liabilities and financial derivatives 
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Currency of instruments: Euro thousands of euro

Type/ Residual term
on

demand
Up to 3
months

Between 3
and 6

months

Between
6 months
and 1 year

Between 1
year and 5

years

Between 5
and 10
years

beyond 10
years

unspecified
term

1. Cash assets

1.1 Debt securities

- with early redemption option

- others

1.2 Other assets

2. Cash liabilities

2.1 Repurchase agreements

2.2 Other liabilities

3. Financial derivatives

3.1 With underlying security

- Options

+ long positions

+ short positions

- Other derivatives

+ long positions 82,415 52,271 61,917 426,500 

+ short positions 82,415 52,271 61,917 426,500 

3.2 Without underlying security

- Options

+ long positions

+ short positions

- Other derivatives

+ long positions 21,853,046 12,769,949 1,774,375 8,900,297 5,727,003 10,972,233 

+ short positions 6,407 21,913,408 12,856,664 1,769,518 8,888,435 5,599,094 10,963,377 



3. Regulatory trading book - internal models and other sensitivity analysis methods   

With regards to the short-term horizon, the above derivatives of the CLM classified in the trading portfolio but with the managerial

purpose of hedging, as of 31 December 2011 showed a shift-sensitivity of -2.8 mln/€ for 100 basis points (b.p.). Since the

interest rate risk indicators are measured within the overall operating limits assigned to the CLM, please see the section dedicated

to the banking portfolio to obtain a more comprehensive vision of this risk. 

With regard to the broking of medium and long term derivatives at par value carried out by the Public & Wholesale Banking

business line, a sensitivity shift of € 7,677 for every base point was registered at 31.12.2011, against an established ceiling of

€ 10,000. Sensitivity remained constantly below this limit in 2011. The same BL is responsible for managing shift sensitivity to

CVA interest rates as mentioned in the previous paragraph. This management takes place through the trading of derivatives (plain

vanilla interest rate swaps), which as of 31 December show a sensitivity of -€ 72,122 for 1 b.p. against sensitivity of the CVA

estimated as +€ +317,356.

2.2 - Interest rate risk and price risk - Banking book    

INTEREST RATE RISK
Qualitative information

A. General aspects, management and measurement methods of interest rate risk and price risk   

Interest rate exposure on the short-term horizon in the banking portfolio, generated in particular by re-fixing of variable

rates, is managed by the Cash and Liquidity Management BL (CLM). Medium and long-term exposure, generated by a

mismatching of fixed rate assets and liabilities (including, most recently, Own Funds) is of a residual nature as the new fixed

rate production is hedged at the same time as it is recorded by the BL operating on the bank portfolio.

As with the regulatory trading book, the market risk monitoring and measurement activities are the responsibility of the

Market Risk e Balance Sheet Management department, which calculates risk/performance indexes, verifying compliance with

the operating limits established.

Exposure to the interest rate risk is also subject to regular disclosure and analysis by the Finance Committee with specific

regard to the operative proposals for opening and closing the rate risk and the alternative investments to conventional liabilities at

fixed rates represented by Own funds. The management and measurement of the medium and long-term interest rate risk

takes place on a consolidated level.

For the interest rate risk, derivatives to hedge the fair value or the cash flows are used. The first category, fair value hedge

derivatives, also includes certain derivatives of the CLM classified in the trading portfolio (see paragraph 2.1). The most commonly

used instruments are Overnight Indexed Swaps, Forward Rate Agreements and Interest Rate Swaps.
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B. Fair value hedging activities 

Fair value hedging (both micro and macro, the latter by means of the Portfolio Hedge) is used to immunise the market value of

the underlying financial instruments, protecting them against adverse changes in market rates. 

The instruments underlying the hedging are specific financial assets or liabilities, or aggregates of similar type, and transactions

are carried out under market conditions. 

Initial tests are performed on each hedge regarding the applicability of hedge accounting as well as regular tests on their

effectiveness.

C. Cash flow hedging  

Hedging, the purpose of which is to stabilise cash flow indexed to variable parameters (typically Euribor), have specific financial

assets or liabilities as underlying elements, which are homogeneous with them and realised at market conditions. 

Initial tests are performed on each hedge regarding the applicability of hedge accounting as well as regular tests on their

effectiveness. 

PRICE RISK
Qualitative information

A. General aspects, management and measurement of price risk    

The banking portfolio is exposed to price risk relative to equity securities classified among assets available for sale. 

Of the above investments, all unlisted, the one relating to the Istituto per il Credito Sportivo is particularly significant. The fair value

was measured on the basis of a mixed capital-income method. 

B. Price risk hedging activities     

Given the nature underlying the price risk, no hedges are implemented. 
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Quantitative information
1. Banking book: distribution according to residual duration (re-pricing date) of financial assets and liabilities
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thousands of euro

Type/ Residual term on demand
Up to 3
months

Between 3
and 6

months

Between 6
months and

1 year

Between 1
year and 5

years

Between 5
and 10 years

beyond 10
years

Unspecified
term

1. Cash assets 3,207,120 12,470,769 9,735,398 2,639,760 4,319,559 3,166,309 6,941,553 786 

1.1 Debt securities 2,135,006 4,355,713 3,915,980 1,098,489 1,831,688 2,045,679 4,443,563 

- with early redemption option

- others 2,135,006 4,355,713 3,915,980 1,098,489 1,831,688 2,045,679 4,443,563 

1.2 Due from banks 8,495 6,840,262 1,269,548 1,031,664 76,480 90,005 74,172 

1.3 Due from customers 1,063,619 1,274,794 4,549,870 509,607 2,411,391 1,030,625 2,423,818 786 

- c/a

- other loans 1,063,619 1,274,794 4,549,870 509,607 2,411,391 1,030,625 2,423,818 786 

- with early redemption option

- others 1,063,619 1,274,794 4,549,870 509,607 2,411,391 1,030,625 2,423,818 786 

2. Cash liabilities 1,571,976 20,482,941 11,548,625 3,163,541 1,145,358 114,624 1,086,350 

2.1 Due to customers 311,037 3,685,751 178,697 340,000 108,657 945,362 

- c/a 305,387 

- other payables 5,650 3,685,751 178,697 340,000 108,657 945,362 

- with early redemption option

- others 5,650 3,685,751 178,697 340,000 108,657 945,362 

2.2 Due to banks 877,297 11,560,525 10,252,234 620,208 204,011 49,170 62,750 

- c/a

- other payables 877,297 11,560,525 10,252,234 620,208 204,011 49,170 62,750 

2.3 Debt securities 383,642 5,236,665 1,117,694 2,203,333 832,690 65,454 78,238 

- with early redemption option

- others 383,642 5,236,665 1,117,694 2,203,333 832,690 65,454 78,238 

2.4 Other liabilities 

- with early redemption option

- others

3. Financial derivatives

3.1 With underlying security

- Options

+ long positions

+ short positions

- Other derivatives

+ long positions 98,987 328,859 11,603 102,527 191 9,980 

+ short positions 51,649 10,827 11,125 98,310 155,807 184,903 

3.2 Without underlying security

- Options

+ long positions

+ short positions

- Other derivatives

+ long positions 105,000 16,479,809 23,621,810 2,880,907 2,126,507 541,364 68,000 

+ short positions 20,000 11,384,657 20,204,480 1,538,071 4,010,933 2,770,310 5,863,997 



2. Banking book: internal models and other methods for analysing sensitivity  

The following indicators were noted during 2011 in relation to the above-mentioned CLM portfolio:  

At 31 December 2011, the sensitivity of -1.98 mln/€, recorded for management purposes and mentioned above, includes a

sensitivity of -2.8 mln/€ generated by CLM derivatives classified as for trading, despite being held for hedging purposes. The

following charts show the performance of the indicators during the year:

For both indicators measured, no excess was recorded during 2011 over and above the operating limits. 

With regards to the measurement of risk and related operating limits on the medium and long-term timeframe, please refer to

that explained in the section on market risks in the consolidated financial statements.
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VAR CLM - 2011
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2.3 – Exchange rate risk    

Qualitative information

A. General aspects, management and measurement of exchange rate risk   

The Group holds financial assets and issues bonds in other than euro currencies with the aim of exploiting favourable

market opportunities, taking into account the cost of exchange rate risks. 

B. Exchange rate risk hedging activities   

Financial assets and liabilities in currencies other than the euro are systematically hedged at the origin against exchange rate

risks using derivative products (cross currency swaps). 

Quantitative information
1. Distribution according to currency of the assets, liabilities and derivatives

2011 // DEXIA CREDIOP S.P.A. // 141

thousands of euro

Items
Currencies

US Dollar Sterling Yen Canadian Dollar Swiss franc
Other

currencies

A. Financial assets

A.1 Debt securities 321,630 155,633 

A.2 Equity securities

A.3  Due from banks 147,928 16 2 41 

A.4  Due from customers 1,040 105 

A.5 Other financial assets

B Other assets

C. Financial liabilities 

C.1 Due to banks 275,687 30,045 

C.2 Due to customers

C.3 Debt securities 10,289 

C.4 Other financial liabilities

D. Other liabilities 

E. Financial derivatives

- Options

+ long positions

+ short positions

- Other derivatives

+ long positions 393,067 32,922 39,920 

+ short positions 586,621 188,555 

Total assets 862,625 189,611 40,027 0 41 0 

Total liabilities 862,308 188,555 40,334 0 0 0 

Differences (+/-) 317 1,056 (307) 0 41 0 



2.4 DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS

A. Financial derivatives

A.1 Regulatory trading book: notional values at end of period and averages
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thousands of euro

Underlying assets/
Type of derivatives

Total at
31/12/2011

Total at
31/12/2010

Over
the counter

Central
counterparties

Over
the counter

Central
counterparties

1. Debt securities and interest rates 62,282,118 75,759,385 

a) Options 285,215 296,386 

b) Swaps 61,996,903 75,462,999 

c) Forwards

d) Futures

e) Others

2. Equity securities and stock indices 170,650 278,684 

a) Options 27,350 61,284 

b) Swaps 143,300 217,400 

c) Forwards

d) Futures

e) Others

3. Currencies and gold 595,825 674,998 

a) Options

b) Swaps 595,825 674,998 

c) Forwards

d) Futures

e) Others

4. Goods

5. Other underlying assets

Total 63,048,593 76,713,067 

Averages 61,523,476 75,002,033 



A.2 Banking book: notional values at end of period and averages

A.2.1  For hedging
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thousands of euro

Underlying assets/
Type of derivatives

Total at
31/12/2011

Total at
31/12/2010

Over
the counter

Central
counterparties

Over
the counter

Central
counterparties

1. Debt securities and interest rates 45,737,582 39,079,333 

a) Options 42,261 43,418 

b) Swaps 45,695,321 39,035,915 

c) Forwards

d) Futures

e) Others

2. Equity securities and stock indices 2,749,738 6,312,858 

a) Options 91,072 91,072 

b) Swaps 2,658,666 6,221,786 

c) Forwards

d) Futures

e) Others

3. Currencies and gold 645,260 871,751 

a) Options

b) Swaps 517,183 729,062 

c) Forwards 128,077 142,689 

d) Futures

e) Others

4. Goods 0 15,000 

5. Other underlying assets 0 0

Total 49,132,580 46,278,942 

Averages 29,755,671 31,948,331 



A.3 Financial derivatives: gross positive fair value - distribution by products
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thousands of euro

Underlying assets/
Type of derivatives

Positive fair value

Total at
31/12/2011

Total at
31/12/2010

Over
the counter

Central
counterparties

Over
the counter

Central
counterparties

A. Regulatory trading book 5,360,367 3,875,710 

a) Options 1,900 4,093 

b) Interest rate swaps 5,279,773 3,792,122 

c) Cross currency swaps 76,359 72,078 

c) Equity swaps 2,335 7,417 

d) Forwards

e) Futures

f) Others

B. Banking book - hedging 599,431 927,940 

a) Options 54,392 51,054 

b) Interest rate swaps 451,946 514,365 

c) Cross currency swaps 26,657 47,362 

c) Equity swaps 66,098 314,984 

d) Forwards 338 84 

e) Futures

f) Others 91 

C. Banking book - other derivatives

a) Options

b) Interest rate swaps

c) Cross currency swaps

c) Equity swaps

d) Forwards

e) Futures

f) Others

Total 5,959,798 4,803,650 



A.4 Financial derivatives: gross negative fair value - distribution by products
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thousands of euro

Underlying assets/
Type of derivatives

Negative fair value

Total at
31/12/2011

Total at
31/12/2010

Over
the counter

Central
counterparties

Over
the counter

Central
counterparties

A. Regulatory trading book 5,451,640 3,901,670 

a) Options 1,908 4,100 

b) Interest rate swaps 5,369,935 3,817,112 

c) Cross currency swaps 77,462 73,041 

c) Equity swaps 2,335 7,417 

d) Forwards

e) Futures

f) Others

B. Banking book - hedging 3,475,357 2,120,999 

a) Options 5,027 3,613 

b) Interest rate swaps 3,346,991  1,973,199 

c) Cross currency swaps 98,604 58,739 

c) Equity swaps 24,735 85,448 

d) Forwards

e) Futures

f) Others

C. Banking book - other derivatives

a) Options

b) Interest rate swaps

c) Cross currency swaps

c) Equity swaps

d) Forwards

e) Futures

f) Others

Total 8,926,997 6,022,669 



A.5 OTC financial derivatives - regulatory trading book: notional values, gross positive and negative fair values

by counterparties- contracts not part of offsetting agreements
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thousands of euro

Contracts not part
of offsetting agreements

Governments
and Central

Banks

Other
public
bodies

Banks
Financial

companies
Insurance
companies

Non-
financial

companies

Other
subjects

1) Debt securities and interest rates

- notional value 6,875,428 3,059,169 1,721,557 309,582 553,367 

- positive fair value 930,497 356,243 59,864 60,722 63,779 

- negative fair value 1,326 185,965 

- future exposure 62,217 28,181 6,612 1,709 6,384 

2) Equity securities and stock indices

- notional value 13,675 

- positive fair value

- negative fair value 1 

- future exposure 40 

3) Currencies and gold

- notional value 128,563 128,563 

- positive fair value 24,399 

- negative fair value 24,847 

- future exposure 9,642 9,642 

4) Other valuables

- notional value

- positive fair value

- negative fair value

- future exposure



A.6 OTC financial derivatives - regulatory trading book: notional values, gross positive and negative fair values

by counterparties- contracts part of offsetting agreements
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thousands of euro

Contracts part
of offsetting agreements

Governments
and Central

Banks

Other
public
bodies

Banks
Financial

companies
Insurance
companies

Non-
financial

companies

Other
subjects

1) Debt securities and interest rates

- notional value 48,792,595 970,421 

- positive fair value 3,677,085 133,483 

- negative fair value 5,117,328 67,222 

2) Equity securities and stock indices

- notional value 151,975 5,000 

- positive fair value 2,335 

- negative fair value 2,248 88 

3) Currencies and gold

- notional value 338,698 

- positive fair value 51,961 

- negative fair value 52,615 

4) Other valuables

- notional value

- positive fair value

- negative fair value



A.7 OTC financial derivatives - banking book: notional values, gross positive and negative fair values by

counterparties - contracts not part of offsetting agreements
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thousands of euro

Contracts not part
of offsetting agreements

Governments
and Central

Banks

Other
public
bodies

Banks
Financial

companies
Insurance
companies

Non-
financial

companies

Other
subjects

1) Debt securities and interest rates

- notional value 5,041,893 

- positive fair value 32,357 

- negative fair value 327,334 

- future exposure 14,358 

2) Equity securities and stock indices

- notional value 210,396 

- positive fair value 19,516 

- negative fair value 1,650 

- future exposure 16,626 

3) Currencies and gold

- notional value 169,610 

- positive fair value 3,181 

- negative fair value 7,337 

- future exposure 2,450 

4) Other valuables

- notional value

- positive fair value

- negative fair value

- future exposure



A.8 OTC financial derivatives - banking book: notional values, gross positive and negative fair values by

counterparties - contracts part of offsetting agreements
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thousands of euro

Contracts part
of offsetting agreement

Governments
and Central

Banks

Other
public
bodies

Banks
Financial

companies
Insurance
companies

Non-
financial

companies

Other
subjects

1) Debt securities and interest rates

- notional value 39,942,195 753,494 

- positive fair value 392,417 27,173 

- negative fair value 2,827,841 196,843 

2) Equity securities and stock indices

- notional value 2,389,841 149,501 

- positive fair value 100,566 407 

- negative fair value 19,893 3,191 

3) Currencies and gold

- notional value 475,650 

- positive fair value 23,815 

- negative fair value 91,268 

4) Other valuables

- notional value

- positive fair value

- negative fair value



A.9 Residual term of OTC financial derivatives: notional values
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thousands of euro

Underlying instruments/ Residual term Up to 1 year
Between 1 year

and 5 years
More than 5 years Total

A. Regulatory trading book 14,539,240 17,726,386 30,782,967 63,048,593

A.1 Fin. derivatives on debt securities and interest rates 14,370,870 17,530,319 30,380,929 62,282,118

A.2 Fin. derivatives on equity securities and stock indices 37,350 133,300 0 170,650

A.3 Fin. derivatives on exchange rates and gold 131,020 62,767 402,038 595,825

A.4 Fin. derivatives on other valuables

B. Banking book 30,347,319 8,254,207 10,531,054 49,132,580

B.1 Fin. derivatives on debt securities and interest rates 29,226,787 6,356,664 10,154,131 45,737,582

B.2 Fin. derivatives on equity securities and stock indices 940,505 1,799,233 10,000 2,749,738

B.3 Fin. derivatives on exchange rates and gold 180,027 98,310 366,923 645,260

B.4 Fin. derivatives on other valuables

Total at 31/12/2011 44,886,559 25,980,593 41,314,021 112,181,173 

Total at 31/12/2010 44,800,879 30,750,478 47,440,652 122,992,009



B. Credit derivatives

B.1 Credit derivatives notional values at end of period and averages
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thousands of euro

Type of transaction

Regulatory trading book Banking portfolio

on a single
subject

on several subjects
(basket)

on a single
subject

on several subjects
(basket)

1. Protection purchases 802,627 0

a) Credit default products 802,627 

b) Credit spread products 

c) Total rate of return swap 

d) Others

Total at 31/12/2011 802,627 0

Averages 802,627 0

Total at 31/12/2010 802,627 0

2. Protection sales 802,627 0

a) Credit default products 802,627 

b) Credit spread products 

c) Total rate of return swap 

d) Others

Total at 31/12/2011 802,627 0

Averages 802,627 0

Total at 31/12/2010 802,627 0



B.2 OTC credit derivatives: gross positive fair value - distribution by products

B.3 OTC credit derivatives: gross negative fair value - distribution by products
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thousands of euro

Portfolios/Types of derivatives
Positive fair value

Total at
31/12/2011

Total at
31/12/2010

A. Regulatory trading book 63,902 41,714 

a) Credit default products 63,902 41,714 

b) Credit spread products 

c) Total rate of return swap 

d) Others

B. Banking book 0 0

a) Credit default products 

b) Credit spread products 

c) Total rate of return swap 

d) Others

Total 63,902 41,714 

thousands of euro

Portfolios/Types of derivatives
Negative fair value

Total at
31/12/2011

Total at
31/12/2010

A. Regulatory trading book 61,180 37,966 

a) Credit default products 61,180 37,966 

b) Credit spread products 

c) Total rate of return swap 

d) Others

B. Banking book 0 0

a) Credit default products 

b) Credit spread products 

c) Total rate of return swap 

d) Others

Total 61,180 37,966 



B.4 OTC credit derivatives: gross (positive and negative) fair values by counterparties - contracts not part of

offsetting agreements

B.5 OTC credit derivatives: gross (positive and negative) fair values by counterparties - contracts part of

offsetting agreements
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thousands of euro

Contracts not part of offsetting
agreements

Governments
and Central

Banks

Other public
bodies

Banks
Financial

companies
Insurance
companies

Non-
financial

companies

Other
subjects

Regulatory trading
1) Purchase of protection

- notional value 802,627 

- positive fair value 63,902 

- negative fair value

- future exposure 80,263 

2) Sale of protection
- notional value 14,750 

- positive fair value

- negative fair value 2,313 

- future exposure 1,475 

Banking portfolio
1) Purchase of protection

- notional value

- positive fair value

- negative fair value

2) Sale of protection
- notional value

- positive fair value

- negative fair value

thousands of euro

Contracts part of offsetting
agreements

Governments
and Central

Banks

Other public
bodies

Banks
Financial

companies
Insurance
companies

Non-
financial

companies

Other
subjects

Regulatory trading
1) Purchase of protection

- notional value

- positive fair value

- negative fair value

2) Sale of protection
- notional value 568,974 218,903 

- positive fair value

- negative fair value 34,176 24,691 

Banking portfolio
1) Purchase of protection

- notional value

- positive fair value

- negative fair value

2) Sale of protection
- notional value

- positive fair value

- negative fair value



B.6 Residual term of credit derivatives: notional values

C. CREDIT AND FINANCIAL DERIVATIVES

C.1. OTC credit and financial derivatives: net fair values and future exposure by counterparties
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thousands of euro

Underlying instruments/ Residual term Up to 1 year
Between 1 year

and 5 years
More than

5 years
Total

A. Regulatory trading book 0 0 1,605,254 1,605,254

A.1 Credit derivatives with "subordinated" "reference obligation"

A.2 Credit derivatives with "subordinated" "reference obligation" 1,605,254 1,605,254

B. Banking book 0 0 0 0

B.1 Credit derivatives with "subordinated" "reference obligation"

B.2 Credit derivatives with "subordinated" "reference obligation"

Total at 31/12/2011 0 0 1,605,254 1,605,254

Total at 31/12/2010 0 0 1,605,254 1,605,254 

thousands of euro

Governments
and Central

Banks

Other public
bodies

Banks
Financial

companies
Insurance
companies

Non-
financial

companies

Other
subjects

1) Financial derivative bilateral agreements

- positive fair value 739,683 129,785 

- negative fair value 4,636,874 260,756 

- future exposure 378,158 23,916 

- net counterparty risk 1,033,611 151,897 

2) Credit derivative bilateral agreements

- positive fair value

- negative fair value

- future exposure

- net counterparty risk

3) Cross product agreements

- positive fair value

- negative fair value

- future exposure

- net counterparty risk



Section 3 – Liquidity risk    

Qualitative information

A. General aspects, management and measurement of liquidity risk   

The bank is structurally exposed to the risk of liquidity as the loans activity is mainly concentrated on a long-term horizon against

deposits that are characterised by a shorter average duration.

The management of short-term liquidity risk lies with the Business Line Cash & Liquidity Management. Sustainability of the

liquidity profile over a long-term horizon is first and foremost verified during approval of the multi-year financial plan in relation

to the objectives established in terms of volumes and distribution time frame of loans and deposits.

Control of the liquidity risk is entrusted to the Market Risk & Balance Sheet Management department within the Risk Management

Structure and takes place through measurement of the following base amounts: 

a) liquidity gap (accumulated balance of cash flow forecast according to expiry); 

b) available reserves (value of assets that can be allocated according to expiry).

The department checks compliance with the following limits system every day:  

limits to the absolute liquidity gap in the very short term; 

limits to the ratio of reserves and gap on maturities of up to six months;

limits to the accessing of loans with the European Central Bank. 

The liquidity risk control system is supplemented by indicators anticipating the onset of any tension in the liquidity situation

("early warning indicators") from stress tests and contingency funding plans laid out both at the Dexia Group level and at the

Dexia Crediop Group level. 

With regards to the expiries beyond six months, the department carries out regular analysis on monthly buckets (up to three years)

and annual buckets (more than three years) of the evolution of the liquidity gap and available reserves. This analysis is carried

out both statically, on the basis of the inertial profile of financial assets and liabilities, and a dynamic profile, also considering the

impacts deriving from the implementation of the hypothesised use and provisions underlying the multi-year Financial Plan. 

The outcome of the above analyses and audits are discussed by the Finance Committee usually once a fortnight. 

The entire framework of governance, management and control, with specific reference to the limits system, is currently being

reviewed and preliminary action is underway to the measurement of new indicators as established by the new prudential provisions

of the Basel Committee.
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Quantitative information
1. Distribution by maturity according to residual contractual term of financial assets and liabilities - 

Currency: Euro

The item financial derivatives without the exchange of capital includes, in the case of trading derivatives, the related fair value

in the "on demand" timeframe and, in the case of hedging derivatives, the positive or negative differentials that are due in the

year following that of reference of the financial statements.
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thousands of euro

Item/Time bracket
on

demand

From more
than 1 day
to 7 days

From more
than

7 days to
15 days

From more
than 15

days to 1
month

From more
than 1

month to 3
months

Between
3 and

6 months

Between
6 months
and 1 year

Between
1 year and

5 years

More than
5 years

Unspecified
term

Cash assets 3,209,375 6,596,711 309,248 141,202 649,127 2,091,085 1,976,052 9,015,041 18,495,998 

A.1 Government
securities 44,364 412,112 9,933 X 

A.2 Other debt securities 2,090,642 28,571 12,382 5,720 4,861 134,245 267,370 5,072,372 11,743,547 X 

A.3  Mutual fund shares 2,255 X 

A.4 Loans 1,072,114 6,568,140 296,866 135,482 644,266 1,956,840 1,708,682 3,530,557 6,742,518 

- Banks 8,495 6,220,879 296,866 108,998 193,519 1,289,879 1,031,664 76,480 164,177 X 

- Customers 1,063,619 347,261 26,484 450,747 666,961 677,018 3,454,077 6,578,341 X 

Cash liabilities 755,601 4,967,723 186,411 1,942,568 3,124,558 2,081,782 2,416,356 17,018,489 6,607,017 

B.1 Deposits and current
accounts 305,387 X 

- Banks X 

- Customers 305,387 X 

B.2 Debt securities 383,642 0 934,407 505,010 1,231,287 5,769,962 1,093,404 

B.3 Other liabilities 66,572 4,967,723 186,411 1,942,568 2,190,151 1,576,772 1,185,069 11,248,527 5,513,613 

Off balance sheet
transactions

C.1 Financial derivatives
with equity swap

- long positions 29,940 64 11,289 11,603 102,527 396,725 X 

- short positions 26,860 58 10,827 11,125 98,310 365,441 X 

C.2 Financial derivatives
without equity swap

- long positions 5,435,554 8,225 506 6,684 73,885 35,134 150,063 

- short positions 5,512,819 29,075 2,133 21,596 35,624 105,105 261,040 

C.3 Deposits and loans
to be received

- long positions X 

- short positions X 

C.4 Irrevocable
commitments to
disburse funds

- long positions 160,671 14,000 1,460 71,745 40,664 286,233 38,255 X 

- short positions 802,627 X 

C.5 Financial guarantees
given X 



The securitisation transactions in place as of 31 December 2011, originating on internal assets through Tevere Finance srl, in which

Dexia Crediop (originator bank) signed the deed for the issue, total liabilities issued by the vehicle company are as follows:

216,621,721 euro, of which 215,578,721 euro Senior Notes, with ratings assigned by Standard & Poor’s as “A” and 1,043,000

euro Junior Notes (without ratings), concerning loan agreements stipulated with Istituto per il Credito Sportivo;

373,319,886 euro of which 370,752,886 euro Senior Notes (without ratings) and 2,567,000 euro Junior Notes (without

ratings), concerning loan agreements stipulated with public and private enterprises.

Section 4 – Operating risks     

Qualitative information

A. General aspects, management and measuring of operational risk    

Operational risk is “the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people and systems, or from external

events”. This definition includes legal risk, but not strategic risk (i.e. the risk of not achieving the desired performance owing to

assessment errors by the management) or reputational risk (i.e. the risk of losing revenues owing to a loss of public confidence

in the broker). 

The method used by the Group for measuring operational risk is the Standardized Approach (SA). 

As regards the qualitative method of assessing operational risks, an Operational Risk & Security Unit is active within the Risk

Management Office, and has responsibility for: 

drafting and updating the rules for the correct management of company processes and the consequent mitigation of the

operational risk;

measuring annually the Group’s exposure to the operational risk by means of the RCSA method (Risk & Control Self Assessment); 

defining, adopting and producing the reporting system on operational risk trends;

prepare, for the part of competence on operating risks, the document “ICAAP Report” to be send annually to the Bank of Italy; 

managing the security logics which control access to the IT applications;

guarantee the efficiency and update of the Operating Continuity Plan (OCP), also through the execution of annual tests. 

As regards management performance assessments, a number of Operational Risk Correspondents (ORC) have been chosen

within each of the Parent Bank’s (Dexia Crediop) structures and DCI, with the task of noting every operational risk event and

subsequently filing the information in the Group’s software OSCAR. 
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Quantitative information 

The main causes of operational risk events are shown below in percentage terms: 
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CATEGORY OF EVENT %

internal fraud 0%

external fraud 0%

relationships with staff and safety in the workplace 0%

customers, products and business practice 19%

damage to or loss of property plant and equipment 0%

system failure or breakdown 31%

process execution, delivery and management 50%



Part F - Comments on the capital 
Section 1 - Corporate capital

A. Qualitative information

The corporate capital consists of the share capital, reserves from profits in previous periods, valuation reserves on financial

assets available for sale and cash flow hedges and reserves as a result of first adoption of the IAS/IFRS principles. Except for

the part of the capital used in equity investments and property and the part from first adoption of IAS/IFRS and from reserves

consisting of the fair value of assets available for sale and cash flow hedging, the remainder of the capital is mainly invested in

fixed-rate mid- to long-term financial assets.

B. Quantitative information

B.1 Corporate capital: breakdown
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thousands of euro

Items/Amounts
Amount

31/12/2011
Amount

31/12/2010

1. Share capital 450,210 450,210 

2. Share premiums

3. Reserves 667,816 665,699 

- of profits

a) legal 76,509 76,403 

b) statutory

c) treasury shares

d) other 591,307 589,296 

- other

4. Equity instruments

5. (Treasury shares)

6. Valuation reserves (20,696) 13,832

- Financial assets available for sale 3,289 46,810 

- Property plant and equipment

- Intangible assets

- Foreign investment hedging

- Cash flow hedging (23,985) (32,978)

- Exchange rate differences

- Non-current assets held for sale

- Actuarial gains (losses) on defined benefits schemes

- Proportions of valuation reserves relating to investee companies
consolidated at net equity

- Special revaluation laws

7. Profit (Loss) for the period (33,002) 2,116 

Total 1,064,328 1,131,857 



B.2 Reserves from valuation of financial assets available for sale: breakdown

B.3 Valuation reserves of financial assets available for sale: annual changes

The amount shown as "change for reversal to income statement on disposal" of the AFS reserve refers to the sale of securities

reclassified AFS former L & R.
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thousands of euro

Assets/Amounts

Total at
31/12/2011 

Total at
31/12/2010 

Positive reserve Negative reserve Positive reserve Negative reserve

1. Debt securities 23,146 122,167 25,381 102,220 

2. Equity securities 102,160 123,497 

3. Mutual fund shares 180 30 234 82 

4. Loans

Total 125,486 122,197 149,112 102,302 

thousands of euro

Debt securities Equity securities Mutual fund shares Loans

1. Opening balances (76,839) 123,497 152 0 

2. Increases 3,611 0 51 0 

2.1 Increases in fair value 51 

2.2 Reversal to income statement
of negative reserves:

- for impairment

- for disposal

2.3 Other changes 3,611 

3. Decreases 25,793 21,337 53 0

3.1 Decreases in fair value 25,393 21,337 53 

3.2 Impairment losses

3.3 Reversal to income statement 
of positive reserve: for disposal 400 

3.4 Other changes

4. Closing balances (99,021) 102,160 150 0 



Section 2 - Capital and minimum capital ratios  

2.1 Regulatory Capital 

A. Qualitative information 

1. Tier 1 capital

The capital paid-in, income reserves and period income are positive elements of the tier I capital. The negative elements consist

of the intangible fixed assets and prudential filters characterised by negative valuation reserves on debt securities classified as

“Financial assets held for sale”.  From all the positive and negative elements of the tier I capital, 50% is deducted from the book

value of the investment in Istituto per il Credito Sportivo, net of the positive reserve.

2. Tier 2 capital

The positive elements of the supplementary equity consist of the positive valuation reserves relating to capital securities considered

at 50%, the subordinate loan subscribed by the parent company Dexia Crédit Local and the excess total value adjustments as

compared with forecast losses. Deductions are accounting for 50% by the book value of the investment in Istituto per il Credito

Sportivo, net of the positive reserve.

B. Quantitative information
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thousands of euro

Total at
31/12/2011

Total at
31/12/2010

A. Tier 1 capital before application of prudential filters 1,081,619 1,114,797 

B. Tier 1 capital prudential filters:

B.1  Positive IAS/IFRS prudential filters (+)

B.2  Negative IAS/IFRS prudential filters (-) (57,781) (60,992) 

C. Tier 1 capital inclusive of elements to be deducted (A+B) 1,023,838 1,053,805 

D. Elements to be deducted from tier 1 capital 12,329 12,329 

E. Total Tier 1 capital (C-D) 1,011,509 1,041,476 

F. Tier 2 capital before application of prudential filters 419,514 414,334 

G. Tier 2 capital prudential filters: 75 76 

G.1  Positive IAS/IFRS prudential filters (+) 75 76 

G.2  Negative IAS/IFRS prudential filters (-)

H. Tier 2 capital inclusive of elements to be deducted (F+G) 419,589 414,410 

I. Elements to be deducted from tier 2 capital 12,329 12,329 

L. Total Tier 2 capital (H-I) 407,260 402,081 

M. Elements to be deducted from total tier 1 and tier 2 capital 0 0

N. Regulatory capital (E+L-M) 1,418,769 1,443,557 

O. Tier 3 capital 0 0

P. Regulatory capital including Tier 3 (N+O) 1,418,769 1,443,557 



2.2 Capital adequacy

A. Qualitative information

The process by which significant risks are identified and measurement methods defined, the quantification of the internal capital

and economic capital in view of each risk type, all take place under the management and coordination of the parent company

Dexia S.A..  

More specifically, the calculation engine for the quantification of internal capital and economic capital is managed on a centralised

level by the parent company Dexia S.A..

Dexia S.A. also sends all Group companies, including Dexia Crediop, the descriptive methodologies adopted to measure each

type of risk (including the risks considered as significant by Dexia Crediop and consolidated on a Dexia group level) and the

quantification of the related risk capital.

The functions delegated to the management and control of risks are the property comprising the Risk Management Functions

"Credit & Operational Risks" and "ALM & Market Risk" and the function of staff "Compliance". The function "Financial Planning

and Management Control", for part of their responsibility related to the monitoring of strategic risk, collaborates with the functions

of risk control.
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B. Quantitative information

Item B.5 “Other calculation elements” includes the algebraic sum of the reduction of the requirements by 25% (negative sign)

for banks belonging to Italian banking groups, and the Floor, envisaged for banks calculating equity requirements for credit and

counterparty risk in accordance with the IRB method.
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thousands of euro

Categories/Amounts
Unweighted amounts

Weighted
amounts/requirements

31/12/2011 31/12/2010 31/12/2011 31/12/2010

A. RISK ASSETS

A.1 Credit and counterparty risk 43,980,713 42,420,908 4,471,854 3,768,190

1. Standardized methodology 1,797,760 2,134,001 1,219,528 1,379,148

2. Methodology based on internal ratings 42,091,030 40,194,508 3,240,633 2,381,223

2.1 Basic

2.2 Advanced 42,091,030 40,194,508 3,240,633 2,381,223 

3. Securitisation 91,923 92,399 11,693 7,819

B. REGULATORY CAPITAL REQUIREMENTS

B.1 Credit and counterparty risk 357,748 301,455

B.2 Market risk 18,102 26,290

1. Standard methodology 18,102 26,290 

2. Internal models

3. Concentration risk

B.3 Operational risk 11,391 20,211

1. Basic method

2. Standardized method 11,391 20,211 

3. Advanced method

B.4 Other prudential requirements

B.5 Other calculation elements 20,284 95,490 

B.6 Total prudential requirements 407,525 443,446 

RISK ASSETS AND REGULATORY RATIOS

C.1 Risk-weighted assets 6,792,086 7,390,777 

C.2 Tier 1 capital/ Risk-weighted assets (Tier 1 capital ratio) 14.89% 14.09%

C.3 Regulatory capital including Tier 3/ Risk-weighted assets (Total capital ratio) 20.89% 19.53%



Part H –  Transactions with related parties 
In compliance with law dispositions and internal procedures, all related party transactions occured during the fiscal year have been

carried out at conditions equivalent to market conditions applied to transactions of similar nature and risk occured with non

related parties. With regard to related parties, any unsusual or non-typical transaction and/or any transaction with non standard

condistions, both economic and contractual, has been concluded.

1. Information on key management personnel's remuneration

The information referred to in paragraph 16 of IAS 24 regarding key management personnel is shown below:

2. Information on transactions with related parties

The bank is the Parent Company of "Gruppo Bancario Dexia Crediop S.p.A." which, in addition to Dexia Crediop S.p.A., includes

the following subsidiaries:

1. DCC - Dexia Crediop per la Cartolarizzazione S.r.l., with a 100% shareholding;

2. D.C.I. - Dexia Crediop Ireland with a 100% shareholding(1);

3. Crediop per le Obbligazioni Bancarie Garantite S.r.L. with a 90% shareholding;

4. Tevere Finance S.r.l.(2)

The company is controlled (70% of the share capital) by Dexia Crédit Local SA with registered offices in - 1, passerelle des

Reflets Tour Dexia - La Défense 2 - 92913 La Défense Cedex.

(1) Unlimited liability company constituted under Irish law, with registered offices in 6 George's Dock, Dublin 1 and share capital of Euro 100 million
represented by 100 million shares, each with a nominal value of 1 euro:

99,999,999 shares are held by Dexia Crediop S.p.A.;
1 share held by Dexia Investments Ireland, in its capacity as Trustee for Dexia Crediop S.p.A.

(2) Vehicle company in accordance with Italian law no. 130/1999 over which Dexia Crediop S.p.A. exercises de facto control.
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thousands of euro

Short term benefits 4,746

Post-employment benefits 198

Other long term benefits

Severance indemnity 211

Payment in shares

Total 5,155



2.1 Transactions with the parent company
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thousands of euro

Assets and Liabilities

Assets

Financial assets held for trading 53,762 

Deposits 2,170,411 

Bonds & securities 2,907,786 

Hedging derivatives 550 

Total 5,132,509 

Liabilities

Borrowings 816,411 

Financial liabilities held for trading 12,225 

Hedging derivatives 466,299 

Subordinated debts 400,072 

Repurchase agreements 3,603,261 

Deposits 502,175 

Other liabilities 118 

Total 5,800,561 

thousands of euro

Other transactions 
Guarantees given 8,471 

Guarantees received 250,000 

thousands of euro

Income and charges

Interest and similar income 122,631 

Interest paid and similar charges (227,398)

of which

interest margin on hedging transactions (97,369)

Commission income 4,180

Commission expenses (1,447)

Net trading gains (losses) 20,677 

Gains (losses) on disposal or repurchase

Administrative expenses (822)

Total (82,179)



2.2 Transactions with subsidiaries

2.3 Transactions with other companies of the Dexia Group

In addition to the above-illustrated transactions with the parent company and the subsidiaries, Dexia Crediop also carried

out transactions with Dexia SA holding and its subsidiaries; all these transactions refer to the core business. 

166 // NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

D.C.I.
thousands of euro

Assets

Reverse repurchase agreements 216,183 

Financial assets held for trading 127,902 

Total 344,085 

Liabilities

Deposits 161,314 

Total 161,314 

thousands of euro

Income and charges

Interest and similar income 183 

Interest paid and similar charges (314)

Net trading gains (losses) 67,619 

Total 67,488 

DEXIA HOLDING
thousands of euro

Assets and Liabilities

Liabilities 

Other liabilities 1,135 

Total 1,135 

thousands of euro

Income and charges

Administrative expenses (1,135)

Total (1,135) 
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COMPANIES IN THE DCL GROUP
thousands of euro

Assets and Liabilities

Assets 

Financial assets held for trading 580,110 

Other assets 563 

Total 580,673 

Liabilities

Issued securites 52,602 

Repurchase agreements 1,379,281 

Payables - other loans 3,546,315 

Financial liabilities held for trading 58 

Other liabilities 3,568 

Total 4,981,824 

thousands of euro

Income and charges

Interest and similar income 78 

Interest paid and similar charges (82,617)

Commission income 3,742 

Commission expenses (14)

Net trading gains (losses) 280,810 

Total 201,999 

COMPANIES IN THE BIL GROUP
thousands of euro

Assets and Liabilities

Liabilities

Deposits 9

Total 9 

thousands of euro

Income and charges

Interest and similar income 168 

Interest paid and similar charges (4,574)

Net trading gains (losses) (291)

Administrative expenses (26)

Total (4,723)



Part L - Information on sectors 
The information is not required for individual financial statements in accordance with IFRS 8, paragraph 4.

Balance sheet data of parent company Dexia
Credit Local
Under the terms of art. 2497 bis of the Italian Civil Code, Dexia Crediop S.p.A. is subject to management and coordination by

Dexia Credit Local.

The following is the balance sheet, abbreviated income statement and key indicators as at 31.12.10 for Dexia Credit Local.

DEXIA CREDIT LOCAL - Financial Statements at 31.12.10

DEXIA CREDIT LOCAL Balance sheet
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EUR millions

ASSETS December 31, 2010 December 31, 2009

I. Cash, central banks and postal checking accounts 275 238 

II. Government securities 3,066 3,235 

III. Interbank loans and advances 34,289 41,624 

IV. Customer loans 51,048 49,207 

V. Bonds and other fixed income securities 83,144 60,057 

VI. Equities and other variable income securities 299 281 

VII. Long-term equity investments 3,077 2,650 

VIII. Intangible assets 54 46 

IX. Tangible fixed assets 18 14 

X. Unpaid capital

XI. Uncalled capital

XII. Treasury stock

XIII. Other assets 18,239 12,983 

XIV. Accruals and other assets 19,935 9,740 

Total assets 213,444 180,075 
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EUR millions

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY December 31, 2010 December 31, 2009

I. Interbank borrowings and deposits 129,716 84,299 

II. Customer deposits 3,581 1,910 

III. Debt securities 39,502 67,361 

IV. Other liabilities 12,689 5,660 

V. Accruals and other liabilities 19,451 10,980 

VI. Provisions and reserves 1,840 2,625 

VII. General banking risks reserve

VIII. Subordinated debt 5,423 5,271 

IX. Capital stock 501 501 

X. Additional paid-in capital 5,414 861 

XI. Reserves and retained earnings 264 (92)

XII. Net income for the year (4,937) 699

XIII. Interim dividends

Total liabilities and shareholders' equity 213,444 180,075 

DEXIA CREDIT LOCAL Profit and loss
EUR millions

INCOME STATEMENT December 31, 2010 December 31, 2009

I. Interest income 6,663 10,017 

II. Interest expense (6,972) (9,659)

III. Income from variable income securities 181 239 

IV. Commission income 11 12 

V Commission expense (23) (17)

VI. A Net gains (losses) on held-for-trading portfolio transactions (386) 113 

VI. B Net gains (losses) on portfolio transactions available for sale (386) 1,051 

VI. C Net losses on held to maturity portfolio transactions 0 (2)

VII. Other banking income 4 6 

X. Other banking expense (1) 0 

NET BANKING INCOME (909) 1,760 

VIII. General operating expenses (204) (196)

IX. Depreciation and amortization (25) (28)

GROSS OPERATING INCOME (1,138) 1,536 

XI. Cost of risk (695) (813)

OPERATING INCOME AFTER COST OF RISK (1,833) 723 

XII. Net gains (losses) on long-term investments (11) 66 

INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAX (1,844) 789 

XV. Non-recurring items 0 0 

XVII. Corporate income tax 314 (90)

XIII. Net allocation to general banking risks reserve 0 0 

NET INCOME (1,530) 699 

Basic earnings per share (17.58) 8.03 

Diluted earnings per share (17.58) 8.03 
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Report on operations
Companies included in the consolidation   

At 31 December 2011, the Dexia Crediop Group included

not only the parent company Dexia Crediop S.p.A., but also

the following subsidiaries:

DCC – Dexia Crediop per la Cartolarizzazione S.r.l.   

This company, owned entirely by Dexia Crediop, has been

operational since 2004. Its exclusive purpose is the setting

up of securitisation transactions pursuant to Italian Law no.

130/1999. The company is registered on the list of securitisation

vehicle companies held by the Bank of Italy.

The company has carried out three bond-issue operations -

in 2004, 2005 and 2008 - through the securitisation of

portfolios composed exclusively of debt instruments issued by

Italian public authorities. 

Dexia Crediop Ireland 

This company, with head office in Dublin, was established as

an unlimited company on 12 October 2007 for the purpose

of centralising the management of the Group’s investment

portfolios. It has been operative since the fourth quarter of

2007. In 2010, the share capital was reduced, reimbursing

the shareholder Dexia Crediop at par value, thereby going

from € 700 million to € 100 million, according to the reduced

level of loans in place at the end of 2010. 

Crediop per le Obbligazioni Bancarie Garantite S.r.l.

The company, whose equity is € 10,000 is held 90% by Dexia

Crediop, was acquired in 2010. Its registered office are in

Rome and it is registered with the list of financial intermediaries

in accordance with art. 106 of the Consolidated Law on

Banking. It belongs to the Dexia Crediop banking group.

The company’s purpose is exclusively the issue of covered

bonds in accordance with art. 7-bis of Italian Law no. 130 of

30 April 1999 and subsequent implementation provisions.

As of the date on which these financial statements were

prepared, the company had not carried out any transactions.   

Tevere Finance S.r.l.

The company is a vehicle pursuant to law no.130/1999 of 21

September 2007. It implemented its first securitisation

transactions in 2009, originated from Dexia Crediop. The

share capital is € 10,000 and is fully subscribed and paid up.

The sole shareholder is an Dutch foundation, whilst Dexia

Crediop exercises effective control.

Information on trends in the Group’s
companies

Dexia Crediop S.p.A.

See the part relative to this Company's own financial

statements.

DCC – Dexia Crediop per la Cartolarizzazione S.r.l.

In 2011, no more securitisation transactions were performed

in addition to those three completed in the preceding

financial years (2004, 2005 and 2008).

Company name
Head-

quarters
Investment
relationship

% of votes
held

Investor
company

Stake
%

Companies
consolidated
line-by-line

DCC – Dexia
Crediop per la
Cartolarizzazione S.r.l.

Rome
Dexia

Crediop 
100% 100%

Dexia Crediop
Ireland 

Dublin
Dexia

Crediop 
100% 100%

Crediop per le
Obbligazioni Bancarie
Garantite S.r.l.

Rome
Dexia

Crediop 
90% 90%

Tevere Finance Srl Rome
De facto
control

- -
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Dexia Crediop Ireland

In 2011, after the sale of assets in financial year 2010, the

company continues to manage the stock of securities that

has remained in the portfolio. More specifically, the securities

portfolio as of 31 December 2011 consists exclusively of

Italian government securities for a face value of € 270 million. 

The net interest and other banking income amounts to € 4.5

million, and operating costs are € 0.07 million. Pre-tax

profit totals € 4.5 million which, net of local income tax,

results in a net profit of 3.9 million. 

As of 31 December 2011, the investee company Dexia

Crediop Ireland recorded net equity of € 32.8 million. Due to

the financial crisis that has struck the Eurozone, this equity

has considered, through the valuation reserve, the negative

effect of the change in the fair value of an Italian state

security. Dexia Crediop Ireland has the capacity to maintain

the security in the portfolio until final maturity and therefore

considers it reasonable to await full recovery, over time, of

the security value. As net equity has dropped to below 50%

of the share capital, in compliance with Irish legislation, an

extraordinary shareholders' meeting has been called, but,

according to that reported, no need has been seen to

arrange for a capital increase. 

Crediop per le Obbligazioni Bancarie Garantite S.r.l.

The company, acquired in 2010, has not yet implemented

any transactions.

In 2011, the subsidiary Crediop Overseas Bank Limited

(COBL), with registered office in the Cayman Islands, was

placed in voluntary liquidation, upon the transfer of all

financial liabilities to the sole shareholder Dexia Crediop and,

on 28 December 2011, cancelled from the Cayman Islands

registry of businesses and banking groups.

Internal risk management and
control system, pursuant to art.
123-bis, clause 2, letter b) of the
Consolidated Finance Act

For the information request by art. 123-bis, clause 2, letter b),

of the Consolidated Finance Act, see the paragraph “Internal

risk management and control system, pursuant to art. 123-bis,

clause 2, letter b) of the Consolidated Finance Act" of the

Report on Operations to the company’s Financial Statements.

Transactions with other companies
of the Dexia Group

Transactions with the parent company DCL, which directs

and coordinates the Bank pursuant to article 2497 of the

Italian Civil Code, posted on the financial statement at the

end of the year, represented total assets of € 5,133 million,

total liabilities of € 5,801 million, and total guarantees and

commitments of € 258 million. The information concerning

transactions with related parties can be found in Part H of

the Notes. 

The key data from the last balance sheet of the parent

company DCL are contained in Part L of the Notes, as required

by article 2497-bis of the Italian Civil Code.

Transactions with companies of the Dexia Group, posted on

the financial statement at the end of the period, represented

total assets of € 581 million and total liabilities of € 4,982

million. The related information is contained in Part H of the

Notes. 
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Profits and balance sheet results

To provide a better understanding of the results of the period,

abbreviated versions of the balance sheet and income statement

have been prepared, using the models given in the Bank of

Italy Memorandum 262/2005 and making the necessary

reclassifications as described below: 

Balance sheet schedule

the item “Cash and cash equivalents" has been included

under other assets;

the item “Hedging derivatives" has been included under

other assets/liabilities;

the item “Fair value adjustment of financial assets in

hedged portfolios” has been included among other

assets;

tangible and intangible assets have been aggregated into

a single item;

the provisions for severance indemnities and risks and

charges have been aggregated into a single item;

the item “Fair value adjustment of financial liabilities in

hedged portfolios” has been included among other

liabilities;

the profit and valuation reserves have been aggregated

into a single item.

Income statement schedule

the item “Net hedging gains (losses)" has been included

under net interest, in relation to the close correlation

between hedging derivatives and the instruments

covered;

“net trading gains (losses)" and “Gains (losses) on

disposal or repurchase” has been aggregated into a

single item;

net adjustments on tangible and intangible assets have

been aggregated into a single item.
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Consolidated Balance Sheet
thousands of euro

Reclassified Balance Sheet Assets 31/12/2011 31/12/2010 Change

Financial assets for trading 20. Financial assets held for trading 5,307,652 3,847,447 38%

Financial assets available for sale 40. Financial assets available for sale 694,927 855,662 -19%

Financial assets held to maturity 50. Financial assets held to maturity 338,415 365,712 -7%

Due from banks 60. Due from banks 12,360,442 8,899,682 39%

Due from customers 70. Due from customers 29,161,829 29,026,209 0%

Tangible and intangible assets 47,252 47,386 0%

120. Property plant and equipment 43,847 44,157 -1%

130. Intangible assets 3,405 3,229 5%

Tax assets 140. Tax assets 71,153 66,129 8%

Other asset items 850,103 1,100,276 -23%

10. Cash and cash equivalents 3 3 0%

80. Cash flow hedging derivatives 599,431 928,016 -35%

90. Fair value adjustment of financial assets
in hedged portfolios (+/-) 147,426 79,876 85%

160. Other assets 103,243 92,381 12%

Total assets 48,831,773 44,208,503 10%

thousands of euro

Reclassified Balance Sheet Liabilities and shareholders' equity 31/12/2011 31/12/2010 Change

Due to banks 10. Due to banks 23,467,351 18,400,993 28%

Due to customers 20. Due to customers 1,861,798 1,962,835 -5%

Securities in issue 30. Securities in issue 13,464,097 16,544,227 -19%

Financial liabilities for trading 40. Financial liabilities for trading 5,384,917 3,869,659 39%

Tax liabilities 80. Tax liabilities 18 502 -96%

Other liability items 3,636,730 2,232,214 63%

60. Hedging derivatives 3,603,260 2,190,900 64%

70. Fair value adjustment of financial liabilities
in hedged portfolios (+/-) 0 65 -100%

100. Other liabilities 33,470 41,249 -19%

Provisions 15,992 18,622 -14%

110. Provision for severance indemnities 2,359 3,044 -23%

120. Provisions for risks and charges 13,633 15,578 -12%

Reserves 573,123 763,182 -25%

140. Valuation reserves (186,078) (29,971) 521%

170. Reserves 759,201 793,153 -4%

Share capital 190. Share capital 450,210 450,210 0%

Shareholders’ equity of minority
interests 210. Shareholders’ equity of minority interests 11 11 0%

Profit (Loss) for the period 220. Profit (Loss) for the period (+/-) (22,474) (33,952) -34%

Total liabilities and shareholders' equity 48,831,773 44,208,503 10%
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Reclassified Income Statement
thousands of euro

Reclassified Income Statement Income statement 31/12/2011 31/12/2010 Change

Net interest income 92,175 141,347 -35%

10. Interest and similar income 1,078,322 1,130,212 -5%

20. Interest and similar expenses (987,128) (988,605) 0%

90. Net hedging gains (losses) 981 (260) -477%

Net fee and commission income 9,942 6,159 61%

40. Fee and commission income 14,893 9,678 54%

50. Fee and commission expense (4,951) (3,519) 41%

Dividend 70. Dividend and similar income 3,109 2,540 22%

Net trading gains (losses) (73,998) (135,138) -45%

80. Net trading gains (losses) (57,930) 464 -12585%

100. Gains (losses) on disposal or repurchase (16,068) (135,602) -88%

Net interest and other banking income 31,228 14,908 109%

Net adjustments for impairment  130. Net adjustments for impairment (3,030) 4,008 -176%

Net income from financial activities 28,198 18,916 49%

Administrative expenses 180. Administrative expenses (38,473) (38,994) -1%

Net provisions for risks and charges 190. Net provisions for risks and charges (3,155) (7,603) -59%

Net adjustments on assets (2,471) (2,097) 18%

200. Net adjustments on property plant and equipment (1,043) (990) 5%

210. Net adjustments on intangible assets (1,428) (1,107) 29%

Other operating expenses/income 220. Other operating expenses/income 426 860 -50%

Operating costs (43,673) (47,834) -9%

Profit (loss) from continuing operations before tax (15,475) (28,918) -46%

Income tax 290. Income tax for the period on continuing operations (6,999) (5,034) 39%

Profit (Loss) for the period (22,474) (33,952) -34%

Profit (Loss) pertaining to minority interests 0 1 

Profit (Loss) pertaining to the parent bank (22,474) (33,953) -34%
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Statement of reconciliation between consolidated profit and equity  
thousands of euro

31/12/2011

Parent company Dexia Crediop S.p.A. Shareholders' equity Profit for the period Total

Share capital 450,210 

Valuation reserves -20,696 

Reserves 667,816 

Profit (Loss) for the period -33,002 

TOTAL 1,097,330 -33,002 1,064,328 

Subsidiary companies Shareholders' equity Profit for the period Total

Share capital 100,024 

Valuation reserves -181,649 

Reserves 113,408 

Profit (Loss) for the period 3,908 

Pertaining to minority interests 11 0 

TOTAL 31,794 3,908 35,702 

Elimination of equity interests in subsidiaries -100,024 

Elimination of dividends of subsidiaries 1,877 -1,877 

Consolidation accounting on valuation reserves 16,267 

Other intercompany eliminations -23,900 8,497 

TOTAL -105,780 6,620 -99,160 

Dexia Crediop Group Shareholders' equity Profit for the period Total

Share capital 450,210 

Valuation reserves -186,078 

Reserves 759,201 

Profit (Loss) for the period -22,474 

Pertaining to minority interests 11 0 

TOTAL CONSOLIDATED CAPITAL as at  31.12.2011 1,023,344 -22,474 1,000,870 
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Dexia Crediop Group economic results and
assets     

Changes to key income statement items 

The 2011 income statement for the Dexia Crediop Group

presents net interest income, inclusive of hedging gains,

of € 92.2 million. This represents a decrease of 35% on the

previous year and is linked mainly to the changes in market

rates.

Net commission amounts to € 9.9 million, up 61% (+ € 3.8

million) on 2010 thanks to the Project Finance business of

the parent company. Dividends amount to € 3.1 million, (up

+€ 0.6 million as compared with 2010).

Total trading income amounts to - € 74 million, recording a

positive increase of € 61.1 million on last year.

In determining the net result from trading in 2011, the

valuation effect due to the increased state debt spread during

the second half of 2011 had a significant influence, with a

gross impact  of - € 71,1 million.

The overall 2011 result from trading is also affected by the

sale of debt securities for about € 0.25 billion to companies

of the Dexia group and the early repayment of assets held

with the parent company Dexia Crédit Local for € 0.4 billion.

These sales and early repayments resulted in losses of -29

million, whilst repurchases of own securities generated

profits of +13 million, with an overall result of losses (profits)

on sales and repurchases totalling -16 million as compared

with approximately -136 million in 2010.

Net interest and other banking income amounted to € 31.2

million, as compared with the € 14.9 million of 2010

(+€ 16.3 million).  

The total net impairment adjustments were -€ 3 million, in

relation to specific write-backs of +4 million the previous year.

Administrative expenses totalled € 38.5 million, which was

basically in line with the previous year. Amortisation and

depreciation, amounting to € 2.5 million are up on last year

(+18%).

Allocations made to the provisions for risks and charges

amount to - € 3.2 million (- € 7.6 million in 2010) and mainly

refer to allocations made for legal costs by virtue of

administrative and legal proceedings in place relating to

derivatives stipulated with local entities.

The result of continuing operations before tax was - € 15.5

million compared to - € 28.9 million in 2010.

Tax totals - € 7 million and mainly refers to IRAP and

deferred taxation. Tax suffers the increases of the tax base,

mainly deriving from the partial non-deductibility of interest

expense.

The net period result therefore comes to -€ 22.5 million as

compared with the - € 33.9 million of the previous financial

year, showing an increase of € 11.5 million. 

Changes to the main balance sheet items 

Total balance sheet assets amounted to € 48.8 billion at the

end of 2011, an increase of 10% on the previous year.

In particular, there was an increase in the financial assets held

for trading, which amounted to € 5.3 billion (compared

to € 3.8 billion at the end of 2010). This increase was due to

the value of derivatives held for trading purposes. The

amount is balanced out by a similar change in the item

"financial liabilities held for trading". These derivatives are

valued at their fair value, and are considered financial assets

if their fair value is positive, and as financial liabilities if their

fair value is negative.
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The financial assets available for sale amounted to € 0.7

billion at the end of 2011, compared to € 0.9 billion in the

previous year.

Financial assets held to maturity totalled € 0.3 billion (a

decrease of 7% compared to the previous year). During the

year there were no disposals or acquisitions, so the decrease

is due to reimbursements during the year.

Receivables due from banks total € 12.4 billion, up 39% on

the end of the previous year, mainly due to the increase in

deposits held with other credit institutes, which are mainly

balanced by a similar increase in payables due to banks.

Customer receivables total € 29.2 billion, which is mainly in

line with the previous financial year.

Tax credit amounted to € 71 million (€ 66 million at the end

of 2010) and mainly referred to the net credit for prepaid

taxes and credit relative to the surplus advance payments (for

Corporate Income Tax and Regional Business Tax and for tax

withheld at source on interest, premiums and other income

from deposits and current accounts) compared to the

balance actually due.

The other items of the assets total € 0.9 billion as compared

with the 1.1 billion of the end of 2010. The change is mainly

due to the reduction in fair value of hedge derivatives.

Key items among the liabilities include the item “Due to

banks”, totalling € 23.5 billion (18.4 billion in 2010), “Due

to customers”, totalling € 1.9 billion (2.0 billion in 2010) and

securities in issue, totalling 13.5 billion (16.5 billion in 2010).

The balance of tax liabilities at the end of 2011 is virtually nil

against the 0.5 million at the end of the previous year.

The other items of the liabilities total € 3.6 billion as compared

with the 2.2 billion of the end of 2010. The change is mainly

due to the change in fair value of hedge derivatives.

Reserves amounted to € 0.6 billion at the end of 2011 (-25%

compared to 2010). The reduction is mainly due to the

evolution of valuation reserves.

At the end of 2011, share capital amounted to € 0.5 billion.

There were no changes compared to the previous year.
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Performance indicators    
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Financial assets available for sale
Due from banks
Financial assets held to maturity
Due from customers

39,147

2010

2009
52% Due to banks
  5% Due to customers
43% Securities in issue

2010
50% Due to banks
  5% Due to customers
45% Securities in issue

2011
60% Due to banks
  5% Due to customers
35% Securities in issue

Structure of funds  
At the end of 2011 securities in issue and amounts due to
banks respectively amounted to 35% and 60% of the
total provisions.

The figures include all the various funding formats in
existence at 31 December 2011.

Return on Equity (RoE) 
2011 RoE comes to -2.2% and suffers the net period
result. 

Return on Equity is calculated as the ratio between net
result for the year and net equity at year-end. This indicator
expresses the profitability of own equity.

Loans 
At the end of 2011, amounts due from customers and
banks totalled 69% and 29% of total loans, respectively.

These figures include all the various loan formats in
existence at 31 December 2011. 

Loan structures
A breakdown of loans by counterparty shows that most
were made to governments and public bodies (59%).

These figures include all the various loan formats in
existence at 31 December 2011.

2011
40% Other public bodies
29% Banks
12% Other subjects
19% Governments and Central Banks

2009
35% Other public bodies
36% Banks
11% Other subjects
18% Governments and Central Banks

2010
43% Other public bodies
23% Bancks
12% Other subjects
22% Governments and Central Banks
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Net non-performing loans
The effect of non-performing loans was close to zero. The
decrease on 2010 is due to an increase in loans against a
stability of net non-performing positions.

The effect of non-performing loans is calculated as the
ratio between net non-performing loans and overall net
loans. This indicator expresses the risk level of the loans
portfolio.

Return on Asset (RoA)
RoA for 2011 comes to -0.05% and mainly suffers the
evolution of the net period result.

The Return on Assets figure is calculated as the ratio
between net result for the financial year and the total
balance sheet assets. This indicator expresses the profitability
of total invested equity.

Cost to Income 
The 2011 Cost to Income ratio is 131%, down on 2010
due to the increased net interest and other banking
income.

Cost to income is the ratio between operating costs
(administrative expenses and depreciation) and net
interest and other banking income. This indicator is a
measure of productivity expressed as a percentage of
profit absorbed by operating costs.

Earning per Share (EpS)   
EpS for 2011 was - € 0.13 per share, and suffered from
the net result. 

The EpS figure is the ratio between net result for the
financial year and the number of shares in the share
capital.
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Business outlook
Significant post-balance sheet events  
With regards to significant post-balance sheet events, please

refer to that stated in the specific paragraph of the Report on

Operations to the company's financial statements.

Future operational prospects    
For operational prospects, we would refer you to that stated

in the paragraph entitled "Operational prospects" in the

Report on Operations to the company financial statements.

More specifically, that stated in the mentioned paragraph

with regards to the basis of the company as a going concern

and the liquidity position applies to the Dexia Crediop group.

The consolidated financial statements of the Dexia Group

have been prepared in accordance with the principle of the

company as a going concern, which is influenced by a number

of factors, including:

approval by the European Commission of the above-

specified new comprehensive restructuring plan, in

particular obtaining a guarantee from the States of

Belgium, France and Luxembourg on the funding provided

by Dexia SA and by its subsidiary Dexia Crédit Local, for

an amount of € 90 billion; these guarantees have

currently been released on a temporary basis for a total

of € 45 billion, with maturity on 31 May 2012;

financial remuneration of the guarantee that would

enable the generation of a positive result or the

strengthening of the Group's equity; 

the support of the States with regards to the Group's

liquidity position on the basis of the guarantees granted

for the correct implementation of the significant

restructuring measures announced in October 2011.

For lack of further corrective measures, the non-realisation

of one or more of the criteria specified may endanger the

going concern of Dexia SA and create financial tension in

terms of Group liquidity and the solvency position. These

hypotheses depend on some exogenous factors that are

beyond the control of Dexia. Their realisation therefore

remains uncertain and will, amongst other factors, depend

on the decision of the European Commission on the new

transformation plan to be presented.

In view of that explained, the prospects of the Dexia Crediop

Group as a going concern, confirmed as of today, may

suffer the same exogenous factors described for the Dexia

Group and, in particular, the latter's capacity to provide

support, if needed, in terms of funding for the other Group

entities.

However, with reference to the dynamic liquidity position of

the Dexia Crediop Group, the situation is presented as

sustainable for the whole of 2012 as, thanks to the

implementation of the funding plan (moreover reduced in

its amount) and the manageria l operations a lready

implemented or scheduled, it will be possible to cover its

needs for the twelve months by using the support of the

Dexia Group only if needed to cover temporary imbalances

during the time frame of reference. 

As already explained in the company's financial statements,

the deleveraging process implemented during the last three

years, aimed at restoring the balance of assets and liabilities

on the balance sheet, has reduced trade assets and penalised

the short-term income results, whilst at the same time

improving the liquidity position.

Over the next few financial years, the Dexia Crediop Group

strategy will depend on the plan for the transformation of

the Dexia Group set to be released, which, as this document

is prepared, is currently being defined. 
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The guidelines for the plan to be presented to the European

Commission and which must in any case first obtain the

agreement of the States, entails maintaining the operations

of Dexia Crediop with a selective disbursement of credit until

such time as the financial market conditions will enable a

return to normal funding access levels by the banking

system. This will enable the preservation of the commercial

franchise and the maintenance of the opportunity for a

subsequent sale and further valuation in the hands of other

shareholders.
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Report by the Board of Auditors
THE BOARD OF AUDITORS’ REPORT ON THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

31ST DECEMBER 2011 PURSUANT TO ARTICLE 2429 OF THE CIVIL CODE

To the General Meeting of Dexia Crediop S.p.A.

Dear Shareholders,

Within the sphere of our duties, pursuant to Article 2429 of the Civil Code, we have examined the consolidated financial

statements of the DEXIA CREDIOP Group at 31st December 2011 (which shows a loss for the period of Euro 22.474 million) and

the relative report on the management of the Group.

Audit of the consolidated financial statements

The consolidated financial statements have been examined according to the Board of Auditors' Rules of Conduct, established

by the National Associations of Accountants and Tax Experts and of Qualified Bookkeepers and, in compliance with the

said rules, we have taken as reference the legal provisions which govern the consolidated financial statements and

in particular the international accounting standards IAS/IFRS, on the basis of which the financial statements in question have

been prepared.

The financial statements of the subsidiary companies are subject to verification by the respective statutory auditors and are

also audited by external auditing firms specifically appointed for the purpose, therefore this Board of Auditors has

not extended its examination to the individual financial statements of the said subsidiaries.

The above-mentioned consolidated financial statements taken as a whole correctly illustrate the equity and financial situation

and the profit of the DEXIA CREDIOP Group for the financial year which closed on 31st December 2011, in compliance with

the provisions which discipline the said consolidated financial statements.

It is noted in particular that

• the company Crediop Overseas Bank Limited (COBL), which was placed into liquidation in 2011, was cancelled from the

Register of Companies of the Cayman Islands and therefore as of 28 December 2011 no longer forms part of the banking

group;

• the subsidiary Dexia Crediop Ireland has a net book equity as at 31 December 2011 which is lower than 50% of its

share capital. Indeed, this equity has taken account via the valuation reserve of the negative effect of the change in the

fair value of Italian government bonds: the Directors have stated in the report on operations that an extraordinary

meeting of the subsidiary was called but that no plans have been made to increase capital since the company “has the

capacity to maintain the security within its portfolio until maturity”, considering it “reasonable to expect the value of

the security to recover its full value over time”; 

• the company Crediop per le obbligazioni bancarie garantite S.r.l., which was acquired in 2010, has not started trading.
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The Board of Auditors acknowledges that the economic result from 2011 has been influenced by the outcome of trading

activity which was affected:

• significantly, by the valuation effect due to the increase in the spread on sovereign debt yields which occurred during

the second half of 2011, with a gross impact of -71.1 million Euros;

• by the impact of transactions concluded in 2011 to sell debt stocks for around 0.25 billion to companies from the Dexia

Group and the advance redemption of assets with the parent company Dexia Credit Local for 0.4 billion, as reported by

the Directors in the Report on Operations.

Examination of the Report on Operations

We have examined the Directors’ Report on Operations, which accompanies the consolidated financial statements, in order

to verify that the content respects the provisions in force and to ascertain the consistency of the consolidated financial

statements; the report contains a reliable analysis of business trends and of the management results, and also of the overall

situation of the companies included in the consolidation, together with the description of the main risks to which they are

exposed. 

On the basis of the checks carried out, this Board of Auditors considers that the Report on the Group’s Operations is correct and

consistent with the consolidated financial statements.

30 March 2012

THE BOARD OF AUDITORS

Ezio Maria SIMONELLI Chairman

Vincenzo  CIRUZZI Standing auditor

Pierre Paul DESTEFANIS Standing auditor
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Independent Auditors’ Report

(Translation from the original Italian document) 

Auditors’ Report in accordance with articles 14 and 16 of Legislative Decree n°39/2010 

To the Shareholders of 

Dexia Crediop S.p.A. 

 

1. We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Dexia Crediop S.p.A. and its subsidiaries (“Dexia 

Crediop Group”) as of and for the year ended December 31, 2011, comprising the balance sheet, the income 

statement, the statement of comprehensive income, the statement of changes in equity, the cash flow statement 

and the related explanatory notes. The directors of Dexia Crediop S.p.A. are responsible for the preparation of 

these financial statements in compliance with the International Financial Reporting Standards endorsed by the 

European Union and with the regulations implementing art. 9 of Legislative Decree n° 38/2005. Our responsi-

bility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. 

2. We conducted our audit in accordance with the auditing standards and procedures recommended by CONSOB 

(the Italian Stock Exchange Commission). In accordance with such standards and procedures, we planned and 

performed our audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material 

misstatement and are, as a whole, reliable. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the 

amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles 

used and significant estimates made by the directors. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for 

our opinion. 

For the opinion on the prior year consolidated financial statements, whose financial data have been pre-

sented for comparative purposes, reference should be made to our auditors’ report issued on April 4, 2011. 

3. In our opinion the consolidated financial statements of Dexia Crediop Group as of and for the year ended De-

cember 31, 2011 comply with International Financial Reporting Standards endorsed by the European Union and 

with the regulations implementing art. 9 of Legislative Decree n° 38/2005. Therefore they are clearly stated and 

give a true and fair view of the financial position, the results of operations, the changes in equity and the cash 

flows of Dexia Crediop Group for the year then ended. 

4. The directors of Dexia Crediop S.p.A. are responsible for the preparation of the report on operations in accor-

dance with the applicable laws and regulations. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the consistency of 

the report on operations and the information required by comma 2, letter b) of art. 123-bis of Legislative Decree 

 
MAZARS SPA 
CORSO DI PORTA VIGENTINA, 35 - 20122 MILANO 
TEL: +39 02 58 20 10 - FAX: +39 02 58 20 14 03 - www.mazars.it  

SPA - CAPITALE SOCIALE DELIBERATO SOTTOSCRITTO E VERSATO € 2.803.000,00 - SEDE LEGALE: C.SO DI PORTA VIGENTINA, 35 - 20122 MILANO     
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ALBO SPECIALE DELLE SOCIETÀ DI REVISIONE CON DELIBERA CONSOB N° 17.141 DEL 26/01/2010 
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give a true and fair view of the financial position, the results of operations, the changes in equity and the cash 

flows of Dexia Crediop Group for the year then ended. 

4. The directors of Dexia Crediop S.p.A. are responsible for the preparation of the report on operations in accor-

dance with the applicable laws and regulations. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the consistency of 

the report on operations and the information required by comma 2, letter b) of art. 123-bis of Legislative Decree 

n° 58/98 disclosed in the specific section of the same report, with the financial statements, as required by law.  

For this purpose, we have performed the procedures required under auditing standard n. 001 issued by CNDEC 

(the Italian Accounting Profession). In our opinion, the report on operations and the information required by 

comma 2, letter b) of art. 123-bis of Legislative Decree n° 58/98 disclosed in the specific section of the same re-

port are consistent with the consolidated financial statements of Dexia Crediop Group as of and for the year 

ended December 31, 2011. 

Milan, March 30, 2012 

 

 Mazars S.p.A. 

 (Signed on the original by) 

Vincenzo Miceli 

 Partner 

Milan, March 30, 2012 

 

 Mazars S.p.A. 

 (Signed on the original by) 

Vincenzo Miceli 

 Partner 
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Certification of the consolidated annual financial
statements pursuant to art. 154-bis of Lgs. Decree
58/98 and art. 81-ter of Consob Regulation no. 11971
of 14th May 1999 and successive amendments
and additions
1. The undersigned Jean Le Naour, as Chief Executive Officer, and Jean Bourrelly, as the Manager responsible for preparing

the annual report of Dexia Crediop S.p.A., hereby testify, also taking into account the provisions of art. 154-bis, clauses

3 and 4, of legislative decree no. 58 of 24th February 1998, to:

• the adequacy in respect of the features of the company and the Group, and

• the effective application

of the administrative and accounting procedures on which the consolidated financial statements for the 2011 period are

based,

2. it is also declared that:

2.1 the consolidated financial statements:

a) have been drawn up according to the international accounting standards applicable and recognised in the European Union

pursuant to the regulation (EC) no. 1606/2002 of the European Parliament and Council of 19th July 2002;

b) correspond to the balances in the accounting records;

c) give a true and correct representation of the issuer's equity and economic and financial situation and of all the companies

included in the consolidation.

2.2 The report on business operations includes a reliable analysis of the management trend and result, as well as the issuer’s

situation and that of all the companies included in the consolidation, together with a description of the main risks and

uncertainties to which they are exposed.

Date: 20 March 2012

Jean Le Naour Jean Bourrelly 
Chief Executive Officer The Financial Reporting Manager
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thousands of euro

Consolidated Balance Sheet

Assets 31/12/2011 31/12/2010

10. Cash and cash equivalents 3 3

20. Financial assets held for trading 5,307,652 3,847,447

40. Financial assets available for sale 694,927 855,662

50. Financial assets held to maturity 338,415 365,712

60. Due from banks 12,360,442 8,899,682

70. Due from customers 29,161,829 29,026,209

80. Hedging derivatives 599,431 928,016

90. Fair value change of financial assets in hedged portfolios (+/-) 147,426 79,876

120. Property plant and equipment 43,847 44,157

130. Intangible assets 3,405 3,229

of which:

- goodwill 0 0 

140. Tax assets 71,153 66,129

a) current 10,642 5,932

b) advance 60,511 60,197

160. Other assets 103,243 92,381

Total assets 48,831,773 44,208,503

thousands of euro

Liabilities and shareholders' equity 31/12/2011 31/12/2010

10. Due to banks 23,467,351 18,400,993

20. Due to customers 1,861,798 1,962,835

30. Securities issued 13,464,097 16,544,227

40. Financial liabilities held for trading 5,384,917 3,869,659

60. Hedging derivatives 3,603,260 2,190,900

70. Fair value change of financial liabilities in hedged portfolios (+/-) 0 65

80. Tax liabilities 18 502

a) current 18 502

100. Other liabilities 33,470 41,249

110. Employee termination indemnities 2,359 3,044

120. Provisions for risks and charges 13,633 15,578

a) post employment benefits 565 1,233

b) other provisions 13,068 14,345

140. Valuation reserves (186,078) (29,971)

170. Reserves 759,201 793,153 

190. Share capital 450,210 450,210

210. Shareholders’ equity of minority interests (+/-) 11 11

220. Net income (loss) (22,474) (33,952)

Total liabilities and shareholders' equity 48,831,773 44,208,503 
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Consolidated Income Statement

thousands of euro

Items 31/12/2011 31/12/2010

10. Interest and similar income 1,078,322 1,130,212 

20. Interest and similar expenses (987,128) (988,605)

30. Interest margin 91,194 141,607 

40. Fee and Commission income 14,893 9,678 

50. Fee and  Commission expenses (4,951) (3,519)

60. Net fee and commission income 9,942 6,159 

70. Dividend and similar income 3,109 2,540 

80. Net trading gains (losses) (57,930) 464 

90. Fair Value adjustment in hedge accounting 981 (260)

100. Gains (losses) on disposal or repurchase of: (16,068) (135,602)

a) loans (28,926) (105,550)

b) financial assets available for sale (56) (30,815)

d) financial liabilities 12,914 763 

120. Net interest and other banking income 31,228 14,908 

130. Net adjustments for impairment of: (3,030) 4,008 

a) loans (3,030) 4,008 

140. Net income from financial activities 28,198 18,916 

170. Net income from financial and insurance activities 28,198 18,916 

180. Administrative expenses: (38,473) (38,994)

a) personnel expenses (25,190) (25,840)

b) other administrative expenses (13,283) (13,154)

190. Net provisions for risks and charges (3,155) (7,603)

200. Net adjustments on property plant and equipment (1,043) (990)

210. Net adjustments on intangible assets (1,428) (1,107)

220. Other operating expenses/income 426 860 

230. Operating expenses (43,673) (47,834)

280. Profit (loss) from continuing operations before tax (15,475) (28,918)

290. Taxes on income from continuing operations (6,999) (5,034)

300. Profit (Loss) from continuing operations after tax (22,474) (33,952)

320. Net income (loss) (22,474) (33,952)

330. Profit (Loss) pertaining to minority interests

340. Parent's Company net income (loss) (22,474) (33,952)
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thousands of euro

Items 31/12/2011 31/12/2010

10. Net income (loss) (22,474) (33,952)

Other comprehensive income (net of tax)

20. Financial assets available for sale (156,580) 9,325 

30. Property plant and equipment

40. Intangible assets

50. Hedges of foreign investments

60. Cash flow hedging 473 (18,148)

70. Exchange rate differences

80. Non-current assets held for sale

90. Actuarial gains (losses) on defined benefits plans

100. Share of valuation reserves related to equity investments

110. Total other income (net of tax) (156,107) (8,823)

120. Comprehensive income (items 10 + 110) (178,581) (42,775)

130. Consolidated comprehensive income pertaining to minority interests

140. Consolidated comprehensive income pertaining to Parent Company (178,581) (42,775)
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thousands of euro
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Share capital: 450,210 450,210 450,210 11 

a) ordinary shares 450,210 450,210 450,210 11 

b) other shares

Share premiums

Reserves: 793,153 793,153 (33,952) 759,201 

a) of profits 618,015 618,015 (33,952) 584,063 

b) others 175,138 175,138 175,138 

Valuation reserves (29,971) (29,971) (156,107) (186,078)

Equity instruments

Treasury shares

Profit (Loss) for the period (33,952) (33,952) 33,952 (22,474) (22,474) 0 

Shareholders’ equity
of the Group 1,179,440 1,179,440 0 (178,581) 1,000,859 11 

Shareholders’ equity
of minority interests 11 11 11 



Consolidated cash flow statement
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thousands of euro

Indirect method

A. OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Amount

31/12/2011 31/12/2010

1. Cash Flow from operations 50,130 (23,430)

- net income (+/-) (22,474) (33,952)

- gains/losses on financial assets held for trading and on assets/liabilities designated at fair value
through profit and loss (-/+) 57,930 (464)

- gains/losses on hedging activities (+/-) (981) 260 

- net adjustments for impairment (+/-) 3,030 (4,008)

- net adjustments of tangible and intangible fixed assets (+/-) 2,471 2,097 

- net provisions for risks and charges and other costs/revenues (+/-) 3,155 7,603 

- net premiums to be collected (-)

- other insurance revenues/charges to be collected (-/+)

- taxes and duties to be settled (+) 6,999 5,034 

- net adjustments of disposal groups classified as held for sale, net of tax effect (-/+)

- other adjustments (+/-)

2. Cash flow from/used in financial assets (4,686,492) 11,563,817 

- financial assets held for trading (1,518,135) (370,385)

- financial assets designated at fair value through profit and losses

- financial assets available for sale 160,735 1,988,780 

- due from banks: repayable on demand (169,638) (90,956)

- due from banks: other receivables (3,291,122) 7,451,204 

- due from customers (138,651) 2,326,750 

- other assets 270,319 258,424 

3.Cash flow from/used in financial liabilities 4,635,591 (11,542,454)

- due to banks: repayable on demand 0 826,386 

- due to banks: other deposits 5,066,358 (7,675,089)

- due to customers (101,037) (694,954)

- securities issued (3,080,130) (4,513,022)

- financial liabilities held for trading 1,515,258 389,708 

- financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit and loss

- other liabilities 1,235,142 124,517 

Net cash flow from (used in) operating activities (771) (2,067)

B. INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES

1. Cash flow from 3,109 4,316 

- sales of investments in associates and companies subject to joint control 0 1,776 

- dividend collected on investments in associates and companies subject to joint control 3,109 2,540 

- sales of financial assets held to maturity

- sales of property plant and equipment 

- sales of intangible assets 

- sales of subsidiaries and company divisions

2. Cash flow used in (2,338) (2,249)

- purchases of investments in associates and companies subject to joint control

- purchases of financial assets held to maturity

- purchases of property plant and equipment (734) (592)

- purchases of intangible assets (1,604) (1,657)

- purchases of subsidiaries and company branches

Net cash flow from (used in) investment activities 771 2,067 

C. FUNDING ACTIVITIES

- issues/purchases of treasury shares

- issues/purchases of share capital

- dividend distribution and other

Net cash flow from (used in) funding activities

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH  AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 0 0 

LEGENDA

(+) generata  (-) assorbita



Reconciliation
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thousands of euro

Balance sheet items Amount

31/12/2011 31/12/2010

Cash and cash equivalents at the begininng of period 3 3 

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalent 0 0 

Cash and cash equivalents: foreign exchange rates effect 0 0 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of period 3 3 



Notes to the consolidated
financial statements
Part A - Accounting policies 

Part B - Infomation on the consolidated balance sheet 

Part C - Information on the consolidated income statement 

Part D - Consolidated comprehensive income 

Part E - Information on risks and associated hedging policies 

Part F - Information on the consolidated capital 

Part H - Transactions with related parties 

Part L - Segment reporting
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Part A - Accounting policies
A.1 General Part 

– Section  1 - Declaration of conformity to International 

Accounting Standards  

– Section  2 - General accounting principles 

– Section  3 - Consolidation area and methods 

– Section  4 - Events after the balance sheet date 

– Section  5 - Other aspects

A.2 The main aggregates of the financial statements 

1 - Financial assets held for trading 

2 - Financial assets available for sale 

3 - Financial assets held to maturity 

4 - Loans 

6 - Hedging transactions 

8 - Property plant and equipment 

9 - Intangible assets 

11 - Current and deferred taxes 

12 - Provisions for risks and charges 

13 - Debt instruments and securities in issue 

14 - Financial liabilities held for trading 

16 - Currency transactions 

18 - Other information 

A.3 Information on fair value  

A.3.1 - Transfers between portfolios 

A.3.2 - Fair Value Hierarchy 

A.3.3 - Information on the so-called "day one profit/loss" 

Part B - Infomation on the consolidated
balance sheet
ASSETS  

– Section  1 - Cash and cash equivalents 

– Section  2 - Financial assets held for trading 

– Section  4 - Financial assets available for sale 

– Section  5 - Financial assets held to maturity 

– Section  6 - Due from banks 

– Section  7 - Due from customers 

– Section  8 - Hedging derivatives 

– Section  9 - Fair value adjustment of financial assets in

hedged portfolios 

– Section 12 - Property plant and equipment 

– Section 13 - Intangible assets 

– Section 14 - Tax credits and liabilities 

– Section 16 - Other assets 

LIABILITIES  

– Section  1 - Due to banks 

– Section  2 - Due to customers 

– Section  3 - Securities in issue 

– Section  4 - Financial liabilities for trading 

– Section  6 - Hedging derivatives 

– Section  7 - Fair value adjustment of financial liabilities

in hedged portfolios 

– Section 10 - Other liabilities 

– Section 11 - Provision for severance indemnities 

– Section 12 - Provisions for risks and charges 

– Section 15 - Group capital 

– Section 16 - Shareholders’ equity of minority interests 

Other information  

1 - Guarantees given and commitments 

2 - Assets lodged as surety for own liabilities

and commitments 

5 - Management and broking for customer accounts:

banking group 

6 - Change in portfolio adjustments 

7 - Fair value 
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Part C - Information on the consolidated
income statement

– Section  1 - Interest 

– Section  2 - Commissions 

– Section  3 - Dividend and similar income 

– Section  4 - Trading gains (losses) 

– Section  5 - Hedging gains (losses) 

– Section  6 - Disposal/repurchase gains (losses) 

– Section  8 - Net adjustments for impairment 

– Section 11 - Administrative expenses 

– Section 12 - Net provisions for risks and charges 

– Section 13 - Net adjustments on property plant

and equipment 

– Section 14 - Net adjustments on intangible assets 

– Section 15 - Other operating expenses and income 

– Section 20 - Tax on profit from continuing operations 

Part D - Consolidated comprehensive income
Analytic statement of consolidated comprehensive income 

Part E - Information on risks and associated
hedging policies
Section 1 - Risks for the banking group 

1.1 Credit risk 

Qualitative information  

1. General aspects  

2. Credit risk management policies  

2.1 Organisational aspects  

2.2 Management, measuring and audit systems  

2.3 Credit risk mitigation techniques  

2.4  Impaired financial assets  

Quantitative information  

A. Credit quality  

A.1 Impaired and performing loan exposure:

amounts, write-downs, trends, economic

and geographical distribution

A.2 Classification of exposure according to external

and internal ratings 

A.3 Breakdown of secured loan exposure according

to type of guarantee 

B. Distribution and concentration of loan exposure  

B.1 Banking group - Distribution of on and

off-balance sheet customer loan exposure

according to sector (book value)

B.2 Banking group - Distribution of on and

off-balance sheet customer loan exposure

according to area (book value)

B.3 Banking group - Distribution of on and

off-balance sheet bank loan exposure according

to area (book value)
B.4 Major exposure  

C. Securitisation and asset disposal transactions 

C.1 Securitisation transactions  

Qualitative information  

Quantitative information  

C.1.1 Banking group - Exposure to

securitisation transactions according to

quality of underlying assets

C.1.3 Banking group - Exposure from main

"third party" securitisation transactions

according to type of securitised asset and

type of exposure 

C.1.4 Banking group - Exposure to

securitisation transactions distributed by

portfolio and type 

C.1.6 Banking group - Interests in special

purpose vehicles  

C.2 Disposal transactions  

C.2.1. Banking group - Financial assets sold

but not derecognized

C.2.2. Banking group - Financial liabilities

for assets sold but not derecognized

Banking group - Models for the measurement

of credit risk

1.2 Banking group - Market risks 

1.2.1 Interest rate risk and price risk -

regulatory trading book 

Qualitative information  

A. General aspects 

B. Management and measurement of interest rate

risk and price risk 

Quantitative information 
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1.  Regulatory banking book: distribution

according to residual duration (re-pricing date) of

cash assets and liabilities and financial derivatives

3. Regulatory trading book - internal models and

other sensitivity analysis methods 

1.2.2 Interest rate risk and price risk - banking

book 

Qualitative information 

A. General aspects, management and

measurement of interest rate risk and price risk 

B. Fair value hedging activities 

C. Cash flow hedging 

Quantitative information 

1. Banking book: distribution according to residual

duration (re-pricing date) of financial assets

and liabilities 

2. Banking book - internal models and other

methods for analysing sensitivity 

1.2.3 Exchange rate risk 

Qualitative information 

A. General aspects, management and

measurement of exchange rate risk 

B. Exchange rate risk hedging activities 

Quantitative information 

1. Distribution according to currency of the assets,

liabilities and derivatives 

1.2.4 Derivative instruments 

A. Financial derivatives 

B. Credit derivatives 

C. Credit and financial derivatives  

1.3 Banking Group – Liquidity risk 

Qualitative information 

A. General aspects, management and

measurement of liquidity risk 

Quantitative information 

1. Distribution by maturity according to residual 

contractual term of financial assets and liabilities 

1.4 Banking Group – Operational risks 

Qualitative information 

A. General aspects, management and

measuring of operational risk 

Quantitative information  

Part F - Information on the consolidated
capital
Section 1 - Consolidated capital 

A. Qualitative information 

B. Quantitative information 

Section 2 - Capital and minimium capital ratios 

2.2 - Regulatory Banking Capital 

A. Qualitative information 

B. Quantitative information 

2.3 - Capital adequacy 

A. Qualitative information 

B. Quantitative information  

Part H - Transactions with related parties
1. Information on key management personnel's

remuneration 

2. Information on transactions with related parties  

Part L - Segment reporting



Part A - Accounting policies
A. 1 - General information

Section 1 – Declaration of conformity to international accounting standards
The Financial Statements of the Dexia Crediop Group for the year ending 31st December 2011 were prepared in accordance

with the International Financial Reporting Standards and the International Accounting Standards (hereafter “IFRS”, “IAS”, or

international accounting standards) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and adopted by the European

Commission according to procedures referred to in article 6 of Regulation (EC) no. 1606/2002 of the European Parliament

and Council dated 19 July 2002, which were approved on that date. 

The Financial Statements were also prepared in accordance with the Bank of Italy’s instructions contained in Circular n. 262

of 22nd December 2005 and in the later update of 18 November 2009.

The accounting principles and criteria for evaluation adopted in drawing up the financial statements for the year ending

31st December 2011 are given below. 

Section 2 – General accounting principles
The consolidated financial statements were drawn up in true and fair fashion and consist of the balance sheet, the income

statement, the statement of total income, the statement of changes in shareholders’ equity, the statement of changes in the

financial position and the notes to the statements. The financial statements are also accompanied by the Directors’ Report on

Operations. The statements were drawn up in thousands of euro.

The schedules of the balance sheet, income statement and statement of total income consist of items identified with numbers

and sub-items identified with letters together with additional information (the various “of which” references relative to the

items and sub-items). The items, sub-items and associated additional information make up the financial statement accounts. Each

account in the balance sheet, income statement and statement of total income also shows the amount relating to the previous

period. The balance sheet, income statement and statement of total income do not include any accounts with zero amounts in

both the year of reference and the previous financial year.

The notes to the statements were drawn up in thousands of euro. ny items and tables which do not have any amounts are not

mentioned in the notes to the statements.

The financial statements were drawn up according to the going concern principle and the accruals concept.
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Section 3 – Consolidation area and methods
There were no events after the balance sheet date which entail a need to amend the results of the financial statements as at

31st December 2011.

1. Equity investments in companies controlled exclusively by the parent bank or jointly (consolidated proportionately)

(1) Dexia Crediop Ireland (DCI) is an unlimited liability company constituted under Irish law and established in 2008, with registered offices in 6 George’s Dock,
Dublin 1 and share capital of € 700 million. 
At 31st December 2011 the share capital amounts to €100 milion represented by 100 million shares, each with a nominal value of 1 euro.

- 99,999,999 shares are held by Dexia Crediop S.p.A.;
- 1 share held by Dexia Investments Ireland, in its capacity as Trustee for Dexia Crediop S.p.A.

(2) This company is a vehicle pursuant to law no. 130/1999 founded on 21 September 2007. The share capital is € 10,000 and is fully subscribed and paid
up. The sole shareholder is an Dutch foundation, whilst Dexia Crediop exercises effective control.

2. Other information

The consolidated financial statements of the Dexia Crediop Group consist of the individual financial statements of the Parent Bank

Dexia Crediop S.p.A., which have been supplemented to absorb the full consolidation of the subsidiary companies.

The consolidation principles adopted for the financial statements as at 31st December 2011:

in drawing up the consolidated financial statements, the financial statements of the parent bank and the subsidiaries were

aggregated together on a line-by-line basis, adding together the respective asset and liability amounts, the shareholders’ equity

and the revenues and costs. In order for the consolidated financial statements to show the information about the Group as a

single economic entity, the following procedures were adopted:

a) the book value of the parent bank’s equity investments in each subsidiary was eliminated together with the corresponding

part in each subsidiary’s shareholders’ equity;

b) the asset and liability balance sheet relations, off-balance-sheet operations, revenues and charges, as well as profits and

losses relating to transactions between companies included in the area of consolidation were removed.

with regard to the financial statements of DCC (Dexia Crediop per la Cartolarizzazione S.r.l.) and Tevere Finance S.r.l. only the

“above-the-line” financial statement balances were included in consolidation, whereas those relating to “Separate Equity”,

which includes the assets and liabilities and the economic components of the two securitization operations, were already

included in the individual financial statement in accordance with IAS 39, which states that transferred assets and liabilities

cannot be derecognised when the associated risks and benefits deriving from them still exist.
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Company name
Head-

quarters
Relationship

Investment relationship
% of votes held

Investor company Stake %

A. Companies:

A.1 Consolidated line-by-line

DCC – Dexia Crediop per la Cartolarizzazione S.r.l. Rome 1 Dexia Crediop 100% 100%

D.C.I. – Dexia Crediop Ireland (1) Dublin 1 Dexia Crediop 100% 100%

Crediop per le Obbligazioni Bancarie Garantite S.r.l. Rome 1 Dexia Crediop 90% 90%

Tevere Finance S.r.l. (2) Rome 4



Section 4 – Events after the balance sheet date
There were no events after the balance sheet date which entail a need to amend the results of the financial statements as at

31st December 2011.

Section 5 – Other aspects
On the closing date of these financial statements there were no apparent reasons to doubt the estimates which could lead to

material amendments in the book values of the assets and liabilities. In addition, there were no changes made to the accounting

estimates which have had effects in the current financial period.

The information related to the maintenance of the going concern assumption are also discussed in the report, paragraph managerial

perspectives.

A. 2 – The main aggregates of the financial statements

1 – Financial assets held for trading 
The item “Financial assets held for trading” include:

financial assets, which, irrespective of their technical form, are held with a view to generating profits in the short term;

derivative contracts not designated as hedging instruments. 

As regards financial assets, both debt and equity instruments are first recognised on the settlement date, while derivatives are

entered on the trade date. 

Financial assets held for trading are initially recognized at fair value, which generally corresponds to the settlement price. When

the settlement price is different from fair value, the financial asset is recognised at fair value and the difference compared to the

settlement price paid is booked to the income statement.

Subsequent measurement is carried out on the basis of changes in the fair value and the result is booked to the income statement. 

Differentials in derivative contracts classified in the trading portfolio and the results of the fair value measurement are included

in “Net trading gains (losses)”. 

The fair value of financial assets and liabilities is calculated on the basis of official prices existing on the date of the financial

statements, if the financial instruments are quoted in active markets. Otherwise, fair value is calculated using prices supplied by

external traders or through the application of commonly adopted measurement models which take into account all the risk factors

linked to the instruments and which are based on data available on the market, such as: measurement of listed instruments with

similar characteristics, calculation of discounted cash flows, option price calculation models, and values recorded in recent

comparable transactions.

Financial assets for trading are derecognised only on expiry of the contractual rights relating to the cash flows or when the

financial assets are sold with the transfer to third parties of all the risks and benefits associated with them. However, if a significant

proportion of the risks and benefits of the sold financial assets are maintained, they continue to be recognised, even if ownership

of such assets has effectively been transferred. 

If substantial transfer of the risks and benefits cannot be ascertained, the financial assets are derecognised when no type of

control is maintained over the same. Otherwise, when such control is retained, even partially, these assets are maintained on the
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balance sheet to the extent to which the said control is retained, calculated according to exposure to changes in the value of

the sold assets and variations in the cash flows of the same. 

These financial assets are derecognised on the date they are disposed of (settlement date). 

Derivatives are considered financial assets if their fair value is positive and liabilities if their fair value is negative. The Group does

not compensate the current positive and negative values from transactions in existence with the same counterparty.

2 – Financial assets available for sale 
The item “Financial assets available for sale” includes all financial assets other than derivatives, that are not classified as loans

and receivables, investments held to maturity or financial assets held for trading. The item also includes debt securities and

equity securities (including the equity investment in the Istituto per il Credito Sportivo) which cannot be classified as subsidiaries,

associated companies or joint subsidiaries and which do not, therefore, fall within the scope of application of IAS 28.  

For financial assets, debt and equity securities are first recognised on the settlement date, while loans are recognised on the date

they are disbursed.

Financial assets available for sale are recorded in the balance sheet at fair value, which is normally the same as the purchase price,

including any charges or revenue directly ensuing from the instrument. When the settlement price is different from fair value,

the financial asset is recognised at fair value and the difference compared to the settlement price is booked to the income

statement. 

Subsequent measurement is carried out on the basis of changes in the fair value and variations are booked to a specific reserve

in shareholders’ equity, net of any tax effects. Any accumulated or unrealised profits or losses on securities available for sale are

recognised in the income statement when the asset is disposed of.

Financial assets available for sale are examined in order to verify whether there is any objective evidence of a fall in value (IAS

39, paragraph 59). If such evidence exists, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the book value of the

asset, net of any redemptions and amortizations, and the present value of the estimated future cash flows, discounted at the

original effective interest rate, or using specific valuation methods where shares are concerned. If the reasons for the writedowns no

longer exist, reversals are performed which are booked to the income statement if they refer to debt securities or loans, and to

shareholders’ equity if they refer to equity securities.  

As regards determination of the fair value of financial assets available for sale and the criteria used for derecognising them, the

reader is referred to the information provided above for financial assets held for trading.

3 – Financial assets held to maturity  
The item “Financial assets held to maturity” includes financial assets other than derivatives, which have fixed or calculable

contractual payments and fixed maturity dates and which can be and are intended to be held to maturity except for those which:

a) the Bank designates, at the time of initial recognition, at the fair value booked to the income statement;

b) the Bank designates as available for sale;

c) meet the definition of loans and receivables. 
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If, following a change of plan or capacity, it is no longer appropriate to keep an investment classified as held to maturity, it

is reclassified among assets available for sale.

Financial assets held to maturity are first recognised on the settlement date. On initial recognition, financial assets classified in

this category are designated at fair value, on the trade date (IAS 39, paragraph 44 and AG 56) including any charges and

income directly attributable to the instrument. When the settlement price is different from fair value, the financial asset is recognised

at fair value and the difference compared to the settlement price is booked to the income statement. 

Financial assets included in this category as a result of reclassification from ‘Assets available for sale’, are recognised at amortised

cost, which is initially taken as being equal to the fair value of the asset on the date of reclassification. 

After initial recognition, financial assets held to maturity are carried at amortised cost and are subjected to tests aimed at identifying

the existence of any objective evidence of reduced value (IAS 39 paragraph 59). The amortised cost of an asset is the same as

the value the asset was measured at on the date of initial recognition net of any capital reimbursements. This is increased

or reduced by the overall amortisation (determined using the effective interest method) of any difference between the initial value

and the value on maturity and minus any reduction following a writedown or irrecoverability.

Gains and losses relating to assets held to maturity are booked to the income statement at the moment in which the assets are

derecognised or have suffered an impairment loss, as defined in IAS 39, as well as through the process of financial amortisation

of the difference between the recognition value and the redemption value on maturity.

Impairment losses are measured as the difference between the book value of the asset and the present value of estimated

future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate. When the reasons for an impairment loss no longer exist, a

reversal is booked to the income statement which cannot, however, exceed the amortized cost which the instrument would have

had without the previous loss. 

As regards the criteria used for derecognising financial assets held to maturity, the reader is referred to the information provided

above for financial assets held for trading.

4 – Loans   
The item “Loans and receivables” includes non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments, which are not

quoted in an active market, and which are not designated as “Financial assets available for sale” on the date of initial recognition. 

Normally they include loans to banks and customers, including debt securities with characteristics similar to receivables, previously

classified under the item “Bonds and other debt securities”. 

Receivables are first entered on the date they are issued or, in the case of debt securities, on the settlement date. Receivables

are initially recognised at their fair value, equal to the amount paid out, or to the subscription price, including any costs/income

directly attributable to the single receivable and that was determinable on the original date of the transaction. Even if they have

the above features, costs which are reimbursed by the borrower or which can be considered normal internal administrative costs

are excluded. 

Receivables are subsequently measured at their amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method which, by using financial

logic, enables the economic effect of costs/revenues to be distributed over the expected remaining life of the loan.

The book value of the loan portfolio is periodically subject to checks for the existence of any losses in value (IAS 39 paragraph

59) which could lead to a reduction in their presumable sale value. For a classification of impaired debts in the various risk
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categories (non-performing loans, problem loans, restructured and past due loans), reference is made to the regulations issued

on the subject by the Bank of Italy together with the internal provisions which establish rules for classification and transfers

within the scope of the various expected risk categories. 

Writedowns to be booked to loans and recognised in the income statement, net of any previous provisions, are equal to

the difference between the book value at the time of assessment (the amortised cost) and the current value of expected future

cash flows, calculated by applying the original effective interest rate. The estimate of future cash flows takes account of expected

recovery times, the presumable realization value of any existing guarantees and costs considered necessary for recovery of the

loan exposure. 

As regards loans classified within the categories of non-performing loans and problem loans, which show objective evidence of

long-term impairment, an analytical assessment is carried out. 

Loans which do not show any objective evidence of impairment or for which no impairment is forecast are assessed collectively,

by grouping them together in homogeneous categories with similar characteristics in terms of credit risk, such as the technical

form of the loan, the economic sector the counterparties belong to, their geographical location and the type of existing guarantees. 

The original value of the loans is reinstated in subsequent financial periods to the extent to which the reasons for the writedown

are no longer evident; the writeback is booked to the income statement and may not in any case exceed the amortised cost that

the loan would have had in the absence of previous writedowns.

Financial guarantees given which are not represented by derivatives are assessed taking into account the provisions of IAS 39

which stipulate, on the one hand, recognition of the fee received, pursuant to IAS 18, and on the other, measurement of the

risks and charges connected with the guarantees by applying the principles provided for in IAS 37.  

Sale and repurchase transactions are also included in the item “loans and receivables”.

Securities received within the context of a Repo transaction which contractually provides for their subsequent sale, and securities

that are assigned within a transaction which contractually foresees their subsequent repurchase are not recognised or derecognised

respectively. Consequently, when a security is purchased with an agreement for its resale, the amount paid is recognised as a

loan to (or amount due from) customers or banks; if a security is sold with an agreement for its repurchase the liability is recognised

among loans from (amounts due to) banks or customers. 

Revenues from loans, consisting of coupons maturing on the securities themselves and of the difference between the spot price

and the repurchase price, are recognised as interest in the Income Statement of the relative period.

During 2004, 2005 and 2008, three securitisation transactions were performed on securities for Italian local authorities through

the 100% subsidiary company, “DCC-Dexia Crediop per la Cartolarizzazione S.r.l.” (hereinafter “DCC”). In support of these

operations Dexia Crediop has issued an unconditional guarantee to the holder of the ABS Senior (another company of the Dexia

Group). Owing to this guarantee, and therefore to the obligation to re-purchase the securities and reimburse all the ABSs against

any form of credit or fiscal event, we are of the opinion that, even if the legal ownership of the securities is transferred, control

over the cash flows of the securities is in fact still retained, as well as the substantiality of the risks and benefits (continuing

involvement). 

In 2009 and 2010, new securitisation operations were originated for loans, through the vehicle company Tevere Finance S.r.l.,

the capital of which is held by a Dutch foundation. By the total repurchase on the part of Dexia Crediop S.p.A. of the ABS

securities issued by the vehicle, both senior and junior classes, at the same time as the sale of the assets, continuing involvement

is maintained. 
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Since the conditions provided for in IAS 39 for derecognition of the securities being sold do not exist, the pre-existing situation

was reinstated in the balance sheet, with reattribution within the Dexia Crediop accounts of the separate equity of DCC and of

Tevere Finance. 

4.1 – Due from banks

The item “Due from banks” includes receivables from banks which present fixed and determinable payments not listed on

active markets and the securities with features similar to the receivables, previously classified under “Bonds and other debt

securities”.

4.2 – Due from customers

The item “Due from customers” includes loans to customers which foresee fixed and determinable payments not quoted

in active markets and securities with characteristics similar to loans, previously classified under the item “Bonds and other debt

securities”.

6 – Hedging derivatives   
Hedging instruments are used to neutralize potential losses which may be recognised in a particular element and attributable to

one or more types of risk (interest rate risk, exchange rate risk, price risk, credit risk, etc.). The types of hedging transactions used

are the following:

Fair value hedges, performed with the aim of hedging the exposure to variations in the fair value of assets/liabilities recognised

in the balance sheet;

Cash flow hedges, performed with the aim of hedging the exposure to variations in cash flows of assets/liabilities recognised

in the balance sheet or relating to highly probable future transactions. 

A financial instrument is designated as a hedge if there is formal documentation on the relationship between the hedged item

and the hedging instrument, which includes the risk management objectives, the strategy for carrying out the hedge and the

methods used to test the effectiveness of the hedge itself.

The Dexia Crediop Banking Group conducts an assessment at the start and periodically, using forecasting and retrospective tests,

to see whether or not the hedge is highly effective in compensating the changes in fair value or in cash flows of the hedged

instrument. The tests on effectiveness are considered as passed if the ratio between the changes in the fair value hedging

instruments and those of the hedged items fall within the range of 80-125%.

The hedging relationship ceases if: (i) the hedging operation through the derivative ceases or is no longer highly effective; (ii) the

derivative expires, is sold, annulled or exercised; (iii) the hedged item is sold, expires or is redeemed; (iv) it is no longer highly

probable that the future hedged operation will be performed.

The “Hedging derivatives” items among the assets (item 80) and liabilities (item 60) on the balance sheet include the positive

and negative value of derivatives which are part of effective hedging operations. In the case of generic hedging the changes in

the fair value of the element hedged are posted in the appropriate items of the assets and liabilities of the balance sheet
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pursuant to IAS 39, paragraph 89A.

Like all derivatives, hedging derivatives are initially recognised in the balance sheet on the trade date and are subsequently

measured at fair value.

In the case of fair value hedging, any changes in the value of the hedging instruments and the hedged instruments (as regards

the part attributable to the hedged risk and when the hedge is effective) are booked to the income statement. The differences

between the changes in value represent partial ineffectiveness of the hedge and determine the net impact on the income

statement, entered under item 90. If the hedge ceases to exist for reasons other than realization of the hedged item, the variations

in value of the latter, which were recognised in the balance sheet for as long as the effective hedge was maintained, are booked to

the income statement. When the hedge refers to interest-bearing financial instruments, this is done using the amortized cost

principle, or in other cases with a single amount.

As regards cash flow hedges, the gain or loss portion on a hedging instrument that is considered effective is initially recognised

in shareholders’ equity (cash flow hedging reserve). If during the period any portion of gain or loss associated with the hedging

instrument exceeds the fair value variation of expected flows in absolute value terms, it is immediately recognised in the income

statement (overhedging); if the excess value is on the hedged instrument (underhedging), the entire change in fair value recognised

for the derivative is booked to shareholders’ equity. When the cash flows being hedged become manifest and are recognised in

the income statement, the relevant gain or loss on the hedging instrument is transferred from shareholders’ equity to the

corresponding item in the income statement. If the cash flow hedge for a future transaction is no longer considered effective or

the hedging relationship has ceased, the total gain or loss on the hedging instrument which had been booked to shareholders’

equity stays booked to the specific equity reserve until the transaction takes place (or until it appears unlikely that the transaction

will actually take place). When the transaction is actually completed, this amount is recognised in the income statement under

item 80 “Net trading gains (losses)”.

8 – Property, plant and equipment     
The item “Property, plant and equipment” includes assets held to be used for more than one financial period in the production

and provision of services or for administrative purposes (so-called “instrumental assets”), together with real estate properties held

for collecting rent and/or for the appreciation of the capital invested (so-called “non-instrumental assets”).

When the international accounting standards were first adopted, the part attributable to plots of land associated with “sky-to-ground”

properties, was separated out since they were not subject to depreciation, as land has an indefinite useful life. Similarly the

historical cost of works of art not subject to depreciation was reinstated, because their useful life is deemed impossible to

estimate and their value is not likely to fall with the passing of time. 

In line with paragraph 7 of IAS 16, Property, plant and equipment assets are recognised in the balance sheet only when it

is reasonably possible to determine the cost of the asset and it is probable that the associated future economic benefits will

accrue to the company. Therefore, it is important to establish the time when the risks and benefits attached to an asset are

effectively transferred to the company, irrespective of when ownership is formally conveyed. 

Property, plant and equipment assets are initially entered at cost, which includes not only the purchase price but also any

associated charges directly ensuing from the purchase and costs involved in starting up the asset. The expenses incurred,

subsequent to purchase, increase the book value of an asset or are recognised as separate assets only when they lead to
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an increase in future economic benefits due to the use of the asset; other expenses incurred subsequent to purchase are

booked to the income statement in the period in which they are incurred. 

In periods subsequent to that of initial recognition, assets are recognised in the accounts on the basis of the amortisable

historical cost method. The relevant amortisation is carried out on the basis of the possible residual useful life of the assets.

The useful life of Property, plant and equipment assets subject to depreciation is periodically re-assessed.

A Property, plant and equipment asset is eliminated from the balance sheet when it is sold or scrapped and when no future

economic benefits are expected from its use.

9 – Intangible assets     
The item “Intangible assets” includes assets that can be identified and are without physical consistency, which originate from

legal or contractual rights and which are held to be used over a number of years. In the main, they are represented by application

software.

Intangible assets are recognised at cost, net of overall depreciation and permanent impairment losses, only if the future economic

benefits ascribable to the asset are likely and if the cost of the asset itself can be measured reliably. Otherwise, the cost of the

assets is booked to the income statement in the year in which it was incurred.

Intangible assets recognised in the balance sheet are amortised on the basis of their residual useful life according to a straight-line

method. The period and method of amortisation are re-assessed at the end of each financial period.

An intangible asset is eliminated from the balance sheet when it is disposed of or when no future economic benefits are expected.

11 – Current and deferred taxes       
Current income taxes are calculated on the basis of the tax result for the year. These taxes are entered as tax liabilities if they

exceed the amounts already paid in advance during the year, and as tax assets if the amounts paid in advance exceed the taxes

for the period.

Current taxes are booked as a revenue or as a charge and are included in profits or losses for the year except for taxes that refer

to items that are accredited or debited directly to shareholders’ equity, in which case they are booked directly to shareholders’

equity.

Deferred taxes are calculated by applying the so-called balance sheet liability method, bearing in mind the fiscal effect connected

with the temporary differences between the book value of assets and liabilities and their fiscal value, which lead to taxable or

deductible amounts in future periods.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated by applying current tax rates to taxable temporary differences for which it is

likely that taxes will effectively be sustained, and to deductible temporary differences for which there is a reasonable certainty

of recovery. Deferred tax assets and liabilities relating to the same kind of tax which fall due in the same period are offset against

each other.

If deferred tax assets and liabilities refer to items booked to the income statement, the contra-item is the associated income tax.

When deferred tax assets and liabilities refer to transactions directly involving shareholders’ equity, with no direct influence on

the income statement (such as adjustments relating to first adoption of IAS/IFRS, and measurements of financial instruments

available for sale or of cash flow hedging derivatives), they are booked as contra-entries to shareholders’ equity, and entered in
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the specific reserves if appropriate. 

Assets and liabilities booked for deferred tax assets and liabilities are systematically assessed to take into account both any amendments

in legal provisions or changes in rates and any different subjective situations of the Group companies.

12 – Provisions for risks and charges       
Provisions for risks and charges include allocations for liabilities with amounts or due dates that are uncertain and that relate to

present obligations resulting from a past event for which the expenditure of financial resources is likely in order to fulfil the said

obligation, if the relevant amount can be reliably estimated. 

If the time factor is significant, the provisions, which are recognised in contra-items in the income statement, are discounted at

current market rates. 

The item includes provisions for early retirement incentives, applying the rules of the national contracts for bank workers and of

specific company agreements.

12.1 – Provisions for retirement funds and similar benefits 

Staff pension funds include the various forms of complementary retirement schemes with defined benefits, established to

implement company agreements and recognised in the accounts in compliance with the provisions of IAS 19 “Employee benefits”. 

Liabilities relating to such plans and the associated social security costs of current employee service are determined by independent

actuaries on the basis of actuarial and financial hypotheses defined by the Dexia Group.

The actuarial gains or losses, considered cumulatively, are booked to the income statement on the basis of the so-called “corridor”

method. The part of actuarial gains or losses not recognised at the end of the previous period, which exceeds whichever is greater

between 10% of the current value of the benefits generated by the plan, and 10% of the fair value of the assets serving the

plan, is booked to the income statement on the basis of the average residual duration of the Fund’s benefits. 

The regular contributions charged to the Company are booked to the income statement and determined on the basis of

employee service.

12.2 – Other provisions   

This item includes provisions made against legal and implicit obligations existing at the close of the period, including provisions for

employee early retirement schemes and other social security and health charges, and provisions for the creation of the reserve

required for paying employees their long-service bonuses according to the terms of company regulations.

These liabilities are determined, in the same way as pension funds, on the basis of an assessment conducted by an independent

actuary using the methods laid down in IAS 19. 

The actuarial gains and losses are therefore recognized in the balance sheet with a contra-item in the income statement.

The provisions are reviewed at each balance sheet date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. 

13 – Payables and securities in issue       
The items “Due to banks”, “Due to customers”, and “Securities in issue” include various forms of provisioning from banks

and customers, reverse repurchase agreements and provisioning through bonds and other funding instruments in issue (net

of any portions repurchased items). 
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Initial recognition of such financial liabilities is made when the sums collected are received or when the securities are issued,

on the basis of the fair value of the liabilities, which is normally equal to the amount received or the issue price, with an increase

for any additional costs/revenues directly connected to the single funding or bond issue operation and not reimbursed by the

lender. Internal administrative costs are excluded. 

After initial recognition, debts and the securities in issue, with the exception of on-demand and short-term entries booked

at the price received, are valued at their amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. 

Financial liabilities are derecognised when they have expired or are extinguished. They are also derecognised in the case of

repurchase of previously issued securities. The difference between the book value of a liability and the amount paid for purchase

is booked to the Income Statement. 

Replacement on the market of own securities after buyback is considered a new issue with recognition at the new placement

price, with no effect on the Income Statement.

14 – Financial liabilities for trading        
The item includes the negative value of trading derivatives.

All financial liabilities for trading are initially booked on the trade date and are designated at fair value and the result of the

valuation is entered on the income statement in item “Net trading gains (losses)”.

16 – Currency transactions        
Transactions in foreign currencies are first entered in the accounting currency, applying the exchange rate in effect at the

moment of the transaction.

At the end of every financial year or interim period, foreign currency items are measured as follows:

cash items are converted at the exchange rate in effect on the balance sheet date;

non-cash items are carried at their historical cost converted at the exchange rate in effect on the date of the transaction;

non-cash items designated at fair value are converted at the exchange rate in effect on the balance sheet date.

Exchange rate differences resulting from the settlement of cash elements or from the conversion of non-cash elements at rates

other than those of the initial conversion or the conversion rate of the previous financial statements, are booked to the Income

Statement of the financial period in which they arise.

When a gain or loss relating to a non-monetary item is recognised in shareholders’ equity, the exchange rate difference

associated with this item is also booked to shareholders’ equity. On the contrary, if a gain or loss is booked to the income

statement, the associated exchange rate difference is also booked to the income statement.

18 – Other information  

18.1 – Accruals and deferrals  

Accrued income and deferred expenses include portions of revenues/expenses relating to several financial periods in part already

matured during the current financial period (and in the previous ones) but not yet received/paid. Deferred income and expenses
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include portions of revenues/expenses already received/paid in the reporting period (or in previous ones) but relating to the current

financial period or subsequent ones. 

These amounts are recognised in the balance sheet, adjusting the assets and liabilities they refer to.

18.2 – Recognition of revenues and costs  

Revenues from the sale of goods or the provision of services are recognised in the balance sheet at the fair value of the

consideration received on the basis of the accruals concept. In the majority of cases the consideration consists of cash or similar means

and the amount of the revenues is the sum of cash or similar means received or due.

Costs are booked to the income statement in the periods when the associated revenues are recognised.

18.3 – Valuation reserves  

This item includes valuation reserves relating to financial assets available for sale and cash flow hedges, net of the associated

current or deferred taxation.

18.4 – Provision for employee severance indemnities  

The liability relative to severance indemnity is posted on the financial statement on the basis of the actuarial value, calculated by

an independent actuary according to expected future developments of the work relationship (numeric development of the

workforce and salary modifications) and other financial and actuarial hypotheses.

The future severance indemnity flows are discounted at the date of reference and any actuarial gains or losses are booked to

the income statement on the basis of the so-called “corridor” method.
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A.3 - Information on fair value

A.3.1 Transfers between portfolios
A.3.1.1 Reclassified financial assets: book value, fair value and effects on comprehensive income

The income items refer to interests as well as capital gains and losses realised on securities previously reclassified.

A.3.1.4 Effective interest rate and cash flows expected from the reclassified assets

With regard to information pursuant to IFRS 7 § 12 A, letter f, we point out that these securities do not meet the Impairment

requirements: all estimated future cash flows would be collected.

A.3.2 Fair Value Hierarchy
A.3.2.1 Accounting portfolios: distribution by fair value levels

Financial assets/liabilities designated at fair value are classified according to a hierarchy of level that reflects the significance of

observable market inputs; the classification of an instrument is based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value

measurement in its entirely.

The three levels of fair value are defined as follow:

a) Level 1: quoted market prices observable in active markets as defined by IAS 39;

b) Level 2: valuation techniques using observable inputs or quoted market prices observable in non-active markets;

c) Level 3: valuation techniques using unobservable inputs on the market.

thousands of euro

Type of financial
instrument

Portfolio
of origin

Allocation
portfolio

Book value
as at

31.12.2011

Fair value
as at

31.12.2011

Income items for lack
of transfer
(before tax)

Income items recorded
during the year

(before tax)

Valuation Other Valuation Other

Debt securities AFS L&R 10,570,286 9,847,622 (824,128) 313,791 (69,333) 313,791 

thousands of euro

31/12/2011 31/12/2010

Financial assets/liabilities designated at fair value L 1 L 2 L 3 L 1 L 2 L 3

1. Financial assets held for trading 5,147,469 160,183 3,727,395 120,052

2. Financial assets designated at fair value through
profit and loss

3. Financial assets available for sale 558,229 136,698 694,809 160,853

4. Hedging derivatives 471,812 127,619 628,574 299,442

Total 558,229 5,619,281 424,500 694,809 4,355,969 580,347

1. Financial liabilities held for trading 5,241,342 143,575 3,755,530 114,129

2. Financial liabilities designated at fair value

3. Hedging derivatives 3,579,104 24,156 2,132,045 58,855

Total 8,820,446 167,731 5,887,575 172,984

Key:
L 1 = Level 1
L 2 = Level 2
L 3 = Level 3
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Financial assets available for sale include primarily government bonds listed on active markets ("Level 1") and have been valued at

market listings in the last business day of the period of reference. Compared to 2010, there are no changes in the valuation

technique or in the hierarchical classification of the fair value.

The residual financial assets  available for sale are represented by capital securties ("Level 3"). In section 4, the criteria adopted for the

determination of the fair value  and the estimate of impacts are analysed.

The assets and liabilities held for trading are mainly derivative instruments. With regard to all these instruments as a whole

– therefore also including the hedge derivatives shown in the table above – over 90% of the fair value has been estimated according

to techniques based on observable market data (“Level 2”).

The remaining instruments include some structured derivatives for which certain market parameters (e.g. volatility, correlations) were

no longer directly observable on the market or which were no longer judged representative for the purpose of estimating fair value,

hence mark-to-model parameters were used.  

Consistent with what is specified by the Bank of Italy, the fair value of derivatives should integrate the various components that due

to counterparty risk. From an accounting standpoint, the credit risk component of expected (Expected Loss) is represented by

the so-called Credit Value Adjustment.

To estimate the impact of the use of alternative valuation techniques on the fair value of the entire compartment of “level 3”

derivatives, the valuations given by the counterparts of the derivatives were considered. With regard to all financial assets and

liabilities held for trading, since these are derivatives in matched banking transactions, there would be no impact (2.7 mln/€ in

absolute value, positive on the assets and negative on the liabilities). However, the estimated impact on hedge derivatives amounts

to -0.2 mln/€ on the assets and -+0.9 mln/€ on the liabilities. 

A.3.2.2 Annual changes in financial assets designated at fair valule through profit and loss (level 3)
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thousands of euro

FINANCIAL ASSETS

held for trading designated at fair
value through P&L

available for sale hedging

1.     Opening balance 120,052 160,853 299,442 
2.     Increases 65,503 76 56,921 
2.1.  Puchases
2.2.  Gaind recognised in:
2.2.1. Income statement 53,527 22,673 

- of which capital gains 51 22,673 
2.2.2. Shareholders' equity 76 
2.3.   Transfers from other levels 691 34,248 
2.4.  Other increases 11,285 
3.     Decreases 25,372 24,231 228,744 
3.1.  Sales
3.2.  Reimbursements
3.3.  Losses recognised in: 13,358 
3.3.1. Income statement 13,358 180,987 

- of which capital losses 8,709 365 
3.3.2.  Shareholders' equity 24,231 
3.4.   Transfers to other levels 12,014 47,757 
3.5.  Other decreases
4.     Closing balances 160,183 136,698 127,619 



A.3.2.3 Annual change in financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit and loss (level 3)

A.3.3 Information on the so-called "day one profit/loss"

During the period, the group has recorded the so-called "Day One Profit" (DOP) in the income statement; it consist in the

difference, if any exist, between the fair value at the initial recognition date of financial instruments included in the trading

portfolio and the amount determine using valuation tecnhiques based on observable market data as inputs.

The DOP recorded in item "80 - Gain/Losses on trading" of 2011 income statement amounts to € 1.24 

million and refers exclusively to derivatives transaction included in the trading portfolio; according to IAS 39 that figure has been

calculated taking into account the upfront fee paid/collected, beeing all these instruments back to back transactions.

It is also specified that as of 31 December 2011, no DOP shares are present to be noted on the income statement of future years.
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thousands of euro

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

held for trading designated at fair
value through P&L

hedging

1.     Opening balances 114,129 58,855 

2.     Increases 53,568 6,852 

2.1.  Issues

2.2.  Losses recognised in:

2.2.1. Income statement: 53,389 

- of which capital losses 53,389 

2.2.2.  Shareholders' equity

2.3.  Transfers from other levels 179 6,852 

2.4.  Other increases

3.     Decreases 24,122 41,551 

3.1.  Reimbursement

3.2.  Repurchases

3.3.  Gains recognised in:

3.3.1. Income statement 12,279 40,914 

- of which capital gains 7,654 33,574 

3.3.2.  Shareholders' equity

3.4.  Transfers to other levels 11,843 637 

3.5.  Other decreases

4.     Closing balances 143,575 24,156 



Part B - Information on the consolidated balance sheet
Assets

Section 1 - Cash and cash equivalents – Item 10
1.1 Cash and cash equivalents: breakdown

Section 2 - Financial assets held for trading - Item 20
2.1 Financial assets held for trading: breakdown by type

thousands of euro

Total
31/12/2011

Total
31/12/2010

a) Cash 3 3

b) Unrestricted deposits at Central Banks

Total 3 3 

thousands of euro

Items/Amounts
31/12/2011 31/12/2010 

L 1 L 2 L 3 L 1 L 2 L 3 

A. Cash assets

1. Debt securities

1.1 Structured securities

1.2 Other debt securities

2. Equity instruments

3. Mutual fund shares

4. Loans

4.1 Repurchase agreements

4.2 Others

Total A

B. Derivatives

1. Financial derivatives: 5,147,469 96,281 3,727,395 78,338 

1.1 trading 5,147,469 96,281 3,727,395 78,338 

1.2 associated with fair value option

1.3 other

2. Credit derivatives: 63,902 41,714 

2.1 trading 63,902 41,714 

2.2 associated with fair value option

2.3 others

Total B 0 5,147,469 160,183 0 3,727,395 120,052 

Total (A+B) 0 5,147,469 160,183 0 3,727,395 120,052 
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2.2 Financial assets held for trading: breakdown by borrower/issuer
thousands of euro

Items/Amounts Total at
31/12/2011 

Total at
31/12/2010 

A. Cash assets

1. Debt securities

a) Governments and Central banks

b) Other public entities

c) Banks

d) Other issuers

2. Equity instruments

a) Banks

b) Other issuers:

- insurance companies

- financial institutions

- non-financial companies

- others

3. Mutual fund shares

4. Loans

a) Governments and Central banks

b) Other public entities

c) Banks

d) Others

Total A

B. Derivative instruments 5,307,652 3,847,447 

a) Banks

- fair value 3,791,245 2,526,202 

b) Customers

- fair value 1,516,407 1,321,245 

Total B 5,307,652 3,847,447 

Total (A+B) 5,307,652 3,847,447 
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Section 4 - Financial assets available for sale - Item 40
4.1 Financial assets available for sale: breakdown by type

Here below are presented significant details related to Equity instruments and Mutual Funds:

With regard to Istituto per il Credito Sportivo (ICS), Dexia Crediop S.p.A. holds 2,065,864, out of a total of 9,554,452 shares,

with a par value of 1 euro each, representing a stake of 21.622%.

Since that stake does not express a corresponding level of voting rights nor it can be classified as of significant influence, the

instrument has been recorded in financial assets available for sale portfolio (AFS).

The stake related to Dimensione Network Fund is booked at the symbolic value of 1 euro.

In accordance with the Dexia Group policy and with the nature of inputs used in valuation, the fair value of the stakes above is

determined using techniques based on unobservable inputs (level 3).

Here following the summary of valuation methods used:

- Istituto per il Credito Sportivo: mixed equity-income method;

- Dimensione Network Fund (Mutual fund shares): equity method;

- Mid-Capital Mezzanine Fund (Mutual fund shares): equity method.

thousands of euro

Items/Amounts
31/12/2011 31/12/2010 

L 1 L 2 L 3 L 1 L 2 L 3 

1. Debt securities 558,229 0 694,809 2,287

1.1 Structured securities

1.2 Other debt securities 558,229 694,809 2,287

2. Equity instruments 134,443 156,311 

2.1 Measured at fair value 134,443 156,311 

2.2 Measured at cost

3. Mutual fund shares 2,255 2,255 

4. Loans

Total 558,229 0 136,698 694,809 0 160,853

thousands of euro

Equity instruments and mutual fund shares
Financial Statements at

31.12.2011
AFS reserve at 31.12.2011

(net of tax)

Istituto per il Credito Sportivo 134,442 102,160 

Idroenergia S.c.r.l. 1 0

Equity securities 134,443 102,160 

Dimensione Network Fund (Mutual fund shares) 270 180 

Mid Capital Mezzanine Fund (Mutual fund shares) 1,985 (30)

Mutual fund shares 2,255 150 

Total 136,698 102,310 
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With regard to the valuation technique used for Istituto per il Credito Sportivo, the application of the pure equity method would

increase the value (gross of tax) by approximately € 29,9 million. As concerns the Mutual funds shares, the measurement is

based on equity data provided by the entities.

4.2 Financial assets available for sale: breakdown by borrower / issuers

4.3 Financial assets available for sale with specific hedges

thousands of euro

Items/Amounts
Total at

31/12/2011 
Total at

31/12/2010 

1. Debt securities 558,229 697,096

a) Governments and Central banks 558,229 694,809

b) Other public entities

c) Banks

d) Other issuers

2. Equity securities 134,443 156,311 

a) Banks 134,442 156,310 

b) Other issuers: 1 1 

- insurance companies

- financial institutions

- non-financial companies 1 1 

- others

3. Mutual fund shares 2,255 2,255 

4. Loans 0 0

a) Governments and Central banks

b) Other public entities

c) Banks

d) Others

Total 694,927 855,662

thousands of euro

Items/Components Total at
31/12/2011 

Total at
31/12/2010 

1. Financial assets with specific fair value hedges 466,409 497,848 

a) interest rate risk 466,409 497,848 

b) price risk

c) foreign exchange risk

d) credit risk

e) various risks

2. Financial assets with specific cash flow hedges

a) interest rate risk

b) foreing exchange risk

c) other

Total 466,409 497,848 
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4.4 Financial assets available for sale: annual change

Section 5 - Financial assets held to maturity - Item 50
5.1 Financial assets held to maturity: breakdown by type

thousands of euro

Debt
securities

Equity
instruments

Mutual fund
shares

Loans Total

A. Opening balances 697,096 156,311 2,255 0 855,662

B. Increases 9,718 0 76 9,794 

B1. Purchases

B2. Increases in FV 9,718 76 9,794 

B3. Writebacks

- recognised in income statement X 

- recognised in shareholders' equity

B4. Transfers from other portfolios

B5. Other changes

C. Decreases 148,585 21,868 76 170,529

C1. Sales

C2. Reimbursements

C3. Decreases in FV 143,510 21,868 76 165,454

C4. Writedowns for impairment

- recognised in income statement

- recognised in shareholders' equity

C5. Transfers to other portfolios

C6. Other changes 5,075 5,075

D. Closing balances 558,229 134,443 2,255 0 694,927

thousands of euro

Total at 31/12/2011 Total at 31/12/2010 

BV FV BV FV 

LEVEL 1 LEVEL 2 LEVEL 3 LEVEL 1 LEVEL 2 LEVEL 3 

1. Debt securities 338,415 0 380,218 365,712 130,514 266,570 

- structured

- others 338,415 380,218 365,712 130,514 266,570 

2. Loans

Key:
FV = fair value
BV = book value
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5.2 Financial assets held to maturity: borrower/issuers

5.4 Financial assets held to maturity: annual changes

thousands of euro

Type of transaction/Amounts
Total at

31/12/2011 
Total at

31/12/2010 

1. Debt securities 338,415 365,712 

a) Governments and Central banks

b) Other public entities 338,415 365,712 

c) Banks

d) Other issuers

2. Loans

a) Governments and Central banks

b) Other public entities

c) Banks

d) Others

Total 338,415 365,712 

Total fair value 338,415 397,084

thousands of euro

Debt securities Loans Total

A. Opening balances 365,712 0 365,712 

B. Increases 3,520 0 3,520

B1. Purchases

B2. Writebacks

B3. Transfers from other portfolios

B4. Other changes 3,520 3,520 

C. Decreases 30,817 0 30,817 

C1. Sales

C2. Reimbursement 30,733 30,733 

C3. Impairment losses

C4. Transfers to other portfolios

C5. Other changes 84 84 

D. Closing balances 338,415 0 338,415 
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Section 6 - Due from banks - Item 60
6.1 Due from banks: breakdown by type

The change in receivables from banks noted as compared with last year is mainly due (+ € 3.9 billion) to the increase of deposits

held with other credit institutes.

6.2 Due from banks with specific hedges

thousands of euro

Type of transaction/Amounts
Total at 

31/12/2011 
Total at

31/12/2010 

A. Due from Central Banks 193,519 18,138

1. Restricted deposits

2. Compulsory reserve 193,519 18,138

3. Repurchase agreements

4. Others

B. Due from banks 12,166,923 8,881,544 

1. Current accounts and deposits 2,231,237 231,626

2. Restricted deposits 5,613,381 3,574,842

3. Other loans: 1,414,513 2,040,270 

3.1 Reverse repurchase agreements 1,125,513 1,000,000 

3.2 Financial lease

3.3 Others 289,000 1,040,270 

4. Debt securities 2,907,792 3,034,806 

4.1 Structured securities

4.2 Other debt securities 2,907,792 3,034,806 

Total (book value) 12,360,442 8,899,682

Total (fair value) 12,304,454 8,762,406

thousands of euro

Type of transaction/Amounts Total at
31/12/2011 

Total at
31/12/2010 

1. Loans with specific fair value hedges 197,438 187,879 

a) interest rate risk 197,438 187,879

b) foreign exchange risk

c) credit risk

d) various risks

2. Loans with specific cash flow hedges

a) interest rate risk

b) foreign exchange risk

c) other risks

Total 197,438 187,879 

2011 // DEXIA CREDIOP BANKING GROUP // 223



Section 7 - Due from customers - Item 70
7.1 Due from customers: breakdown by type

7.2 Due from customers: breakdown by borrowers/issuers

thousands of euro

Type of transaction/Amounts
Total at

31/12/2011 
Total at

31/12/2010 

Performing Non Performing Performing Non Performing

1. Current accounts

2. Reverse repurchase agreements 439,725 99,297 

3. Loans 12,161,461 786 15,047,733 3,799 

4. Credit cards, personal loans, salary-backed loans

5. Financial lease

6. Factoring

7. Other transactions 446,354 507,979 

8. Debt securities 16,113,503 13,367,401 

8.1 Structured securities

8.2 Other debt securities 16,113,503 13,367,401 

Total (book value) 29,161,043 786 29,022,410 3,799 

Total (fair value) 27,304,012 786 29,094,506 3,799 

thousands of euro

Type of transaction/Amounts
Total at

31/12/2011 
Total at

31/12/2010 

Performing Non Performing Performing Non Performing

1. Debt securities 16,113,503 13,367,401

a) Governments 4,396,159 1,608,476 

b) Other public entities 9,210,256 9,194,312 

c) Other issuers 2,507,088 2,564,613 

- non-financial institutions 1,147,657 1,108,425 

- financial institutions 1,359,431 1,456,188 

- insurance companies

- others

2. Loans to 13,047,540 786 15,655,009 3,799 

a) Governments 3,261,899 6,177,665 

b) Other public entities 7,598,481 147 7,503,242 147 

c) Others 2,187,160 639 1,974,102 3,652 

- non-financial institutions 1,671,733 1,483,422 3,013 

- financial institutions 513,751 639 490,030 639 

- insurance companies

- others 1,676 650 

Total 29,161,043 786 29,022,410 3,799 
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7.3 Due from customers with specific hedges

Section 8 - Hedging derivatives - Item 80
8.1 Hedging derivatives: breakdown by type of hedging and by level

thousands of euro

Type of transaction/Amounts
Total at

31/12/2011 
Total at

31/12/2010 

1. Loans with specific fair value hedges 16,792,395 15,521,011 

a) interest rate risk 16,221,798 14,908,514

b) foreign exchange risk

c) credit risk

d) various risks 570,597 612,497 

2. Loans with specific cash flow hedges 2,877,729 3,017,843 

a) interest rate risk 2,877,729 3,017,843 

b) foreign exchange risk

c) other risks

Total 19,670,124 18,538,854 

thousands of euro

FV
31/12/2011 NA

31/12/2011

FV
31/12/2010 NA

31/12/2010
L1 L2 L3 L1 L2 L3 

A)  Financial derivatives 471.812 127.619 8.683.244 628.574 299.442 16.208.787 

1) Fair Value 430.485 127.619 7.819.967 598.180 299.442 14.827.398 

2) Cash flow hedges 41.327 863.277 30.394 1.381.389 

3) Foreign investments

B) Credit derivatives

1) Fair Value

2) Cash flow hedges

Total 0 471.812 127.619 8.683.244 0 628.574 299.442 16.208.787 

Key:
FV = fair value
NA = notional amount
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8.2 Hedging derivatives: breakdown by portfolios hedged and type of hedging (book value)

thousands of euro

Transaction/Type of hedging

Fair value Cash flow hedges

Foreign
investments

Specific

Generic Specific Genericinterest
rate risk

foreign
exchange

risk

credit
risk

price
risk

various
risks

1. Financial assets available for sale X X X 

2. Loans 626 X 23,523 X 41,327 X X 

3. Financial assets held to maturity X X X X X 

4. Portfolio Hedge X X X X X 15,434 X X 

5. Other transactions X X 

Total assets 626 0 0 0 23,523 15,434 41,327 0 0

1. Financial liabilities 449,289 X 69,232 X X X 

2. Portfolio Hedge X X X X X X X 

Total liabilities 449,289 0 0 0 69,232 0 0 0 0

1. Forecast transactions X X X X X X X X 

2. Portfolio of financial assets and liabilities X X X X X X 
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Section 9 - Fair value changes of financial assets in hedged portfolios - Item 90
9.1 Fair value changes of hedged assets: breakdown by portfolios hedged

9.2 Assets hedged by macrohedging of interest rate risk
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thousands of euro

Fair value changes of hedged assets / Components of grou 31/12/2011 31/12/2010

1. Increases 214,992 84,809

1.1 of specific portfolios: 214,992 84,809

a) loans 31,468 21,600

b) financial assets available for sale 183,524 63,209

1.2 overall

2. Decreases 67,566 4,933

2.1 of specific portfolios: 67,566 4,933

a) loans 8,393 4,857 

b) financial assets available for sale 59,173 76

2.2 overall

Total 147,426 79,876

thousands of euro

Hedged assets 31/12/2011 31/12/2010

1. Loans 7,017,087 7,864,099

2. Assets available for sale 270,000 272,229

3. Portfolio 

Total 7,287,087 8,136,328
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Section 12 - Property, plant and equipment - item 120
12.1 Property plant and equipment: breakdown of assets measured at cost

Additional information

The account for depreciation in property, plant and equipments is made by using the straight-line method; it reflects the

ways in wich the futures economic benefits will be used. This methed consists in the accounting of a contast amount of

depreciation charge throughout the entire life of the asset. During the period there have been no changes to the expected uses

of the future economic benefits, that would require changes to the depreciation method.

The useful life of assets is calculated on the basis of their expected usefulness. Since land and works of art have an unlimited

useful life, they are not subject to depreciation.

thousands of euro

Assets/Amounts
Total at

31/12/2011 
Total at 

31/12/2010

A. Assets used in operations

1.1 company owned 43,847 44,157 

a) land 28,844 28,844 

b) buildings 12,505 12,545 

c) furniture 1,907 1,986 

d) electronic equipments 370 450 

e) others 221 332 

1.2 acquired under financial lease

a) land

b) buildings

c) furniture

d) electronic equipments

e) others

Total A 43,847 44,157 

B. Assets held as investments

2.1 company owned

a) land

b) buildings

2.2 acquired on financial lease

a) land

b) buildings

Total B 0 0

Total (A+B) 43,847 44,157 



12.3 Property plant and equipment used in operations: annual changes
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thousands of euro

Land Buildings Furniture
Electronic

equipment
Others Total 

A. Gross opening balances 28,844 21,821 3,404 644 1,507 56,220 

A.1 Total net adjustments 0   9,276 1,418 194 1,175 12,063 

A.2 Net opening balances 28,844 12,545 1,986 450 332 44,157 

B. Increases 0 623 22 54 34 733 

B.1 Purchases 623 22 54 34 733 

B.2 Expenses for capitalised improvements

B.3 Writebacks

B.4 Increases in fair value recognised in:

a) shareholders' equity

b) income statement

B.5 Positive foreign exchange differences

B.6 Transfers from buildings held as investments

B.7 Other changes

C. Decreases 0 663 101 134 145 1,043 

C.1 Sales

C.2 Depreciation 663 101 134 145 1,043 

C.3 Impairment losses recognised in:

a) shareholders' equity

b) income statement

C.4 Decreases in fair value recognised in:

a) shareholders' equity

b) income statement

C.5 Negative foreign exchange differences

C.6 Transfer to:

a) property plant and equipment held as investments

b) assets held for sale

C.7 Other changes

D. Net closing balances 28,844 12,505 1,907 370 221 43,847 

D.1 Total net adjustments 0 9,939 1,519 328 1,320 13,106 

D.2 Gross closing balances 28,844 22,444 3,426 698 1,541 56,953 

E. Measured at cost
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Section 13 - Intangible assets - Item 130
13.1 Intangible assets: breakdown by type of asset

Intangible assets consist of software purchased from third parties in the process of amortization. The amortization period

of investments is calculated according to the remaining useful lives.

thousands of euro

Assets/Amounts
Total at

31/12/2011 
Total at

31/12/2010 

Defined
useful file

Indefinite
useful life

Defined
useful file

Indefinite
useful life

A.1 Goodwill X X

A.1.1 pertaining to the Group X X 

A.1.2 pertaining to third parties X X 

A.2 Other intangible assets 3,405 3,229 

A.2.1 Assets measured at cost: 3,405 3,229 

a) Internally generated intangible assets

b) Other assets 3,405 3,229 

A.2.2 Assets measured at fair value:

a) Internally generated intangible assets

b) Other assets 

Total 3,405 3,229 



12.2 Intangible assets: annual change
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thousands of euro

Goodwill
Other intangible assets:

ginternally enerated
Other intangible assets:

others Total
DEF INDEF DEF INDEF

A. Opening balances 27,822 27,822 

A.1 Total net adjustments 24,593 24,593 

A.2 Net opening balances 3,229 3,229 

B. Increases 1,604 1,604 

B.1 Purchases 1,604 1,604 

B.2 Increases in internal intangible assets X 

B.3 Writebacks X 

B.4 Increases in fair value recognised in:

- shareholders' equity X 

- income statement X 

B.5 Positive foreign exchange differences

B.6 Other changes

C. Decreases 1,428 1,428 

C.1 Sales

C.2 Writedowns 1,428 1,428 

- Amortization X 1,428 1,428 

- Devaluations:

+ shareholders' equity X 

+ income statement

C.3 Decreases in fair value recognised in:

- shareholders' equity X 

- income statement X 

C.4 Transfers to non-current assets held for sale

C.5 Negative foreign exchange differences

C.6 Other changes

D. Net closing balances 3,405 3,405 

D.1 Total net adjustments 26,021 26,021 

E. Gross closing balances 29,426 29,426 

F. Measurement at cost

Key:
DEF: defined duration
INDEF: indefinite duration



thousands of euro

thousands of euro
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Section 14 - Tax credits and liabilities - Item 140 of the assets and Item 80 of the liabilities
14.1 Banking group - Deferred tax assets: breakdown

14.2 Banking group - Deferred tax liabilities: breakdown

Deferred tax assets and liabilities in the Balance Sheet are shown as compensated, in accordance with paragraph 74 of IAS 12.

Costs deductible in other periods 4,946 

Public relations expenses 1,496 

Provisions for risks and charges 4,178 

Net changes in cash flow hedging derivatives 11,851 

AFS securities impairments 60,597

Total 83,068

Property plant and equipment - elimination of depreciation at FTA 3,217 

AFS securities revaluation 19,179 

Consolidation entries 161 

Total 22,557 



14.3 Banking group - Change in deferred tax assets (through profit and loss)

Advance taxes are recognised according to the likelihood that sufficient taxable amounts will be generated in the future.

The rates used to value advance taxes for IRES and IRAP purposes are 27.50% and 5.57% respectively.

The increase of 0.75 percentage points in the IRAP, as required the D.L. N. 98/2011, as converted into law, as resulted in

an increase in advance taxes amounted to 467 thousand of euros.

Advance taxes recognized during the year amounted to 2,095 thousand euros and are attributable to the recognition of a

loss in tax reportable in subsequent tax years, and provisions are not immediately deductible.

Advance taxes cancelled during the year amount to € 6,861 thousand euros and are attributable to the uses of provisions not

deducted in previous years, the recovery of costs deductible over several years and to consolidation entries made during the year.
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thousands of euro

Total at
31/12/2011 

Total at
31/12/2010 

Opening balance 22,956 10,748 

Increases 2,562 14,402 

2.1 Deferred tax assets recognised in the period 2,095 14,402 

a) related to previous years

b) due to changes in accounting criteria

c) writebacks

d) other 2,095 14,402 

2.2 New taxes or tax rate increases 467 

2.3 Other increases

Decreases 6,861 2,194 

3.1 Deferred tax assets eliminated in the period 6,861 2,194 

a) reversals 6,861 2,194 

b) writeoffs

c) due to changes in accounting criteria

d) other

3.2 Tax rate reduction

3.3 Other decreases

Closing balance 18,657 22,956 
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14.4 Banking group - Changes in deferred tax liabilities (with matching entry in income statement)

Deferred taxes are booked for temporary differences between the book value of an asset or liability and its fiscal value. This

recognition has been carried out in accordance with current fiscal legislation.

The rates used to value deferred taxes for IRES and IRAP purposes are 27.50% and 5.57% respectively.

The increase of 0.75 percentage points in the IRAP, as required the D.L. N. 98/2011, as converted into law, as resulted in

an increase in deferred taxes amounted to 71 thousand of euros.

thousands of euro

Total at
31/12/2011 

Total at
31/12/2010 

1. Opening balance 3,307 7,188

2. Increases 71 0

2.1 Deferred tax liabilities recognised in the period

a) related to previous years

b) due to changes in accounting criteria

c) other

2.2 New taxes or tax rate increases 71

2.3 Other increases

3. Decreases 0 3,881

3.1 Deferred tax liabilities eliminated in the period 3,881

a) reversals 3,881

b) due to changes in accounting criteria

c) other

3.2 Tax rate reduction

3.3 Other decreases

4. Closing balance 3,378 3,307



14.5 Banking group - Changes in deferred tax assets (with matching entry to equity)

The increase of 0.75 percentage points in the IRAP, as required the D.L. N. 98/2011, as converted into law, as resulted in an

increase in advance taxes amounted to 1,453 thousand of euros. 

Advance taxes recorded during the year amount to 14,823 thousan of euros and are attributable to devaluations of AFS securities

and to consolidation entries made during the year.

Advance taxes cancelled during the year refer for 4,262 thousand euros for the revaluation of cash flow hedging derivatives

and for the remaining part of the decrease in advance taxes of the subsidiary Dexia Crediop Ireland.
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thousands of euro

Total at
31/12/2011 

Total at
31/12/2010 

1. Opening balance 60,590 58,389 

2. Increases 16,281 17,155

2.1 Deferred tax liabilities recognised in the period 14,828 17,155 

a) related to previous years

b) due to changes in accounting criteria

c) other 14,828 17,155 

2.2 New taxes or tax rate increases 1,453 

2.3 Other increases

3. Decreases 12,460 14,954 

3.1 Deferred tax liabilities eliminated in the period 12,460 14,954 

a) reversals 12,460 3,118 

b) writeoffs

c) due to changes in accounting criteria

d) other 11,836 

3.2 Tax rate reduction

3.3 Other decreases

4. Closing balance 64,411 60,590 
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14.6 Banking group - Changes in deferred tax liabilities (with matching entry to equity)

The increase of 0.75 percentage points in the IRAP, as required the D.L. N. 98/2011, as converted into law, as resulted in

an increase in deferred taxes amounted to 465 thousand of euros.

Deferred taxes cancelled during the year amount to 1,328 thousand euros and are attributable to devaluations of AFS securities.

14.7 Other information

14.7.1 Assets in the form of current taxes: breakdown

The assets in the form of current taxes mainly refer to the excess in the paid taxes accounts (IRES, IRAP, and withholding on

interest, premiums and other income from deposits and current bank accounts) compared to the balance actually due.

thousands of euro

Total at
31/12/2011 

Total at
31/12/2010 

1. Opening balance 20,042 23,432 

2. Increases 465 0

2.1 Deferred tax liabilities recognised in the period

a) related to previous years

b) due to changes in accounting criteria

c) other

2.2 New taxes or tax rate increases 465 

2.3 Other increases

3. Decreases 1,328 3,390 

3.1 Deferred tax liabilities eliminated in the period 1,328 3,390 

a) reversals 1,328 3,390 

b) due to changes in accounting criteria

c) other

3.2 Tax rate reduction

3.3 Other decreases

4. Final balance 19,179 20,042 
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Section 16 - Other assets - Item 160
16.1  Other assets: breakdown

The item also includes the credit position of a defined-benefits fund of 4,395 thousand euros (3,117 thousand euros at 31.12.10).

For the related information please see Section 12 of Liabilities, "Provisions for risks and charges".

thousands of euro

Type of transaction Total at
31/12/2011

Total at
31/12/2010

1. Adjustments to exchange rate derivatives 41,768 40,510 

2. Sundry accrued expenses and deferred charges 36,445 33,113 

3. Other assets 25,030 18,758 

Total 103,243 92,381 
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Liabilities

Section 1 - Due to banks - Item 10
1.1 Due to banks: breakdown by type

1.2 Details of item 10 "Due to banks": subordinated debts

As at 31.12.2011 subordinated debts amount to € 400,072,444 (€ 400,055,889 in 2010).

The subordinate loan has the following characteristics:

- technical form: loan;

- nominal amount: € 400 million;

- duration: 10 years;

- maturity: June 2017

- reimbursement: bullet;

- interest rate: euribor 3 months increased by 22 bp pa.

1.4 Due to banks with specific hedges

thousands of euro

Type of transaction/Components of the group Total at
31/12/2011 

Total at
31/12/2010 

1. Due to central banks 12,206,151 7,001,556 

2. Due to banks 11,261,200 11,399,437 

2.1 Current accounts and deposits

2.2 Restricted deposits 720,320 425,581 

2.3 Loans 10,540,880 10,973,856 

2.3.1 repurchase agreements 5,543,527 4,957,314 

2.3.2 others 4,997,353 6,016,542 

2.4 Due for commitments to repurchase own equity instruments

2.5 Other debts 0

Total 23,467,351 18,400,993 

Fair value 23,040,091 18,338,690 

thousands of euro

Type of transaction/Amounts Total at
31/12/2011 

Total at
31/12/2010 

1. Payables with specific fair value hedges 158,501 205,631 

a) interest rate risk 158,501 177,483 

b) foreign exchange risk

c) various risks 28,148

2. Payables with specific cash flow hedges 7,976,360 7,596,404

a) interest rate risk 7,976,360 7,596,404 

b) foreign exchange risk

c) other risks

Total 8,134,861 7,802,035 
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Section 2 - Due to customers - Item 20
2.1 Due to customers: breakdown by type

Section 3 - Securities issued - Item 30
3.1 Securities in issue: breakdown by type

3.3 Details of item 30 "Securities issued": securities with specific hedges

thousands of euro

Type of transaction/Components of the group
Total at

31/12/2011 
Total at

31/12/2010 

1. Current accounts and deposits 305,376 496,929 

2. Restricted deposits

3. Loans 1,556,422 1,465,906 

3.1 repurchase agreements 998 1,246 

3.2 others 1,555,424 1,464,660 

4 Due for commitments to repurchase own equity instruments

5. Other debts

Total 1,861,798 1,962,835 

Fair value 1,649,296 1,785,355 

thousands of euro

Type of securities/Amounts

Total at
31/12/2011 

Total at
31/12/2010 

Book
value

Fair value Book
value

Fair value 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

A. Securities 

1. Bonds 13,463,511 1,724,611 0 11,064,506 16,543,641 0 269,954 15,721,523 

1.1 structured

1.2 others 13,463,511 1,724,611 11,064,506 16,543,641 269,954 15,721,523 

2. Other securities 586 586 586 586 

2.1 structured

2.2 others 586 586 586 586 

Total 13,464,097 1,724,611 0 11,065,092 16,544,227 0 269,954 15,722,109 

thousands of euro

Type of transaction/Amounts
Total at

31/12/2011 
Total at

31/12/2010 

1. Securities with specific fair value hedges: 11,556,157 12,246,510 

a) interest rate risk 8,794,231 5,675,724 

b) foreign exchange risk

c) various risks 2,761,926 6,570,786 

2. Securities with specific cash flow hedges: 0 50,124 

a) interest rate risk 50,124 

b) foreign exchange risk

c) other risks

Total 11,556,157 12,296,634 
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Section 4 - Financial liabilities held for trading - Item 40
4.1 Financial liabilities held for trading: breakdown by type

thousands of euro

Type of transaction/
Components of the group

Total at
31/12/2011 

Total at
31/12/2010 

NV FV FV * NV FV FV * 

L1 L2 L3 L1 L2 L3 

A. Cash liabilities

1. Due to banks

2. Due to customers

3. Debt securities

3.1 Bonds

3.1.1 Structured X X 

3.1.2 Other bonds X X 

3.2 Other securities

3.2.1 Structured X X 

3.2.2 Others X X 

Total A

B. Derivative instruments

1. Financial derivatives X 5,241,342 82,395 X X 3,755,529 76,164 X 

1.1 Trading X 5,241,342 82,395 X X 3,755,529 76,164 X 

1.2 Associated with the fair value
option X X X X 

1.3 Others X X X X 

2. Credit derivatives X 61,180 X X 37,966 X 

2.1 Trading X 61,180 X X 37,966 X 

2.2 Associated with the fair value
option X X X X 

2.3 Others X X X X 

Total B X 5,241,342 143,575 X X 3,755,529 114,130 X 

Total (A+B) X 5,241,342 143,575 X X 3,755,529 114,130 X 

Key:
FV = fair value

FV* = fair value calculated excluding the value changes due to variation in issuer's creditworthiness since the date of issue

NV = nominal or notional amaount

L1 = Level 1

L2 = Level 2

L3 = Level 3
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Section 6 - Hedging derivatives - Item 60
6.1 Hedging derivatives: breakdown by type of hedging and by level

Key:
NA = notional amount
L1 = Level 1
L2 = Level 2
L3 = Level 3

6.2 Hedging derivatives: breakdown by portfolios hedged and type of hedging

thousands of euro

Fair value
31/12/2011 NA

31/12/2011

Fair value
31/12/2010 NA

31/12/2010
L1 L2 L3 L1 L2 L3

A. Financial derivatives 3.579.104 24.156 40.719.337 2.132.045 58.855 30.372.505 

1) Fair value 3.508.322 24.156 32.050.986 2.070.067 58.855 22.498.365 

2) Cash flow hedges 70.782 8.668.351 61.978 7.874.140 

3) Foreign investments

B) Credit derivatives

1) Fair value 

2) Cash flow hedges

Total 3.579.104 24.156 40.719.337 2.132.045 58.855 30.372.505 

thousands of euro

Transaction/Type of hedging

Fair value Cash flow hedges

Foreign
investments

Specific

Generic Specific Generic
interest
rate risk

foreign
exchange

risk

credit
risk price risk

various
risks

1. Financial assets available for sale 56,644 X X X 

2. Loans 3,164,603 X 98,605 X 5,314 X X 

3. Financial assets held to maturity X X X X X 

4. Portfolio Hedge X X X X X 173,866 X X 

5. Other transactions X X 

Total assets 3,221,247 98,605 173,866 5,314 

1. Financial liabilities 14,025 X 24,735 X 65,468 X X 

2. Portfolio Hedge X X X X X X X 

Total liabilities 14,025 24,735 65,468 

1. Forecast transactions X X X X X X X X 

2. Portfolio of financial assets
and liabilities X X X X X X 
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Section 7 - Fair value changes of financial liabilities in hedged portfolios - Item 70
7.1 Fair value changes of hedged financial liabilities

7.2 Liabilities of the banking group with macro hedging of interest rate risk: breakdown

Section 10 - Other liabilities - Item 100
10.1  Other liabilities: breakdown

thousands of euro

Fair value changes of hedged liabilities/Components of group 31/12/20011 31/12/20010

1. Positive adjustment of financial liabilities

2. Negative adjustment of financial liabilities 0 65

Total 0 65

thousands of euro

Type of transaction/Amounts
Total at

31/12/2011
Total at

31/12/2010

1) Securities issued 0 526,684 

2) Payables

Total 0 526,684 

thousands of euro

Type of transaction/Components of the group
Total

31/12/2011
Total

31/12/2010

1. Suppliers and professionals 8,963 7,963 

2. Accrued expenses and deferred income 1,517 1,677 

3. Other liabilities 22,990 31,609 

Total 33,470 41,249 
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Section 11 - Employee termination indemnities - Item 110
11.1 Employee termination indemnities: annual change

Section 12 - Provisions for risks and charges - Item 120
12.1 Provisions for risks and charges: breakdown 

The fund for legal disputes includes allocations made for legal costs expected to be incurred following administrative and legal

proceedings to which Dexia Crediop is party and in relation to transactions concluded with local entities. For these proceedings,

it has not, on the other hand, been deemed necessary to adjust the value. A description follows of the state of the individual

proceedings.

On 03 February 2010, in relation to investigations into operations with the Region Apulia, some of which also carried out by Dexia

Crediop, the latter was notified of guarantee information insofar as investigated for the administrative crime pursuant to Arts. 5,

paragraph 1, letter a), 21, 24, paragraphs 1 and 2 of Italian Legislative Decree no. 231/01, in relation to Arts. 110, subsection

81, 640, paragraph 1 and 61, subsection 7. By Order dated 18 February 2012 the Preliminary Investigation Court of Bari revoked

the attachment order applied to Dexia Crediop on 03 February 2010 for the amount of approximately € 8.6 million and arranged

for the return of this amount to Dexia Crediop.

thousands of euro

Total at
31/12/2011 

Total at
31/12/2010 

A. Opening balances 3,044 3,914 

B. Increases 115 149 

B.1 Provision in the period 115 149 

B.2 Other changes

C. Decreases 800 1,019 

C.1 Benefits paid 800 1,019 

C.2 Other changes

D. Closing balances 2,359 3,044 

Total 2,359 3,044 

thousands of euro

Items/Components
Total at

31/12/2011
Total at

31/12/2010

1 Provisions for post emplyment benefits 566 1,233 

2. Provisions for risks and charges 13,067 14,345 

2.1 legal disputes 8,465 7,228 

2.2 personnel charges 4,564 7,036 

2.3 others 38 81 

Total 13,633 15,578 
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On 29 June 2009, the Province of Pisa dissolved, through a self-protection procedure, its deliberations regarding an Interest Rate

Swap signed on 4 July 2007 with Dexia Crediop in regards to variable interest rate bonds partially underwritten by Dexia Crediop.

As a consequence, the Province of Pisa has interrupted its payments to Dexia Crediop owed through the signed Interest Rate

Swap. At present, the Province of Pisa has not proceeded with the payment of approximately € 3.5 million. Hence, Dexia Crediop

has begun legal action in England, aimed at obtaining fulfilment of the obligations of the Province of Pisa. Dexia Crediop has

also begun legal action in Italy, now pending before the Council of State, aimed at obtaining the annulment of the above-cited

self-protection procedure.

On 21 December 2010, Dexia Crediop was served a preventative seizure decree of furniture and equipment, property and

receivables up to the value of the amount of approximately € 635,000, under the scope of an investigation concerning derivative

financial instruments stipulated in 2004 by Dexia Crediop with the Regional Authorities of Tuscany, in which it is hypothesised

that Dexia Crediop had committed an unlawful administrative act pursuant to arts. 5, paragraph 1, letter a) and 24, paragraph

2 of Italian Legislative Decree no. 231/01 in relation to arts. 110, subsection 81, 640 paragraph 2, no. 1 and 61, subsection 7.

As of today, the seizure decree has not yet been enforced, as Dexia Crediop has deposited security for the same amount in lieu

of the seizure.

On 31 December 2010, the Municipality of Prato dissolved, through a self-protection procedure, its deliberation regarding an

Interest Rate Swap signed on 29 June 2006 with Dexia Crediop in regards to two variable interest rate bonds underwritten by

Dexia Crediop. By virtue of this, the Municipality has not, as of today, proceeded with the payment of approximately € 2.7 million.

Dexia Crediop has begun legal action in England aimed at obtaining compliance by the Municipality with its obligations and has

also begun legal action in Italy before the Regional Administrative Court of Tuscany, which concluded in the favour of Dexia Crediop

with the sentence dated 24 November 2011.

On 23 December 2010, the Regional Authorities of Lazio served Dexia Crediop with a writ of summons before the Civil Court

of Rome. The deed concerned transactions in derivatives concluded with the Regional Authorities of Lazio. In addition to

Dexia Crediop, a further 11 banks are involved. The Regional Authorities of Lazio demand that Dexia Crediop pay compensation

for damages it alleges having suffered, for an amount of approximately € 8.5 million. The next hearing will be held on 12

December 2012.

On 28 April 2011, the Municipality of Florence dissolved, through a self-protection procedure, its deliberations to approve two

operations in derivatives completed on 26 June 2006 with Dexia Crediop. By virtue of this, the Municipality has not, as of today,

proceeded with the payment of approximately € 5.7 million. Dexia Crediop has taken legal action in England aimed at ascer-

taining the validity and effectiveness of these contracts, in addition to taking legal action in Italy, bringing a case before the

Regional Administrative Court of Tuscany.

On 23 January 2012, the Region of Piedmont dissolved, through a self-protection procedure, its deliberations to approve

an amortising swap operation completed on 16 November 2006. Dexia Crediop has begun legal proceedings in England aimed

at ascertaining the validity of the contract.
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On 14 April 2011, the Municipality of Messina served Dexia Crediop with a writ of summons before the Civil Court of Messina.

The act concerns two operations in derivatives completed on 28 June 2007. The Municipality of Messina asks that the nullity of

the contracts be ascertained with regards to Dexia Crediop or alternatively that they be declared as cancelled, in addition to the

sentencing of compensation for damages. The next hearing will be held on 15 May 2012. Additionally, on 18 October 2011,

the Municipality of Florence dissolved, through a self-protection procedure, its deliberations to approve these operations in

derivatives. Therefore, Dexia Crediop has begun legal action with the Regional Administrative Court of Sicily, aimed at obtaining

the annulment of the above-cited self-protection procedure.

Additionally, other funds include tax expense for 1.1 million, allocated during the first half of 2011 in relation to a general

inspection by the Tax Authority in relation to tax period 2008.  

Finally, please note that on 1 December 2011, the Tax Authority served a notice of liquidation for registration tax for approximately

€ 108 million, in addition to sanctions and interest for a total of approximately € 250 million. Against presentation of a

self-protection request and suspension of the effects of the notice of liquidation, in January the Administration filed suspension

of the effects of the notice of liquidation. The Company also appealed against this and considered there being no reason to make

any allocation in this respect, also given the achievement of the suspension and valid arguments able to confirm the correctness

and legitimacy of the Company's work.

12.2 Provisions for risks and charges: annual change

The item B.1 “Provision in the period” relative to Other Funds benefit from a positive review of actuarial assumptions relating

to the Solidarity Fund (see also section 12.4). The above item also contains the positive (+ € 0,719 million) resulting from early

termination of an employee benefit funds that composed the opening balance at 01/01/2011.

The item C.3 "Other Decreases" represents the share of allocations assigned to the income Statement in 2011, relating to

defined benefit funds reclassified to section 15 (Other assets). The above item also contains the positive (+ € 0,362 million)

resulting from early termination of an defined benefit funds that composed the opening balance at 01/01/2011.

thousands of euro

Items/Components
Total

Provisions for post
emplyment benefits

Other provisions

A. Opening balances 1,233 14,345 

B. Increases 1,645 4,594 

B.1 Provision in the period 1,645 4,594 

B.2 Time value changes

B.3 Changes due to discount rate variantions

B.4 Other changes 

C. Decreases 2,313 5,871 

C.1  Uses in the period 1,312 5,871 

C.2  Changes due to discount rate variations

C.3  Other changes 1,001 

D. Closing balances 565 13,068 
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12.3 Post employment defined benefit plans

1. Description of the funds

The sub-item "Pension funds and similar benefits" includes provisions recognized on the basis of IAS 19 "Employee benefits"

against various forms of complementary retirement schemes with defined benefits. These commitments are based on calculations

carried out by independent Actuaries using the projected units credit method. In particular, the provisions correspond to the

current value of the defined-benefit obligations net of the fair value of the fund's assets, taking into account the actuarial

profits and losses not recognised in the balance sheet by applying the so-called "corridor option". This "corridor option" provides

that the cumulated profits and losses that could arise from the adjustments made to previous actuarial hypothesis have to be

accounted only for the 10% that exceed the biggest between the fair value of the asset plan and the fair value of the obligation

and depending of the average residual maturity of the funds' benefit and starting from the following period. 
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Here below are provided information related to the variation occured in the funds during the period, the reconciliation between the funds' current

value, the current value of the assets plan and the assets and liabilities reported in the balance sheet; the main actuarial assumption are also reported.

thousands of euro

2011 2010

A Variations in the defined-benefit obligations
1. Fair value of obligations at the opening of the period 44,382 43,291 
2. Post employment benefits relating to current employment 599 645 

3. Interest expenses 1,762 1,983 

4. Contributions by participants 160 179 

5. Benefits paid (3,736) (1,768)

6. Actuarial losses (profits) 23 52 

7. Fair value of obligations at the end of the period 43,190 44,382 
B. Variations in assets of the plans
1. Fair value of assets at the opening of the period 42,645 40,985 
2. Yield of the assets 1,265 1,235 

3. Employer contributions 2,332 1,526 

4. Contributions by participants 160 179 

5. Benefits paid (2,840) (1,768)

6. Actuarial losses (profits) on the assets (1,660) 488 

7. Fair value of assets at the end of the period 41,902 42,645 
C. Reconciliation of the obligations and assets of the plans
Fair value of bonds on the financed plans 43,120 43,079 

Fair value of assets 41,903 42,645 

Actuarial deficit (surplus) on the financed plans 1,217 434 

Actuarial deficit (surplus) on the non-financed plans 70 1.302 

Actuarial losses (profits) not recognized in the balance sheet (5,115) (3,621)

Liabilities (assets) recognized in the balance sheet (3,828) (1,884)

Summary of amounts recognized in the balance sheet
1. Balance sheet assets 4,394 3,117 

2. Balance sheet liabilities 566 1,233 

3. Balance of liabilities (assets) recognized in the balance sheet (3,828) (1,884)
D. Expenses
Post employment benefit expenses relating to current employment 599 645

Interest expenses 1,762 1,983

Yield of the assets (1,265) 1,235

Actuarial losses (profits) recognized in the balance sheet 189 228 

Total costs recognized in the balance sheet 1,285 1,621

E. Main actuarial assumptions 31.12.2011 31.12.2010
minimum maximum minimum maximum

Discount rate 3.0% 4.7% 3.0% 5.0%

Expected rate of yield of the assets 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.3%

Expected rate of salary increases 2.5% 3.5% 0.0% 3.5%

Inflation rate 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 2.5%
thousands of euro

F. Reconciliation of  book values 31.12.2011 31.12.2010
Opening balances of assets recognized in the balance sheet 3,117 3,158

Opening balances of liabilities recognised in the balance sheet 1,232 1,179

F1. Opening balances of Liabilities (Assets) (1,884) (1,179)

F2. Expenses 1,285 1,621

F3. Uses for expenses (3,228) (1,526)

Closing balances of Assets recognized in the balance sheet (4,394) (3,117)

Closing balances of Liabilities recognized in the balance sheet 566 1,232

F4. Closing balances of Liabilities (Assets) (3,828) (1,885)
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12.4 Provisions for risks and charges – other provisions

The "other provisions" amount to 13,068 thousand euros. They are made up of:

- personnel expenses: the fund includes 4,564 thousand euros for charges relating to voluntary redundancy incentives, senio-

rity prizes to employees, life insurance benefits and the expenses specifically allocated to Solidarity Provision, the payment of

which is directly linked to the Company 2009-2011 Restructuring Plan. This defined benefits fund is also falls under the scope

of application of international standard IAS 19;

- provisions for legal expenses for 7,383 thousand euros;

- provisions for taxes for 1,082 thousand euros;

- other provisions for 39 thousand euros.
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Here below are provided information related to the variations in the Solidarity Fund during the financial period, the reconciliation

between the relevant current value and the liabilities recorded in the balance sheet, together with the main actuarial assumptions.

thousands of euro

2011 2010

A Variations in the defined-benefit obligations
1. Fair value of obligations at the opening of the period 5,761 6,491 
2. Provision 6 0 

3. Interest expenses 161 199 

4. Contributions by participants

5. Benefits paid (1,465) (1,049)

6. Actuarial losses (profits) (715) 120 

7. Fair value of obligations at the end of the period 3,748 5,761 
B. Variations in assets of the plans
1. Fair value of assets at the opening of the period

2. Yield of the assets

3. Employer contributions 1,465 1,049 

4. Contributions by participants

5. Benefits paid (1,465) (1,049)

6. Actuarial losses (profits) on the assets

7. Fair value of assets at the end of the period

C. Reconciliation of the obligations and assets of the plans
Fair value of bonds on the financed plans 3,748 5,761 

Fair value of assets

Actuarial deficit (surplus) on the financed plans 3,748 0 

Actuarial deficit (surplus) on the non-financed plans 0 5,761 

Actuarial losses (profits) not recognized in the balance sheet

Liabilities (assets) recognized in the balance sheet 3,748 5,761 

Summary of amounts recognized in the balance sheet
1. Balance sheet assets

2. Balance sheet liabilities 3,748 5,761 

3. Balance of liabilities (assets) recognized in the balance sheet 3,748 5,761 
D. Expenses
Post employment benefit expenses relating to current employment 7 0 

Interest expenses 161 199 

Yield of the assets

Actuarial losses (profits) recorded in the balance sheet (715) 120 

Total costs recorded in the balance sheet (547) 319

E. Main actuarial assumptions 31.12.2011 31.12.2010
minimum maximum minimum maximum

Discount rate 3.0% 3.3% 3.3% 3.5%

Expected rate of yield of the assets N/A N/A N/A N/A

Expected rate of salary increases N/A N/A N/A N/A

Inflation rate 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 2.5%
thousands of euro

F. Reconciliation of book values 31.12.2011 31.12.2010
Opening balances of assets recognized in the balance sheet

Opening balances of liabilities recognised in the balance sheet 5,761 6,491

F1. Opening balances of Liabilities (Assets) 5,761 6,491

F2. Cost booked to the income statement (547) 319

F3. Uses for expenses (1,465) (1,049)

Closing balances of Assets recognized in the balance sheet

Closing balances of Liabilities recognized in the balance sheet 3,748 5,761

F4. Closing balances of Liabilities (Assets) 3,748 5,761 
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Section 15 - Group Shareholder's equity - Items 140, 160, 170, 180, 190, 200 and 220 
15.1 "Share capital" and "Treasury shares": breakdown

The shares are fully subscribed and paid in and amounts to € 450,210,000, consisting of 174,500,000 ordinary shares with a

nominal value of € 2.58.

15.2  Share capital - number of shares of the parent bank: annual change

Items/Types Ordinary Others

A. Shares outstanding at the opening of the period 174,500,000 

- fully paid in 174,500,000 

- not fully paid in

A.1 Treasury shares ( - )

A.2. Shares outstanding: initial number 174,500,000 

B. Increases

B.1 New issues

- against payment:

- business combinations

- conversion of bonds

- exercise of warrants

- other

- free of charge:

- in favour employees

- in favour directors

- other

B.2 Sale of treasury shares

B.3 Other changes

C. Decreases

C.1 Annulment

C.2 Purchase of treasury shares

C.3 Disposal of companies

C.4 Other changes

D. Shares oustanding: final number 174,500,000 

D.1 Treasury shares ( + )

D.2. Shares number at the end of the period 174,500,000 

- fully paid in 174,500,000 

- not fully paid in
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15.4 Reserves: other information

The Reserves consist of the legal reserve and the profits carried forward from previous periods in accordance with the resolutions

of the Shareholders' Board.

In compliance with dispositions of article 2430 of the Italian Civil Code, the legal reserve is made up by the allocation of the

20% of net profits until the reserve reaches one fifth of share capital. The movimentation of the year refers to the year 2010

allocation of the Parent Company.

Section 16 - Shareholders’ equity of minority interests - Item 210
The item includes the shareholders’ equity of the company Tevere Finance S.r.l., included in the consolidation area since it is

subject to control de fact, and the shareholders’ equity of the company Crediop for Obbligazioni Bancarie Garantite S.r.l.

pertaining to the minority shareholder "Stichting Collecticumburg".

For more details, please refer to Part A – Section 3 “Consolidation area and methods”.

thousands of euro

Legal reserve Other reserves

A. Opening balances 76,403 541,612 

B. Increases 106 0

Allocation of 2010 net income 106 

C. Decreases 0 34,058 

D. Closing balances 76,509 507,554 
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Other information
1. Guarantees given and commitments  

2. Assets lodged as surety for own liabilities and commitments

thousands of euro

Transactions
Total at 

31/12/2011 
Total at 

31/12/2010 

1)  Financial guarantees given 423,665 1,152,459 

a) Banks 293,073 885,328 

b) Customers 130,592 267,131 

2)  Commercial guarantees given

a) Banks

b) Customers

3)  Irrevocable commitments to lend funds 613,028 1,731,133 

a) Banks 0 9,350 

i) of certain use 0 9,350 

ii) of uncertain use

b) Customers 613,028 1,721,783 

i) of certain use 613,028 1,721,783 

ii) of uncertain use

4)  Commitments underlying credit derivatives: sales of protection 802,627 802,627 

5) Assets pledged in guarantee of third party commitments

6) Other commitments 0 0

Total 1,839,320 3,686,219 

thousands of euro

Portfolios
Total at 

31/12/2011 
Total at 

31/12/2010 

1. Financial assets held for trading

2. Financial assets designated at fair value through profit and loss

3. Financial assets available for sale 22,595 27,349 

4. Financial assets held to maturity 253,597 263,874 

5. Due from banks 2,757,395 1,001,592 

6. Due from customers 11,722,544 7,577,412 

7. Property plant and equipment
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5. Management and broking for customer accounts

thousands of euro

Type of services Amount

1. Trading on behalf of customers

a) purchases

1. settled

2. to be settled

b) sales

1. settled

2. to be settled

2. Portfolio management

a) individual

b) collective

3. Custody and administration of securities 28,987,539 

a) third-party securities held in deposit: as custodian bank 

(excluding portfolio management schemes)

1. securities issued by companies included in the consolidation area

2. other securities

b) third party securities in deposit (excluding portfolio management schemes): other 11,051,838 

1. securities issued by companies included in the consolidation area

2. other securities 11,051,838 

c) third-party securities deposited with third parties 5,684,572 

d) portfolio securities deposited with third parties 17,935,701 

4. Other transactions
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6. Change in portfolio adjustments

Here below are provided information regarding the reconciliation of the variations occurred in the period related to adjustments

recorded for every class of financial asset. 

7. Fair value

Please refer to “A.3 Information on fair value” for the analysis of the criteria used to determine the fair value of the financial

assets and liabilities recorded on the financial statements.

thousands of euro

Portfolio adjustments

Total 
Financial assets

available for sale
Financial assets
held to maturity

Due from banks
Due from
customers

A. Opening balances 329 34.734 35.063 

B. Increases 0 735 735 

B.1 Writedowns 735 735 

C. Decreases 73 0 73 

C.1 Writebacks 73 73 

D. Closing balances 256 35.469 35.725
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Part C – Information on the consolidated 
income statement
Section 1 - Interest - Items 10 and 20
1.1 Interest and similar income: breakdown

1.3 Interest and similar income: other information

1.4 Interest and similar expenses: breakdown

thousands of euro

Items Debt securities Loans
Other

transactions
Total

31/12/2011
Total

31/12/2010

1. Financial assets held for trading

2. Financial assets designated at fair value through
profit and loss

3. Financial assets available for sale 31,433 31,433 69,992

4. Financial assets held to maturity 18,344 18,344 20,346

5. Due from banks 41,869 85,498 127,367 82,671

6. Due from customers 416,662 484,516 901,178 957,203

7. Hedging derivatives 

9. Other assets 

Total 508,308 570,014 0 1,078,322 1,130,212

thousands of euro

Items 31/12/2011 31/12/2010

1.3.1 Interest income on financial assets in foreign currencies 27,233 38,314 

thousands of euro

Items Payables Securities
Other

transactions
Total at

31/12/2011
Total at

31/12/2010

1. Due to central banks (108,225) (108,225) (66,828)

2. Due to banks (239,014) (239,014) (187,894)

3. Due to customers (81,776) (81,776) (24,275)

4. Securities in issue (381,924) (381,924) (452,601)

5. Financial liabilities for trading 0 0 

6. Financial liabilities designated at fair value through
profit and loss 0 0 

7. Other liabilities and provisions (521) (521) (284)

8. Hedging derivatives (175,668) (175,668) (256,723)

Total (429,015) (381,924) (176,189) (987,128) (988,605)
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1.5 Interest and similar expenses: differentials on hedging transactions           

1.6 Interest and similar expenses: other information

Section 2 - Fees and commissions - Items 40 and 50
2.1 Fee and commission income: breakdown

thousands of euro

Items/Amounts
Total at

31/12/2011
Total at

31/12/2010

A. Positive differentials on hedging transactions: 442,555 406,678

B. Negative differentials on on hedging transactions: 618,223 663,401

C. Balance (A-B) (175,668) (256,723)

thousands of euro

Items 31/12/2011 31/12/2010

1.6.1 Interest paid on liabilities in foreign currency (27,154) (33,808)

thousands of euro

Type of services/Amounts
Total at

31/12/2011
Total at

31/12/2010

a) guarantees given 1,112 962 

b) credit derivatives 

c) management, broking and consulting services: 4,544 3,639 

1. financial instrument trading

2. currency trading

3. portfolio management

3.1. individual

3.2 collective

4. custody and administration of securities 3,986 3,410 

5. depositary bank

6. placement of securities

7. order receipt and transmission

8. advisory services 558 229 

8.1 on investments

8.2 on financial structure 558 361 

9. distribution of third party services

9.1. portfolio management

9.1.1. individual

9.1.2. collective

9.2. insurance products

9.3. other products

d) collection and payment services

e) servicing related to securitization

f) services for factoring transactions

g) management of rate-and-tax collection agencies

h) multilateral trading facilities management

i) management of current accounts

j) other services 9,237 4,945 

14,893 9,678 
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2.2 Fee and commission expenses: breakdown

Section 3 - Dividend and similar income - Item 70
3.1 Dividend and similar income: breakdown

thousands of euro

Services/Amounts
Total at

31/12/2011
Total at

31/12/2010

a) guarantees received (3,245) (1,663)

b) credit derivatives 

c) management and brokerage services: (670) (1,027)

1. financial instrument trading

2. currency trading

3. portfolio management:

3.1 own portfolio

3.2 third party portfolio

4. custody and administration of securities (670) (1,027)

5. placement of financial instruments

6. external marketing of financial instruments, products and services

d) collection and payment services (313) (315)

e) other services (723) (514)

Total (4,951) (3,519)

thousands of euro

Items/Income

Total at
31/12/2011

Total at
31/12/2010

dividend
income from
Mutual Fund

shares
dividend

income from
Mutual Fund

shares

A. Financial assets held for trading 

B. Financial assets available for sale 2,359 2,540 

C. Financial assets designated at fair value through profit and loss

D. Investments in associates and companies subject to joint control 750 X X

Total 3,109 2,540 
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Section 4 - Net trading gains (losses) - Item 80
4.1 Net trading gains (losses): breakdown

Section 5 - Fair value adjustment in hedge accounting - Item 90
5.1 Fair value adjustment in hedge accounting: breakdown

thousands of euro

Transactions/Income components
Capital
gains
(A)

Trading
profits

(B)

Capital
losses

(C)

Trading
losses

(D)

Net result
(losses) [(A+B) -

(C+D)]

1. Financial assets hels for trading

1.1 Debt securities

1.2 Equity instruments

1.3 Mutual fund shares

1.4 Loans

1.5 Others

2. Financial liabilities held for trading

2.1 Debt securities

2.2 Payables

2.3 Others

3. Financial assets and liabilities: foreign exchange differences X X X X (71)

4. Derivatives 2,049,086 1,175,098 2,120,375 1,161,528 (57,859)

4.1 Financial derivatives:   2,026,898 1,175,098 2,097,161 1,161,528 (56,833)

- on debt securities and interest rates 2,019,510 1,170,690 2,089,773 1,157,122 (56,695)

- on equity instruments and stock indexes 7,388 4,408 7,388 4,406 2 

- on currencies and gold X X X X (140)

- Others 0 

4.2 Credit derivatives 22,188 23,214 (1,026)

Total 2,049,086 1,175,098 2,120,375 1,161,528 (57,930)

thousands of euro

Income components/Amounts
Total at

31/12/2011
Total at

31/12/2010

A. Income from: 964,848 429,832 

A.1 Fair value hedge derivatives

A.2 Financial assets hedged (fair value) 954,997 429,832 

A.3 Financial liabilities hedged (fair value) 9,851 

A.4 Cash flow hedge: derivatives

A.5 Currency asset and liabilities

Total hedging income (A) 964,848 429,832 

B. Expenses for: 963,867 430,092 

B.1 Fair value hedge derivatives 963,867 427,294 

B.2 Financial assets hedged (fair value) 

B.3 Financial liabilities hedged (fair value) 2,798 

B.4 Cash flow hedge: derivatives 

B.5 Currency asset and liabilities

Total hedging expenses (B) 963,867 430,092 

C. Fair value adjustment in hedge accounting (A – B) 981 (260)



2011 // DEXIA CREDIOP BANKING GROUP // 259

Section 6 - Gains (losses) on disposal or repurchase - Item 100
6.1 Gains (Losses) on disposal/repurchase: breakdown

Financial assets

The net loss of 29 million stems mainly from the following:

- loans to banks: operations from early repayment of mortgages with the parent Dexia Credit Local Sa for a total nominal value

of 400 million euros and the payment of compensation;

- loans to customers: assignments of debt securities made during the year with companies in the Dexia Group for a nominal

value of 250 million euros.

Financial liabilities

During the year 2011 it was decided to repurchase the securities issued for a total nominal value of 369 million euros. The

difference between the repurchase price and the carrying value of these liabilities in the financial statements and the result of

the cancellation of any hedging transactions amounted to 12.9 million recognized in the income statement for the same period.

thousands of euro

Items/Income components

Total at
31/12/2011

Total at
31/12/2010

Gains Losses Net result Gains Losses Net result

Financial assets

1. Due from banks 6 8,370 (8,364) 3,217 39,219 (36,002)

2. Due from customers 314 20,876 (20,562) 1,017 70,565 (69,548)

3. Financial assets available for sale 6 62 (56) 9,379 40,194 (30,815)

3.1 Debt securities 6 8,626 40,194 (31,568)

3.2 Equity instruments 62 (62) 753 753 

3.3 Mutual fund shares

3.4 Loans

4. Financial assets held to maturity

Total assets 326 29,308 (28,982) 13,613 149,978 (136,365)

Financial liabilities

1. Due to banks

2. Due to customers

3. Securities issued 12,914 12,914 763 763 

Total liabilities 12,914 0 12,914 763 0 763 
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Section 8 - Net adjustments for impairment - Item 130
8.1 Net adjustments for impairment: breakdown

8.4 Net impairment losses on other financial activities: breakdown

thousands of euro

Transactions/Income
components

Impairment losses Recoveries

Total at  
31/12/2011

Total at
31/12/2010  

Specific
Collective

impairment
Specific

Collective
impairment

Writeoffs Other
A B A B

A. Due from banks 0 4 4 546 

- Loans 4 4 (45)

- Debt securities 591 

B. Due from customers (463) (931) 265 (1,129) 3,462 

- Loans (463) 196 (267) 482 

- Debt securities (931) 69 (862) 2,980 

C. Total (463) (931) 269 (1,125) 4,008 

Key
A= interest

B= other writebacks

thousands of euro

Transactions/Income
components

Impairment losses Recoveries

Total at
31/12/2011

Total at  
31/12/2010  

Specific
Collective

impairment
Specific

Collective
impairment

Writeoffs Other
A B A B

A. Guarantees (1,905) (1,905) 0 

B. Credit derivatives

C. Commitments to disburse funds

D. Other operations

E. Total (1,905) (1,905) 0 

Key
A= interest

B= other writebacks
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Section 11 - Administrative expenses - Item 180
11.1 Personnel expenses: breakdown

11.2 Average number of employees by category

11.3 Company defined-benefit pension funds: total costs

thousands of euro

Type of expense/Sectors
Total at

31/12/2011
Total at

31/12/2010

1) Employees (24,003) (24,805)

a) wages and salaries (14,995) (15,837)

b) social security contributions (4,141) (4,110)

c) termination indemnities (922) (974)

d) other termination expenses

e) provisions for termination indemnities (115) (149)

f) provision for post emplyment benefits: (1,285) (1,621)

– defined contribution plans

– defined benefits plans (1,285) (1,.621)

g) payments to complementary external pension funds: (394) (408)

– defined contribution plans

– defined benefits plans (394) (408)

h) costs from share based payments

i) other employee benefits (2,151) (1,706)

2) Other non-retired personnel

3) Directors and statutory auditors (1,187) (1,035)

4) Early retirement costs

Total (25,190) (25,840)

Employees:

a) managers 30 

b) middle managers 111 

c) remaining employees 64 

Other personnel

Total 205 

thousands of euro

31/12/2011 31/12/2010

a) Post employment benefit costs 599 (645)

b) Interest expenses 1,762 (1,983)

c) Yield of the assets (1,265) 1,235 

d) Actuarial losses (gains) recognized in the balance sheet 189 (228)

Total 1,285 (1,621)
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11.4 Other employee benefits

The costs for provisions in the year amounted to € 498,000. 

This cost also includes the expense specifically allocated to the Solidarity Provisions (€ 161,000), for which we would refer you

to the information supplied in Section 12 "Provisions for risks and charges".

11.5 Other administrative expenses: breakdown

The fees paid by the Dexia Crediop S.p.A. Group for auditing services in 2011 are shown below, net of VAT and expenses which

will be reimbursed:

thousands of euro

Type of expense/Amount 31/12/2011 31/12/2010

Maintenance costs on furniture and equipment (3) (11)

Property rent payments (420) (421)

Telephone expenses (241) (233)

Postal and telegraph expenses (36) (38)

Costs for software maintenance and updating (1,219) (872)

Security (164) (188)

Car rental expenses (173) (220)

Energy, heating and water expenses (252) (255)

Maintenance costs on company-owned buildings (523) (475)

IT Services (4,353) (4,331)

Stationery and printing (51) (47)

Costs for cleaning premises (247) (240)

Professional fees (3,210) (3,210)

Advertising and public relations (382) (638)

Books, periodicals and information services (88) (79)

Expenses for issued securities 0 (27)

Insurance premiums (65) (67)

Membership fees (594) (625)

Study grants (56) (12)

Cultural and social contributions (60) (68)

Other expenses (743) (689)

Total (12,880) (12,746)

Indirect taxes

–  Local property taxes (298) (298)

–  Flat-rate tax, Decree 601/73

– Other (105) (110)

Total (403) (408)

Total other administrative expenses (13,283) (13,154)

thousands of euro

Services
Dexia Crediop

S.p.A.
Dexia Crediop per la

Cartolarizzazione S.r.l.
Tevere Finance

S.r.l.
Dexia Crediop

Ireland
COBG S.r.l.

Legal Audit 117 17

Other auditing services 83 26 13 20 5

Total 200 26 30 20 5
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Section 12 - Net provisions for risks and charges - Item 190
12.1 Net provisions for risks and charges: breakdown

Section 13 - Net adjustments on property plant and equipment - Item 200
13.1 Net adjustments on property plant and equipment: breakdown

13.1.1 Pertaining to the banking group

Section 14 - Net adjustments on intangible assets - Item 210
14.1 Net adjustments on intangible assets: breakdown

thousands of euro

Items/Income components
Total at

31/12/2011 
Total at

31/12/2010 

Provisions Uses Net result Provisions Uses Net result

A. Risks

Total Risks

B. Charges 

1. Personnel (513) 1,440 927 (503) (503)

2. Others (4,082) (4,082) (7,100) (7,100)

Total Charges (4,595) 1,440 (3,155) (7,603) (7,603)

Total Risks and Charges (4,595) 1,440 (3,155) (7,603) (7,603)

thousands of euro

Assets/Income components
Amortization

(a)
Impairment losses

(b)
Writebacks

(c)
Net result
(a + b - c)

A. Property plant and equipment

A.1 Company owned (1,043) (1,043)

- used in operations (1,043) (1,043)

- investment 

A.2 Acquired under financial lease

- used in operations

- investment 

Total (1,043) (1,043)

thousands of euro

Assets/Income components
Amortization

(a)
Impairment losses

(b)
Writebacks

(c)
Net result 
(a + b - c)

A. Intangible assets

A.1 Company owned (1,428) (1,428)

- Internally generated

- Other (1,428) (1,428)

A.2 Acquired on financial lease

Total (1,428) (1,428)
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Section 15 - Other operating expenses and revenues - Item 220
15.1 Other operating expenses: breakdown

15.2 Other operating revenues: breakdown

thousands of euro

Income components/Amounts
Total at

31/12/2011
Total at

31/12/2010

Interbank charges 0 (2)

Other expenses (11) (13)

Total (11) (15)

thousands of euro

Income components/Amounts
Total at

31/12/2011
Total at

31/12/2010

Rents collected 22 240 

Interbank revenues 0 8 

Recovery of expenses 71 1 

Other income 344 626 

Total 437 875 
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Section 20 - Taxes on income from continuing operations - Item 290
20.1 Taxes on income from continuing operations: breakdown

The change in deferred tax assets amounted to 4,470 thousand euros, is due to the positive balance between increases and decreases

for the period as indicated in Tables 14.3 and 14.4.

20.2 Reconciliation between theoretical tax charge and effective tax xharge

thousands of euro

Income components/Sectors
Total at

31/12/2011
Total at

31/12/2010

1. Current taxes (-) (2,629) (21,123)

2. Changes in current taxes compared to previous periods (+/-)

3. Decrease in current taxes for the period  +)

4. Changes in deferred tax assets (+/-) (4,370) 16,089 

5. Changes in deferred tax liabilities (+/-)

6. Taxes for the period (-)            (-1+/-2+3+/-4+/-5) (6,999) (5,034)

thousands of euro

Taxable income/variations/taxes ( +/- )
31/12/2011

Taxable amount Tax

Pre-tax profit (Rate 33.07%) (30,357) 10,039 

Pre-tax profit (Rate 12.50%) 4,466 (558)

1 Tax increase (Rate 27.50%) 52,172 (14,347)

2 Tax decrease (Rate 27.50%) (18,314) 5,036 

3 Greater amount taxable - IRAP (Regional Business Tax) (Rate 5.57%) 30,253 (1,685)

4 Tax increase (Rate 5.57%) 42,996 (2,395)

5 Tax decrease (Rate 5.57%) (12,687) 707 

6 Deferred Taxes from consolidation entries 12,569 (3,796)

7 Taxes for current period (6,999)
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Part D - Consolidated comprehensive income
Detailed statement of consolidated comprehensive income

thousands of euro

Items 
Gross

amount
Income

tax
Net

amount

10. Net Income (Loss) for the period (15,475) (6,999) (22,474)

Other comprehensive income

20. Financial assets available for sale: (161,362) 4,782 (156,580)

a) changes in fair value (165,363) 5,572 (159,791)

b) reversal to income statement

-  impairment losses

-  profits/losses from disposals (597) 197 (400)

c) other changes 4,598 (987) 3,611 

30 Property plant and equipment

40. Intangible assets

50. Hedge of foreign investments:

a) changes in fair value

b) reversal to income statement

c) other changes

60. Cash flow hedging: 572 (99) 473 

a) changes in fair value 572 (99) 473 

b) reversal to income statement

c) other changes

70. Exchange rate differences: 

a) changes in fair value

b) reversal to income statement

c) other changes

80. Non-current assets held for sale:

a) changes in fair value

b) reversal to income statement

c) other changes

90. Actuarial gains (losses) on defined benefits plans

100. Share of valuation reserves related to equity investments:

a) changes in fair value

b) reversal to income statement

-  impairment losses

-  profits/losses from disposals

c) other changes

110. Total other income components (160,790) 4,683 (156,107)

120 Comprehensive income (10 + 110) (176,265) (2,316) (178,581)

130. Consolidated comprehensive income pertinent to minority interests

140. Consolidated comprehensive income pertinent to Parent Company (176,265) (2,316) (178,581)
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Part E - Comments on risks and associated
hedging policies 
The information which must be given pursuant to Memorandum n. 263 “New provisions on prudential surveillance for banks”

issued by the Bank of Italy on 27th December 2006 (Title IV, Chapter I “Information for the public”) is given at the website of Dexia

Crediop S.p.A. 

(www.dexia.com).

Section 1 - Risks for the banking group

1.1 Credit risk 
Qualitative information

1. General aspects  

The area of operations concentrates on financing investments in the public sector and large infrastructure schemes.

2. Credit risk management policies  

2.1 Organisational aspects  

The credit risk is the risk of loss linked to the counterparts’ incapacity to honour their financial obligations. The factors

which influence the level of this risk are: 

the counterparty’s creditworthiness, measured by an internal rating (determined on the basis of suitable models);

the customer segment concerned (public sector, corporate sector, project finance, banking and financial sector, etc.);

the economic, legal and financial context in which the counterpart operates;

the type of operation carried out; 

the duration of the operations; 

any guarantees (tangible, personal, financial) which back the operation. 

Almost all the existing exposure (concentrated almost exclusively with the parent company Dexia Crediop S.p.A.) regards

customers of the public sector, with a low risk level and also subject to particular controls linked to their public nature. Credit

risks (and operative, market and liquidity risks) are monitored by the Risk Management structure, divided up into three "line"

functions - Credit Risk, Operational Risk & Security, Market Risk and Balance Sheet Management - and a "staff" department -

Risk Support - that ensure the control of the respective risk categories and the computerisation of the new strategic processes

in relation to the applications pertaining to Risk Management. 

Risk Management has no hierarchical relationship with the Bank’s operating units. The department therefore operates absolutely

independently from the Front Office structures. 
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Specific Coordination Groups/Committees form an integral part of the internal auditing systems, helping to ensure that the

system works correctly. 

The Credit Committee’s task is to examine loan proposals of any technical type. The Committee takes decisions relating to risks

and financial conditions on the basis of proposals made by the competent operational Department and an opinion regarding the

level of risk provided by the Risk Management Department. 

The Default Watchlist Coordination Committee examines situations falling within the criteria of defaults as established by the

Supervisory Authorities and by Dexia Group policies. 

2.2 Management, measuring and auditing systems  

As regards the methods of management, measuring and auditing, certain guidelines have been fixed at Group level. 

The Group has developed systems of internal annotation (SNI) for the various counterpart types, including: Corporate, Project

Finance, the Local Public Sector (SPL - Settore Pubblico Locale) of western Europe, "Public Satellites”, “Private Satellites”,

Sovereign Banks.

The internal rating system (IRS) defined on the basis of the most advanced methods (Advanced IRBA) involves: 

the adoption of internal procedures which allow for the calculations by and historical documentation of the IRSs; 

the progressive development of an information system (FERMAT) aimed at consolidating - in a common standardised form -

the information relating to all counterparties (Client Database) and all exposure (Exposure Database) of the Group; 

the adoption of a system for measuring the Bank’s entire risks on the basis of an approach based on its own economic resources. 

2.3 Credit risk mitigation techniques  

As concerns operations in derivatives, the ISDA Master Agreement is complete with the Credit Support Annex (CSA) for much

of the banking counterparties: this securitisation agreement minimises the credit risk through the regular (daily, weekly or

monthly) exchange of margins as a guarantee of the net value of the bilateral exposure. 

The forms of real guarantees used are essentially pledges (mainly on securities) and much less frequently mortgages on properties.

The management of these guarantees is the task of the administrative and legal offices.

The counterparties offering personal guarantees are banks, in the vast majority of cases, and sometimes public local or territorial

authorities. The credit risk of these counterparties is assessed on the basis of the external and internal ratings attributed to them. 

The purchase of credit derivatives is not normally used as a mitigation technique, although it is permissible. 

Since financing activities are mainly aimed at the domestic public sector, the majority of guarantees backing loans consist of the

issue of payment notes issued by local entities or the debt service provided by the Italian State. 



2011 // DEXIA CREDIOP BANKING GROUP // 269

2.4 Impaired financial assets 

The Group has issued specific rules governing the treatment of non-performing loans and actions to be taken in order to

manage such loans so as to ensure that the procedures aimed at a positive outcome are implemented correctly. 

These rules define the general guidelines within which the individual organisational units treat this subject within the scope of

their own responsibilities. 

The various conditions of each non-performing loan have been classified within the scope of an internal watchlist consisting of

four categories with an ascending scale of seriousness: 

monitored loans;

pre-problem loans; 

problem loans; 

non-performing loans.  

The Default Watchlist Coordinating Committee is responsible for examining the non-performing positions and proposes: 

their classification in one of the four categories;

the adoption of specific writedowns on the loans; 

the adoption of statistical or flat-rate adjustments which reflect the Expected Loss.  

Transactions which previously included in the default/watchlist categories are re-classified as “performing” when the counterparty

emerges from a situation of economic/financial difficulty and returns to making all payments regularly as before.

Quantitative information
A. Credit quality
A.1. Performing and non-performing credit exposures: amounts, write-downs, trends, economic and geographical

distribution

A.1.1 Breakdowvof financial assets by portfolio classification and credit quality (book values)

thousands of euro

Portfolio/quality

Banking group Other companies

Total Doubtful
loans

Substandard
loans

Restructured
loans

Past due
loans 

Other assets 
Non-

performing
Other

1. Financial assets held for trading 5,307,652 5,307,652 

2. Financial assets available for sale 558,229 558,229 

3. Financial assets held to maturity 338,415 338,415 

4. Due from banks 12,360,442 12,360,442 

5. Due from customers 786 29,161,043 29,161,829 

6. Financial assets designated at fair value
through profit and loss

7. Non-current assets held for sale

8. Hedging derivatives 599,431 599,431 

Total at 31/12/2011 786 0 48,325,212 48,325,998 

Total at 31/12/2010 786 3,013 43,760,363 43,764,162 
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A.1.2 Breakdown of credit exposure by portfolio and credit quality (gross and net values)

A.1.3 Banking group - On- and off-balance sheet credit exposure to banks: gross and net amounts

thousands of euro

Portfolio/quality

Non-performing assets Performing Total 
(net

exposure)
Gross

exposure
Specific

impairment
Net

exposure
Gross

exposure
Collective

impairment
Net

exposure

A. Banking group

1. Financial assets held for trading X X 5,307,652 5,307,652 

2. Financial assets available for sale 558,229 558,229 

3. Financial assets held to maturity 338,415 338,415 

4. Due from banks 12,360,698 256 12,360,442 12,360,442 

5. Due from customers 7,570 6,784 786 29,196,512 35,469 29,161,043 29,161,829 

6. Financial assets designated at fair value through
profit and loss X X 

7. Non-current assets held for sale

8. Hedging derivatives X X 599,431 599,431 

Total A 7,570 6,784 786 41,557,210 35,725 48,325,212 48,325,998 

B. Other companies included in consolidation

1. Financial assets held for trading X X 

2. Financial assets available for sale

3. Financial assets held to maturity

4. Due from banks

5. Due from customers

6. Financial assets designated at fair value through
profit and loss X X 

7. Non-current assets held for sale

8. Hedging derivatives X X 

Total B

Total at 31/12/2011 7,570 6,784 786 41,557,210 35,725 48,325,212 48,325,998 

Total at 31/12/2010 10,120 6,321 3,799 39,019,963 35,063 43,760,363 43,764,162 

thousands of euro

Type of exposure/Amounts
Gross

exposure
Specific

impairment
Collective

impairment
Net

exposure

A. ON-BALANCE SHEET EXPOSURE

a) Non-performing loans X 

b) Substandard loans X 

c) Restructured loans X 

d) Past due loans X 

e) Other assets 12,360,698 X 256 12,360,442 

Total  A 12,360,698 0 256 12,360,442 

B. OFF-BALANCE SHEET EXPOSURE

a) Non-performing X 

b) Others 1,147,673 X 1,147,673 

Total  B 1,147,673 0 0 1,147,673 

Total (A+B) 13,508,371 0 256 13,508,115 
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A.1.6 Banking group - On- and off-balance sheet credit exposure to customers: gross and net amounts 

A.1.7 Banking group - On-balance sheet credit exposures to customers: trend of gross non-performing exposures

thousands of euro

Type of exposure/Amounts
Gross

exposure
Specific

impairment
Collective

impairment
Net

exposure

A. ON-BALANCE SHEET EXPOSURE

a) Non-performing loans 7,570 6,784 X 786 

b) Substantial loans X 

c) Restructured loans X 

d) Past due loans X 

f) Other assets 30,093,156 X 35,469 30,057,687 

Total A 30,100,726 6,784 35,469 30,058,473 

B. OFF-BALANCE-SHEET EXPOSURE

a) Non performing X 

b) Others 2,256,329 X 2,256,329 

Total B 2,256,329 0 0 2,256,329 

Total (A+B) 32,357,055 6,784 35,469 32,314,802 

thousands of euro

Reasons/Categories
Non-performing 

loans
Substandard

loans
Restructured

loans
Past due loans 

A. Initial gross exposure 6,607 3,513 

- of which: exposures sold but not derecognized

B. Increases 963 0

B.1 transfers from performing loans

B.2 transfers of impaired loans from other categories 963

B.3 other increases

C. Decreases 3,513 

C.1 transfers to performing loans 2,560 

C.2 writeoffs

C.3 repayments

C.4 credit disposals

C.5 transfers of impaired loans to other categories 953 

C.6 other decreases

D. Closing gross exposure 7,570 0

- of which: loans sold but not derecognized
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A.1.8 Banking group - On-balance sheet credit exposure to customers: trend of total adjustments

A.2 Classification of exposure according to external and internal ratings
A.2.1 Banking group - breakdown of on- and off-balance-sheet credit exposure according to external ratings

The exposure considered is that of the financial statements included in the tables above A.1.3 and A.1.6. The external rating

classes adopted to complete the table are those used by Standard&Poor's, Moody's and Fitch. Given that several external

ratings are assigned, the criteria adopted in making the choice is that established by the Bank of Italy, namely where there

are two ratings, the worst is used, where there are three ratings the two best are identified, and, if these differ, the worse of

the two is chosen. In order to breakdown according to ratings classes, a summary table has been used to convert the classification

envisaged by the various different ratings companies to the credit standing classes.

thousands of euro

Reasons/Categories
Non-performing

loans
Substandard

loans
Restructured

loans
Past due loans 

A. Total initial adjustments 5,821 500 

- of which: loans sold but not derecognized

B. Increases 963 0

B.1 impairment losses 463 

B.2 transfers of impaired loans from other categories 500 

B.3 other increases

C. Decreases 500 

C.1 writebacks on impairment losses

C.2 writebacks on repayments

C.3 writeoffs

C.4 transfers of impaired loans to other categories 500 

C.5 other decreases

D. Total final adjustments 6,784 0

- of which: loans sold but not derecognized

thousands of euro

Exposure
External rating classes

Unrated Total
class 1 class 2 class 3 class 4 class 5 class 6 

A. On-balance sheet exposures 2,172,455 32,000,436 3,350,714 158,600 0 139 4,736,571 42,418,915 

B. Derivatives 639,051 1,395,219 164,502 0 0 0 168,537 2,367,309 

B.1 Financial derivatives 639,051 1,355,783 140,036 168,537 2,303,407 

B.2 Credit derivatives 39,436 24,466 63,902 

C. Guarantees given 301,544 122,121 423,665 

D. Commitments to lend funds 394,245 30,192 188,591 613,028 

Total 2,811,506 34,091,444 3,545,408 158,600 0 139 5,215,820 45,822,917 
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A.2.2 Breakdown of on- and off-balance-sheet credit exposure according to internal rating classes (book values)

A.3 Distribution of secured loan exposure according to type of guarantee
A.3.2 Banking Group - Guaranted credit exposure to customers

thousands of euro
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1. Guaranted in-balance
sheet credit exposures: 2,708,454 3,551 873 64,673 186,455 1,507,127 251,742 168,933 2,183,354

1.3 fully secured 1,915,345 59 64,271 186,455 1,507,127 1,742 155,691 1,915,345
- of which impaired

1.4 partially secured 793,109 3,551 814 402 250,000 13,242 268,009 

- of which impaired

3. Guaranted off-balance
sheet exposures:

58,242 21,737 14,982 36,719

3.1 fully secured 11,472 1,581 9,892 11,473

- of which impaired

3.2 partially secured 46,770 20,156 5,000 25,246

- of which impaired

thousands of euro

Exposure
Internal rating classes

Unrated Total
AAA / AA- A+ / A- BBB+/BBB- BB+/BB- D1 / D2 

A. Cash exposure 7,857,894 21,984,897 11,036,711 1,216,925 18,121 304,367 42,418,915 

B. Derivatives 141,456 1,704,270 469,748 51,835 0 0 2,367,309 

B.1 Financial derivatives 139,145 1,667,145 445,282 51,835 2,303,407 

B.2 Credit derivatives 2,311 37,125 24,466 63,902 

C. Guarantees given 301,388 60,012 62,265 423,665 

D. Commitments to disburse funds 130,264 301,738 124,604 56,422 613,028 

Total 8,129,614 24,292,293 11,691,075 1,387,447 18,121 304,367 45,822,917 
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B. Breakdown and concentration of credit exposure
B.1 Banking group - Breakdown of on- and off-balance sheet customer credit exposure according to sector (book

value)

thousands of euro

Exposure/
Counterparties

Governments Other public entities Financial institutions
Insurance
companies

Non-financial
companies

Other entities
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A. On-balance
sheet exposures

A.1 Doubtful
loans X 147 71 X 639 5,750 X 963 X X X 

A.2 Substandard
loans X X X X X X 

A.3 Restructured
loans X X X X X X 

A.4 Past due loans X X X X X X 

A.5 Other
exposure 8,216,288 X 17,147,152 X 29,780 1,873,180 X 1,114 X 2,819,391 X 4,574 1,676 X 1 

Total A 8,216,288 0 0 17,147,299 71 29,780 1,873,819 5,750 1,114 0 963 0 2,819,391 0 4,574 1,676 0 1 
B. Off-balance
sheet exposures

B.1 Doubtful loans X X X X X X 

B.2 Substandard
loans X X X X X X 

B.3 Other
impaired assets X X X X X X 

B.4 Other
exposure 1,225,236 X 568,564 X 87,003 X X 375,526 X X 

Total B 1,225,236 0 0 568,564 0 0 87,003 0 0 0 0 0 375,526 0 0 0   0 0
Total (A+B)
31/12/2011 9,441,524 0 0 17,715,863 71 29,780 1,960,822 5,750 1,114 0 963 0 3,194,917 0 4,574 1,676 0 1 
Total (A+B)
31/12/2010 10,557,574 0 197 17,750,971 71 27,871 2,075,098 5,750 1,908 0 0 0 3,064,143 500 4,756 649 0 2
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B.2  Banking group - Breakdown of on- and off-balance sheet customer credit exposure according to geographical area

(book value)

Breakdown according to geographic area of relations with customers residing in Italy

thousands of euro

Exposure/Geographical area

North West Italy North East Italy Central Italy Italy - South and Island

Net
exposure

Total
impairment

Net
exposure

Total
impairment

Net
exposure

Total
impairment

Net
exposure

Total
impairment

A. On-balance sheet exposures

A.1 Doubtful loans 8 139 1,034 

A.2 Substandard loans

A.3 Restructured loans

A.4 Past due loans

A.5 Other exposure 7,002,944 13,419 2,903,815 5,027 15,400,515 9,403 4,407,503 7,444 

Total 7,002,944 13,419 2,903,815 5,027 15,400,523 9,403 4,407,642 8,478 

B. Off-balance sheet exposures

B.1 Doubtful loans

B.2 Substandard loans

B.3 Other impaired assets

B.4 Other exposure 418,678 125,619 1,573,098 118,866 

Total 418,678 0 125,619 0 1,573,098 0 118,866 0

Total (A+B) 31/12/2011 7,421,622 13,419 3,029,434 5,027 16,973,621 9,403 4,526,508 8,478 

thousands of euro

Exposure/
Geographical area

Italy Other European countries America Asia Rest of the world

Net
exposure

Total
impairment

Net
exposure

Total
impairment

Net
exposure Total

impairment

Net
exposure

Total
impairment

Net
exposure

Total
impairment

A. On-balance
sheet exposures

A.1 Doubtful loans 147 1,034 639 5,750 
A.2 Substandard
loans
A.3 Restructured
loans

A.4 Past due loans

A.5 Other exposure 29,714,777 35,293 342,910 176 

Total 29,714,924 36,327 343,549 5,926 0 0 0 0 0 0

B. Off-balance
sheet exposures

B.1 Doubtful loans
B.2 Substandard
loans
B.3 Other impaired
assets

B.4 Other exposure 2,236,261 18,186 1,882 

Total 2,236,261 0 18,186 0 1,882 0 0 0 0   0

Total at 31/12/2011 31,951,185 36,327 361,735 5,926 1,882 0 0 0 0   0

Total at 31/12/2010 33,151,302 35,142 259,966 5,881 4,469 0 32,698 32 0 0
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B.3 Banking group - Distribution of on and off-balance sheet bank lcredit exposure according to geographical area

(book value)

Breakdown according to geographic area of relations with banks residing in Italy

thousands of euro

Exposure/
Geographical area

Italy Other European countries America Asia Rest of the world

Net
exposure

Total
impairment

Net
exposure

Total
impairment

Net
exposure

Total
impairment

Net
exposure

Total
impairment

Net
exposure

Total
impairment

A. On-balance sheet
exposures

A.1 Doubtful loans

A.2 Substandard loans

A.3 Restructured loans

A.4 Past due loans

A.5 Other exposure 1,843,186 226 10,380,069 30 121,679 15,508 

Total  1,843,186 226 10,380,069 30 121,679 0 15,508 0 0 0

B. Off-balance sheet
exposures

B.1 Doubtful loans

B.2 Substandard loans

B.3 Other impaired assets

B.4 Other exposure 406,741 740,932 

Total  406,741 0 740,932 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total at 31/12/2011 2,249,927 226 11,121,001 30 121,679 0 15,508 0 0 0

Total at 31/12/2010 2,502,026 274 7,561,639 55 408,388 0 16,701 0 0 0

Exposure/Geographical area

North West Italy North East Italy Central Italy Italy - South and Island

Net
exposure

Total
impairment

Net
exposure

Total
impairment

Net
exposure

Total
impairment

Net
exposure

Total
impairment

A. On-balance sheet exposures

A.1 Doubtful loans

A.2 Substandard loans

A.3 Restructured loans

A.4 Past due loans

A.5 Other exposure 391,121 901 1,451,164 226 

Total  391,121 0 901 0 1,451,164 226 0 0

B. Off-balance sheet exposures

B.1 Doubtful loans

B.2 Substandard loans

B.3 Other impaired assets

B.4 Other exposure 37,282 17,420 352,039 

Total 37,282 0 17,420 0 352,039 0 0 0

Total 428,403 0 18,321 0 1,803,203 226 0 0
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B.4 Large exposures

C. SECURITISATION AND ASSET DISPOSAL
C.1 Securitisation transactions

Qualitative information
The Bank organised three securitisation operations pursuant to Italian Law no. 130/1999, which were concluded in 2004, 2005

and 2008. In organising these securitisation transactions, the bank sought assistance from the leading specialised rating Agencies:

Moody’s, Standard&Poor’s and FitchRatings.

The transactions were carried out via the special purpose vehicle DCC - Dexia Crediop per la Cartolarizzazione S.r.l. (“DCC”),

whose share capital is held entirely by Dexia Crediop S.p.A., which issued ABSs representing a portfolio of securities issued by

Local and District Authorities in Italy. The securitisation transactions are aimed at the medium-to-long term refinancing of

public-sector bonds held in the Parent Bank’s portfolio. 

The three securitisation transactions, of a traditional type, have the same financial structure and involve hedging against the

interest rate risks inherent in the separate assets and in the ABSs issued, by agreeing interest rate swaps with Dexia Crediop S.p.A..

The class A ABS securities (senior) issued by the vehicle company have the benefit of an unconditioned first-demand guarantee

granted by Dexia Crediop S.p.A.; pursuant to this guarantee and the consequent obligation to buy back the securities and repay

the entire ABS in the case of any credit or fiscal event, the assets sold have not been cancelled from the Bank’s financial statement,

in accordance with the indications of IAS 39, and the securities in question are posted on the Italian Parent Bank’s financial statement

as well as the corresponding liabilities for the ABSs issued by the vehicle company.

In order to minimise management and operational risks, the services of the corporate servicer, paying agent and account bank

were provided by entities outside the Group.

The information on the securitisation operations in which the Bank underwrote the deed for the issue of all the ABS securities

are given in Section 1.3 “Liquidity risk”.

As regards the role of investor, the portfolio as at 31st December 2011 consists entirely of senior securities deriving mainly from

the securitisation of loans to entities belonging to the Public Administration or from funds deriving from their real estate assets.

a) Exposures 41,173,309 thousands of euro

b) Weighted exposures 4,963,497 thousands of euro

c) Number of exposures 33 
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C.1.1 Banking group - Breakdown of exposure from securitisation transactions according to quality of underlying

assets

C.1.3 Banking group - Exposure from main "third party" securitisation transactions according to type of securitised

asset and type of exposure

thousands of euro

Quality of
underlying

assets/Exposure

Cash exposure Guarantees given Credit lines

Senior Mezzanine Junior Senior Mezzanine Junior Senior Mezzanine Junior

Gross
exposure

Net
exposure

Gross
expo-
sure

Net
expo-
sure

Gross
expo-
sure

Net
expo-
sure

Gross
expo-
sure

Net
expo-
sure

Gross
expo-
sure

Net
expo-
sure

Gross
expo-
sure

Net
expo-
sure

Gross
expo-
sure

Net
expo-
sure

Gross
expo-
sure

Net
expo-
sure

Gross
expo-
sure

Net
expo-
sure

A. With own
underlying
assets:

a) impaired

b) others

B. With third
parties' under-
lying assets: 1,266,837 1,266,837 

a) impaired

b) others 1,266,837 1,266,837 

thousands of euro

Type of
underlying

assets/
Exposure

Cash exposure Guarantees given Credit lines

Senior Mezzanine Junior Senior Mezzanine Junior Senior Mezzanine Junior

Book
value

Impair-
ment/

Writebacks

Book
value

Impair-
ment/
Write-
backs

Book
value

Impair-
ment/
Write-
backs

Net
expo-
sure

Impair-
ment/
Write-
backs

Net
expo-
sure

Impair-
ment/
Write-
backs

Net
expo-
sure

Impair-
ment/
Write-
backs

Net
expo-
sure

Impair-
ment/
Write-
backs

Net
expo-
sure

Impair-
ment/
Write-
backs

Net
expo-
sure

Impair-
ment/
Write-
backs

A.1  

-  Non-residential
mortgage loans 91,923 

A.2  

- Other 1,174,914 

A.3 

-  Residential
mortgage loans
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C.1.4 Banking group - Breakdown of exposure to securitisation transactions distributed by portfolio and type

C.1.6 Banking group - Stakes in special purpose vehicles

thousands of euro

Exposure/Portfolio
Financial assets
held for trading

Financial
assets

designated
at fair value

through
profit and loss

Financial
assets

available
for sale

Financial
assets held
to maturity

Loans
Total at

31/12/2011
Total at

31/12/2010

1. On-balance sheet exposures

- Senior 1,266,837 1,266,837 1,373,994 

- Mezzanine

- Junior

2. Off-balance sheet exposures

- Senior

- Mezzanine

- Junior

Name Registered office % Stake

DCC - Dexia Crediop per la cartolarizzazione S.r.l. Rome 100
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C.2 Disposal transactions

C.2.1 Banking group - Financial assets sold but not derecognized

C.2.2 Banking group - Financial liabilities related to financial assets sold not derecognized

Financial liabilities related to assets sold but not derecognized refer to repurchase agreements, as shown in tables 1.1 "Due to

banks" and 1.2 "Due to customers". Those regarding Securities issued refer to the securitisation carried out as originator and

recorded as a consequence of the consolidation of the SPV; the relative assets are recorde as debt securities. 

thousands of euro

Technical types/Portfolio

Financial
assets held
for trading

Financial
assets

designated
at fair value

through
profit and loss

Financial
assets

available
for sale

Financial
assets
held to

maturity

Due from
banks

Due from
customers

Total

A B C A B C A B C A B C A B C A B C 31/12/2011 31/12/2010
A. Cash assets

1. Debt securities 2,757,395 3,095,060 5,852,455 5,147,156

2. Equity instruments X X X X X X X X X 

3. Mutual fund shares X X X X X X X X X 

4. Loans

B. Derivatives X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X 

Total at 31/12/2011 2,757,395 3,095,060 5,852,455

of which impaired

Total at 31/12/2010 1,001,592 4,145,564 5,147,156

of which impaired

Key: 
A = financial assets sold and fully recognized (book value)
B = financial assets sold and partially recognized (book value) 
C = financial assets sold and partially recognized (full value) 

thousands of euro

Liabilities/Assets portfolio
Financial

assets held
for trading

Financial assets
designated
at fair value

through
profit and loss

Financial
assets

available
for sale

Financial
assets held
to maturity

Due from
banks

Due from
customers Total

1. Due to customers

a) fully recognized

b) partially recognized

2. Due to banks 3,192,383

a) fully recognized 3,192,383

b) partially recognized

3. Securities in issue

a) fully recognized

b) partially recognized

Total at 31/12/2011 0 0 0 0 0 0 3,192,383
Total at 31/12/2010 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,461,657
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1.2 Banking Group – Market risks   

1.2.1 - Interest rate risk and price risk - regulatory trading book   

INTEREST RATE RISK
Qualitative information 

A. General aspects  

The portfolio consists exclusively of derivative products booked with Dexia Crediop S.p.A. 

Short-term derivatives, mainly forward rate agreements and overnight indexed swaps, are used by the Cash & Liquidity

Management (CLM) Business Line (BL) to hedge the interest rate risk linked to the Euribor parameter and generated by the

bank’s core business.  

Medium and long-term derivatives are almost all balanced intermediation (mainly interest rate swaps). The underlying operations

regard the management of the medium/long term debt, represented by mortgages or securities, of the public clientele, and the

sale of derivative products to financial and Corporate customers. In both cases, the risk is precisely covered by derivatives of the

opposite sign traded on the market. Operations in derivatives are also carried out to counter-balance the changes in the Credit

Value Adjustment (CVA) due to the interest rate trend.

B. Management and measurement methods of interest rate risk and price risk    

The activities for measuring and controlling the interest rate risk, as well as market risks in general, are the responsibility of the

Market Risk and Balance Sheet Management sector of the Risks Management department. 

According to the market risk management policy followed by the Dexia Group, the risk profiles are divided according to

Business Line. This is also the case when banking and trading items are included in the same BL.  

If the single BL can generate an interest rate risk which is more than marginal, operating limits on one or more risk indicators

are imposed and the use is monitored daily. Periodic scenario analyses are also carried out periodically to measure the impact on

the value of the portfolios monitored, by a series of non-parallel instantaneous shocks in the market interest rates. 

The interest rate risk indicators measured are the following:

- Shift sensitivity of fair value; 

- Value at Risk (VaR). 

The shift sensitivity of fair value quantifies the variation in the portfolio value consequent to parallel and instantaneous increases of

the market rates curve.
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The VaR is defined as the maximum potential loss caused by possible adverse movement in market rates, with reference to

a confidence level of 99% and a holding period of 10 working days. 

The internal model is not used to calculate the equity requirements for market risks. 

PRICE RISK
The portfolio is not exposed to price risk. 

Quantitative information
1. Regulatory trading book: breakdown by residual duration (re-pricing date) of cash financial assets and liabilities

and financial derivatives 

thousands of euro

Type/Residual term
on

demand
up to 3
months

between
3 and 6
months

between
6 months
and 1 year

between
1 year and

5 years

between
5 and

10 years

beyond
10 years

Unspecified
duration

1. Cash assets

1.1 Debt securities

- with early redemption option

- others

1.2 Other assets

2. Cash liabilities

2.1 Repurchase agreements

2.2 Other liabilities

3. Financial derivatives

3.1 With underlying security

- Options

+ long positions

+ short positions

- Others

+ long positions 82,415 52,271 61,917 426,500 

+ short positions 82,415 52,271 61,917 426,500 

3.2 Without underlying security

- Options

+ long positions

+ short positions

- Others

+ long positions 21,583,046 12,769,949 1,774,375 8,900,297 5.727.003 10,702,234

+ short positions 6,407 21,643,408 12,856,664 1,769,518 8,888,435 5.599.094 10,963,377 
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3. Regulatory trading book - internal models and other sensitivity analysis methods   

With regards to the short-term horizon, the above derivatives of the CLM classified in the trading portfolio but with the managerial

purpose of hedging, as of 31 December 2011 showed a shift-sensitivity of -2.8 mln/€ for 100 basis points (b.p.). Since the

interest rate risk indicators are measured within the overall operating limits assigned to the CLM, please see the section dedicated

to the banking portfolio to obtain a more comprehensive vision of this risk. 

With regard to the broking of medium and long term derivatives at par value carried out by the Public & Wholesale Banking

business line, a sensitivity shift of € 7,677 for every base point was registered at 31.12.2011, against an established ceiling of

€ 10,000. Sensitivity remained constantly below this limit in 2011. The same BL is responsible for managing shift sensitivity to

CVA interest rates as mentioned in the previous paragraph. This management takes place through the trading of derivatives (plain

vanilla interest rate swaps), which as of 31 December show a sensitivity of -€ 72,122 for 1 b.p. against sensitivity of the CVA

estimated as +€ +317,356.

1.2.2 - Interest rate risk and price risk - Banking book    

INTEREST RATE RISK
Qualitative information 

A. General aspects, management and measurement methods of interest rate risk and price risk    

Interest rate exposure on the short-term horizon in the banking portfolio, generated in particular by re-fixing of variable rates,

is managed by the Cash and Liquidity Management BL (CLM) of Dexia Crediop S.p.A. For subsidiaries, no tangible exposure to

the interest rate risk is recorded. Medium and long-term exposure, generated by a mismatching of fixed rate assets and

liabilities (including, most recently, Own Funds, allocated both at the parent company and the subsidiary Dexia Crediop Ireland)

is of a residual nature as the new fixed rate production is hedged at the same time as it is recorded by the BL operating on the

bank portfolio.

As with the regulatory trading book, the market risk monitoring and measurement activities are the responsibility of the Market

Risk e Balance Sheet Management department, which calculates risk/performance indexes, verifying compliance with the

operating limits established.  

Exposure to the interest rate risk is also subject to regular disclosure and analysis by the Finance Committee with specific regard

to the operative proposals for opening and closing the rate risk and the alternative investments to conventional liabilities at fixed

rates represented by Own funds. The management and measurement of the medium and long-term interest rate risk takes place

on a consolidated level.

For the interest rate risk, derivatives to hedge the fair value or the cash flows are used. The first category, fair value hedge

derivatives, also includes certain derivatives of the CLM classified in the trading portfolio (see paragraph 2.1). The most commonly

used instruments are Overnight Indexed Swaps, Forward Rate Agreements and Interest Rate Swaps.
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B. B. Fair value hedging activities  

Fair value hedging (both micro and macro, the latter by means of the Portfolio Hedge) is used to immunise the market value of

the underlying financial instruments, protecting them against adverse changes in market rates. 

The instruments underlying the hedging are specific financial assets or liabilities, or aggregates of similar type, and transactions

are carried out under market conditions.

Initial tests are performed on each hedge regarding the applicability of hedge accounting as well as regular tests on their

effectiveness.

C. Cash flow hedging   

Hedging, the purpose of which is to stabilise cash flow indexed to variable parameters (typically Euribor), have specific financial

assets or liabilities as underlying elements, which are homogeneous with them and realised at market conditions. 

Initial tests are performed on each hedge regarding the applicability of hedge accounting as well as regular tests on their

effectiveness. 

PRICE RISK
Qualitative information 

A. General aspects, management and measurement of price risk     

The banking portfolio is exposed to price risk relative to equity securities classified among assets available for sale.  

Of the above investments, all unlisted, the one relating to the Istituto per il Credito Sportivo is particularly significant. The fair value

was measured on the basis of a mixed capital-income method. 

B. Price risk hedging activities     

Given the nature underlying the price risk, no hedges are implemented.
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Quantitative information
1.  Banking book: breakdown by residual duration (re-pricing date) of cash financial assets and liabilities

thousands of euro

Type/ Residual term
on

demand
up to 3
months

between
3 and 6
months

between
6 months
and 1 year

between
1 year and

5 years

between
5 and 10

years

beyond
10 years

Unspecified
duration

1. Cash assets 3,206,241 12,477,831 9,520,428 2,639,760 4,319,558 3,167,092 7,211,552 786 

1.1 Debt securities 2,135,006 4,361,325 3,915,980 1,098,489 1,831,687 2,045,678 4,713,563

- with early redemption option

- others 2,135,006 4,361,325 3,915,980 1,098,489 1,831,687 2,045,678 4,713,563 

1.2 Due from banks 8,500 6,841,713 1,269,878 1,031,664 76,480 90,004 74,172 

1.3 Due from customers 1,062,735 1,274,794 4,334,570 509,607 2,411,391 1,031,410 2,423,817 786 

- current accounts

- other loans 1,062,735 1,274,793 4,334,570 509,607 2,411,391 1,031,410 2,423,817 786 

- with early redemption option

- others 1,062,735 1,274,793 4,334,570 509,607 2,411,391 1,031,410 2,423,817 786 

2. Cash liabilities 1,877,045 20,082,939 11,387,624 3,563,541 1,145,356 114,623 1,086,350 

2.1 Due to customers 616,107 139,370 17,697 340,000 108,656 945,362 

- current accounts 305,386 

- other payables 310,721 139,370 17,697 340,000 108,656 945,362 

- with early redemption option

- others 310,721 139,370 17,697 340,000 108,656 945,362 

2.2 Due to banks 877,296 11,160,524 10,252,234 1,020,208 204,011 49,170 62,750 

- current accounts

- other payables 877,296 11,160,524 10,252,234 1,020,208 204,011 49,170 62,750 

2.3 Debt securities 383,642 8,783,045 1,117,693 2,203,333 832,689 65,453 78,238 

- with early redemption option

- others 383,642 8,783,045 1,117,693 2,203,333 832,689 65,453 78,238 

2.4 Other liabilities 

- with early redemption option

- other

3. Financial derivatives

3.1 With underlying security

- Options

+ long positions

+ short positions

- Others

+ long positions 368,987 328,859 11,602 102,527 191 9,980 

+ short positions 51,649 10,827 11,125 98,310 155,806 454,902 

3.2 Without underlying security

- Options

+ long positions

+ short positions

- Others

+ long positions 105,000 16,479,809 23,621,810 2,880,907 2,126,507 541,363 68,000 

+ short positions 20,000 11,384,656 20,204,479 1,538,070 4,010,932 2,770,310 5,863,996 
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2. Banking book - internal models and other sensitivity analysis methods   
The following indicators were noted during 2011 in relation to the above-mentioned CLM portfolio:   

At 31 December 2011, the sensitivity of -1.98 million / €, for management purposes, and detected above reported, includes
a sensitivity equal to -2.8 million / € generated by CLM derivatives classified as trading purposes although management
coverage. The following graphs show the evolution of indicators during 2011:

For both indicators measured, no excess was recorded during 2011 over and above the operating limits. 
With regards to the measurement of the rate risk on the medium and long-term horizon, the following indicators were recorded in 2011:

It should be noted that the sensitivity detected at 31 December 2011 for management purposes stated above and includes a
sensitivity equal to +55.7 mln/€ liabilities attributable to conventional fixed-rate represented by the Own Funds Group.
There were no trespassing during 2011 compared to the operational limit set at 15 million/€.
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(Euro) VAR 10 days Shift Sensitivity 100 bps
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31-Dec-11 661,134 1,981,265

minimum 37,793 32,301

average 344,443 5,165,259

maximum 941,582 24,921,798

(Euro) Shift Sensitivity 100 bps 
(absolute values)

31-Dec-11 4,385,243

minimum 1,799,040

average 3,510,900

maximum 4,962,657
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1.2.3 - Exchange rate risk     

Qualitative information

A. General aspects, management and measurement of exchange rate risk   

The Group holds financial assets and issues bonds in non-euro currencies with the aim of exploiting favourable market opportunities,

taking into account the cost of exchange rate risks. 

B. Exchange rate risk hedging activities    

Financial assets and liabilities in currencies other than the euro are systematically hedged at the origin against exchange rate

risks using derivative products (cross currency swaps). 

Quantitative information
1. Distribution according to currency of the assets, liabilities and derivatives

thousands of euro

Items
Currencies

US Dollar British pound Yen Canadian Dollar Swiss franc
Other

currencies

A. Financial assets

A.1 Debt securities 321,630 155,633 

A.2 Equity instruments

A.3  Due from banks 147,928 16 2 41 

A.4  Due from customers 1,040 105 

A.5 Other financial assets

B. Other assets

C. Financial liabilities

C.1 Due to banks 275,687 30,045 

C.2 Due to customers

C.3 Debt securities 10,289 

C.4 Other financial liabilities

D. Other liabilities

E. Financial derivatives

- Options

+ long positions

+ short positions

- Others

+ long positions 393,067 32,922 39,920 

+ short positions 586,621 188,555 

Total assets 862,625 189,611 40,027 0 41 0 

Total liabilities 862,308 188,555 40,334 0 0 0 

Differences (+/-) 317 1,056 (307) 0 41 0 
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1.2.4 DERIVATIVES

A. Financial derivatives

A.1 Regulatory trading book: period-end and average notional amounts

thousands of euro

Underlying assets/Type of derivatives

Total at
31/12/2011

Total at
31/12/2010

Over the counter Central counterparties Over the counter Central counterparties

1. Debt securities and interest rates 61,742,117 75,159,385 

a) Options 285,214 296,386 

b) Swaps 61,456,903 75,862,999

c) Forwards

d) Futures

e) Others

2. Equity securities and stock indices 170,650 273,984 

a) Options 27,350 61,284 

b) Swaps 143,300 212,700

c) Forwards

d) Futures

e) Others

3. Foreign exchange rates and gold 595,825 674,998 

a) Options

b) Swaps 595,825 674,998 

c) Forwards

d) Futures

e) Others

4. Commodities

5. Other underlying assets

Total 62,508,592 0 76,108,367 0

Averages 60,983,476 0 74,573,723 0
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A.2 Banking book: period-end and average notional amounts

A.2.1 Hedging

thousands of euro

Underlying assets/
Type of derivatives

Total at
31/12/2011

Total at
31/12/2010

Over the counter Central counterparties Over the counter Central counterparties

1. Debt securities and interest rates 46,007,582 39,379,333 

a) Options 42,261 43,418 

b) Swaps 45,965,321 39,335,915

c) Forwards

d) Futures

e) Others

2. Equity securities and stock indices 2,749,738 6,315,208

a) Options 91,072 91,072 

b) Swaps 2,658,666 6,224,136 

c) Forwards

d) Futures

e) Others

3. Foreign exchange rates and gold 645,260 871,751 

a) Options

b) Swaps 517,183 729,062 

c) Forwards 128,077 142,689 

d) Futures

e) Others

4. Commodities 15,000 

5. Other underlying assets

Total 49,402,580 0 46,581,292 0

Averages 30,025,671 0 32,250,681 0
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A.3 Financial derivatives: gross positive fair value - breakdown by products

thousands of euro

Portfolios/Types of derivatives

Positive fair value

Total at
31/12/2011

Total at
31/12/2010

Over the counter Central counterparties Over the counter Central counterparties

A. Regulatory trading book 5,232,465 3,805,733

a) Options 1,900 4,093 

b) Interest rate swaps 5,151,871 3,722,221 

c) Cross currency swaps 76,359 72,078 

c) Equity swaps 2,335 7,341 

d) Forwards

e) Futures

f) Others

B. Banking book - hedging 599,431 928,016

a) Options 54,392 51,054 

b) Interest rate swaps 451,946 514,365 

c) Cross currency swaps 26,657 47,362 

c) Equity swaps 66,098 315,060

d) Forwards 338 84 

e) Futures

f) Others 91 

C. Banking book - other derivatives

a) Options

b) Interest rate swaps

c) Cross currency swaps

c) Equity swaps

d) Forwards

e) Futures

f) Others

Total 5,831,896 0 4,733,749 0
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A.4 Financial derivatives: gross negative fair value - breakdown by products

thousands of euro

Portfolios/Types of derivatives

Negative fair value

Total at
31/12/2011

Total at
31/12/2010

Over the counter Central counterparties Over the counter Central counterparties

A. Regulatory trading book 5,323,738 3,831,693 

a) Options 1,908 4,100 

b) Interest rate swaps 5,242,033 3,747,211 

c) Cross currency swaps 77,462 73,041 

c) Equity swaps 2,335 7,341 

d) Forwards

e) Futures

f) Others

B. Banking book - hedging 3,603,260 2,190,900 

a) Options 5,027 3,613 

b) Interest rate swaps 3,474,894 2,043,100

c) Cross currency swaps 98,604 58,739 

c) Equity swaps 24,735 85,448 

d) Forwards

e) Futures

f) Others

C. Banking book - other derivatives

a) Options

b) Interest rate swaps

c) Cross currency swaps

c) Equity swaps

d) Forwards

e) Futures

f) Others

Total 8,926,998 0 6,022,593 0
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A.5 OTC financial derivatives -  regulatory trading book: notional values, gross positive and negative fair values

by counterparties - contracts not included under netting arrangemets

thousands of euro

Contracts not part of offsetting
agreements

Governments
and Central

Banks

Other public
entities

Banks
Financial

institutions
Insurance
companies

Non-
financial

companies

Other
entities

1) Debt securities and interest rates

- notional value 6,875,428 3,059,169 1,621,557 309,582 553,367 

- positive fair value 930,497 356,243 59,864 60,722 63,779 

- negative fair value 1,326 137,540 

- future exposure 62,217 28,181 5,112 1,709 6,384 

2) Equity securities and stock indices

- notional value 13,675 

- positive fair value

- negative fair value 1 

- future exposure 40 

3) Foreign exchange rates and gold

- notional value 128,563 128,563 

- positive fair value 24,399 

- negative fair value 24,847 

- future exposure 9,642 9,642 

4) Other values

- notional value

- positive fair value

- negative fair value

- future exposure
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A.6 OTC financial derivatives -  regulatory trading book: notional values, gross positive and negative fair values

by counterparties - contracts included under netting arrangemets

thousands of euro

Contracts part of offsetting
agreements

Governments
and Central

Banks

Other public
entities

Banks
Financial

institutions
Insurance
companies

Non-
financial

companies

Other
entities

1) Debt securities and interest rates

- notional value 48,622,595 700,421 

- positive fair value 3,677,085 5,581 

- negative fair value 5,037,851 67,222 

2) Equity securities and stock indices

- notional value 151,975 5,000 

- positive fair value 2,335 

- negative fair value 2,248 88 

3) Foreign exchange rates and gold

- notional value 338,698 

- positive fair value 51,961 

- negative fair value 52,615 

4) Other values

- notional value

- positive fair value

- negative fair value
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A.7 OTC financial derivatives - banking book: notional values, gross positive and negative fair values by

counterparties - contracts not included under netting arrangemets

thousands of euro

Contracts not part of offsetting
agreements

Governments
and Central

Banks

Other public
entities

Banks
Financial

institutions
Insurance
companies

Non-
financial

companies

Other
entities

1) Debt securities and interest rates

- notional value 5,141,893

- positive fair value 32,357 

- negative fair value 375,759 

- future exposure 15,858

2) Equity securities and stock indices

- notional value 210,396 

- positive fair value 19,516 

- negative fair value 1,650 

- future exposure 16,626 

3) Foreign exchange rates and gold

- notional value 169,610 

- positive fair value 3,181 

- negative fair value 7,337 

- future exposure 2,450 

4) Other values

- notional value

- positive fair value

- negative fair value

- future exposure
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A.8 OTC financial derivatives - banking book: notional values, gross positive and negative fair values by

counterparties- contracts included under netting arrangemets

thousands of euro

Contracts part of offsetting
agreements

Governments
and Central

Banks

Other public
entities

Banks
Financial

institutions
Insurance
companies

Non-
financial

companies

Other
entities

1) Debt securities and interest rates

- notional value 40,112,195 753,494 

- positive fair value 392,417 27,173 

- negative fair value 2,907,318 196,843 

2) Equity securities and stock indices

- notional value 2,389,841 149,501 

- positive fair value 100,566 407 

- negative fair value 19,893 3,191 

3) Foreign exchange rates and gold

- notional value 475,650 

- positive fair value 23,815 

- negative fair value 91,268 

4) Other values

- notional value

- positive fair value

- negative fair value



296 // NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A.9 Residual maturity of OTC financial derivatives: notional amounts

thousands of euro

Underlying instruments/ Residual term Up to 1 year
Between 1 year

and 5 years
More than 5 years Total

A. Regulatory trading book 14,539,240 17,726,386 30,242,966 62,508,592

A.1 Fin. derivatives on debt securities and interest rates 14,370,870 17,530,319 29,840,928 61,742,117

A.2 Fin. derivatives on equity securities and stock indices 37,350 133,300 0 170,650

A.3 Fin. derivatives on exchange rates and gold 131,020 62,767 402,038 595,825

A.4 Fin. derivatives - other

B. Banking book 30,347,319 8,254,207 10,801,054 49,402,580

B.1 Fin. derivatives on debt securities and interest rates 29,226,787 6,356,664 10,424,131 46,007,582

B.2 Fin. derivatives on equity securities and stock indices 940,505 1,799,233 10,000 2,749,738

B.3 Fin. derivatives on exchange rates and gold 180,027 98,310 366,923 645,260

B.4 Fin. derivatives - other

Total at 31/12/2011 44,886,559 25,980,593 41,044,020 111,911,172

Total at 31/12/2010 44,770,878 30,748,129 47,170,652 122,689,659
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B. Credit derivatives

B.1 Credit derivatives: period-end and average notional amounts

thousands of euro

Type of transaction
Regulatory trading book Banking book

single counterparty
more counterparties

(basket)
single counterparty

more counterparties
(basket)

1. Protection purchases 802,627 0

a) Credit default products 802,627 

b) Credit spread products 

c) Total rate of return swap 

d) Others

Total at 31/12/2011 802,627 0

Average amount 802,627 0

Total at 31/12/2010 802,627 0

2. Protection sales 802,627 0

a) Credit default products 802,627 

b) Credit spread products 

c) Total rate of return swap 

d) Others

Total at 31/12/2011 802,627 0

Average amount 802,627 0

Total at 31/12/2010 802,627 0
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B.2 OTC credit derivatives: gross positive fair value - breakdown by products,

B.3 OTC credit derivatives: gross negative fair value - breakdown by products

thousands of euro

Portfolios/Types of derivatives
Positive fair value

Total at
31/12/2011

Total at
31/12/2010

A. Regulatory trading book 63,902 41,714 

a) Credit default products 63,902 41,714 

b) Credit spread products 

c) Total rate of return swap 

d) Others 

B. Banking book 0 0

a) Credit default products 

b) Credit spread products 

c) Total rate of return swap 

d) Others 

Total 63.902 41,714 

thousands of euro

Portfolios/Types of derivatives
Negative fair value

Total at
31/12/2011

Total at
31/12/2010

A. Regulatory trading book 61,180 37,966 

a) Credit default products 61,180 37,966 

b) Credit spread products 

c) Total rate of return swap 

d) Others 

B. Banking book 0 0

a) Credit default products 

b) Credit spread products 

c) Total rate of return swap 

d) Others 

Total 61,180 37,966 
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B.4 OTC credit derivatives: gross (positive and negative) fair values by counterparties - contracts not included

under netting arrangemets

B.5 OTC credit derivatives: gross (positive and negative) fair values by counterparties - contracts included under

netting arrangemets

thousands of euro

Contracts not part of offsetting
agreements

Governments
and Central

Banks

Other
public

entities
Banks

Financial
institutions

Insurance
companies

Non-
financial

companies

Other
entities

Regulatory trading
1) Protection purchase

- notional value 802,627 

- positive fair value 63,902 

- negative fair value

- future exposure 80,263 

2) Protection sale
- notional value 14,750 

- positive fair value

- negative fair value 2,313 

- future exposure 1,475 

Banking portfolio
1) Protection purchase

- notional value

- positive fair value

- negative fair value

2) Protection sale
- notional value

- positive fair value

- negative fair value

thousands of euro

Contracts part of offsetting
agreements

Governments
and Central

Banks

Other
public

entities
Banks

Financial
institutions

Insurance
companies

Non-
financial

companies

Other
entities

Regulatory trading
1) Protection purchase

- notional value

- positive fair value

- negative fair value

2) Protection sale
- notional value 568,974 218,903 

- positive fair value

- negative fair value 34,176 24,691 

Banking portfolio
1) Protection purchase

- notional value

- positive fair value

- negative fair value

2) Protection sale
- notional value

- positive fair value

- negative fair value
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B.6 Residual maturity of credit derivatives: notional amounts

C. CREDIT AND FINANCIAL DERIVATIVES

C.1 OTC credit and financial derivatives: net fair values and future exposure by counterparty

thousands of euro

Underlying instruments/ Residual term
Up to
1 year

Between 1 year
and 5 years

More than
5 years

Total

A. Regulatory trading book 0 0 1,605,254 1,605,254

A.1 Credit derivatives with "qualified reference obligation"

A.2 Credit derivatives with "unqualified reference obligation" 1,605,254 1,605,254

B. Banking book 0 0 0 0

B.1 Credit derivatives with "qualified reference obligation"

B.2 Credit derivatives with "unqualified reference obligation"

Total at 31/12/2011 0 0 1,605,254 1,605.254

Total at 31/12/2010 0 0 1,605,254 1,605,254 

thousands of euro

Governments
and Central

Banks

Other
public

entities
Banks

Financial
institutions

Insurance
companies

Non-
financial

companies

Other
entities

1) Financial derivatives - bilateral agreements

- positive fair value 739,683 1,883 

- negative fair value 4,636,874 260,756 

- future exposure 378,158 19,866

- net counterparty risk 1,033,611 151,897 

2) Credit derivatives - bilateral agreements

- positive fair value

- negative fair value

- future exposure

- net counterparty risk

3) "Cross product" agreements

- positive fair value

- negative fair value

- future exposure

- net counterparty risk
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1.3 BANKING GROUP – Liquidity risk     

Qualitative information

A. General aspects, management and measurement of liquidity risk   

The Group is structurally exposed to the risk of liquidity as the loans activity is mainly concentrated on a long-term horizon

against deposits that are characterised by a shorter average duration.

Exposure is concentrated on the Parent Bank as the activities of the subsidiaries does not have any tangible effect on the liquidity

risk. As such, please refer to that stated in the paragraph devoted to this matter in the Explanatory Notes to the Individual

Financial Statements.
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Quantitative information
1. Breakdown by maturity by residual maturity of financial assets and liabilities - Currency: Euro

The item financial derivatives without the exchange of capital includes, in the case of trading derivatives, the related fair value

in the "on demand" timeframe and, in the case of hedging derivatives, the positive or negative differentials that are due in the

year following that of reference of the financial statements.

thousands of euro

Item/Time bracket
On

demand

Between
1 and
7 days

Between
7 and 15

days

Between 15
days and 1

month

Between 1
month and
3 months

Between
3 and 6
months

Between
6 months
and 1 year

Between
1 year and

5 years

More than
5 years

Unspecified
maturity

Cash assets 3,208,497 6,596,711 310,700 141,202 654,739 1,875,786 1,976,052 9,015,041 18,765,998 

A.1 Government securities 44,364 5,612 412,112 279,933 

A.2 Other debt securities 2,090,642 28,571 12,382 5,720 4,861 134,245 267,370 5,072,372 11,743,547 

A.3  Mutual fund shares 2,255 

A.4 Loans 1,071,236 6,568,140 298,318 135,482 644,266 1,741,541 1,708,682 3,530,557 6,742,518 

- Banks 8,500 6,220,879 298,318 108,998 193,519 1,289,879 1,031,664 76,480 164,177 

- Customers 1,062,736 347,261 26,484 450,747 451,662 677,018 3,454,077 6,578,341 

Cash liabilities 755,287 4,967,723 186,411 1,942,568 3,124,558 1,920,782 2,416,356 17,018,489 6,607,017 

B.1 Deposits and current
accounts 305,387 

- Banks

- Customers 305,387 

B.2 Debt securities 383,642 20,700 983,823 511,910 1,308,407 6,418,230 3,824,476 

B.3 Other liabilities 66,258 4,967,723 186,411 1,921,868 2,140,735 1,408,872 1,107,949 10,600,259 2,782,541 

Off balance sheet
transactions

C.1 Financial derivatives
with exchange of capital

- long positions 29,940 64 11,289 11,603 102,527 396,725 

- short positions 26,860 58 10,827 11,125 98,310 365,441 

C.2 Financial derivatives
without exchange of capital

- long positions 5,307,652 8,225 506 6,684 79,024 35,134 155,430 

- short positions 5,384,917 29,075 2,133 21,596 35,624 105,859 261,802 

C.3 Deposits and loans to
be settled

- long positions

- short positions
C.4 Irrevocable
commitments to lend
funds

- long positions 160,671 14,000 1,460 71,745 40,664 286,233 38,255 

- short positions 802,627 

C.5 Financial
guarantees given
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The securitisation transactions in place as of 31 December 2011, originating on internal assets through Tevere Finance srl, in which

Dexia Crediop (originator bank) signed the deed for the issue, total liabilities issued by the vehicle company are as follows:

216,621,721 euro, of which 215,578,721 euro Senior Notes, with ratings assigned by Standard & Poor’s as “A” and 1,043,000

euro Junior Notes (without ratings), concerning loan agreements stipulated with Istituto per il Credito Sportivo;

373,319,886 euro of which 370,752,886 euro Senior Notes (without ratings) and 2,567,000 euro Junior Notes (without

ratings), concerning loan agreements stipulated with public and private enterprises.

1.4 BANKING GROUP – Operational risks      

Qualitative information

A. General aspects, management and measuring of operational risk    

Operational risk is “the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people and systems, or from external

events”. This definition includes legal risk, but not strategic risk (i.e. the risk of not achieving the desired performance owing to

assessment errors by the management) or reputational risk (i.e. the risk of losing revenues owing to a loss of public confidence

in the broker). 

The method used by the Group for measuring operational risk is the Traditional Standardized Approach (TSA). 

As regards the qualitative method of assessing operational risks, an Operational Risk & Security Unit is active within the Risk

Management Office, and has responsibility for:  

drafting and updating the rules for the correct management of company processes and the consequent mitigation of the

operational risk;

measuring annually the Group’s exposure to the operational risk by means of the RCSA method (Risk & Control Self Assessment); 

defining, adopting and producing the reporting system on operational risk trends;

prepare, for the part of competence on operating risks, the document “ICAAP Report” to be send annually to the Bank of Italy; 

managing the security logics which control access to the IT applications;

guarantee the efficiency and update of the Operating Continuity Plan (OCP), also through the execution of annual tests. 

As regards management performance assessments, a number of Operational Risk Correspondents (ORC) have been chosen within

each of the Parent Bank’s (Dexia Crediop S.p.A.) structures and Dexia Crediop Ireland (DCI), with the task of noting every operational risk

event and subsequently filing the information in the Group’s software OSCAR. 



Quantitative information 

The main causes of operational risk events are shown below in percentage terms:
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CATEGORY OF EVENT %

internal fraud 0%

external fraud 0%

relationships with staff and safety in the workplace 0%

customers, products and business practice 19%

damage to or loss of property plant and equipment 0%

system failure or breakdown 30%

process execution, delivery and management 51%



Part F - Comments on the consolidated capital
Section 1 - Consolidated shareholders' equity

A. Qualitative information

The consolidated capital consists of the share capital, of reserves from profits of previous periods, valuation reserves on financial

assets available for sale and cash flow hedges and reserves as a result of first adoption of the IAS/IFRS principles. Except for the

part of the capital used in equity investments and properties and the part from reserves consisting of the fair value of assets

available for sale and cash flow hedging, the remaining capital is mainly invested in fixed-rate mid- to long-term financial

assets.

B. Quantitative information

B.1 Consolidated capital: distribution by type of company
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thousands of euro

Shareholders' equity
Banking
group

Insurance
companies

Other
compa-

nies

Netting and
adjustments on
consolidation

Total

Share capital 450,210 11 450,221 

Share premiums

Reserves 759,201 759,201 

Equity instruments

(Treasury shares)

Valuation reserves (186,078) (186,078)

- Financial assets available for sale (178,360) (178,360)

- Property plant and equipment

- Intangible assets

- Hedges on foreign investments

- Cash flow hedges (7,718) (7,718)

- Foreign exchange differences

- Non-current assets held for sale

- Actuarial gains (losses) on defined benefits plans

- Share of of valuation reserves related to equity investments

- Legally-required revaluations

Parent's company's net income (loss) and minority interest (22,474) (22,474)

Shareholders' equity 1,000,859 0 11 0 1,000,870 



B.2 Valuation reserves of financial assets available for sale: breakdown

B.3 Valuation reserves of financial assets available for sale: annual changes

The amount shown as "reversal to income statement of reserve" refer to the disposal of AFS reclassified in compliance with the

2008 amendement of IAS 39.
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thousands of euro

Debt securities Equity investments Mutual fund shares Loans

1.    Opening balances (145,429) 123,497 152 

2.    Increases 3,611 0 51 

2.1    Fair value increass 51 

2.2    Reversal to income statement of
negative reserves:

- impairment

- disposal

2.3   Other changes 3,611 

3.    Decreases 138,852 21,337 53 

3.1    Fair value decreases 138,452 21,337 53 

3.2    Impairment losses

3.3    Reversal to income statement of positive
reserve: disposal 400 

3.4   Other changes

4.     Closing balances (280,670) 102,160 150 

thousands of euro

Assets/Amounts Banking group
Insurance
companies

Other companies
Netting and

adjustments on
consolidation

Total at
31/12/2011 

Positive
reserve

Negative
reserve

Positive
reserve

Negative
reserve

Positive
reserve

Negative
reserve

Positive
reserve

Negative
reserve

Positive
reserve

Negative
reserve

1. Debt securities 23,146 303,816 23,146 303,816 

2. Equity investments 102,160 0 102,160 0

3. Mutual fund shares 180 30 180 30 

4. Loans

Total 125,486 303,846 125,486 303,846 

Totale at 31/12/2010 149,121 170,901 149,121 170,901 



Section 2 - Regulatory capital and capital ratios 

2.2 Bank regulatory capital

A. Qualitative information 

1. Tier 1 capital

The share capital, income reserves and the income of the period are positive elements of the tier I capital. The negative elements

consist of the intangible fixed assets and prudential filters due to the negative valuation reserves of debt securities classified as

“Financial assets available for sale”.  All positive and negative elements of the tier I are deducted by 50% due to the book value

valuation of the investment in Istituto per il Credito Sportivo, net of the positive reserve.

2. Tier 2 capital

The positive elements of the supplementary equity consist of the positive valuation reserves relating to capital securities considered

at 50%, the subordinate loan subscribed by the parent company Dexia Crédit Local and the excess total value adjustments as

compared with forecast losses. Deductions are accounting for 50% by the book value of the investment in Istituto per il Credito

Sportivo, net of the positive reserve.

B. Quantitative information
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thousands of euro

Total at
31/12/2011

Total at
31/12/2010

A. Tier 1 capital before application of prudential filters 1,183,544 1,206,194

B.Tier 1 capital prudential filters: (87,082) (90,298)

B.1  - positive IAS/IFRS prudential filters (+)

B.2  - negative IAS/IFRS prudential filters (-) (87,082) (90,298) 

C. Tier 1 capital inclusive of elements to be deducted (A+B) 1,096,462 1,115,896

D. Intems to be deducted from tier 1 capital 12,329 12,329 

E. Total Tier 1 capital (C-D) 1,084,133 1,103,567

F. Tier 2 capital before application of prudential filters 419,514 414,560

G. Tier 2 capital prudential filters: 75 76 

G.1  - positive IAS/IFRS prudential filters (+) 75 76 

G.2  - negative IAS/IFRS prudential filters (-)

H. Tier 2 capital inclusive of elements to be deducted (F+G) 419,526 414,636 

I. Items to be deducted from tier 2 capital 12,329 12,329 

L. Total Tier 2 capital (H-I) 407,197 402,307

M. Intems to be deducted from total tier 1 and tier 2 capital 

N. Regulatory capital (E+L-M) 1,491,330 1,505,874

O. Tier 3 capital 

P. Regulatory capital including Tier 3 (N+O) 1,491,330 1,505,874



2.3 Capital adequacy

A. Qualitative information

B. Quantitative information

Item B.5 “Other calculation elements” includes adjustment for intra-group transactions and the integration envisaged for banks

calculating the equity requirement for the credit and counterparty risk according to the IRB ( Floor ) method.

308 // NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

thousands of euro

Categories/Amounts
Unweighted amounts

Weighted amounts/
requirements

31/12/2011 31/12/2010 31/12/2011 31/12/2010

A. RISK ASSETS

A.1 CREDIT AND COUNTERPARTY RISK 43,808,376 43,586,010 4,311,359 3,805,806 

1. Standardized methodology 1,697,751 2,566,233 1,069,513 1,379,212 

2. Methodology based on internal ratings 42,018,702 40,927,378 3,230,153 2,418,775 

2.1 Basic

2.2 Advanced 42,018,702 40,927,378 3,230,153 2,418,775 

3. Securitisation 91,923 92,399 11,693 7,819 

B. REGULATORY CAPITAL REQUIREMENTS

B.1 CREDIT AND COUNTERPARTY RISK 344,909 304,465 

B.2 MARKET RISKS 18,102 26,290 

1. Standard methodology 18,102 26,290 

2. Internal models

3. Concentration risk

B.3 OPERATIONAL RISK 12,035 24,034 

1. Basic method

2. Standardized method 12,035 24,034 

3. Advanced method

B.4 OTHER PRUDENTIAL REQUIREMENTS

B.5 OTHER CALCULATION ELEMENTS 171,141 231,100 

B.6 TOTAL PRUDENTIAL REQUIREMENTS 546,187 585,889 

C. RISK ASSETS AND REGULATORY RATIOS

C.1 Risk-weighted assets 6,827,334 7,323,613 

C.2 Tier 1 capital/ Risk-weighted assets (Tier 1 capital ratio) 15.88% 15.07%

C.3 Regulatory capital including Tier 3/ Risk-weighted assets (Total capital ratio) 21.84% 20.56%



Part H - Transactions with related parties 
In compliance with the provisions of law and internal procedures, all related party transactions implemented during the year have

been carried out at economic conditions equivalent to market conditions applied to non-related parties, of a similar nature and

risk. In any case, no non-typical or unusual transactions have been concluded and/or any transactions at non-standard economic

and contractual conditions for the type of related counterparty.

1. Information on key management personnel's remuneration  

The information referred to in paragraph 16 of IAS 24 regarding key management personnel is shown below:

2. Information on transactions with related parties

The Company is the Parent bank of the Gruppo Bancario Dexia Crediop S.p.A. which, in addition to Dexia Crediop S.p.A.,

includes the following subsidiaries:

1. DCC - Dexia Crediop per la Cartolarizzazione S.r.l., with a 100% shareholding;

2. D.C.I. - Dexia Crediop Ireland with a 100% shareholding(1);

3. Crediop per le Obbligazioni Bancarie Garantite S.r.L. with a 90% shareholding;

4. Tevere Finance S.r.l.(2)

The company is controlled (70% of the share capital) by Dexia Crédit Local SA with registered offices in - 1, passerelle des

Reflets Tour Dexia - La Défense 2 - 92913 La Défense Cedex.

(1) Unlimited liability company constituted under Irish law, with registered offices in 6 George's Dock, Dublin 1 and share capital of Euro 100 million
represented by 100 million shares, each with a nominal value of 1 euro:

99,999,999 shares are held by Dexia Crediop S.p.A.;
1 share held by Dexia Investments Ireland, in its capacity as Trustee for Dexia Crediop S.p.A.

(2) Vehicle company in accordance with Italian law no. 130/1999 over which Dexia Crediop S.p.A. exercises de facto control.
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thousands of euro

Short term benefits 4,746

Post-employment benefits 198

Other long term benefits

Severance indemnity 211

Payment in shares

Total 5,155 



2.1 Transactions with the parent company
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thousands of euro

Assets and Liabilities

Assets

Financial assets held for trading 53,762 

Loan deposits 2,170,411 

Treasury securities 2,907,786 

Hedging derivatives 550 

Total 5,132,509 

Liabilities 

Borrowings 816,411 

Financial liabilities held for trading 12,225 

Hedging derivatives 466,299 

Subordinated debts 400,072 

Repos 3,603,261 

Borrowing deposits 502,175 

Other Liabilites 118 

Total 5,800,561 

thousands of euro

Other transactions 
Guarantees given 8,471 

Guarantees received 250,000 

thousands of euro

Income and charges

Interest and similar income 122,631 

Interest paid and similar charges (227,398)

of which

differentials on hedging transactions (97,369)

Commission income 4,180

Commission expense (1,447)

Net trading gains (losses) 20,677 

Gains (losses) on disposal or repurchase

Administrative expenses (822)

Total (82,179)



2.2 Transactions of other companies of the Dexia Group

In addition to the above-illustrated transactions with the parent company, the Dexia Crediop S.p.A. banking group also has

business relations with other subsidiaries of the holding company Dexia SA which fall under the scope of the core business. 
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COMPANIES IN THE DCL GROUP
thousands of euro

Assets and Liabilities

Assets 
Financial assets held for trading 580,110 
Other assets 563 

Total 580,673 
Liabilities

Issued securities 52,602 
Repos 1,379,281 
Other borrowings 3,546,315 
Financial liabilities held for trading 58 
Other liabilities 3,568 

Total 4,981,824 

thousands of euro
Income and charges

Interest and similar income 78 
Interest and similar expenses (82,617)
Commission income 3,742 
Commission expense (14)
Net trading gains (losses) 280,810 

Total 201,999 

COMPANIES IN THE BIL GROUP
thousands of euro

Liabilities

Borrowing deposits 9
Total 9 

thousands of euro
Income and charges

Interest and similar income 168 
Interest and similar expenses (4,574)
Net trading gains (losses) (291)
Administrative expenses (26)

Total (4,723)

DEXIA HOLDING
thousands of euro

Assets and Liabilities
Liabilities 

Other assets 1,135 
Total 1,135 

thousands of euro

Income and charges
Administrative expenses (1,135)

Total (1,135) 



Part L - Information on sectors 
Criteria for segment reporting

Segment reporting must be drawn up in accordance with IFRS8 Operating Sectors principle and no longer drafted according to

IAS 14, as required in the past.

The adoption of IFRS8 confirms the logic according to which the sectors of activity subject to disclosure are chosen, the Bank

having long had a so-called management approach, i.e. the adoption of using the same structure for the annual report as

that used for the preparation of internal reporting.

- Primary schedule “Sector Reporting”

The approach, in line with that adopted in 2010, contemplates the aggregation of business lines with similar features as regards

the products and services offered to the clientele, and the use of the following two sectors: 

Public and Wholesale Banking (PwB);

Group Centre.

The Public and Wholesale Banking (PWB) includes loans and financial services offered by the Group to customers of the public

sector and the corporate clientele, which represent the two target segments. 

The Group Centre sector includes all the activity carried out by the Dexia Crediop Group on financial and monetary markets, as

well as the management of the free capital, equity investments and other assets not otherwise allocated.

More information on the content of each sector are given in the paragraph "Operating Trends" of the Dexia Crediop S.p.A.

Report on Operations.

- Secondary schedule “Information by geographic area”

The method adopted, in line with 2010, is based on the country where the Group companies are located.

More information on the Group companies are given in the paragraph "Information on trends in the Group's companies" of the

Dexia Crediop Group Report on Operations.
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A. Primary schedule

The tables below provide the economic results of the Dexia Crediop Group at 31 December 2011 and 31 December 2010,

subdivided by business sector. The results of the income statement are shown according to the reclassified income statement

schedule give in the Report on Consolidated Operations.

The income statement for each sector is constructed by aggregating the income statements of the Dexia Crediop Group companies

after having eliminated infra-group transactions and consolidation entries.

A general description of the economic results of the Dexia Crediop Group is given in the paragraph “Changes to key income

statement items” in the Report on Operations of the Dexia Crediop Group. 

A.1 Distribution according to business sector: income details 2010 thousands of euro

Income Statement items
Public and

Wholesale Banking 
Group
Centre 

Dexia Crediop
Group

Net interest income 88,814 52,533 141,347

Net fee and commission income 7,426 -1,267 6,159

Dividend -   2,540 2,540

Net trading gains (losses) 2,104 -137,241 -135,138

Net interest and other banking income 98,343 -83,435 14,908

Net adjustments for impairment 1,505 2,503 4,008

Net income from financial activities 99,848 -80,932 18,916

Administrative expenses -24,321 -14,674 -38,994

Net provisions for risks and charges -7,100 -503 -7,603

Net adjustments on assets -1,503 -594 -2,097

Other operating expenses/income -   860 860

Operating costs -32,923 -14,911 -47,834

Gains (losses) on disposal of investments -   -   -   

Profit (loss) from continuing operations before tax 66,924 -95,842 -28,918

A.1 Distribution according to business sector: income details 2011 thousands of euro

Income Statement items
Public and

Wholesale Banking 
Group
Centre 

Dexia Crediop
Group

Net interest income 79,306 12,869 92,175

Net fee and commission income 13,023 -3,081 9,942

Dividend -   3,109 3,109

Net trading gains (losses) -49,799 -24,199 -73,998

Net interest and other banking income 42,530 -11,302 31,228

Net adjustments for impairment -3,099 69 -3,030

Net income from financial activities 39,431 -11,233 28,198

Administrative expenses -24,125 -14,348 -38,473

Net provisions for risks and charges -3,000 -155 -3,155

Net adjustments on assets -1,753 -718 -2,471

Other operating expenses/income -   426 426

Operating costs -28,878 -14,795 -43,673

Gains (losses) on disposal of investments -   -   -   

Profit (loss) from continuing operations before tax 10,553 -26,028 -15,475
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The consolidated interest income, of € 92.1 million at 31 December 2011, is calculated for each business sector as the difference

between real interests and theoretic interests offset, for the treasury pool determined according to the internal transfer

rates defined at Dexia Group level. The item is periodically reported to the Board of Directors of the Bank, as well as to the

department operators. 

The contribution of the single customers of the Bank to the interest income is less than 10%. 

The margin is mainly due to medium/long term lending through mortgages and securities in the Public and Wholesale Banking

sector and to the short and medium/long term deposits within the Group Centre sector.

As compared with 2010, the item is significantly lower mainly due to the lesser results achieved by the Group Centre by virtue

of the evolution of interest rates.

Net commissions amount to € 9.9 million, up on the 2010 figure. They are generated for 13 million by Public and Wholesale

Banking and for -3.1 million by the Group Centre business (mainly for commission expense paid in exchange for guarantees

received). 

A.2 Distribution according to business sector: asset and liability details 2010 thousands of euro

Balance Sheet items
Public and

Wholesale Banking 
Group
Centre 

Dexia Crediop
Group

Financial assets held for trading (item 20) 3,448,387 399,060 3,847,447

Financial assets available for sale (item 40) -   855,662 855,662

Financial assets held to maturity (item 50) 365,712 -   365,712

Due from customers (item 70) 28,764,490 261,719 29,026,209

Due from banks (item 60) 403,233 8,496,449 8,899,682

Due to banks (item 10) -   18,400,993 18,400,993

Due to customers (item 20) 1,465,642 497,194 1,962,835

Securities in issue (item 30) -   16,544,227 16,544,227

Investments in tangible and intangible assets -   2,248 2,248

A.2 Distribution according to business sector: asset and liability details 2011 thousands of euro

Balance Sheet items
Public and

Wholesale Banking 
Group
Centre 

Dexia Crediop
Group

Financial assets held for trading (item 20) 4,737,393 570,259 5,307,652 

Financial assets available for sale (item 40) -   694,927 694,927 

Financial assets held to maturity (item 50) 338,415 -   338,415 

Due from customers (item 70) 28,436,717 725,112 29,161,829 

Due from banks (item 60) 345,309 12,015,133 12,360,442 

Due to banks (item 10) -   23,467,351 23,467,351 

Due to customers (item 20) 1,270,574 591,224 1,861,798 

Securities in issue (item 30) -   13,464,097 13,464,097 

Investments in tangible and intangible assets -   2,337 2,337 
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The net interest and other banking income of the Dexia Crediop Group, amounting to € 31.2 million (14.9 million in 2010)

consists of € 42.5 million Public and Wholesale Banking and -11.3 million Group Centre business, the results of which suffer

the effects of the sale and early repayment of assets, as described in the Report on Operations. Moreover, the 2011 result has

significantly suffered the valuation effect due to the state debt spread during the second half of the year. 

As of 31 December 2011, net write-backs were made for the deterioration of loans for € -3 million. Of these write-backs,

€ -3.1 million regards Dexia Crediop (the Public and Wholesale Banking sector) and € +0.1 million regards the securities

portfolio under the management of the subsidiary Dexia Crediop Ireland (the Group Centre sector).

The loss from continuing operation before tax of the Dexia Crediop Group as of 31 December 2011 amount to - € 15.5 million

(-€ 28.9 million as of 31 December 2010); € 10.5 million regards Public and Wholesale Banking and - € 26 million regards the

Group Centre business. The lesser result with respect to 2010 of the Public and Wholesale Banking is mainly due to the mentioned

increase of the state debt spread during the second half of the year. The better result of the Group Centre sector with respect

to 2010 is due to a lesser incidence of sales and early termination of assets.
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B. Secondary schedule

With reference to the breakdown according to geographic area of operations, the activity of the Dexia Crediop group is to a large

extent concentrated on the domestic market. 

Customer receivables are 100% in Italy whilst the net interest and other banking income is 16 million from Italy and 15 million

from the rest of the world. As mentioned above, the net interest and other banking income from Italy suffered the negative

effects of the increased state debt spread during the second half of the year.

The secondary disclosure in relation to segment reporting is based on the residence of the entity falling under the scope of

consolidation. In particular:

Italy: includes Dexia Crediop, Dexia Crediop for Securitisation, Tevere Finance and Crediop per le Obbligazioni Bancarie

Garantite;

Rest of World: includes Dexia Crediop Ireland net of the elimination of infra-group transactions and consolidation entries. The

subsidiary COBL is considered in 2010 but not in 2011 following its liquidation and subsequent cancellation from Companies

House and the Banking Group in 2011.

B.1.1 Distribution according to geographical areas: income details 2010  thousands of euro

2010

Income Statement items Italy
Rest of the

world
Dexia Crediop

Group

Net interest and other banking income (item 120) 66,177 -51,268 14,908

B.1 Distribution according to geographical areas: income details 2011 thousands of euro

2011

Income Statement items Italy
Rest of the

world
Dexia Crediop

Group

Net interest and other banking income (item 120) 16,343 14,885 31,228
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B.2.1 Distribution according to geographical areas: asset and liability details 2010 thousands of euro

Balance Sheet items Italy
Rest of the

world
Dexia Crediop

Group

Financial assets held for trading (item 20) 3,917,424 -69,977 3,847,447

Financial assets available for sale (item 40) 656,414 199,248 855,662

Financial assets held to maturity (item 50) 365,712 -   365,712

Due from customers (item 70) 29,026,209 -   29,026,209

Due from banks (item 60) 8,455,039 444,643 8,899,682

Investments in tangible and intangible assets 2,248 -   2,248

B.2 Distribution according to geographical areas: asset and liability details 2011 thousands of euro

Balance Sheet items Italy
Rest of the

world
Dexia Crediop

Group

Financial assets held for trading (item 20) 5,435,554 -127,902 5,307,652

Financial assets available for sale (item 40) 603,107 91,820 694,927

Financial assets held to maturity (item 50) 338,415 0 338,415

Due from customers (item 70) 29,378,012 -216,183 29,161,829

Due from banks (item 60) 12,358,959 1,483 12,360,442

Investments in tangible and intangible assets 2,337 0 2,337
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